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OVERVIEW

OMNI-CHANNEL ONLINE PURE PLAY COMMERCIAL

PROTIRTOC.:: PARKSIDE

LEADING PRODUCT

Culture |
We are a community of smalt teams with big ambitions who trust each ‘
other, celebrate success, and put the customer at the heart of everything

we do, that's the Topps Group way.
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STRATEGIC AND
OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

Second consecutive record yeor of revenue for the Group

¢ Group market share increased to 19.0% from 17 6% last
year — well on track to achieve "1 in 5 by 2025” goal

*  62% of Group sales 1o professional trade customers,
vp 12ppts since 2015

+  Record sales in the Topps Tiles brand, with rightsized estale and

ongoing growth through format development, calegory expansion

and workd class customer service

s Average sales per Topps Tiles store up 25 3% compared o
2019 levels

» A record yeor of safes for Patkside - now trading at
breckeven ond forecast to move into profit in 2023

»  Pro Tiler Tools delivering strong sales and profits since
acquisition in March and Tile Warehouse becoming
established after starting trading in May 2022

¢ Strong Group recovery from Covid period — frading ahead
of 2019 levels with all businesses conlribuling 1o sules
growth in a developed and diversified Group

FINANClAl SUMMARY
Group revenue up 8.4% fo £247.2 million

*  Group gross profit up 3.6% to £135.4 million with grass

morgin down due to business mix and inflation

e Costs well contralled, with increases due to inflation and

normalisation of business rates expense offset by cost savings

and reduction in store numbers

¢ Adjusted piciit before tox up 4.0% 10 £15.6 milkon and
adjusted EPS up 2 0% 1o 6.14 pence

»  Strong operational cash fiows — closing nel cash lower than
last year largely due to aneoff irems

¢ Stong balonce sheet with £16 2 million ret cash and new
£30.0 million revelving credit facility, committed to ot least
October 2025

* Proposed final dividend of 2.6 pence per share {2021: 3 |
pence per shorel, giving @ full year dividend of 3.6 pence
per share (2021 3.1 pence per shatel, up 16.1% year
ON year.

CURRENT TRADING AND OQUTLOOK

Robust liading in the first eight weeks of the new financiat
year with ketordike sales in Topps Tiles up 3.4% year on

vear and other pars of the Group performing in line with c.ur

expeciahons

¢ O e gionth shategy. operational flexbility ard steng
Lalonce sheet leave us wellpoutioned o respond to a more
cho flerging macrescononic enviienment and continued

aeleery of our 't 5 by 2025 goo!

Read more about our Market on pages 12 ond 13

oy
i

Fead more obout our Group Strategy ¢n pages 16 fc 33

Recd more about our Finoncial Performance on
pages 3410 43

9

kead mora obauol cur Envirenmental Leadership on
poages 24 ord 25

¥
Z

i

Pictured above: Diomaate White
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Topps Tiles

Kot o e T A gL G ST £ g I R T, A T M e W TR 0

Tong ansumgbie produe;ts mcludmg

fopps Tiles offers design
ing unigue, exclusive products,
al o wide rangé of price points.

EUSTQMER BASE;
Topps. Tiles is aimed at both professional fiters (c.60%
of sa‘ieﬂ‘und D!Y Cusfomers {c.40% of sales}. '

CUSTOMER |
Topps Tiles trades from 30-4 stores around fhe
coupiry, the hrgesf slote nibwark by fqr in Pne
uK fer h"les, {p «addlhon

I - interach Mjh dur regulqt
tmd ysiomers. Gm cefitret. § hosed i
Leitptfer provides felephone ond digital

‘oW, erge cusomer base.

web visitors per week of sales involve a store

c170,000 c6-8%

store visitors per week of sales transacted online

Read more about Omni-channel Strategy on
pages 26 and 27

Read more about cur Channels on pages 30 1o 33

40

139

() Read more about our leading Product Strategy on
pages 20 1o 21

3B Read more about our Group Sirategy on pages
1610 33
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OVERVIEW

Tite
Warehouse

ﬂ'lrcugh sw::cesﬁui déiwaryﬁ?gﬁro

QOur Commercial business is supported by.a small

physical presence in key markets, for example our

; Clerkenwell Sustainability and Design Studio, which

) is @ creotive hub for the design community, where
designess, architects, clients, and our representatives

{ . can come together for innovative conversations on their

l

I

- latest projects. In addition, our Commercicl business
. is very aclive in the digital space, with considerable
social media engogement with the designer and

Note 1+ A conwolling 60% shareholding in Pro Tiler Limited wos architect community.

azquired on @ March 2022 The Group intends o acqurre the
remaining 40% of the issued share capital lrom March 2024,
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INVESTMENT CASE

ATTRACTIVE MARKEY AMBITIOUS
DYNAAMICS GROWTH ¢©

M R IR R AR H 1) by e

STRONG GOOD CASH GENERATION
BALANCE SHEET AND RETURNS TO
SHAREHOLDERS

A

(3 Read mare about our Market
onpages 121013

(3 Read mote about our Group Strafegy
on pages 1610 33

() Read more about our Financial Performance
on pages 34 1o 43

B * Read more obout o Environmental Leadership and
our Carbon Balanced strategy on page 24 and TCFD
reporting on page 58




OVERVIEW

MARKET-LEADING NATIONWIDE
CMNI-CHANNEL COVERAGE
CUSTQMER PRGPOSITION O I AT

SPECIALIST WORLD-CLASS
EXPERTISE CUSTOMER SERVICE

(3 Read more about Omni-channel Sirategy on
puges 26 1o 27

3 Read more about our Channels on
pages 3010 33

%) Rend more about our leading Product Strategy
on pages 2010 21

{oihe conkaclor mo'k
Gi %ﬁ“ T
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION
A s E‘ o N D Welcome to the 2022 Annual Report for Topps Group. This
year the Group has made good progress across a number of
areas ond dehvered o strong financial perfformance, including a
YEAR F second consecutive year of record soles ond a significant step
forwards towards our “1 in 5 by 2025" market share goal.
Stictegically, in the lass 12 months we have cretled a third area

of the business, Online Pure Play, which offers the potential for
fast growth, which will s alongside our marketleading Topps

Tiles brand and our Parkside business as we continue 1o develop

SA LE S and Jiversify the Group.

PURPOSE, GOAL AND STRATEGY
The core purpose for the business is to inspire cusiomers through
our love of tiles. This purpose gives the business strategic clarity

in that opportunities we pursue leverage our specialism in tiles
and associated products.

THE BUSINESS HAS COMBINED Two years age, we announced our new goal which was
GOOD FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE }o grow out share of the domestic and commercial market
tom 17% 1o 20% by 2025 - accounting for £1 1n every £5
WITH STRONG STRATE”GIC PROGRESS spend in the UK in cur market. The market is substartial, worth
OVER THE PAST YEAR. approximately £71.3 billion, and the goal therefore challenges

us lo grow the business substantially. In 2021 we made geod
pragress fowards our goal as we moved fo 17.6% market share,
and | am pleased that our srong performance this year and the
strategic aclions taken by the management team have resulted in
our markei share increosing to 19.0% in 2022.

Our sirotegy 1o deliver this goal has evolved over recent years
with the addrion of new parts to the Group and new focus
orens. The ihree trading elements of the Group — Topps Tiles, our
marketHeoding omni<chanrel buswess, Parkside, cur Commercial
oand, and Crline Pure Play, containing Pro Tiler Tools and Tile
Warehouse — are supported by thiee key Grouplevel strategic
levers — leading Product, leading People and Enviranmental
leadership, Please see the Stiaiegic Review for an extensive
discyssion of our strategy, business moded and progress.

PERFORMANCE

After two years of significant disiuption resulting from Covid-19
trading restrictions, | am pleasad to be able to report on o ysor
where the business was able o trade Freely, Revenues increased
to £247 2 million, 8.4% higher than what was a record year

in 2021 Adjusted profit before tax was 4 0% higher than in

the prior year at £15 6 million {2021 £15 O million}, with

net margins slightly lower as a resull of the chonging shape of
the business and mflationary pressuies Net cash at year end
was £16.2 million, down from £27.8 million kast year, with
strong eperationc] cash flows offset wah a number of anecff
items, includding the ccguisition of Pro Tiler Limited The Feahh

of oul bolance shest 1emoins o core siengih of the Gioup,

ond | was plecsed thot we weie able to agree a new £20 0
milkon borking facility soon dalter the yeor end, which is cunently
unused and provides great resilience to the business A full
discussion of ow financial perfarmance can be found in the
Finoncial Review sechion of this report

Darren Shapland

MNontExecutive Chairman
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DIVIDEND

During the year we announced ar updated capital allocation
policy which pricritised business resilience and investment, but
also recognised that we are able to increase our level of cash
returns 1o our Shareholders. In line with that policy, we are
currently moving from what was a 50% payment of adjusted
postiax profits to Shareholders tast year, to o 67% poyment from
next year onwards. As such, this year we are recommending o
final dividend of 2 & pence per share, taking the total dividend
for the year to 3.6 pence per share, representing 58% of 2022
odjusted posttax profits, and 16.1% higher than last vear.

THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT TEAM

Foliowing significant change 1o both the Executive and
Nontxecutive Directors in 2021, | am pleased that 2022 has
been a period of stability in the Boardroom. We have already
benefited from significant contributions from Kari Daniels and
Diana Breeze in their roles as Non-Executive Directors, and
Stephen Hopson, our CFO, has provided strong leadership and
suppor fo Rob Parker since his appointment ol the end of 2020
Overall, | am satisfied that all members of the Board are adding
significant value, an opinion supported by our Board Evaluation
process which is summarised on page 75. In line with best
practice, all Direciors will be stonding for reelection at the 2023
AGM and | would invite the support of all Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As with last year, { am pleased fo confirm that all Nen-Executive
Directors are independent, and the Board is fully compliant with
the UK Corporate Governance Code. We hove seen several
changes in the compuosition of the Board during the last two
yeats and | am pleased that the Board continues 1o function wef)
and hos made good progress in its development plon. The wide
range of senior level experience with significant sector expertise
conlained on the Board has served us well through what
confinues to be a challenging business environment.

SHAREHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Board values the opportunity to engage with Shareholders
and we have devated significant time to this over the last year
This engogement includes cur Execuiive management leam
meeting with Shareholders to discuss performance on a regular
basis, as well as providing opportunities for larger Shoreholders
io meet with me as well as Keith Down, our Senier independent
Direcior, and other Directors s required . In addition, this year
we hove engoged with Sharehelders on o numbes of specific
matters such as our revised capital allocaton policy and out new
remuneration policy, and we are gratelul for the input we have
ieceived from holders on these matters The detal is described
mare ully in the Corpalale Governance Repait on page 7C

Ower the course of the last year, we have noted that the
concentration of our shareholding base has increased, such that
a significant percentage of the equity is owned by a smaller
rumber of holders than histerically has been the case. YWe will
continue fo ensure suitable opportunities for engagemen! with all
Shareholders moving forward.

AGM

Following the results of the last two Annual General Meelings,
this year the Board is not proposing cerfain special resalifions
concerning share capital management. As described in the
Notice of AGM, these resolutions are considered stondard
for UK listed companies, and are in line with the Investment
Association’s Share Capital Management guidelines. The
Boord regards these resclufions io be in the best interests of
all Sharehclders and has been grateful for the support of the
majority of Shareholders in previous years. However, we
understand that some nonUK resident investors take different
views on these matters, and, fallowing our programme of
Shoreholder engagemen and noting the resubs in the previous
two yearss, we are noi proposing these resclutions ot the 2023
AGM as we do not believe they will command sufficient
Shareholder support 1o be approved

CUR PEOPLE

Topps Group is o customer service-based business and, as a
result, our people are at the heatt of our arganisalion. YWe make
a greal deal of effort 1o engage with colleagues ot all fevels of
the business, this process is described in the leading Pecple and
Seclion 172 sections of this report, including a key iole played
by Kari Daniels as our Employee Engagement Direcior The
whole Boord and Execulive tleam are extremety grazeful for the
hord work, senacity and commitment of off colleagues across
the Group We lake greaf pride in liskng the names of

all colleagues in this Annual Reporl, siarting on page 173,

and once again my thanks go out to all of them.

SUMMARY

The tusiness has combmed good financial pedomance with
strong stradegic progress over ihe post year, We confinue 1o
develop and diversify the Group and are making good progress
against our market share goal which will deliver significant value
to Shareholders and other stakehelders, Although the outlock for
the wider economy is challenging, we are well positioned as o
business and 1 fook forward 1o the next penod with a sense of
confidence. | hope you enjoy reoding this report.

Darren Shapland
MNonExecutive Chairman

M
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MARKETPLACE

KEY STATISTICS

UK HOUSE PRICES AND TRANSACTIONS
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THE UK TILE MARKET

The UK tile market splits inlo two broad seciors — domestic,
accounting for arcund 55% of the market, and commercial,
accounting for the remaining 45% {source: Mintel). The domestic
market includes the renovotion, maintenance and improvement
ol residential properties and the commercial market includes
commercial building projects, as well as new build residential
property, inchuding housebuilding and apariment blocks. Within
Topps Group, Topps Tiles and Tile Warehouse are largely
focused on the domastic murket, Parkside is focused on the
commercial markel, and Pro Tiler Tools serves trade customers
and contraciors who may be working across either market.

An external survey of the tile market is published by Mintel in
September each year. it covers the whole of the UK file market,
based on manufacturer and supplier data. The October 2022
report estimates the tofal market n 2022 at £423.8 million ot
MSEP [manufacturers' selling prices), which is significantly up
from £3%92.4 million in 2027 ond £327.0 milion in 2020.
The projection for 2023 is @ 12.7% fall to £370 million as the
economy shrinks, with o further fall in 2024, followed by growth
that will be ahead of GDP development from 2025 enwards as
market conditions improve.

At selling prices, we estimate the tle market eross the domestic
and commercial sectors to be in the region of £800 million
anrually. When combined with adhesives, grouts and tools, the
morket is in excess of £1 billion. Across all products sold in Topps
Group, we estimale that our market 1s arcund £1.3 billion

DOMESTIC TILE MARKET

The demestic tile market is large and offers longHerm potential
— of the 23 5 million dwellings in England, the average age
is around 70 years, giving a significant and grewing need for
repalr, maintenance and improvement spend {source: English
Housing Survey, DLIUHC).

Pictured: Diamante White
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Domestic demand tn 2020 was very low due to the Covid-19
pandemic, which had a rapid and strong impact on both supply
and demand. However, in the periods unaffected by lockdowns,
and then fiom the later half of 2021 onwards, a number of
faclors have been particularly favoureble for the domestic
markel, resulting in robust market demand  These faciors include
people spending more time in their home while at the same fime
having a resfricted choice for their economic activily, a boost to
heusing piices ond ansactions thiough reduced stomp duty ond
low inferest rates, and substantial excess savings built ug through
the lockdown pericd. As such, the market has been buoyant from
the spring of 2021 through 2022.

However, throughout 2022, a number of negative market factors
have started to weigh on sentiment,

Consumer confidence has been negative for all of 2022,
averaging -15 in the first three months of the financial vear
before declining dromatically to end the year in Seplember
2022 at 49, a record low, as a resul of fears over the cost of
fiving crisis and the impact of the war in Ukraine {source: GFK)

LK housing prices are often a useful indicator of cur market.

In a nsing market, home cwners tend tc feel more offluent ond
are more confident in spending money on ther homes Dunng
lhe year, UK house prices once again grew rapidly, with the
average price of o house in the UK of £264k FY21 £238Y)
lsoutce MNationwide], an ncrease of 11 0% Thare were nigns
of a slow down in house price growth towards the end of the
year, with piices folling month on month in September 2022

A fuither key dnver of the customer decizion fo toke on @ home
impravement project s buying or selling @ home; housing
tansactions are therefore a vselul indicator of likely futne
demand Following a very srong 2021 driven by the cuts

n stamp duty, ansactiors w 2022 fell 21% 10 1 272 mullion
(2021 1 55 million) although this level remained highes than
either 2020 o 2019 {souice. HMRC).

Construction ouiput for private housing repair, mainfenance
and improvement (RM!) increased by 27 7% across the penod
on a valve, nonseasenally adjusted basis [FY2): increased
by 0.8%) {source: ONSL

COMMERCIAL TILE MARKET

The UK commercial file morket is fragmented and regionalised
with only a small number of scale competitors. The smaller
competitors tend to specialise in cerfain sectors of the market —
examples being transport, resiaurants, automative, laisure, offices
or higherend residential.

Our success n this market results from appedling 1o both
designers and architects, with cur quality and ditferentialed
offer, and 1o confraciors, who may require larger quonfities

of products, in short fimescales. Our Parkside business 1s able
to service both categories. we can leverage our access to
differentiated product through our supplier relationships, as
well gs uiilise the Group's buying advanioge and stockhalding
posilion io support volume sales.

The commercial tile markel was hit hard by Covid19 and, unlike
the domestic sector, is sill some way off recovering to pre-
pandemic levels although it has shown maodest growth in 2022,
Maiket performance remains highly varied by sub-secter and by
clent vathin each sub-sector ang we have sean di{\[eﬂﬂg achivity
tevels ocross reladers, redauwrant brands, holed, corskioction ona
developer clents

Cansiruction oulput for the privale commercial secior increased
by 2 5% acioss the penod on o value, sorrsessonally adiusted
bass (FY21 dechned by 8 7%] source ONS)

Pictured: Bespoke floor tile



14

TOPPS TILES PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE 52.WEEK PERIOD ENOED 1 OCTORER 2022

BUSINESS MODEL

‘WHAT WE DO

Topps Group is the largest specialist distribuior of tiles ond
related products in the UK. The majarity of our revenues
are generated from the domestic market for the renovation,
mainfenance and improvement of UK homes, through our
marketleading Topps Tiles brand. Over recent years, the
business has diversified and expanded into the commercicl
tile market, which appraximately doubled the size of our
addressable market while staying within our core specialism
of tiles. The commercial market includes files supplied for
both new build ond refurbishment of commercial premises
ccross sectors such as leisure, fransport, retail and office

B Read more about

buildings, and new build residential housing. In 2022,

we have developed further, with the addition of the Pro
Tiler Tools and Tile Warehouse brands to the Group, both
focused on the online pure play market. All of ihe biands
within the Group derive benelit from the scale of the
business, the specialist focus of cur businass model and
our passion for tiles. We enjoy a compelifive odvariage in
sourcing differentiated products from araund the wardd that
we can access on an exclusive basis and deliver world-class
customer service through our store network, award-winning
digitaf plotforms and Commercial sales feams.

Omni-channet on poges 26 and 27

THE GROUP

Our Group tunctions provide

PR

(3 Reud more about Online
Pure play on poges 30 and 33

specialist support and scale . :
to all of our brands, in areas :
such as buying, supply chain,

HR, finance, 1T and legat.

(¥ Read more abou! Commercial
on pages 33 and 34
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KEY RESOURCES

PEQPLE AND CULTURE

At our hearf we are a customer service-bosed business and as
a result our team of people is one of our most imporiant assets.
We employ 1,700 tdlented ¢olleagues who either serve our
customers directly, or support those that do. Ve aim to provide
our customers with high-quality advice and inspiration, as well
as technical knowledge and a stiong service ethic, and to do
this successfully we need highly engaged spacialist teams in
store and in our direct sales force that can engage with our
customers and clients. Our cullure is one of small teams with big
ambitions, who trust each other, celebrate success ond put the
customer at the heart of everything they do.

BRANDS

Our Topps Tiles brand was founded in 1963 and, with its rich
history, has strong brand recognificn across the UK. More recently,
we have added the Parkside and Strata Tiles brands into our
Commercial business, both of which have significant herttage in

the commercial sectar. This year we acquired Pre Tiler Tools which
was founded in 2008 by o family of tilers and is extremely well
regarded within the trader communily, and in additicn we launched
Tile Warehouse as we conlinue fo grow the business. There are
relatively few consumerdacing product brands in files so the brand
of the refailer or disiribuor is very impaorant for customers and chienis
and our bronds are some of our most important assets

STORE NETWORK

For our omnichannel Topps Trles business, siores remain our
primary channel to market and almost all of our customers will
visit a store at some paint during their purchase. We operate
from 304 stores across the UK with an averoge foolprint of
6,000 sq fi. however, the inherent flexibility in our operating
mode! enables us to frade successfully from 3,000 sq ft up
to 10,000 sq h. This flexibility means Topps Tiles stores can
be found in o wide variety of locations including high streets,
retail parks, trade parks and on main arterial roads on routes
1o larger shopping destinatons Qur store porifolio operares
predominanty on @ leased basis with an average unexpired
lease term of approximately three years, giving us flexibiliny
to manage the porttolic

FLEXIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN

We source our products directly from manufacturers on o

global basis, with a focus on building longHerm strategic
relationships with our manufacturing pariners, while allowing
flexibilty inchuding the abihty 1o resource products frem around
the world as we react 1o tocal condiions Owning as much of
the postmonufacture supply chain as possible is a key aspeci
of cur businegss model and an important scuice of compeitive
advanioge Our buying scale and customer reach allow us 1o
develop preduct ranges with leading tile manulacturers that are
genvirely innovative and 1o source them an an exclusive basis
Out imvasiment in ot supply choir indudes our 150,000 sq b
warehouse 1n leicester and a fleat of 22 commaicial vehicles,
together with the standalore supply chan infrastiuciure acquired
as port of Pro Tiler Tools  This gives us an univalled control over
our inventory and delivery capability
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OUR STRATEGY

OUR GROUP GROWTH STRATEGY

IS DELIVERING . . . LEAVING US WELL
ON TRACK TO ACHIEVE QUR 20%
MARKET SHARE GOAL.”

.4 4

Rob Parker
Chiel Executive

STRONG
SALES IN
ALL AREAS

SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE

2022 wos @ second conseculive record year of sales for Topps
CGroup, Following @ record-brecking 2021, with revenues
rising to £228.0 million, 2022 saw the Group deliver a further
increase of 8.4%' 1o £247.2 millicn. Adjusied profits before
tox rose 4.0% year on year', despite significant inflationary
headwinds across gross margins and operaling cosls, adjusted
EPS was up 2.0%' ond the full year dividend has increased
16.1% 10 3.6 pence.

The strength of the LK RMI market continued fo support our
financial performance, but we believe our Group growth
strategy is delivering. We estimate our market share in the
year has increased from 17.6% in 2021 10 19 0% this vear,
leaving us well on track to achieve our 20% market share goal
of “1'in 5 by 2025".

Sales performonce was strong over the course of the year
Likeforlike sales in the Topps Tiles brand were up 22.7% on a
woryear basis in the first half. In the prior yvear, likeforlike sales
in Topps Tiles in the second half had been up 17.4% on a two-
year basis and we had expecied that some of this performance
would soften this year as consumer spending on other areas,
particularly holidays, travel and leisure, began to recovar

In foct, hketorlike sales in Topps Tiles continued to grow shghtly
in the second half of 2022, up O 8% on a oneyear basis.
Overall, likefor-like sales in Topps Tiles were up G.4% 0 the
year on a oneveor basis, and, when compared 1o the last
pre-pandemic pericd of 2019, average sales pet store were
up 25.3%

Saies tn the Group's other trading businesses were also
strong. Over the year, Parkside. our commercial brand, saw
scles growth of 26.7%" Pro Tiler Tools delvered yearon-year
sales growth of 32 4% across the 1 2-month pernied and Tile
Warehouse genarated o smoll armount of sales in s first fea
monthe of toding

Pictured: Flute Bright Skies and Cliq White
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We have maintained good stock availability over the course
of the year, despite o variety of external factors Impacting the
Group, including significant supply chain disruption which
included o dramatic rise in global shipping cosls, o national
shortage of HGV drivers and major issues at the UK's ports.

The year also saw significant gas price infiation, waich directly
increases file pricing because gas, which powers kilns, accounts
for a very significant proportion of the cost of manufacturing

a tile.

Qui respanse across the year has been o inurease the prices
of tiles to pass on this inflalion to cur customers an a pound-or-
pound basis, which has protected gross profits but impacted the
gross margin percentage.

The war in Ukaine also impacled the file industry, os

Ukraine has traditionally been an important source of clay

for tile manutacturers based in European markets, however

we successfully maraged this through our shiong supplier
relationships. Wider cost pressures impacted our overheads
including our own gas bill rising substantially, although these cost
pressures were well controlied.

Overall, our sales performance was strong across all our
businesses, our action on pricing, sourcing and cost control was
effective, ond adjusted profits before tax were £15.6 million,

Pictured: Torranc Gold

Rk e
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up 4.0% year on year'. An important benchmark is to compare
our perfermance in 2022 to our performance in 2019, the

last financial year belore the Covid pandemic. Relative to that
trading pericd, Group sales in 2022 were £28.0 million higher
{0 12.8% increase], adjusted profit before tax was up £1.9
million [¢ 14.1% increase)? and market share has increased

2 percentage poinls.

Our balance sheet remains strong. Net cash ot year end fell to
£16.2 million (2021 £27.8 millien} due fo the acquisition of
Pra Tiler Limited, the timing of dividend puyments and a number
of specific ouflows, however, we have renegolialed our credit
facilities and begin the new financial year with substantial
financial strength. Given our profit performance and the strength
of our balance sheet, we are proposing a final dividend of 2.6
pence per share, taking the lull year dividend 1o 3.6 pence per
share, 16.1% higher than last year.

Note 1. 2021 was a 53 week fading period, including 27 weeks in the second
half. Yeororyear varances are therefore erther comparing 52 weeks in 2022
against fo 53 weeks in 2027 or, for H2 comparisans, 26 weeks in 2022 against
27 weeks in 2021

MNote 2 Adsted profit before tax in 2019 has been restated in line with the IFRIC
agenda decision on cloud computing {see the Fmanaial Review] and includes the
Irading loss from the Porksde krand which was excluded from adjusted profit ot
the time




18

TOPPS TILES PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE 52-WEEK PERIOD ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

OUR STRATEGY

PURPOSE, GOAL AND STRATEGY

The core purpose of Topps Group is to inspire cuslomers

through our love of tiles, This gives us @ very clear focus on our
specialism in tiles and associated preducts, and encourages all
our colleagues to be passionate about the products we sell. |t
also puts our customers of the hear! of what we do ond reminds
us that all roles in the Group ate either serving customers directly
or supporting thase colleagues that do.

The value of the UK market for tiles, adhesives, grouts and 1ools
is slightly over £1 billion, and the market for all the products we
sell is oround £1.3 billion, aeross the residential and commercial
seclors.

In 2020, we annaunced a new geal for the business based

on our market share, which was to account for £1 in every £5
spent on tiles ond associoled products in the UK by 2025: "1 in
5 by 2025”7 A 20% market share would represent o significant
increase from our estimated 2019 market share of 17% and
would require an cutperformance of the market by around

3.5% per year between 2020 and 2025,

Pictured: Chandelier Pink/Grey ot Lucia Restourant, Harrogate

In 2021, we estimated that our market share in periods where
we were allowed 1o frade without restrictions wos opproximately
17.6%, representing a good initic] step towards our goal. This
year, including the addition of Pro Tiler Tocls inie the Group,

we have estimated our market share at 19.0%, leaving us well
on track to deliver our goal by 2025, Given the growth in the
market since 2020, our sirategic moves into new areas and the
recent success of the core business, our revenues are already
almost at the level we set out for 2025 when the goal was
launched, £250 million, with three years to go.

In 2020, our strategy consisted of four elements — Retail,
Commercial, leading Produc! and Lleading People. However,
aver the pasl two years, the Group has continued te develop
and diversify. Our growth strategy 1o deiiver our goal now
consists of three business areas - Omni-channel (Topps Tiles|,
Commercial {Parkside) and Online Pure Play {Pro Tiler Tools
and Tile Warehousel — all of which are underpinned by our
three Group strategies of Lleading Product, leading People
and Environmental leadership
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OUR STRATEGY

LEADING
PRODUCT

Topps Tiles is the UK's lzading tile speciclist, our expertise in
the ranging, sourcing and procurement of tiles on a global
basis is a core part of our competitive advaniage. Over the
last 18 months, the numerous pressures on the end4o-end
supply chain for tiles has made this advantage more important
than ever. Manufacturers have taced dramatic increases in

the cost of preduction relating to gas prices and row material
inflation Supply chains have been disrupied by HGV dnver
shortages, sirkes in our ports and srgmficonr increases in giobc:]'
shipping cosls

Our obihry fo rely on long-erm strategic re|orionsh\p5 with ur
stralegic 5upp|\e: base, freight forwording and loglshcs partners
in this environment has been key. In the year, we sourced 7 3%
of our supply from our strategic supplier base (2021 70%), We
have also responded by rescurcing products towards suppliers
of regions ol the warld which aore less impacied by the factors
above, as well us mairlaining a strong inventory position

As well o respording to the facters descibed above, we
continued cur lterclive programme to develop and praduce
differentialed peducts that ore novative, of kigh quality and
exclusive 10 Topps Group Duning the vear, we launched 34 new
products info Topps liles (2021 52 product intreductions] and
7% of ranges within Topps Tiles are either exclusive or own

brand 12G2 1 74%]

We also curated o new product range for Tile Warehouse,
significantly extended our range of Everscape™ ouldoor tiles,
rolled out Luxury Vinyl Tiles fo the majority of Topps Tiles siores,
and are now tric:“ing more category expansicn in XXL files and
shower panels

The role of product brands within the business has been an area
of focus. First, we have created own brands which are poriable
across the Group, such as'

*  Dex™, our tiling tools brond aimed at the general builder
and DIY enthusiast;

*  Regenr8™ cur sustainable adhesive containing up to 53%
recycled content;

*  Fxcel Bond™, aur core own brand of adhesive; and

*  Rise™ our new underfloor heafing brond,

Secondly, we wre increasing our undersianding of the role of
proprietary biands within nontile praducts aimed ot cur trade
customer base Our acquisinon of Pro Tier Touls has increased
our access o a very wide vonety of radefocused brands ond
we are currenlly working to understand the opportunity that these
products may provide for irade customers within our lopps Tiles
stores, where trade seles accounted for 59% of oial sales i
2022 increasing to 0% in the final quarter,

Pictured: Elevo Oak Chevron and Revolution



Pictured: Matrix® Primrose
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OUR STRATEGY

LEADING
PEOPLE

The Group's success is underpinned by industrydeading levels of
customer service. Our core preduct 1s both a building material,
requiring technical knowledge, and a decorative item, requiring
inspirational selling, and we need our colleagues to be oble 1o
work and communicate effectively acioss both areas, requiring
high levels of capability and engagement.

Qur leading People stiategy is based around four key areas:
recruitment and retention, colleague experience, capability
and welkbeing.

Recruitment and retention has been o challenge for many
companies over the last year Given the tightness of the UK
iabour matket, we have focused on improving our recruitment
processes and befler communicaling our employer brand.

Our compensation strategy for service specialists within Topps
Tiles includes an average of £2,500 per year in commission
on top of basic salary, as well as pension confributions, an
employee discount scheme and no evening, late night or
Christmas working [which are common in equivalent jobs in
retail and haspitality).

Our culture, based around smali teams with big ambitions,
who have high levels of trust and who celebrate success, is dlso
a hig part of the attraction of working for Topps Group.

Pictured: Support Office colleagues

Orher highlights in the year include the launch of our new charity
relofionship with Alzheimer's Society and an ongoing focus on
colleague engagement through our Team-Talk employee forums
We also launched our new learning experience plattorm and
extended our coaching programme across middle and senior
managers. Ve aim to promote infernally wherever possible, and
we were pleased that last year, 65% of candidates appaointed fo
managemenl positions were infernal promotions,

Our ongoing focus on wellbeing continues. A highlight lost

year was the launch of our new partnership with Bupa, which
provides colleagues with occupational healih support, an
improved employes assistance programme and access 1o Bupa'’s
wealth of resources on wellbeing. Much more information can
be found on colleague expenence, capobility and weltbeing n
the Sustoinability section of the Annual Report

The success of our leading People strategy is evidenced by our
custorer salisfaction scores, and seen dirtectly in aur Employee
Engogement scores which we measure through our annual
MyVoice stafl survey Overall colleague engogement was at
80% in the last annual survey (FY 202 1: 80%) compared with
the UK averoge of 68%

Pictured: In store

¢ gregen star
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OUR STRATEGY

ENVIRONMENTAL
LEADERSHIP ©

Topps (Group has a lony history of considering its environmental
impact. In 2004, we established our tirst environmentaily
focused working greup; in 2010, we porinered with the
Carbon Trust, implementing lighting energy efficiency upgrades
which we have subsequently improved upon, vear by year;
and, n 2013, we began reporfing carbon emissions in our
Annual Repori, providing a key metiic for investors fo evaluate
the Group’s environmenial performance. However, the severity
ol the global climale ciisis is growing and the requirements

for all businesses to do much more to limit their environmental
impact is clear. As such, in recent years, Topps Group has been
accelerating its environmental agenda. In 2019, we established
our Sustainability Council, a crossfunctional commitiee now
chawed by our Chief Executive, Rob Parker, which was tasked
with aligning the business 1o o low carbon madel. In 2021, we
placed Ernvironmental Lecdership front and centre as part of the
core sirategy of Topps Group and we challenged ourseles with
an ambiticus goal of becoming carben neutral acress Scopes |
and 2 by 2030, five years chead of the BRC's equivalent target
for the wider retail industry. This year we are delighled that our
Commercial business has become carbon balanced - the first
port of the Group fo reach this milestone. Other improvements
have included the addition of EV chargers at cur Head Office
and the renewal of our commercial flaet with more efficient,
lower polluting vehicies, which, alongside improved driver
training and the latest reute planning software, led to our Heet
using 6% less fue! than the previcus yeor (despite covering 2.1%

NVIRONMENTAL LEADERSHIP

CARBON BALANCED [ SUPE _
BY 2030 “CIRCULARITY
* Reduction strategy s Waoste and tecycling

Product and
packaging innavation
ond sourcing

s Offset shralegy .

more miles|. Carbon emissions per store are down 35.4% yeor
on year as a resuli of the Group moving to a renewable source
of elechicity in 2022 We befieve the Scope 3 emissions are
far mare significant than Scope 1 and 2 while being harder

to monitor and influence. As such we will start to report the
Group's Scope 3 emissions from 2024 In 2022, we have
odded a second pillar to our Environmental leadership strafegy:
supporting circulority. As pan of this, we hove signed up to
WRAP's Plostic Pact UK, obligating us to eliminate nonrecyclable
plastic packaging, and we have begun promoting recycled
conten! in products af the point of sale, both online and instore,
to help customers make environmentally conscious choices

We have reformatied the five elements of our Environmental
teadership strategy from 2021 inlo twa main piliars, governed
by our Executiveded Sustainability Council. These are:

1. Achieving carbon bolance {Scopes 1 and 2)

* Reduce as much as possible cur current carbon emissions
¢ Use high quality, audilable carbon offsets to balorce the
remainder by 2030
2. Supporling circularity
*  Work with partners fo minmise waste and manage the
remainder responsibly, with a focus on recycling

e [Drive innovation to increase the use of recycled and
recyclable materials in files, reloted products, and
packaging le.g. through the Plastic Past UK

Pictured: Diamante White
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arkside’s partnership with World Land
Trust has become a key port of our Group-
wide Environmental teadership sirategy,
which hos alreody protected more than
335,000m? of biodiverse habirat through
the 40 for 40 programme

This sees a donation of 40p donated to the Trust's Buy
An Acre programmes, preserving natural habifats,

for every square metre of files sold which conlains
more than 40 per cent of recycled content — currently
available en more than 40 tile ranges

Eariier ihis year Parkside also achieved carbon-
balanced status with World land Trust [WIT)

During en infensive phase of analysis, WiT
investigated the emissions caused by Porkside daly
operclions. This included colculating energy use

at ous offices and design stedios, the emissions of
company fleet vehicles, the delivery of products,
sampling and mere. Thanks 1o work already faken to
adopt betier environmental practices, our total carbon
greenhouse gos emissions were measured at 405
tonnes for the year.

These emissions are now being offset through the
profection of carbon-rich hobitat via World Land
Trust’s Carbon Balanced programme.

Carbon Balanced is a unique programme that
leverages REDD+ {Reducing Emissions from
Deforestation and Fores) Degradation) projects o
protect highly biodiverse areas under threat from
human activity. Since its oulsel, supporters of Carbon
Balanced have offset more than 610,000 tonnes of
carbon and provided over £2.5 million of funding.
With the planet warming up, the protection of
standing forest not only encourages nalive species
but alse absorbs CO, emissions in the future We're
supporting biodiverse WILT proiects in Ecuador,
Mexico and Vietnam.

Parkside’s Carbon Balanced stotus underines our
commitment to supporting a more sustainable future
for tile specifications. We do this by contributing to
a sustainable society through our partnerships with
organisations such as WIT, and through continuous
improvement and innovation in tile and installation
solutions.

Pictured: Jaguar from Ecuador WAT project
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OUR STRATEGY

OMNI-CHANNE

Topps Tiles 15 our wellestablished, marketleading, omni-chanrel
specialist, serving the domestic RMI market, with significant
opnoriunities for further profitable growth.

This year saw record sales in Topps Tiles of £227.0 million
{2021: £219.4 million over 53 weeks), with likeforlike sales
giowth of 9.4%. Soles per store were 25.3% higher thon in the
pre-pandemic period of 2019 and fotal profit in Topps Tiles has
increased despite having 15% fewer stores compared to thal
year. Our siralegy for future growth focuses on three main areas:
increasing customer numbers, online and in store, defivering
world-class cusiomer service, and monogement of cur physical
stare portfolio. Our customer base continues to be a mix of
professional rade customers and hemeowners. Trade customers
are key as they provide repeal customn and also form an
important ek to homeowners, both in terms of recommendation
and olso direct sales on behalf of homeownes who prefer 1o
transact through their fitter rother than with s directly We have
been ocrively growing our sales I frade customers aver recenl
years, as follows.

Qa
15 FY1e FY22 FY22

Trade customers:
% of sales in Topps Tiles 50% 56%  59%  60%

As such, the business is now more of a merchant than o

retailer, with the majorily of soles keing made to professional
radespecple. This year, our sales of products other than files

{such as adhesives and grouts) have been encouraging and we
have maintained good kevels of siock and offered particulady
keen value fo our trade customers across these product areas,
including trade pricing, bulk deals and a trade loyaly scheme.
We alse provide a direct sales team, which oifers confractors and
larger trade customers an enhanced service. Growing customer
numbers is a key funclion of cur digital operations, as we knaw
that many purchasing journeys start with research online. This year
we have made varous technical improvements to our mulliple
awardwinning website, for example halving poge load speeds
and adding new paymert methods We have faunched a rew
anp for rade customers and extended ourn social media presende,
including o launch on Tiklok. At the end of the yeor, we launched
@ Topps Tiles range on Ver j.co uk = this 15 Topps Tites” first move
vt marketplaces and is a good fit given Very's core customer
group 15 complementary 1o Topps Ties' customer base

The output of this work is that we enjoy high levels of brand
awarenass onbne. Cur webste, toppstles.co vk, hos higher
brand searches than any other flocrning retailler in the UK, we
have the second highest brand awaoreness {behind SCS) and
the third highest visibility {behind SCS ond Corpetnghnl {Souce

‘Floorng — Salience lndex 20227 We als» moiricined o

e

position as the leading tle specialist in Internet Retailing’s cnnual
"RetailX Top 500" repert and were ranked in the top 100
websiles across the whole of the UK retail sector in that repodt

Qur stores remain central to our omnichannel offer, particularly
for our hade customers. Given the nationwide coverage of our
siore estoie, olmost every customer will visit o store Gl some
point in their purchasing journey, and almost all customers

will visit the website too. This year we have established thiee
store formats within Topps Tiles. 33 of our largest siores are
branded as “Topps Tiles’ Supersiores”. These larger stores
contain the widest breadth of Topps Tiles ronge of products

as well as further amentties and are now, following modest
investment, cutperforming the rest of the estate. Our 14 "Topps
Tiles Clearance” stores provide even greater value ta cuslomers,
while allowing us to clear mixed batch and discontinved lines
The balance of 257 stores are core stores, which will contimue
to deliver excellent service and range for trade and homeowner
custorners.

This year we completed our multivear programme of store
closures, and we believe our estate is now rightsized. During
the year we closed ten stores and opened one. The Topps Tiles
store eslate has reduced from 372 stores at the end of 2017,

to 304 stores at the end of 2022, a reduction of 18%, and this
reduction in stores hos helped drive incremenial profits as we
ransitioned sales from closed stores to other local stores while
reducing our cost base Our eslale management has been sirong
throughout the process, and we finished the year with 11 closed
Topps Tiles sites {down from 21 at the siart of the year, despite
ten additional Topps Tikes store closures in the year, of which
four more are expecied fo exit the business in the first half of
2023. We refain o flexible property portfolio, with an average
unexpired lease ferm fo the next breck opportunity of 2.8

yeors 12021 3 3 years), or 2.6 years excluding strategicolly
important stores {2021 3.0 years).

Through the quality of our digial operations, our store estate and
our colleagues, we aim 1o deliver world<class service Homeowners
shop with us infrequerily and require advice and expertize,

whether in store or anlne, ond hade customers value sieng local
refationzhips and techrical knowladge, YWe were delighted that our
customen saiistaction levels imoroved again in 2022, hom 88%
kast year to Q0% this year, Thal means that 90% cf the ¢ 17,000
customer surveys which we collect each year iated us as five out cl
five —we beheve this is o genuinely warld-class resul,

Overall, Topps Trles has had a very sirong gear boih inancially
and strategicolly, with good growth in soles and profits, a right-
sized esfoie with new formais in ploce, furher developmens in
digial, & move inlo marketplaces in place wwith Very, giowh in
trade sales and even higher satisfacncn scores from cur customers
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his year our Retail brand Topps Tiles truly

moved into the world of omnichanne!

trading with increosed focus on our

digital offering to eonline customers and

radespecple. The ongeing development

of our website and our continued focus on
improving the online experience has been reflected
in recognition from numerous awards from the likes
of Adcbe, The Tile Association and the Global
eCommerce Awards. Qur trade websile also won in
the best B2B website category at the UK eCommerce
Awards and the Retail website was independently
named by Salience as the best site by some way)
in the filing industry for brand awareness, visibility,
avthority, social score and referring domains.

With o focus on continuous improvement of
the online user experience, we complele around
50 pieces of website development every month,

Pictured: Stacara

from a redesign of product pages to he more mobile-
friendly to stronger calls to action for “add 1o bosket”
ond “order a sample”.

We also improved our delivery offering for customers
online, providing pre~order options as well as a new
and improved online search tool to aid customers in
their search for their perfect product.

As well as creating a firstclass digitol experience for
users, we have continued our efforts 1o mainfain our
olready-oulstanding search engine optimisation, and
we appear on page one of Google for 9% of kigh
volume tilerelated keywords.

Social medic cantinues o be of the utmost important
for us as we launched our own TikTok channel in
2022, as well gs investing in paid social achivity
across various platforms including video content on
YouTube.

AQnLs I5vd
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Our omni-channel brand
Topps Tiles enjoyed a second
successive year as the main
sponsor of Leicester Tigers, ' R
which saw a record-breaking ) i B
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More than 350,000 tickets sold 1c motches a
the Tigers' home stadium in Leicester, seeing the Topps
Tiles' brand on shirts, programmes and perimeter
advertising boards
TV audience for matches of &.7 million, including
aets e SR e st B 1.3 million for the Premiership Fincl

el ploynd o vrnbiol v goeg o e ot Total duration of assefs seen throughout the season was

more thon 161 hours
sim e et o g Social media reach of more than 68 million,

engagement of mare than 5 million
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OUR STRATEGY

ONLINE PURE PLAY:
PRO TILER TOOLS AND

TILE WAREHOUSE

In 2021 we identified o significant opportunity 1o add
complementary tiading businesses which operate solely online,
serving different customer groups with different needs, but q|w0ys
focused on our specialism of tiles and associated products, 1o
Topps Group. These businesses con benefit from the Group's
scale, flexible supply chain, financial rescurces and operational
expertise, and in fumn the rest of the business can benefit from

the specialist knowledge and experience of new colleagues

from these successful online businesses os they join the Group. In
2022, we added two new Online Pure Play trading businesses 1o
the Group - Pro Tiler Tools and Tile Warehouse — and we see the
pofential for more i time.

PRO TILER TOOLS

The Gioup acquired &0% of the issued share capital of Pro Tiler
limited in March 2022, with a conlract to acquire the remaining
A0% in 2024. Pro Tiler Tools is an enline specialisi supplier of
tlingrelated consumables and equipment to frade customers.

Pro Tiler is highly complementary to the existing Group's
operotions, enabling us 1o serve frade customers both physically
ithrough Topps Tiles) and enline {through Pro Tiler Tools)

Pictured: Pro Tiler Tools at Futurescape 2022

Trading postacquisition has been sirong. On acquisition, we
reported that Pro Tiler's sales in the 12 months to January 2022
were £11.9 million. Sales in the 12 months to September 2022
were £14.7 million ond sales in the second half of the Group's
financial year annualise at £16 5 milion. Yearonvyear sales
growth across the full year was 32.4% The business runs ot

o gress margin of approximately 30% meaning that continued
growth will have a dilutive impact to the Group's percentage
gross margins, but will provide incremental gross profils. We
are targeting sales in excess of £25 million over time from Pro
Tier Tools.

The Pro Tiler Took platform, management and teom also allow us
the opporlunily to grow in other areas of the online market and
the Group is encouraging the team 1o deliver odditicnal value
where appropriate. Additionally, Pro Tiler Tools has access 1o o
significant number of proprietery brands which we believe will
present opportunities for further langterm value creation for the
wider Group

TILE WAREHOUSE

Tile Warehouse was launched in May 2022 as a new online-
only brand built from the ground up 16 offer homeowners
everyday low pricing on a focused range of tiles and associoted
products. Tile Warehouse focuses on quality riles ot very
competitive price poinis and is complementary to Topps Tiles
as it will target a different customer group, while leveraging
the Group's scale, supplier relationships, digital expertise

and financial resources. The market for anlineonly tiles in the
UK is estimaled to be worth more than £10C million ond we
are targeting sales of opproximately £15 million from Tile
Warehouse within the first five years We expeci fo make small
losses in the first few yeans as the brand is estoblished but
believe it will play a significont role in the Group us we move
ferward

The first lew months of rading have been tocuzed on
establishing the tec hnical ospects of the offer including product
ronge, samples, orline funclionality, seorch strategies SEQ
cantert and supply chain selutions The biand has bean
developed of o low cost however the investment in growh will
start in 2022 as we star fo invest in pay per chek fo dnve tralfic
in a mate meaningful way
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BEHIND THE SCENES
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OUR STRATEGY

Parkside is a specialist lile distribulor, aimed af architecs,
designers and contracters in the commercial market, Becoming
part of Topps Group in 2017, Parkside is now a topfive
competitor within the sector and is established os one of the
fastest growing brands in this market.

This year, Porkside delivered a fifih consecutive year of record
sales, up 26.7% to £10.9 million (2021: £8.6 million over

53 weeks|. This represents o significant out-performance of

the new build commercial market, which was up 2.5% in the
year {across all product types) but remains 2 1.7% lower than

its level before the Covid-19 pandemic {source: OMNSL We
estimate that the element of the commercial marke for tiles and
assacialed preducts which is atraclive for us to address is worth
opproximately £200 million On that basis. Parkside represents
at least a £25 million sales opportunity for the Graup

Ir. the year, Parkside acquired mare than 120 new clients.
ranging fom one-off purchoses 1o repeat butiness acress mult-
site locancns, and certinued fo push forword in s specialiss
sectors of retail and leisure, hatels, infrastructure and wansport,
and residertial.

Pictured: Lucia Restaurant Harrogote

The business is building a strong sales culture and hos further
opportunity to leverage the Group's scale and infrastruciure, in
areas such as brands, supply chain and inventory.

Eovironmental credentials are particularly tmpertant ie architects
and designers focused on the commercial market, and we

work with them to build sustainability into their projects. This
year, Parkside became the first part of the Group 1o become
carbon neutrel across Scope 1 and 2 emissions, building on

our 1ISG 14001 accreditation, recycled and recyclable samples
packoging, commitment 1o sustainable products, our various CPD
sessions af our Clerkenwell Sustainability ond Dasign Sludio and
many other inifictives.

Parkside's financial performance is improving ol pace Trading
losses in the year holved 1o £0 8 millon {2021, £1 6 milion
loss}, however £0 7 million of that was from the first half yeor,
ond the busnese wos trading at breakeven by the Enal quarte:
We expect Paksde 1o deliver o pesitive contnbulion 1o the
Group's profitahlity in 2023
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Pictured: Inara™ Cloud and Blakes Blue
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Board monitors a number of financicl and nonfinancial metrics and KPls both for the Group and by individual store.
This information is reviewed and updated as the Directors feel appropriate. Specific measures include:

FINANCIAI. KPIs

Admiod Proﬁi

£15.6M

2021 restated: £15.0m
YoY: +4.0%

How We Calculate This

Group profit before tax, excluding
#ems that are either oneolf in nature
o fluctuate significantly from vear

to year.

Inventory Days

126

2021: 123
YoY: +3 days

How We Calculate This
Inventory value divided by cost of
soles multiplied by 365 doys.

* Az oot reg n the Binancal Ko ew

HowWe 'Cﬂlcdntg This

Sales from Topps Tes omnichannel
{stores and onlinef where slores have
been trudmg for more than 52 weeks.

Adjosted Earnings
Per Share*

6.14p

2021 restated: 6.02p
YoY: +2.0%

How We Calculate This

Group earnings per share, adjusted
for items that are either oneoft in
nature or fluctuate significantly from
year to year, including the impact
of cotporation fox.

PR

How Weﬁufciﬂdle This
Group grcass proﬁi divided by
Group revenue.-

Adjusted Net Cosh*

£16.2M

2021: £27.8m
YoY: £111.6) miflion

How We Calcvlate This

Cash and cash equivalents less bank
loans, before unomortised issue costs.
It excludes fease liabilifies under
IFRS16.
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NON-FINANCIAL KPls

feedbcék Programme in Topps Tiles
'(omnhchanneli‘

Carbon El'msslons Per Store
{tonnes per annum}

155

2021:24.0
Yo¥: {35.4%)

How We Calculate This
Actual electricity, gos and transport
fuel consumed?.

"ﬁgh oir TifeTalk cusfomer

grqge number of
colleugues in o period, as a
pefcenfage

Number.of Yopps Tiles Stores
at Year End*

304

2021: 313
YoY: {9

How We Calkulate This
Number of Topps Tiles stores open
at 1 Octcber 2022,

Netes'

1

"

*

Cusiomer overall satisfaction scores are
cakulated from the responses we recenve
thiough our TrleTalk customer feedback
programme Overoll sansfactron (GSAT)

s the percentage of customers that score:
us 5 1n the scale of 1-5, where 1 15 highly
dissatishied, and 5 1s highly satished

Energy carbor emissions have been compiled
In conjunction with our eleclncwy and qas
suppliers Thrs 1s based on the aclual energy
consumed mulhiplied by Environment Agency
approved emissions factors Vehicle emissions
have been caloulated by out ndhause
transport team based on mileoge covered
mulipled by manufacturer quoled emission
statisics Carbon emissions per store for

Fr21 have been restaled to remove amissions
connected with subrcontractors, which classify
as Scope 3 emissions and do not form part
ol this metne

As defined in the Financial Revew

35

Pictured left puge: Diamante Lavender
Pictured below left: Sia Ivory
Pictured below right: Saplewood Grey
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

INCREASE
IN REVENUE
AND PROFIT

| AM CONFDENT THAT WE WILL CONTINUE
TO DELIVER GROWTH AND CREATE VALUE
OVER THE MEDIUM-TERM.”

B e s il

CONFIGURATION COSTS IN A

ClOUD COMPUTING ARRANGEMENT

Following the IFRS Interpretations Commitiee’s agenda decision
in relation 1o configuration and customisation expenditure
relating to cloud computing arangemenits, including Softweare

os a Service {SeaS}, the Group has reviewed and revised its
accounting policy relating 10 1AS 38 “Infangible Assels”. This
has resulted in reclassifying £0.8 million of expenditure that wos
previously capitclised as on inlongible asset and expensing this
in the Consolidoted Statement of Profit and Loss s odministrative
costs. The impact on profit before tox for the 53-week period
ended 2 Oclaber 2021 is a reduction in profit before tax

and adjusted profit before 1ax of £0 3 million. The impact on
the 52-week penod ended 1 October 2022 is a reduction in
profit before tax of £0.2 milion. All 2021 comparatives in the
Financial Review and the financial siatements have been restated
and lurther details are given in the notes fo the accounfs.

ADJUSTED MEASURES
The Group's monagement uses adjusted performance measures,
to plan for, control and assess the perfarmance of the Group.

Adjusted profit before lax differs from the statutory profit before
tax as it excludes the effect of oneoft or fluctuanng items,
allowing stakeholders to understand results across years in o
more consistent manner {n line with the prior year, we have
included the businessasusual impact of IFRS 16 in adjusted
profit but cantinue to adjust for any impaisment charges ot
impasrment reversals of rightofuse assets, derecognihon of lease
liabilities where we have exited a store, and one-off gains and
losses through sub-lets.

In the penod 2022-2024 we will olso exclude the accrual
relating fo the 40% purchase of shares of Pro Tiler Limiled which
we expect to make from March 2024, which under IFRS 3 is
eated as a remuneration expense rather than an acquisition
cost, and this period we have excluded deal costs relaled 1o
the Pro Tiler Limited acquisifion and se-up casts relating to Tile
Warehouse.

GROUP GROSS
REVENUE (£) MARGIN (%)

YearonYear: +8,4% YearonYear: (2.5) ppts
o .
o i - 2 2
o™ o |3 © B8 T
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Analysts of movements from adjusted profit before tax to statutory profit before tox are detailed below:

2021
2022 m
£m {resiated)
Adjusted profit before tax . 156 15.0
Property o
impairment of property, plant and equipment {0.5) {(1.01
Vacant property and closure costs {1.7) 21
Store closure impairments and lease gains and losses {0.2) [0.2)
(2.4) (3.3
Business Development
Pro Tiler Tools deal costs (0.2} nil
Pro Tiler Tools shore purchose accruol {1.6) il
Tile Warehouse setup costs {0.5) nil
{2.3) nil
Other
Business rates relief from April 1o September 2021* nil 23
nil 2.3
10.9 14.0

Statutory profit before tax

* In the second half of the prior year we ircluded o nommal level of business rates within adwsied profit, despie business rates rehel of £2 3 mallion over this period, to
oliow improved companson with the future and pnor years The business raded without malenaf restrictions in the secend Folf of the prior year, and net including a
business rates expense within odusted profit for this penod would be unrepresentatve of our underlying performance This contrasts wath the first half of the prior year
where we sulfered motenal trading restnations and so ro adusiment for business rates relef was mode

Adjusted earnings per share is adjusted for the items listed above, as well as the impact of corperation tax. in addition, adjusted
earnings per share excludes o nonvepeating credit of £1.2 million relating 1o deferred tox adjustments in respect of previous perieds.

ACQUISITION OF PRO TILER LIMITED
The Group acquired a controlling 60% shareholding of Pro Titer limited on © March 2022, for consideration of £5.3 million in cash,

plus a clesing odjusiment of £0.2 million. The Group will ocquire the remaining 40% of the issued shore copital from March 2024,
based on an agreed multiple of profits for the 1 2-month period to March 2024,

Following the completion of o purchase price allocation exercise over the second half year, the Group recognised the foliowing
amounts on acquisition: tangible assets of £1.6 million, including £0.9 million of net cash, £Q .2 million of net warking capital and
£0.5 million of fixed assets, and intangibie assets consisling of the brond value of £4.1 million net of deferred tax and goodwill of
£2.1 million, together with o noncontrolling interest of £2.3 million.

The brand asset will be amortised over fen years in line with 1it's estimated useful economic lite.

The purchase of the remaining 40% of shaies in Pro Tiler Limited will be accounied for as a remunerolion expense over the sam out
periad, ather than conlingent considerahon, as required by IFRS 3, due to cettain conditions placed on the selling shareholders ta
remain employed by the Group during this ime. This expense will be treated as an adjusting item over the next two years ond will
therefore reduce the Gioup's statutory prafit in farthcoming rading periods. This expense 15 not treated as a deductible expense fer
corporction tax purposes and therefore has increased the Group's effective rate of corperation tax in FY22 and over the next two
financial years as a resuli of this accounting treatment.

The Group has consolidated the financial performance of Pro Tiler Limited from the dote of acquisition. including revenue of £9.2
million and protit before 1ox of £0.6 million Acquisihon costs of £0.2 million ond remunarchon costs of £1 & million in relation to
the 40% share puichase were freated as adpusting itlems
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

REVENUE

Total revenue for the 52-week period increased by 8.4% to
£247 2 million (2021 £228.0 million). Revenue consclidated
it the Group accounts by brand was as follows:

2022 2021
Revenue by brand {£m) (52 weeks) (53 weeks) Yariance
Topps Tiles " 227.0 219.4 +3.5%
Parkside 10.9 8.6 +267%
Po Tilet Tools 2.2 0.0 n/a
Tile Warehonse 0.1 0.0 n/a
Topps Group 247.2 228.0 +8.4%

Topps Tiles likedorlike sales were @.4% higher than the prior
year, which consisted of a 19.7% increase in the first half of the
financial yeor and o ©.8% increase in the second half.

Total revenue in Topps Tiles wos up 3.5% year on year to
£227.0 million. There was a net closure of nine Topps Tiles
slores in the year and the brand finished the hoding period with
304 nading steres Prior year revenue was impacted by lrading
restrictions relaled to the Covid-19 pandemic in the second
quarter, when homeowners were unable 1o go inside our stores
and regisiered traders were dliowed lo enter 1o visit the frade

counler only.

ln the commerciol market sales to cur clients theough Parkside
were up 20.7% year on year 1o £10.9 miliion. The Group
consolidated sales of £ 2 million trom the seven months of
ownership of Pro Tiler Tools and recorded o further £0 1 million
of sales in the startup penod of Tile Waorehouse.

Overall, we estimate that 62% of sales in the Group are made
o trade or professional customers, with 38% of sales direct to

homeaowners

ADJUSTED PROFIT
BEFORE TAX (£M)
YearonYear: 4.0%

GROSS MARGIN AND GROSS PROFIT

Group gross margin was 54.8%, o decrease from 57.3%
in the prier year. Group gross profits increased £4.7 million
to £135.4 million, including £3.2 million relating 1o
Parkside, Pro Tiler Tools and Tie Warehouse.

The change in gross margin was due to three main factors.
Within Topps Tiles, the impact of higher cost of goods following
increases in gas prices, other raw materials and shipping costs
in the year have been passed through to cuslomers on a pound-
farpound basis. Qur pacing response has protected grass profits
bul impacied the gross margin percentage by [0.9) percentage
poinfs. Secondly, there have been changes in customer and
product mix, specifically improved sales to trade customers,
more sales of products other than tiles, and new product areas
including outdoor tles and luxury vinyl tiles, which impacted
arass margins by {0.5) perceniage points. Finally, the growth in
our cther frading businesses, specifically the acquisition of Pro
Tiler Tocls and the growth in sales from Parkside, reduced Group
gross margin by (1.3) percentage points. Other minor changes
increased gross margins by the balence of 0.2 percentage
points.

Gross profits increased ocross each of the three business areas
due to the positive soles impad of the foctors above

TOTAL DIVIDEND
DECLARED {P}

YearonYear +16.1%

FREE
CASH FLOW (£M)

YearonYear +1.8%

ADJUSTED NET
CASH/DEBT (M)

YearonYeor. £(11.6}m
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operafing expenses were £120.6 million compared o £112.7
million in FY21 [restated), which included ¢.£6.7 million of
business rates refiel. On an adjusted basis, operating expenses
increased from £111.7 million in FY21 10 £116.0 million

in FY22.

The £4.3 million increase in adjusted operating costs is
explained by the following key items:

£ million

FY 2021 adjusted operoting expenses

(restated) 111.7

Reversal of H1 2027 business rates relief 4.4

Reverfing to a 52-week accounting period (2.0)

Holiday pay accrusl normalisation 1.4

Increased utilities expense 1.0

Other regulatory and infiationary cost increases 35

Reduced store space (310 stores on average vs

331in 2021) i4.3)

Other savings 2.0}

Commercial and Cnline Pure Play 232
116.0

FY 2022 adjusted operating expenses

FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Interest on bank loons and overdrafts, net of bank interest
receivable, was £0.3 millon (2021 £0.4 millon), 1elaling
i0 commilment fees payable on the revolving credit facility

Met inferest payable under [FRS 16 was £3.6 million, resulting
in total net fingnce costs of £3.9 million (2021, £4.1 millon}

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Excluding the items detailed in the Adjusled Measures section
above, adiusied pioﬁl before tax wos £15.6 million (2021
restated: £15.0 million}. The Group adjusted profit before tax
margin was 6.3% [2021: & 6%). Statutory profit before tox was
£10.9 million {2021 resiated: £14 O million).

TAX
On on adjusted basis, the effective rate of corpeoration tax for the
period was 21 8% (2021 21 .6%).

The eflective rale of corporation fox for the period on a statutory
basis was 16.0% (2021 23 .5%). The fax expense includes a one-
off deferred tax credit in relofion to previous periods of £1.2 million
which is excluded from adjusted earnings per shore metrics.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Adjusted earnings per share were & 14 pence (2027 resiated
6 02 pencel. Basic earnings per share were 4 60 pence (202
rectated: 5.47 pencel Diluted earnings per shore were 4 55
pence (2077 restaled 5 4) perce)

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

In the 2022 Intenm Results, tha Gioup autlined a rew Capital
Allocation and Dividend Pelicy Ve indicated thai we would
prioritise the following'

I Business resilience — we are an operationally geared
business and our balance sheet and barking facilities must
be sirong encugh to withsland cyciical economic downlurms
and unexpected shocks ke Cond19;

2. Investment in the core business — we operate a physical
siore estale which requires invesiment fo remain citractive
to customers, and we will suppert our strategy through
merchandising, store refits and relocations;

3. Volue creative opportunities — we betieve it is beneficial
lo tetain some cash to toke advantage of value creation
opporunities, such as bolt on MEA deals or other
investmenis in growfh,‘

4. Dividends - we recognise that equity has o cost. and we
nnderstand the inportance of regular dividend payments
i our Shoreholders.

The Board indicated that over the period from 2021 to 2023, it
iniended fo increase the dividend payoul ratio from around 50%
of adiusted eamings per share lo around 67%. As such, this
year, the Board is proposing a final dividend of 2.6 pence per
share, biinging the full vear dividend to 3.6 pence per share,

a yearoryear increase of 16.1%. This represents 59% of the
adjusted earnings per share of 6.14 pence.

The shares will rade ex-dividend on 22 December 2022 and,
subject fo approval af the Annual General Meeting, the dividend
will be payable on 3 February 2023,

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ACQUISITIONS & DISPOSALS

The most significant acquisition in the penod was the purchase
of 60% of the shores of Pro Tiler limited, as described in the
section above.

In the prior year we disposed of three freehold or long leasehold
stores for £2.1 million. There were no freehold or fong leasehold
store disposal or acquisitions in the current vear.

At the pericd end the Group held wo freehold or long
leasehold sites, with @ total carrying value of £1.0 million
{2021 two freehold or long leasehold sites valued at £1.0
million] The carrying value is based on the historic purchase
cost and capitol expenditure less accumulated depreciation.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Capital expenditure in the peried amounied 1o £3.2 miliion
i2020: £4.4 million), a reduction of 27% year on year

Key investments were as follows-

* TJopps Tiles stores — including one new opening, store
improvements, merchandising and maintenance -
£2.5 million

s ED slore improvement programme £0.3 million

e Group IT developments £C.4 million

The Board expects capital expendilure in the yeor chead ©
be between £6 mdlion and £7 million. This compares to an
average of £8 1 millien in the four years belore the pandermic
(FY14 40 FY19) and 15 breadly in line with depreciaton on
propety, plom and equipment ond ntangible cssets This
amount will cover our core inveslment plans - any acquisiiions
that the Group may consider os part of iis growlh plans would
be additional o this guidance.
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INVENTORY

lnventory at the period end was £38.6 million {2021: £32 8
million) representing 126 inventory days (2021: 123 inventory
days}. The £5.8 million yearonyear increase in stock includes
£2.6 million of additional stock relating to Pro Tiler Tools and
Tile Warehouse, an increase of £4.2 million due 1o higher
cosl prices and a slight reduction of £1.0 million reloting to the
volume of stock in Topps Tiles.

CASH FLOW
On a statulory basis, net cash from operoting activifies was
£22 9 nmillion, compared to £26.4 millicn in \he prior year,

The table below analyses changes in adjusted net cash flow:

2022 2071
£m £m

Cash generated by operations
including interest and copital
elements, before WC movements 18.5 207
Payment of deferred VAT {2.1) (3.7}
Other changes in woiking capital {8.9) 110.9]
Capital Expenditure (3.2) i4.4)
Disposals 0.2 2.1
interest (0.3) [0.51
Tax {3.5) {1.5)
Other 0.1 0.0
Free cash flow 0.8 18
Acquisition of Pro Tiler Limited,
net of cash and debt acquired (4.4) co
Dividends {8.0) 0.0
Change in odjusted net cash {11.6} 1.8
Adijusted net cash at end of
period 16.2 27.8

Adjusted net cash reduced by £11.6 million [2021: £1.8
million increase). This reduction was driven by the following main
factors: a £11.0 million culflow in working capital including

o £4.4 million increase in inventory, the repayment of £2.1
million of deferred VAT, a decrease of £3 5 million in other
payables and an increase of £1.0 million in receivables; the
purchase of 60% shares of Pro Tiler Limited ot a cash cosi of

£4 4 million nel of cash acquired and including the repayment
ol a loan immediately following acquisition; and the payment of
£8.0 million of dividends, which included the full year payment
relating to FY21 as well as the interim dividend fiom FY22.

Cash and cash equivalents af the period end were £16 2
millicn [2021: £27.8 million] with nil berowings (2021, nil)

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED

The Gioup's refein on capital employed, 1ecluding the irpacl
of leases, impraved from 17 2% in 2021 10 17 3% in 2022
fcllowing a slight increase in adjusted profit. lease adjusted
capital employed increased £7.2 million over the firanciol
vear as o result of a £4.0 million increase in total equity and

a £11.6 milion 1eduction in adjusted net cash, partally oflset
by a £8 4 millien reduction in lease licbiliies year on year The
Group defines refurn on capitol employed as the annual adjusted
operaling profit dividec by the average capital employed ne:
assels plus net debr, including lease liubilities).

BANKING FACILITIES

On 21 October 2022, the Group entered a new syndicated
£3C .0 million revolving credit facility with two banks, which

is commitied 1o October 2025 with extension options for a
further two years available. The new facility contains a slighily
favourable irterest rate shucture compared 1o our previous £39.0
million banking facility, which was due 1o expire in june 2023,
and provides continued balance sheet strength and financial
resilience for the Group into the medium term. At the year end,
no banking facilities were deawn (202 1: nilk. Based an our
year end nel cash of £16.2 millien we hove £46.2 million

of headroom to our new banking focility al year end {2021:
headroom of £66.8 million against the £39.0 milfion faciliry

in place at that ime).

FORWARD GUIDANCE

Increased cost pressures will impact the profitability of the
business in 2023 Cverall, we expect arcund £5.0 million of
inflationary pressures year on year across our overhead base,
in utififies, employment cosls, property cosls ond other expenses.
We will be oble 1o offset some but not all of this thiough
efficiency savings and as c resull believe our profitability may
maedestly foll next year, in line with current market expectations

While the Group has not historically demonstrated much
seasonality in sales or profits across the two halves of the
financial year, in 2023 we expect Group profitability to be more
weighted lowards the second half. The key drivers of this are: @
gas expense which we exped! ic be approximately £1.7 million
in the first half and £0.8 million in the second half; ¢ normdlised
holiday pay accrual, with @ debit in the first half of £0.7 million
and a credit in the second half of £0 7 million; continued
growth in the newer parts of the Group across the course of the
year; and some easing in elements of supply chain costs as the
year progresses.

CURRENT TRADING AND MARKET CONDITIONS

FOR THE YEAR AHEAD

There are substantial macroeconomic headwinds impacting

both UK consumers and businesses. Consumer confidence is
currently near fo record lows and Government farecasts suggest
the country is entering a recession which will continue throughout
2023 and possibly into 2024, impacting real incomes for UK
consumers, Against this backdiop, our trading performance has
been robust, with likeforlike sales growth in Topps Tiles over the
first eight weeks of the new financicl yeor of 3.4% and other
ports of the Group performing in line with our expectations. Cur
morket share growth during 2022 and our progress towards our
goal of "1 in 5 by 2025”, combined wilh cur clear strategy and
strong bolance sheet, give us corfidence that we wall continue
W deliver growth and create vale cver the medium term
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Owr risk management approach has been developed to enable the business to identily, assess and manage the key risks by the
business at corporate, skalegic and operational levels. These risks inherently incorporale the significant risks faced by the business,
which are summarised in the following pages. The key steps of the Group's risk review framework are oullined below:

¢ an annual stralegic risk workshap which is attended by the Chair of the Audit Committee, Head of Intermnal Audit, Executive

Commitiee members and other key senior members of the management team;

* the production of o stiotegic risk regisier which analyses the likelihood and impact of risks on an inherent and net bosis;
s the Board, supported by the Audit Commitlee, conducts o robust review of the strategic risk register; and
s a guarlerly update in the Board pack which includes a summary of the key risks idenfified, combined with mitigants and

agreed acfions.

Risks

impact

MACROECONOMIC CHANGES AND CONSUMER CONFIDENCE

The general economic climate, and
specifically consumer confidence, cie
important o Topps Tiles and evenls
that may affect these factors present
a financial risk to the business. The
current macroeconemic outlook may
delerioiate due 1o o combination of
factors, such as high inflation and
rising interest rates, which may lead
to o decline in the ile market.

Over the longterm, consumers need
to feel confident and hove occess

(o} funding fo invest money into their
homes. A reduction in consumer
confidence or ability 1o fund

home impiovements os o result of
defericrating macroeconomic factors
could result in @ contraction of the
tile market, impacting revenue and
profits

Mitigation

The business is in a sirong position to face any
morkel contraction. We hove © stiong net cash
position with no debt and refain a significant
level of availatle funding via a £30C million
banking facility committed until Oclober 2025.

This strong financial foundation, combined

with tight control of costs, allows the Group to
greater withstand shoriferm frading pressures.
Macroeconomic indicators are reviewed as pari
of monthly Board pack. Eorly signs of adverse
trends would be responded to with revised
business plans and reduced levels of investment.

STATUS T

Several key factors, most notably inflation, have changed cver the past year which could have a matenal impact on consumer
confidence and their abitity 1o fund home improvements. The future economic outlook is unceriain and is likely to detericrate further,
which has resulied in the increase in this risk.

INFLATIONARY COST INCREASES OF PRODUCTS FOR RESALE AND NOT FOR RESALE

The cumert level of inflation across the
UK economy hos led to CPl of 9.9%
in September 2022 and there are
inflationary pressures across much of
the world.

Suppliers may leck fo pass on
increases in their inpul prices and
fluctuations in exchange rates may
also have o detrimental impact

on costs.

Key areas of potential inflahien across
goads not for rescle are wiiliy bills,
rent ard sialf wages, omoengst ciher
vanable costs

'mHDﬁonory pressures are likely

to result in increased costs for

the business, which may be

difficuli to fully offset cr pass on to
consumers, pariculatly in the current
macroeconomic climate. This could
result in reducing profit margins and
absclule profi?s if revenue does not
Suﬁiciem'ry merense 1o offset lower
margins.

The business has experience in successiully
managing cost pressures. Shalegic sourcing
plans incorporate alignment with key sourcing
pariners and those geographically well placed
to minimise inflationary pressures,

We operale an effective foreign currency
hedging policy and ulifity contracts are fixed
until September 2023, The business is able

1o reduce certain varioble costs. Sales prices
may also be aclively managed, recognising the
limited ahility of carsumers to absorb price rises.

STATUS '

Inflation in the UK and in many parts of the world has increased significantly in 2022, and is forecast o continue at high levels

for of least 12 months
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Rigks

Impact

SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE CHANGE

In line with oll businesses we hove o
responsibility to focus on sustainability
and climate change fo minimise aur
impact on the environment and our
communities.

IF we da not de this successtully,
there is a risk of further legislation,
regulation or taxation.

Any additional legislation, regulation
or faxation in relation to sustainchbility
and climate change could increase
compliance costs for the Group.

We wish to make consumers

teel conlident that the Group s @
responsible corporate citizen and that
we are doing all we can to minimise
our environmental footprint. if we

do not fulfil our responsibilities in

this areq, it could result in significant
reputational damage and subsequent
impact on future frade.

if we do not deliver against our
climaie targets, investors may choose
to reallocate capital away from the
Group, lowards assets with lower
impact on the environment.

Mirigation

The Group continues to focus on our
"Environment Leadership” strategy with a geal
of being carbon baianced by 2030. We

are driving product innovation lo increase the
amount of recycled content in tiles and related
products and we continue to assess new
ways of reducing greenhouse gos emissions,
minitnising waste and increasing recycling.
Qur CEO, Rob Parker, takes responsibifity for
this element of the sirategy wilk the support of
our partners, the World tand Trust. We believe
we are well placed 10 lead the thinking in this
area aeross our industry. Stores are assessed
for environmental risks, such as floods, and
upgrades are assessed as required.

Please see the Environmental Llecdership section
of the Strategic Report and our TCFD disclosure
for more information on this subject.

STATUS <>

The overall level of risk has sfcyed Hat with good progress being made by the Group in progressing p|ons to reduce and mitigate
our environmental impact, however the Group recognises the increasing desire for companies 1o do more to reduce thelr impact

on the envirenment.

ATTRACTING AND RETAINING TALENT/LOSS OF KEY PERSONNEL

The exit of individuals key to the
delivery of our strategy or the inability
o find new talent lo support the
delivery of our growth agenda.

The failure tc recruit or retain key
individuals could impact on the ability
of the business to deliver its srategic
objectives.

Atiocting Talent is difficult due (o
the: low levels of unemployment and
higher wage inflation.

We focus hard on recruiting the right pecple,
ensuring we have excellent on-boarding and
fraining programmes to help us both aftract
and retain the nght talent 1o the business

We provide a range of flexible benefits,

both financial and nendinancicl, to provide

o balanced employer brand which we believe
is afiractive to colleagues,

STATUS T

The labour market has continued to tighten throughout 2022 and the challenges facing the Group in 2023 could make the loss of

any key personnel more acute.

KEY:

T PRisk has micreosed

o Risk har decreased

<> Mo change !

MNew risk
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Impact Miligation
'CYBER SECURFTY
The business may suffer a breach A temporary loss of systems would The Company uses modern systems and the
of its IT sysiems security leading to be likely to result in an operational latest network and security protocols to protect
sither a loss of capability or o loss of  impact which wauld adversely affect  against atiack or breaches of security. A
customer and/or commercial data. sales and ultimately profits, disaster recovery server provision is in place
The loss of commercial or customer O_nd ‘ihe majoriyy of our servers now Operale on
doto could resull in reputational virtuolised technology. Access rights only allow
damage fo the Campany and/ collenques access to clalu thar they r\eed. Two
o fines. stialegic cyber securily pariners are i place and
additional cetive monitoring of security threats
is being implemented. Virus outbreak response
plans are in place.
STATUS ©

Cyber security continues to represent a significant risk for the Group. The underlying environment evolves at o significant pace
which must be matched by continue! improvements in our mifigation approach.

WAREHOUSE CAPACITY

The current warehouse capacity A failure 1o adequately invest in Supply chain excellence projects have been

of the business may be unable to warehouse capacity could resuli in defined and planned, covering improved

adequately occommodate the range sales being lost or unfulfilled within utilisation of the current warehouse space,

and depth of stock required to promised timeframes. forecasling and management of product stock

support sales of the wider Group. requirements and flexible options to increase
warehouse capacity. In the short term, third-party
storage may also be used.

STATUS

The Group has diversified its businesses and product offerings in 2022, which, combined with higher stock haldings to support
higher levels of revenue ond mitigale supply chain risks, has ploced additional pressure on warehouse capacity.

GROWTH STRATEGY THROUGH DIVERSIFICATION

The Group has scught to grow by If targeted growth is not delivered by Management review the strategy in detail and
diversitying cfferings through organic  the diversification sirategy, adequate consult external experts as appropriate. Any
initiatives and acguisitions, This Shoreholder value may not be significant M&A activity is supported by third-
requires invesiment of both capital crealed by investments and the core parly experls in due diligence. The strategy is
and management time, business may suffer from o lack of refreshed and approved by the Board arnually.
management focus. Progress against strategic objeclives is reviewed

by the Board on a reguler basis.

STATUS ©

The 2021 risk covering the successtul delivery of the Commercial business siralegy has been expanded 1o include the new
businesses acquired and launched in 2022 The overoll risk level Fas been maintained, with an increase in diversification being
olfsel by the development of an appreprate manogement structure.

KEY:

T Risk hos increased ¥ Risk nas decieased €2 Mo change + New righ
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Risks Impact

. GLOBAL PANDEMIC - INCLUDING COVID-19
Ancther global pandemic, including

new strains of Covid-19, may result in
trading restrictions being applied.

facilities, and in particular,
operations were restricted.

National fockdowns for Covid-19
included the closure of tile showrooms
which had o material disruption to
trading. A further risk would be o
closure of our central warehouse

Mitigation

We remained agile throughout our supply
chain during Covid-19 and taaded reascnably
successtully through the various lockdowns.
We have well established pandemic protocols
developed for Covid-19 which could be
activated if needed.

if store

In the: event of a lass of the warehouse due

to a new pundemic, we have confingency
warehousing facilities available and could dvert
inbound stock from the port.

More generally, the strength of the Group’s
balance sheet provides resilience to help us
wilhstand any periods of disruption.

STATUS

The separate 2021 risks covering Covid-19 and ancther global pandemic have been combined in 2022 into this risk. The overall
rating has decreased given the lower likelihocd of further lockdowns being imposed ta manage another Covid-19 autbreak.

GLOBAL SUPPLY CHAIN

Global supply chain pressures are
sesticting the availability of stack for
sale, as well as adding addifional
cost pressure into cost of goods and
shipping In the longer term this may
result in the consclidation of the
supplier base, with global sourcing
impacted by environmenial factors.

resources can be secured,

Sales may be impacted by items
being aut of stock due to an inability
fo secure stock or capacity on ships
and tfransport networks. Where

see materiol increases in supply chain
cosls, decreasing our profit mMarging.

Qur buying scale helps ensure we secure
factory capocty ond oppropriate supphy chain
resources  Our internal and pariner logistics
operafions have proved sufficiently agile o deal
with supply chain challenges. We will review
the appropriateness of passing on addifional
COSt RIESSUIEs 10 CONSUMETs.

we may

STATUS

The overall level of this risk hes reduced in 2022 following the successful implementation of the Group's sourcing strategy 1o secure
supply and easing of logistical pressures, however, this remains a key area of focus for managemeant,

The following items were included within the significant risks reported for 2021, but have now been removed

for the reasons provided:

Supply Chain: This risk has been split in 2022 between
the Warehouse Capacity and Global Supply Chain risks
so that these key ilems can be cssessed more effech’vely
individually.

Delivery Optimisation: The ovesall level of this risk
has reduced in 2022, given the continued resilience of the
Group's product ond service offerings following Covid19.

Appropriate Customer Offer: The relative level of tus
risk has reduced in comparison 1o the other Group nisks in
2022, so it has dropped oufside of the top strategic risks
included in the Annual Report

Value erosion through M&A: This risk has been
merged into the new Group Diversification risk above.

Major Reputational Damage: The relative level of
this risk has reduced in comparison fo the other Group risks
in 2022, so it has dropped outside of the top strotegic risks
included in the Annual Report

Store Portfolio: The level of risk has declined as we have
added two Online Pure Play businesses in 2022 and also
completed our store closure progiomme Given these chonges
the relative level of this risk has reduced in companson 1o the
other Group risks in 2022 so it has dropped outside of the
iop strategic nsks included in the Annual Report.

The Direclors wilt continue to moniior all of the key risks and
uncertainties and the Board will ke appropriate achons o
mifigale these nsks and their polential outcomes
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SECTION 172 STATEMENT

SECTION 172 COMPANIES ACT 2006

The purpose of the Strategic Report is to inform members of
the Company and help them assess how the Divectors have
performed their duty under section 172 of the Compuanies Act
2006 ("s. 172" which requires each Director to act in the
way they consider, in good faith, would most likely promote
the success of the Company for the benefit of its members as a

* The desirability of the Company maintaining o repuiation
for high standards of busingss conduct; and

* The need 1o act fairly as between members of the Company.

The Board of Directors confirms that during the year under review
it has acted in good foith to promote the longterm success of the
Company for the benefit of its members as o whole, while having
due regaid to the matiers set out in section 17211 }ia) 1o if} of the

whole. In doing this, the Director must have regard, amongst

other matters, io.

»  The likely consequences of any decision in the long term;
* The infrrests of the Cumpany's employees;
* The need fo foster the Company’s business relationships

with suppliers, cusiomers and others;

* The impact of the Company’s operations on the community

and the environment;

Companies Ad 2006. We define principal decisions os both
thase that are material 1o the Graup, and thal we significant to
uny of our key stokeholder groups, including our customers and
suppliers, our people, Shareholders and our local communities
and sociely in general. Details of significant decisions made
during the year iogether with examples of matters discussed in the
yeor by the Boord, their impacdi on key siakeholders and how we
have engaged with our stakeholders are included in the tables
below and discussed throughout the Strategic Report.

Stakeholder

OUR CUSTOMERS

Why it is important to engage
with this stakeholder group

In o competilive environment, our
ongoing success depends on mesting
customer neadls and requirements

more effechively thon our competitors.
We therefore recognise the benefits of
consistent and continuous engagemeant
with our customers fo ensure thot both
our current producis and those in
development are suitoble for their needs.

Customer service is a key competitive
cdvaniage for the Group. Only by
engaging with, and understanding our
customers, can we conlinue o meet
their needs Ve use this feedback to

continuously improve our service offering.

OUR PEOPLE

Why it is important to engage
with this stakeholder group

Al strategic initiatives are delvered
thiough our colleagues they are
fundemenial 1o the successhul delivery
of our strategy, as we wontinue to werk
to enhance cur repuiation for providing
excelleni cusiomer service

How we engaged

How we responded

We receive ¢.25,000 customer survey
responses every year, we also receive
< 50,000 calls, five chats and emails
into our customer sefvices cenlre.

Customer satisfaction scores are a key
matiic for the husiness and are reported
as a business KPI in this Annual Report.

To goin additional insight from our irade
customers, we send cut g tade survey
every quarter and get arcund 1,200
responses on various subjects. We also
have a closed Faceboak group of around
1,000 rraders which provides continuous
direct feedback.

We hove a cullure of seeking to
celebrate success and will share
positive customer feedback with specific
colleagues where possible. We operate
o Topps Tiles' superstar oward scheme
to reward colleagues with very strong
customer teedback. Ve lake negative
customer experiences very seriously and
operate a close the loop process for ony
negative review, where we will contact
the customer and attempt to put matters
right where we can. Customer-based
feedback is an essential part of key
decisions around range, price, channel
1o market and key investiments,

Monthly Bourd reports cover customer
service-based metrics, along with
developments for praduct and customer
service initialives.

How we engaged

We peitorm an arrual Company=aide
engagemenl survey WMiWoice) with 70%
completion rale i the winter 2021 survey
We have o stiuciure of routne taam
feedhack via o ferum called Team Talk

We track wolleague turmover closely
and perform exit interviews 1o ensure
we undarstond why colleagues choose
1o leave and have a whistleblowing
pracedure where colleagues can
aronymously raise any concerns.

How we responded

A member of the Board, Kaii Daniels

s a designated Employee Engagsment
Director ond provides feedback directly
to the Board an matters discussed ot
scheduled “Team Talk” meetings Monthly
Board repoits cover malters concerning
colleagues, inciuding health and safery,
and feedback trom our IMyVoice)
colleague engagement progiamme

In addition, the Board ard management
have direc contact with colleagues
through frequent visits to stores
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Stakeholder

"OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Why it is important to engage
with this stakehclder group

How we engaged

How we responded

We rely on our Shareholders as providers
of capital funding to support our strategic
objectives.

Investors need us to protect and manage
their investments in a responsib|e ond
sustdinable way that generates volue

for them

The Executive Directors regularly engage
with larger and institutional Shareholders
through @ combination of personal
contact and formal presentations

and readshows including six investor
performance updates per year. The
Chairman inferacts with holders through @
regular annual engagement programme.
Our Annual General Meeting provides
an important opportunity for Shareholders
to inferact with all of our Directors, raise
malters and vote on resolutions.

We work with the sellside analysis
connected 1o our industry to provide the
wider market with information about the
Company’s performance, position and
strategy.

Sharehoider feedback along with details
of movements in our Shareholder base is
regularly reported to and discussed by
the Board, to ensure that decisions are
made with an understanding of the views
of our Shareholders.

This year we have engaged with
Shareholders conceming our updated
capilal ollecation policy [see below] and
our revised remuneration policy which
will be proposed for approval af the
2023 AGM,

OUR SUPPLIERS

Why it is important to engage
with this stakeholder group

How we engaged

How we responded

Our expertise in the ranging, sourcing
and procuremeni of tles on a glebal
basis is a core port of cur competitive
advaniage. We work direcily with
carefully selected manufacturing parters
to develop and produce differentiated,
innovative, quality products that are
ohlen exclusive to the Group ond
therelore maintaining and enhancing our
relationships with those suppliers is key
o our success.

High standards of business canduct
working with cur suppliers are
fundamental to the delivery of this
strategy

The past year has been one of swgmhcant
turbulence for suppliers, with challenges
around sourcing raw materials, sigmﬂcom
inpul cost inflation including energy,
movements in exchonge rates, and
production challenges. During this

penod, we have worked closely with

our suppliers 1o overcome challenges

in the supply chain and mainiain stock
ovowlc:bdiry for our cuslomers.

The Boord receives regular product and
supplierbased updates, including cost
inflation updates and how these are
managed in terms of consumer pricing.

The business has undertaken o number of
supplier tronsitions to build the strongest
supplier base fo suppor! the longerterm
aims of the expanding Group, while
continuing to work collaboratively with
our core graup of “Tier 17 suppliers.
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SECTION 172 STATEMENT

-SOCIETY
Why it is important to engage
with this stakeholder group

How we engaged

How we responded

Being o responsible member of our
communily and minimising our impact
on the environment is increasingly valved
by our customers ond society af large.
We believe that a positive respanse 1u
these challenges con be a source of
compelitive advantage while also being
the right thing fo do.

on the environment and the Board

Strategic Report.

We have a rotation pelicy for charity
support partners and have completed
cur seven years' support period for
Macmillar, our new charity pariner

Colleagues and customers have always
Alzheimer’s Sociely was chosen by a

been generous supporters of our chosen
charity and we contirue fo value the
impaict we can have in the communities
in which we operate.

colieagues registering their vote.

We have a range of inifiafives focused

receives regulor updotes and is regularly
consulied, see pages 5010 53 of the

vote from colleagues with neady 1,000

In 2021 the Board placed Environmenta)
Leadership ot the centre of our future
strategy, we also anncunced onr goa! of
becoming carbon balanced by 2030
as a Group. This year, our Commercial
business became carbon balanced,

the first part of the Group o do so. See
pages 24 1o 25 of the Sirategic Report
and our TCFD stafement for further
information on this,

The Board is regulary consuled an
our social agenda.

The Company’s social and charity agenda
is discussed on poges 54 1o 57 of the
Sirategic Report

While it is acknowledged that it is not passible for all the Boaid's decisions 1o result in a positive outcome for every siakehalder group,

when making decisians the Board cansiders the Company’s putpose, vision and val

lues together with its strategic priorities and takes

account of its role as a respansible business. By doing this, we aim to make more robust and sustaincble decisions which will odd

value for all siakeholders over the longer term.

PRINCIPAL DECISIONS DURING 2022
Areas of Board activity and the issues and matters that it has considered can be fou

nd throughout the Strategic Report Detalled below

are three case sfudies of decisions taken by the Board in the year, which required the Board to carefully consider different stakeholder
groups and how they impacted the success of the Group, and their longterm ffinancial and nonfinancial) impact while having due

regord 1o the matters set out in s172{1Hal 1o [f] of the Componies Act 2006

Cose Study Topic ~ Matter Discussed

Development of Online Pure Play - acquisition of Pro Tiler and internal development of Tile Warehouse

How we engaged and what we did
to consider stakeholders

Stakeholders
considered

CUSTOMERS Customer analysis idenlified specific customer
groups that were less well served by the
Groun's care omni<hannel refail business
Topps Tiles). We researched customer frends
with a view to developing a new offer to reach

customers that we do not cuwenify sefve

Decision

The Board decided 1o approve the acquisition
of Pro Tiler Limited, and ¢lso to finance the
internal development of the Tile Warehouse
business

Taken together, these decisions represent a

SHAREHOLDERS We carefully considered f and how the
invesiment,/ development would generate value
ond the usks of i deshoying value through

censifivity analysis and a general considerohon

SUPPLIERS
wath existing suppliers to the Group and add
additional volume, o provide cpportunities
for new suppliers

The Boord considared whether the invesiment
would increase employment opporunines for
ex%smg OF NEw co”eogues, Of NCIease ]ob

security across the Group,

COLLEAGUES

_ of the Croup's nsk appelite

1
\We corsidered whether we could ether work c

\

|
N

|

|
L

meaningiul slep into the Cnline Pure Play
imorket, a major shategic mave for the (Group

!
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Case Study Topic = Motrer Discussed

Capital allocation policy and revised dividend policy

' Stakeholders
‘considered

SHAREHOLDERS

How we enguged and what we did
to consider stakeholders

We engaged with key Shareholders in the eariy
stages of defining our new capital ollocation
policy. Their perspectives were therefore taken
infe account in cur decision-making process.

BANKING PARTNERS

Case Study Topic — Matter Discussed

Change of Charity Partner

We considered our poriner banks' current
affitude 1o our financial sirength and stability,
and the likely impact on their appetite 1o support
us moving forward as a result of any chonge in
our policy.

Decision

The Board approved plans fo increase
dividend payments to ¢ moderate degree and
reduce dividend cover from 2x adjusted EPS
to 1.5% adjusted EPS aver a twoyear period,
as rnnounced in e interim Results
announcement.

Stakeholders
considered

SOCIETY /CHARITY
GROUPS

How we engaged and what we did
to consider stakeholders

We have a rotation policy for charity support
partners and completed cur sevenyear support
period for Macmillen during 2022, We
therefore reviewed polential charity pariners

in the year, and developed a shorflist of four
potential partrers.

COLLEAGUES

We conducted a colleague vole 1o defermine
our new partner from the shorllist — the vole
was won by Alzheimer's Society. Colleagues
ore encouraged to support the Society through
gefling involved, including Phrough volunteering
and direct fundraising.

Decision

The management teamn approved the move 1o
our new charity pariner, Alzheimer’s Society,
as voted for by our colleagues.
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SUSTAINABILITY

ENVIRONMENT

In 2021, Topps Group incorporated Environmental leadership into our overall strategy, setting a core target of net zero carbon
emissions by 2030. In 2022, we have defined a second core pillar, to support the development of a circular economy thiough

recycling, reuse, and innovation.

Core target What

1. CARBON NEUTRAL BY 2030 .

and offset

* Renewaoble electricity

Parinership with World Land Trust to measure, reduce

Link to SDGs

*  Phased replocement of ICE vehicles with HEVs and EVs;
introduction of BV charging points ot Head Office

¢ Rolling LED lighting upgrades throughout stores network

* hilising strong supplier relationships to influence

Scope 3 reductions

2, SUPPORTING A CIRCULAR .

ECONOMY ond recycling

¢ Membership of the Plastic Pact UK to eliminate

Responsible waste management to facilitole reuse

unnecessary singleuse plastics and improve packaging

recyclability

*  Promoling recycled content use and signposting this
af the point of sale to support customer environmenial

considerations

1. CARBON BALANCED BY 2030 (SCOPES 1 AND 2)

CALCULATING OUR CARBON EMISSIONS

Thanks to ongeing collaborafions with the World land Trust, we are
improving understanding of our carbon emissions across Scopes

1 and 2 and where these can be reduced. This will help us betier
priacitise and plan our carbon reduction and offsetling journey.
Over the coming year, a roadmap of specific reduction and
offsefiing targets Ic guide the Group towards achieving its 2030
net balunced goal will be published. In the meanfime, initiatives
acioss propetty, ransport, and finance will continue our push
towards reducing Scopes 1 and 2 emissions.

SCOPES 1 AND 2 EMISSIONS

TOTAL EMISSIONS!
2022 7025

co, o
€0, (Tonnes)/ () [Tonne:)/
(Tonnes) Store Tornes) Store
Eleciricy 4 0.0 elel 81
Gas and il 2,555 8.3 29728 g8
Commercial fleet 2,079 6.7 2210 67
Company cars 162 0.5 133 04
Total 4,800 15.5 7 Q40 240

v Dota proaded by oo eneigy suppl ey iised on conruripien el phed b,
Frarernenial Agency appraved en <ueons faclors] and for vehicle emissions
fom Lok e somspol tean. thased on rileagz i ched by, nonocue
pubhated eriraione daral 2071 fgues for Cornsicial Flest base baen
o ded o ertloue Scope 3 {Comme of veb cles Brevao.ady soed o 3,287
e for 20218

Scopes 1 and 2 carbon emissions have decreased by 3,100
fonnes for 2022 1o just 4,800 fonnes. This is comparative 1o the
2027 tolol of 7,940 tornes

Cur primary energy consumption is electricity and gas used
across our store estate. Electricity 15 pumarily required for in-
store lighting and the significant reduction on 20271 reflects qur
switch to 100% renewable electricity, us well as the impact

of our engoing LED lighting upgrades. Gas is primarily used

for heating across our store estate and the decrease on 2021
relates to the reduction of the store chain over this period. Details
of Commercial Fleet and Company cars emissions data are
included on the Transport and Company Vehicles section below.

PROPERTY

We are continuously reviewing new ways 1o reduce the carbon
fooiprint of our property estate, by focusing on energy elfficiency
and targeled reuse of display fixiuring

We compleled the installation of 1ED lighnng in oll steres in
2022 {excluding s'rategic s'oies) and are continuing to explere
further lighting cptians to reduce cverall conzumpenion

Most of our slore eslate have aulomatic smail energy merers
installed which allows us to cosely monitor und analyse gas
and electicity use ond we cie now planning dota driven
iniiclives 1o support stores with reducing energy through
smarler operation of sysiems

In supporting the Group's commimment io a greener vehicle fleer,
we have insialled “superfast electic vehicle chargers” of cur
Grove Pork site



STRATEGIC REPORT

The new financiol year will see cur first solor powered store
open in Guildiord and we have also committed fo installing
solar power systerms on both warehouses at cur Distribution
Site aF Grove Park which ts estimated to generate a combined
340,000 kWh of electricity per annum, reducing our reliance
on gridsupplied electricity

Any fixtures and fitings from recent store closures have been
revsed in exisling store display projects and this now forms
part of all new sfore projects at planning stage.

TRANSPORT AND COMPANY VEHICLES

Duting 2022, ous tronspor fleet (including the use of subr
contraictors] has covered a tolal of 3.80 million kilometres using
1.17 million lires of fuel, corresponding to a distance travelled
increase of 22.8% with o fuel consumption decrease of 6.4%.

This can be afiributed 1o new, more fueleflicient vehicles
introduced holtway thicugh the yecor, driver tigining, and the
implementation of modern route plonning systems at the end of
20271. Most of cur vehicle fleet hove the latest Euro & engines
which are returning excellent fuel economy statistics and
reducing the amount of fuel required for cur fleet

We have also infroduced a fiquified natural gas {UING) vehicle
to our fleef this year which will also contribute to a reduction

in emissions. Around half of our Drivers have been recruited in
the post 12 months - each Driver enjoying a comprehensive
induction period which includes lats of driving time with cur
Driver Trainer. This mecns they are in the best place 1o drive cur
vehicles in the most efficient manner by the time they stari driving
on their own

Our plans for the coming year include exlending the skills of our
Criver Trainer to our existing Drivers — using cur felematics to
identify areas where Drivers require additional fraining. Our new
route planning sysiem has enabled us to reduce the distance
avelled through the oplimisation of 1outes resulting in reduced
fuel usage.

We recognise that the potential for reducing emissions is, in
some areas, limited by ihe pace of technologica! progress. For
example, there remains uncertainty regarding a viable fossil fuel
alternative far heavy gonds vehides, al present. Cur longterm
strategy in such cases is fo continue investing in the newest
fechnclogy, and te look ot ouditable offseling where reduction
is not possible.

As part of our supply chain strategy, we are looking 1o frial
a delivery hub, which will reduce finet mile distance and open
up the opportunity to expiore alternative fuels such as elecliic.

Alse contnbuling to cur Scope | emissicns are company £
leased across the orgonisation for sales and support staff. O
these 10% are hybrid electic vehicles [HEVs], with or addisonal
5% being elecinc vehicles (EYsh Ve are encouiaging the grudual
replocement of remaining internal combushion engine vehicles with
EVs via the iniraducton of @ new fleat operatar with o gieater
speciabsm in and selection of EVs, as well as by installing £Y
chorging ponts of our leicester Head Office. This, coupled with
continued fuel efficiency improvements, will serve to reduce Scope
1 emissions over the coming yeors. We are pleased fo report that,
al the fime of wiiting, an addiienal 5% of our Company vehicles
that cue on order are to be replaced with EVs
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SCOPE 3 EMISSIONS

Although Scope 3 emissions lie cutside the Group's direct
remit, we can support supply chain emissions reductions

using owr buying scale, supplier relationships, and consumer
market share. Qur buying teams understand the importance of
supporting sustainable innovation, utilising their wide network
of suppliers to ensure we can offer customers a greater choice
of environmentally conscious products, This will help incentivise
additional indusiry investment info such products.

2. SUPPORTING CIRCULARITY

OUR VISION

The aim of our second Environmental Leadership core pillor,
supporting circularity, is fo minimise depletion of natural
resources while, hand in hand, diverting waste streams away
from environmentally highrisk end paints such as landfill. This
can be achieved by working lowards closed loop circularity -
tepurposing waste from the tile industry into new materials for
use in the industry. Where this is not possible, we can support
open loop circularity — repurposing waste from ofther industiies
into file prcducts and vice versa.

RECYCLED
CONTENT
IN OTHER
INDUSTRIES

TILES WITH

RECYCLED
CONTENT

TILES
MATERIAL

Jrarmaaaino e e

WASTE FROM
OTHER
INDUSTRIES

-

Ervisioned closed loop {turquaise arraws) and opet- loop (navy anows| ciculanty
witkun Le manufachusing

RESPONSIBLE WASTE MANAGEMENT

Tor drive our vision of circularity, we aie taking sieps fo reduce
waste and ensure that waste which cannol be reduced 15 1e0sed
or iec ycled

REDUCING WASTE

As part of our painership with Commercial, we hove lounched
a new 1ange of cleaning products infa our Retarl stores in August
2022 This ncludes five refillable hottles {glass, bothroom,
kitchen cleaners efc), which can be refilled using dissclvable
sachats. This change will maan that cur store teams no longer
order replacement bottles, bul will instead order sachets only,
saving « total of 3600 plastic boties {0 5 tonnes of plastic],
neross pul store esinte
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RECYCLING

We are collaboraling with Acom Recyclers 1o manage recycling
of cur packaging waste. Packaging waste is collected from the
stote netwark by our own transport fleet ond centrally sorted at
our Leicester warehouse, We are then able to pass this onto
Acorn, based wilhin 25 miles of our warehouse, for reprocessing
with minimal associated fransport emissions. Across 2022 to
date, we have recycled 40 fonnes of cardboard, 36 tonnes

of polythene, and, in o recently siarted initiative, 5 tonnes of
plastic pailets. Once with Acorn, this material is sorted by hand
fo remove any contaminates, washed, dried, and then palletised
tor baled) for use within both open and closed loop examples of
circularity, being reprocessed inio end products such as refuse
sacks and paper board

We dalso centrally collate lile, adhesive ond grout waste from
our stores 1o be sent for specialised end-oflife reprocessing.
We work in parinership with Greendlife to recycle damaged
files into aggregate for use in the construction industry. We
are proud lo have recycled 7% of this waste stream during
2022, corresponding to o moredhan threefold increase on the
preceding year.

THE UK WASTE ELECTRICAL AND ELECTRONIC
EQUIPMENT {WEEE} REGULATIONS

The WEEE Regulations were intracluced 1n 2007 with the aim
of reducing the amount of electrical and electronic equipment
ending up in lendlill Our siores offer o likeforike toke back
service, whereby customers can return their old product,

LAMPAS

opps Group conlinues to invest in working

with manufaciuring partners 1o bring more

recycled confent onto the UK marketplace.

An exomple of this is our lampas range of

aloss tiles — aesthelically siunning, durable,

and containing 0% recycled content. With
siiong sales, such products embrace ciiculoring withow
any compromise on quality or custemer satisfaction
and drive further demand for recycled conent

Pictured: Lampas Peacock Tile,
with 60% recycled content

irrespective of its original vendor or purchase date, 1o any siore
when purchasing o new one. These electrical products are then
colloted of cur distribution cenire and sent for recyc'uing.

CIRCULAR PACKAGING

For materials 1o be recycled, they musl first be recyclable
As such, to achieve our core target of supporting circulari?y,
an important step is to ensure the total recyclability of our
packaging.

THE UK
PLASTICS
PACT

THE PLASTIC PACT UK {WRAP)

We are colleborating with climate non-governmental
organisaiion YWRAP as o member of their Plastic Pact UK. The
Plastic Pact, iniiated in 2018, aims to "tackle the scourge of
plastic waste” by implementing the following targets by 2025

1. Eliminate problematic or unnecessary single yse pockaging;
2. 100% of plastc packaging to be reusable, recyclable or
compaostable;

3. 70% of plasiic packaging 1e effectively be recycled or
composted, and

4. 30% average recycled content across plastic packaging.
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In 2022, we became the first company in the thng indusiry

to sign the Plastic Pact UK, demonsirating our commitment o
environmental leadership. Each July, we now repert our annuai
packaging tonnage, by material type, 1o WRAP, who measure
our performance against the recyclability targets and odvise on
hew we con make further progress towards them.

THE ON-PACK RECYCLING LABEL (OPRL) SCHEME

Topps Tiles is a proud member of the On-Pack Recycling label
(OPRY} Scheme. With over 750 members, this scheme aims to
deliver o simple ond consistent on-packaging recycling message
ic help consumers correctly recycle waste. This is an important
step in closing the circularity loop in puckaging, os matericl
recovery is considerably detrimented by the contamination
which results from incorrec! recycling. All Topps Tiles branded
packaging displays the appropriate OPRL kabelling 1n
accordance with the guidelines of the scheme.

CHAMPICONING RECYCLED CONTENT

Beyond improving recyclability, we also understand the
imporiance of incorperating recycled confent into our products,
namely — increased investment in technigues which enable
grecier proporticns of recycled content, increased demand for
recycled materials, and decreased demand for naturol rescurces
Indeed, actually ulilising recycled content is vital for supporting
the develapment of o circular ecanomy.

Cutiently, moie than 50% of our tile products contain recycled
content. This information is, for the first lime, displayed ot the
point of sale in stares and online, improving fransparency
and helping sustainabiliny-conscious customers make informed
decisions with respect 1o the environmental impact ¢t their
purchase.

it Beyont X a; ;
! han%ﬁ&reac%/at : &Hw‘ppiy % ty%hmn <an
 be.complex, butwe ate tomm‘ﬂed to ensuring alf our suppliers
- adhere fo the highést standards of ethics, can demonstrate
: safe werkmg condifigns and gre treating workers with digaity
* and respect. As g Group we have a commilment o respeciing
human fights and ideniifying, investigating, engaging-and
remedfioting any issves uncovered. Our supgliers are required
. to comply with the Topps Respansible Sourcing Code and
+ cofim their agdeptdnge of its-provisions. This code has been
" designed 1o be ethical, auditable, and achievable and is in
place to promele good working practices. The Code represents
our fundamental expectations of our supply parters in relation
1o responsible sourcing. Compliance is underpinned by way of
contractual obligation and oudit process. Suppliers applying this
code are expected as a minimum to comply with nafional and
other applicable local laws.

We work proactively with our oll our suppliers 1o ensure that they
foke info consideration the principles of susiainable development,
in particular, the optimum use of raw materials, water, the efficient
use of energy and also minimising the amount of waste as a resul
of the supply choin and manufacturing process. This is now a key
part of the supplier evatuation and audit process.

We are warking closely with Inlerfek, the leading Quality
Assurance Expers who have cairied out independent thirdparty
audifing on production faciliies where there is any preduct or
geographical risks, These Workplace Condilions Assesseent
audits demenstiate compliance in relation to health ond sofety,
labour, wages and hours and environmental standards. Some
31 facilifies have now been audited in geographical risk

areas and we are working closely with suppliers o ensure thot
all nencompliances are being addressed within the agreed
fimescales. Our fundamental gim is to work with our suppliers on
any issues using a confinuous improverment model and we will
not work with suppliers that fail to engage with us in this process.
Inferfek are providing addiional compliance fraining to suppliers
where it has been identified thot more support is required. This
parinership with Infertek is imperative as we look to operale

in different countries across the world due to the current price
pressuies on shipping

In 2015, the Modern Slavery Act came inlo torce and Topps
Thles is commitied io this act ensuring thot ne forms of medern-
dary slovery enter the Group business ond its supply chains
We believe that training in this area (s impodant, and thete 15
heightened aworeness across the organisation on being able
to identify the risks of moderm-day slavery.

* Qur Responsible Sourcing Code of Condud and Modern Slavery Staiement can
be found on cur website of www loppshlespk: com under Coroorate Responsibuity
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SOCIAL

Core target What Link to SDGs
COLLEAGUE *  MyVoice — onnual engagement survey
EXPERIENCE * Diversity and Inclusion - increased focus an dota collection

and aclion; International Women's Day initiotive

* Recognition - Topps Superstars, Store of the Year, Qutstanding
Contribution Awards

* TeamTALK - colleague and manager forum at regional and
national levels

* Communications platform — new interaclive twoway intranel
in social media style

COLLEAGUE * Thrive LXP - new leamning management platform with video
CAPABILTY content covers hraining, wellbeing and communicotiens
* Leadership development - coaching in the workplace, high
polential performance development
¢ Career pathways — formal development plans for service
specialisfs in retail

¢ Apprenticeships - formal qualifications available to all colleagues
provided by our dedicated partners via the Apprenticeship levy.

* Improve inductions - online and in-person training modules
designed for better new starier experiences ond improved retenhicn

COLLEAGUE

WELL-BEING + Well-being wheel - ongoing rolational plan cansidering physical,

mental, financial, social and career wellbeing

* BUPA - launch of employee assistance progiamme via feading
provider, includes assislance for immediate family for advice lines

» Mental Health First Aiders -~ Group-wide groups of colleagues
io provide mental healih support signposting

* Event days - infermation provided with signposting for World
Mental Health Day, Menial Health Awareness Week, Dementia Action
Week, World Menopause Day

* Benefits - elaunch of Hapi Benefits pioviding everyday discounts,
olfers and rewards to aid with financial wellbeing

This year work has focused on specific areas of development in our leading People strategy under the piflars of Colleague
Experience, Colleague Capability and Colleague Wellbeing

We recagnise that the best collengues our “leading peaple” cie these who are highly argaged. highly skilled, and have
a shiong sense of the wellbeing of hemselves and those aiourd them which in win creates o sense of belonging .k the
Gioup end focus on delivering results
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We monitor our colleagues” views and feelings about the Group,
their managers, teams and work-ife balonce via our annual
engagement survey. Our winter 2021} survey enjoyed continved
high levels of participation ot 80%, as well as on increase in
participation from 20% to 55% for cur logistics team.

Overall engagement remained high of neary 80% {2019 pre-
pondemic 75%}, with 88% of oll colleagues saying they were
commitied to the success of the husiness. Orne area highlighted
by the survey was the need for ndditional fraining resources,
which hus been provided by our new LX platform Thrive {see
below on Colleague Cepaility).

Another area highlighted by the 2021 survey was a requirement
for additional recognition, which has now increased to include
monthly Topps Superstars awards, announced by the Chief
Executive Rob Parker in his video Huddies {15 awards in

Y202 1), as well os o Sioe of the Yeor Aword, and awards

for Qutstanding Contribution thioughout the year, presented to
individuals at cur annual conferences

In addifion, we consull with colleagues via cur TeamTALK forums,
which have regional, departmental and naticnal groups, comprising
elected colleagues who meet regularly lo raise items of concem or
interest with Executive feam leaders as well as undergo consultation
on relevant business matters  During the year we also launched o
new inferaclive communicafions plafform which hos a social media
look and feel, and enables colleagues to comment or take part in
two-wary conversation on confent which inferests them.

Our work on diversity and inclusion continues to develop with
gathering of demographic data and various initiatives to suppon
equality, and for the year, 37% of applications for rcles came from
females. At the end of the year, we had 27 0% femcle colleagues
in the Group, and our median Gender Pay Gap ot April 2021
was 2.7%, signiticantly lower than the UK average of 15 4%,

We also celebrated Iniernational Women's Day for the second
consecutive year and ils theme of Brenk The Bios. Our D&l work
continues with leadership awareness fraining on represeniation,
store fraining on bias in reciuitment, and the infroduction of
mandatory training for all colleagues on equality ard inclusion,
colled Working Well With Evervone.

COLLEAGUE CAPABILITY

Alarge pan of this year's focus on capabiliny has been via the
Thrive leaming and development (1BD) plotfoim (referenced
abeove) lo give Colleogues a focys an continuous improvement
and potential for develcpmert.

The platform includes more thon 1800 pieces of leaming
cantent. of which aprrioximately two thirds are related to praduct
and process haning. The remaining ae relojed 1o persenal
development and wellbeing. Mere thon 73% of the contert has
keen developed inhouse, specifically for colleagues.

1,837 249500

Pieces of t&D content Number of content views
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By the end of the year, all Topps Tiles Retail and Commercial
colleagues had access to Thrive. It is plonned that during Q2 of
the new linancial year, all remaining Group colleauges will have
access.

Qur focus on continuous improvement is realised in our career
development opporiunities. By the end of the year, 40% of

store managers and 58% of deputy managers had stepped tnlo
their role vio internal prometions, and o new Career Pathways
framework was established ta show Service Specialisis how they
can progress thei development.

APPRENTICESHIPS

Wae pay an Apprenticeship Llevy and in the last financial vaar
have seen six Co“eogues in our leicester support cffice compfefe
their qualification via this rouie.

This included payroll, project management and management
and leadership qualifications.

In the coming year we cre working with our leaming partners
including Kube, Babington and MBKB Limited to roll out the
apprenticeships scheme further aeross the Group, including a
Changing Lanes programme to assist warehouse colleogues to
attain an HGV driving licence.

COLLEAGUE WELL-BEING

The physical and mental health of our colleagues has long been
o priority for the Group and we have many inifigtives in place
to assist those who reguest it

In our 2021 colleague engagement survey, only 8% of colleagues
said they were not aware of mental health resources provided o
them by the Group, while 62% agreed the Company cored about
their weltbeing and 61% said they were comforiable talking about
their mentol health,

This year we iaunched a new Employee Assistance Programme
with Bupa, which wos accessed by 5. 4% of colleagues from
Jure 27 1o July 22, {nationol benchmark &.3% annuallyl, on
tapics including mental wellbeing, legal and family issues.

We clso have a cohort of menial heclth firstaiders across the
Group who have been trained in identifying mental heaith issues,
providing high-level support and signpasting colleagues to
appropriate levels of help, should they require it

In oddition, we relecse information and odvice, including
appropriale signposting pathways, for World Mental Heolih
Day, Mental Heolih Awareness Week, Demeniia Actior Week
{working with our charity poriner Alzkeimer's Society) and Vvorld
Menopause Day

Cur Hopi benefits app vos also relaunched during the year
which features financial cdvice and everyday discourts on well
krown brands ond stores, It was vsed more than 1,600 tmes in
fhe year, with a tolal saving of clmost £10,000 on o oial spend
of more than £161 000, with the uverage user suving af lest
£20 on their purchases
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opps Group wos delighted to join forces with

a new charity partner this year after raising more
than £1 million for Macmilian Cancer Suppon
acioss O sevenyear ossocialion.

Colleagues and customers have always been

generous supporters of our chosen charity, and in
January 2022, a colleague vole saw leading dementia charity
Alzheimer’s Society selected to be the Group's new partner for @
five-year term.

Gioup calleagues quickly tock the new charity to heart, taking
part in a series of fund-raising events as well as discovering more
about dementia as a condilion and its impact on those who live
with it, and their families and carers.

The annucl Tour de Topps cycie ride expanded 1o include
wnning and walking, and had its most successful year o date,
with 108 colleagues across the country rcising more than
£10.000 in just two weeks.

Several smailer groups of colleagues pushed themselves 1o take
on intrepid challenges™ @ group from our buying, stock ond
finance teams, based in our leicester suppart office, undertock
a 2é&-mile ek in the Peak District in a day, raising more than
£6,000; a team from the norheast stores tock to the air and
held o charity skydive, odding another £4,000 to the charity
funds; while ive colleagues from the Greater Llondon area ook
on 4,413 feet of Ben MNevis and raised more than £1,300,
Smaller events including the raffle of a Leicester Tiger's shirt
and a signed rugby ball, as well as o bake-off event, raised
hundreds maore pounds,

Alzheimer’s Society also benefitted from the generosity of
customers who opted 1o donate their small change to chearity by
rounding up their purchase to the nearest whole pound, via the
Pennies Digito! Charity Box. This raised more than £60,000 by
the end of the yeor, bringing the total from mid4anuory to the
yeai end, to more than £20,000.

Cutside of fundraising, colleagues took part in “lunch and leam”
sessions, signing up o become Dementia Friends and leam more
about the condition and ways they can help. VWe were also
delighted fo wefcome charity fundraisers, carers and pecple with
dementia into our hospiality box of leicester Tigers

LEICESTERSHIRE CARES

We aie proud io conlinue our membership with leicestershire
Cares, a charity which works with Jocal businesses and
charitoble groups 1o provide as much aid as possible
Colleagues contiibute time, money ond tems for aciivity
inrcluding ioiletry collections for those affecied by homelasines:
and to, collecnons for children at o disadvantoge at Christmas
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WORDS FROM OUR PARTNERS

LEICESTERSHIRE CARES
T it 3

Kieran Breen, Chief Executive

Officer
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

This year is the first year that the Group has reporied under
TCFD requirements. We are committed to implementing

the recommendations of the TCFD which aim to provide
investors and cther stakeholders with useful information on
climate-telated risks and appartunities that are relevant to
our business. We set out below more detail on how we are
seeking to dlign with these recommendations, recognising
that this wilt form an ongoing workstream as we further
develop our policies, processes, and disclosures over the
medium and long term,

In this context, we have considered our “comply or
explain” obligation under the Financial Conduct Authority’s
Listing Rule 9.8 &R {8} and confism that we have made
disciosures consistent with the TCFD Recommendations
and Recommended Disclosures in this Annuat Report and
Accounts, except in the following areas-

* Scope 3 emissions reporting. This is o complex area with

information not readily available. We will work towards

increasing our disclosure in this area moving forward,
where possible.

* Climate scenarios. We have nol yet prepared climate
scenarios to examine the resilience of the organisation in
different climate oufcomes. This is due 1o the complexity
of this task and availability of suitable analytical
capabilities within the organisation

* Defining targets 1o be used to manage cimaterelated
risks. We have recenfly brought in additional resource in
fhis area and will define targets over the coming year, in
line with our strategy.

We report below for the first ime against the 11 recommended
disclosures urder four thematic pillors set out in the TCFD's
recommendations: these being governance, stategy, risk
managemeni, and meirics and targets

TCFD RECOMMENDATIONS

GOVERNANCE ¢

DISCLOSE THE ORGANISATION'S GOVERNANCE AROUND CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

Recommended disclosures

a. Describe the Board's oversight of climaterrelated risks and opporlunities
b. Describe Management's sole in assessing and monaging chmaterelated nsks and epportunities

The Chief Executive, Rob Parker, has executive responsibility
for climate-elated nsks ard oppartunities and 1s designated
as the Director responsible ot a Board-evel, chairnng the
Executive Leadership steenng group He leads on the
Group's Environmental leadership strategy, sustainability, and
climate-relaled issues As o standard agenda itlem, the Board
receives updates from Rob as part of his CEC report and it
has overall responsibility for oversight of climate-related risks
ond oppoitunities The Audit Committee reviews, in fine with
the Group's nsk review framework, the Group's key nisks and
uncerfainiies whrch are set out on pages 42 to 45 and which
include the potental impact of and mitigation for climate-
related issues

Crossfunciional dialegue on climaie-related risks and
oppattunites s mainained thiough the Sustainabilty Councll,
established in 2019, which meels every quarter This is a
panel of representatives from across the business with a
considerable stake in climaterelated issues This includes
representalives responsible for properly, transport, and waste
maragement. As such, the Council con identify specific nsks
and opportunities and assign deparimental responsibility

for resuhant actions The Council 1s chaired by Rob Parker,
providing a link between the Council’s agenda and the
Board-evel strategy

The newly tormed Susiainab ity Teor, led by Technical

and Sustainabily Manager Kevin Birgham, cooidinates
cross-functional engagement with climote-related risks and
opportunites With technical experise and eaviropmenial
compliance expenence, this team will ensure shategy
impiementaton 1s synchronised throughaut the business This
includes managing relevant projects between departments,
between suppliers, and between external partners
Addmenally, stting within the Buwang fenm, the Sustamakiiny
Team is ideally positioned 1o drive progress in Scope 3, an
area in which we have historically lacked resource
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TCFD RECOMMENDATIONS

disclosures

Recommendszd

a. Describe the climalerelated risks and oppertunities the organisation has identified over the short, medivm and long term
b. Describe the impact of climatereloted risks and epportunities on the organisation’s businesses, strategy and financial planning
c. Describe the resilience of the organisation’s sirategy, taking inte consideration different climaterelated scenarios, including

a 2°C or lower scenario

CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS:

Tronsition risk — Governments may implement new taxes,
regulations or legislation which may be designed fo penalise
companies which do not effecfively minimise their impact on the
environment and communities This may increase compliance
costs for the Group, which would need 1o be shouldered by the
Group or passed onto the customer The former would lead 1o
reduced margin, while the latter would lead to reduced demand

Response - Delivering our goal of being carbon balanced
by 2030 should minimise the extent to which the Group 15
exposed fo any such punitive faxes or legislation

Transition risk — If customers do not feel as though
we are sufficiently focused on reducing our impact on
the environment, there is a risk they may choose 1o shop
elsewhere and possibly cause reputational damage o
the Group, especially If cccompanied by social media
campaigns 1o boycott the Group

Response — Our Group sirategy includes the priority area

of Environmental leadership, which requires us fo clearly
demonstrate that our business is leading the sustainability
agenda within cur secior. VWe are represenied on indusiry
bodies aftempling 1o drive best practce, and we have the
strategy and governance in place to ensure we deliver against
it. We plan to increase our custemer facing communication
over time - for example, we now show the percentage of
recycled content in all of our tiles in store and enline

Physical risk - Climate change means increased
likelhoad of extreme weather events such as flooding. Such
events could aftect stores, causing temporary closures and
increased eslate maintenance costs. These events could also
impact our supply chain, for example, a flboded factory
would lemporarily reduce cur supply ol particular products

Respanse - Very few of our slores ore af substantial risk of
flooding In the sharteim, we are egularly assessing them for
upgrades and, in the medium and long terms, we would be
able to relocate, f necessary, as they are leased Our supplier
base s wide so, even if some suppliers become unable o
tunction in the medium term, ow buying teams would be able
to source affected products from alternative suppliers

CLIMATE-RELATED OPPORTUNITIES:

Product opportunity - Tiles and associated products
can be manufactured with o variety of source matenals.
We are selling an increasingly large amount of tiles with a
degree of recycled content, and ufilising recycled content is
vital for supporting the development of a circular economy.
We now publish the percentage of recycled content on all
liles in store and online Other considerations are the amount
of energy vsed to make a tile, the amount of water used,
where it is sourced from, its he span os o building material
and its recyclability at end of life Our ability to werk with
innovative suppliers from around the world presents an
opportunity to offer customers unique products designed for
a circular, low carbon economy Other praducts such as
adhesives con also be reformulated 1o use recycled conient,
for exampie, cur Regenr8 adhesive which contains up to
53% recycled materials (Ecosand), replacing the need for
natural extracted sand.

We believe our strategy is reasanably resilient but have
nof yet considered ditferen: climate-related scenarios Ve
recogrise the imporiance of developing our assessment of
scenarios and ore considering our approach to this.



60

TOPPS TILES PLC ANNUAL REPORY AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE 52-WEEK PERIOD ENDED 1 OCTGRER 2022

TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

TCFD RECOMMENDATIONS

RISK MANAGEMENT &

disclosures

a. Describe the organisation’s processes for identifying and assessing climaterelated risk
b. Describe the organisation’s processes for managing climaterelated risks
Describe how processes for identfying, assessing and managing climateelated risks are integrated into the organisation’s

overall risk management

We have esiablished o "Thiee Lines of Defence” sisk
management moadel to identify, monitor and manage cfl
risks, including those thot are climoteelated. The first line

of defence is our Executive management team who have
dayto-day respensibility for business operational supervision
and, hence, are required o consider current and developing
risks that could impact on the achievement of our strategic
objectives, including ESG ond climate-related risks Executive
management is uitimately responsible for the implementation
and maintenance of the agreed processes and controls 1o
mitigate the assessed risks

Climate and ESG nsks have been miegrated into our sirategic
risk process, including consideration of all key items, such as
regulatory, repuiational and physical risks The identification
and assessment of climate and ESG risks uses the same
likelihood and impact criteric: as all Group risks on both an
inherent and residual basis A detailed nsk assessment 1s
conducted annually to identify emerging risks and lo ensure
that the focus and management of all risks is appropriote

This assessment includes inpul from the key infernal end
external siakeholders The Audit Committee reviews the results
of the annual stralegic risk assessment and the Board reviews
Executive management updates 1o the nsks and mitigations
on a quarlerly basis

The Environmenial eadership sieering grovp serves as
ancther key part of the second line of defence and evaluates
mdterial ESG risks and comresponding miigation activities
This also provides a ferum o receive and consider new ideas
and feedback from colleagues representing dll areas of the
business on environmental issues This ground-up approach
helps 1o ensure that ail levels of the business are engaged in
our Erwironmental Leadership strategy.

The third line of defence is our Internal Audit funchon,
which provides on mdependert and objective view on the
effectiveness of the inferal control environment, which is
reported to the Audit Committee

ln cddition to the above, cur parinerships with the World
Lond Trust and Wrap provide us with independent and
invaluable nsight and advice
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TCFD RECOMMENDATIONS

METRICS AND TARGETS

mmended disclos

a. Describe the metrics used by the organisation ta assess climaterelated risks and opportunities in line with its strategy and risk
managemen piocess

b. Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2 and, if appropriate, Scope 3 greenhouse gas [GHG) emissions and the related risks
Describe the targets used by the organisation to manage climaterelated risks and opportunities and pedormance against
targets

METRICS

Herein, we disclose the metrics to be used fo assess our climaterelated risks and opportunities. These are splt into direct and
indirect operations, the former comprising Scopes 1 & 2, and the latter Scope 3. In future years, we will disclose yearonyeor

progress for each metric.

Reported
Metric valve 2022 Unit of measure
Direct operations Scopes 1 & 2 carbon emissions 4,800 1CQO,
Scopes 1 & 2 carbon iniensity by revenue| 19 41 1CO, /€ T mil revenue
Scopes 1 & 2 carbon intensity by fioorspace} 2502 kgCO,/m?
Elecricity consumption 11,262,360 A
Gas consumplion 14,025,914 kWh
Proportion renewakble electricity 99.8% %
Recycling rate NR* %
Indirect operations  Scope 3 carbon emissions NR.* 1CO,
Scope 3 carbon intensity {by Group revenue) N 12O, /8 Tmil revenue
Proportion recyclable, reusoble, o composioble own 70% %

label plastic packaging

*NR - no! reported at present

The Group has not yet attained operational capacity 1o report against all planned metncs Reporting for these will commence
as detailed below

Recycling rote By end of 2024
Scope 3 carbon emissions By end of 2024
Scope 3 corbon intensity {by Group revenue) By end of 2024
TARGETS

Thus far, our Ervironmental Leadership sirategy has commitied us 1o the fellowing torgets

e Cuarbon neutral {Scopes 1 & 2} by 2030

s 100% revsable, recyclable, or compostable plastic pockoging on owrdabel ond exclusive products by 2025 {a
commitment made as part of cur membership of the Plastic Pact UK)

Cwer the yeor ahead, cur Sustainabiiity Team will work with Executive lecdership, the Sustainability Council, and other

key stakehclders to set additonal torgets to conespand to our 1eported metrics These will be carelully considered in order
lo minimise climoterreloled 1isk and maximise opportunity These targets will be published in aur repart for the 2023 /24

finareial year
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GOING CONCERN AND

VIABILITY STATEMENT

When considering the going concern assertion, the Board
saviews several {octors including o review of risks and
unceriainties, the ability of the Group to meet its banking
covenants and operote within its banking facilities bosed on
current financial plans, along with a detailed review of more
pessimistic trading scenarics that ore deemed severe but
plausible. The two downside scenarios modelled include o
moderate decline in sales and a more severe decline in sales,
which result in much lower scles and gross prohit than the base
scenario, resulting in worse profit and cash outcomes. The more
severe downside scenaric modelled this year was based on a
prolonged pe{iod of mauweconomic sicess in the UK, losling
for two years, with sales falling substontially in each year in our
main brand, Topps Tiles, as well as yearonyear declines in
gross margins.

The Group has alieady taken a number of actions 1o strengthen
its liquidity over the recent years, and the scenarios siart from

o position of relative strength. The going concern review also
oullined a range of other mitigating actions that could be aken
in a severe but plausible trading scenado. These included, but
were not limited 16, savings on store employee costs, savings
on central support cosfs, reduced marketing activity, a reduction
of copital expenditure, management of working capiial and
suspension of the dividend.

The Group's cash headroom and covenant compliance was
reviewed against current lending facilities in both the base case
and the severe but plausible downside scenario. The current
lending facility was refinanced in Oclober 2022 and expires
al the earliest in October 2025 In all scenatios, the Board

has concluded that there 15 sufficient available liquidity and
covenant headroom for the Group io continue 1o meel all of its
linancial commitments as they fall due for the foreseeable future,
a petied of not less than 12 months from the date of this report.
Accordingly, the Board cantinues to adopl the going concern
basis in preponng the financiol siatements.

LONG-TERM VIABILITY STATEMENT

In addition i the Going Concern statement the Directors have

also assessed the prospects of the Group over a longer pericd
This assessment has been done over a period of three years for
the following reasons:

*  Our Group goal is 1o account for £1 in every £5 spent on
hles and associated producis in the UK by 2025 "1 in 5 by
2025"; and

* The business is largely dependent on UK consumer
confidence and discrefionary spending which is difficult
10 project beyond this penod

The Direciors” ossessment of the Group's prospects bus been
made with reference 1o the Group’s cuirent position, vaech hos
been strengthened by the refinance of lean focilimes concluded
in October 2022 and the prnaipal nske facing the Group. as
detaled in the Stiotegic Report

In assessing ihe viability of the Group, the Board considers the
key risks to the delivery of its hinoncial plans relate 1o macio
economic changes, global supply chain pressure. reduction in
conzumer canfidence and mojor reputational damoge from cyber
secunty attacks, all of which would be expected 16 lead 1o
redlucion in sales In additan, there are key nsks such as supply

chain cost inflation, sustainabilif-led cost pressures and currency
flucations which could lead to o weakening in the Group's
gross margin.

As a resull the Boord has reviewed a number of sensitivities
based on a reduction in sales and gross margin over the viability
period of three years. It should also be noted that the Group

is operationally geared which means that there is a relatively
high level of impact from any increases ot decreases in levels

of turnover. A sustained decrease in levels of turnover would be
managed by a 1educion in operational cxpenditue, reducnons
in capilal expenditure, tighter working capital controls and
possible restriction of Company dividends.

The conclusion of these sensifivities is that the Group has a gocd
level of finoncial flexibility and 15 well positioned 1o withstand o
number of risks occuring and the sustained reduction in levels
of consumer sperding and rising margin costs through the next
three years,

Based on this review the Direclors confirm that they have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will continue to operate
and meets its liabilities, os they foll due, for the next three years.

DIRECTORS’ CONFIRMATION
We confirm 1o the best of our knowledge:

s The Financicl Statements, prepared in accordance with the
relevant financicl reporting framework, give a frve and fair
view ot the assets, liabilities, financial positicn ana profit or
icss of the Company and the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whele; and

* The Srategic Repon, which is incorporcted nio the
Directors’ Report, includes o fuir review of the development
and performance of the business and the position of the
Company and the undertokings included in the consolidation
laken as a whole, together with o description of the principal
risks and uncertainties they foce and o fair, balanced and
understandable view of the business.

NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION STATEMENT

Topps Tiles Plc has complied with the requiremenis of s414CB
of the Companies Act 2006 by including certain nendinancial
information within the Strategic Report. This can be found as
follows:

*  Group’s business model is on page 14.

* Information regarding the following matters, including
policies, the due diligence process implemented in
pursuance of the policies and cutcames of those policies,
can be found on the following pages

—  Ebavironmenlal meters or page 24 and poges 5016 53
- Colleagues on pages 22 and 54;

- ender viversit; on pages 87 ond 88,

- Social marers on pages 56 and 57;

- Respect for human rights on page 87, and

—~  Anficoruption and antrbribery matters on page 76
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*  Where principal risks have been identified in relation 1o any
of the matters listed above, these can be found on pages 42
o 45, inchuding o desciiption of the business relationships,
producls and services that are likely to cause adverse
impacts in those areas of risk, and o description of how the
principal risks are managed,

» All key performance indicators of the Group, including those
nonfinancial indicators, are on pages 34 and 35.

*  The Finonciol Review section on poges 36 1o 41 includes,
where appropriate, references to, and additional
explonations of, amounts included in the erfitys annual
ueounts.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT

This Strategic and Cperationol Review and Chairman’s
Siatement have been prepared solely 1o provide additiona)
information to Shareholders 1o assess the Group's siraiegies and
the polential for those sirategies lo succeed. These reports should
not be refied an by any other party or for any ather pupose.

The Strategic and Operational Review and Chairman's Statement
contain certain forwordlocking statements. These statements are
made by the Directors in good laith based on the infermation
available to them up 1o the time of their approval of this repert
and such statements should be treated with caution due fo the
inherent uncertainties, including both economic and business risk
factors, undetlying any such forwardHooking information.

Pictured: Mora™ White Tile

WHAT OUR CUSTOMERS SAY:

GORGEQUS FLOORING

We were recommended this flooring by our tiler -
couldn't decide on the white or oak, but decided o
go with white, and so glad we did The kifchen looks
fantastic Easily cleaned and really hardwearing with
the kids ond dog.”

——

The Directors, in preparing this Strategic and Cperational
Review, have complied with s414a of the Companies Act
2006. This Business Review has been prepared for the Group
os a whole and therefore gives greater emphcsis to those
matters that are significant to Topps Tiles Plc and fo its subsidiary
underiakings when viewed as a whoele.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual Genercl Meeting for the period to 1 Ccrober 2022
will be held on 18 January 2023. Please see the Natice of
Annual General Meeting for moke details. The Sirategic Report
was approved by the Board ofyagrectors and signed on its

behall by:

Rob Parker (\ ¥ L
Chief Executive \%\()/X\
Stephen Hopson

Chief Financial Officer 4‘§‘" zé

30 Nevember 2022 =
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DARREN SHAPLAND

NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

CHAIR OF THE
NOMINATION AND

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

Darren joined the Board

in March 2015. He has
over 35 years of refail and
consumer experience, having
held senior financial and
operational positions within
the Burton Group, Arcadia
and Kingfisher. Darien was
Chief Financial Officer at |
Sainsbury Plc between 2005
and 2010. He was dlso
NonExecutive Chairman of
Sainsbury’s Bank from 2006
to 2013 and Chief Executive
of Carpetright Plc for two
years to 2013,

A Audit Commattee

o Naringar ard Goooonarce Corerles

ROB PARKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Rob joined the Board in
2007, serving as Chief
Finoncial Officer until 2019
when he was appointed o
the rofe of Chief Executive.
Rob's previous roles before
|oining the Group included
senior finance roles with the
Boots Group and Savers
Health & Beauty Uid. Rob

i1s accountable for Group
Strategy, leadership of the
Executive team, and Chairs
the Group Hedalth and
Salety and Environmenial
Commitiees.

- . o 1 . -
( Coomreree C8 o | Sene rdepeneiert Dn s

STEPHEN HOPSON
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Stephen joined the Board
in November 2020 from
Molson Coors Beverage
Company, where he was
Director of Central Finance
for Western Furepe. Before
this, Stephen spent five
years at Travis Perkins Plc,
including three years as

Finance Director for BSS, and

has also held senicr finance
rcles at Mitchedls & Butlers Ple
where he waos responsible
for Investor Relations among
other functions. Stephen is a
CIMAqualified management
accountant and holds an
MBA He is accounlable for
all areas of finance, 1T and
Croup legal matters.

R e sreoter Commrtes

KEITH DOWN

SENIOR #NDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
AND CHAIR OF THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

o~Nr0O

Keith jcined the Board in
February 2015, A chartered
accounlant, Keith is currently
the group finonce director

of Selfridges Group, hoving
held this post since July
2818. He was previously
the Chief Financial Cfficer
of Dunelm Group Ple, Go-
Ahead Group Plc and D
Wetherspocns Ple.
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DIANA BREEZE
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
CHAIR OF THE
REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP
A NG

Dicna jcined the Board

in february 2021. An
expetienced HR Director,
Diana hos broad experence
acioss the retoil ond
consumer, logishes and
property sectors. Since
2013, Diana has been
Group HR Director al Bunzl
ple and has previously held
senior management positions
with land Securities, |
Sainsbury and Accenture.

KARI DANIELS
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT
DIRECTOR

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP
A N R

Kari joined the Board in
Apnl 2021 An experienced
retail and consumer sector
Chiel Execulive, latterly
Chief Executive Officer of
Tesco heland. Prior to Ireland
Kari hetd senior direclorship
positions across the Tesco
Group in Europe and the
UK. Prior to Tesco she

was d senior executive af
Superdrug, Wella and S C
Johnson,

HELEN EVANS
COMPANY SECRETARY

Helen was appointed
Genercl Counse! and
Company Secretary with
effect frem Movember
2022 having led the client
coniracting function ot
Clipper Logistics prior 1o
joining Topps Tiles. She
qualified o3 a solicitor in
2012 and has gained
extensive legal and
complionce expertise
from both private practice
and inhouse roles Helen
holds an MBA from the
triple accredited Sheflield
University Management
School.

THE COMPANY

TOPPS TILES PLC
REGISTRATION NUMBER
3213782

REGISTERED OFFICE
Topps Tiles, Thorpe Way,
Grove Park, Enderby,
leicestershire LE19 15U

COMPANY SECRETARY

Helen Evans

LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE
SYMBOL
TPT

THE GROUP
Compiises Topps Tiles Plc ond
all subsidiory companies.

OUR ADVISERS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Pricewaterhcuse Coopers [P
Donington Court

Pegasus Business Park

Castle Doningien, DEZ4 2U7
United Kingdom

BANKERS

Barciays Bank PLC

3 Hardman Street,
Spinningfields, Manchester
M3 3HF

REGISTRARS

Link Group

Cenhral Square

10th Floor, 29 Wellington Street
Leeds

LS1 401

SOLICITORS
Osbome Clarke LLP
One London Wall
london, EC2Y 5EB

FINANCIAL PR ADVISERS
Citigate Dewe Rogerson
8th Flocr, Holborn Gole
26 Southampton Buldings
toraon, WCZA TAN

BROKERS

Peel Hunt P

100 liverpool Strest
london

EC2r 2AT

Liberum Capital limited
Ropemaker Place lovel 17
25 Ropemaker Street
lendon, ECZY LY
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

ROB PARKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

3 Reod the biography on
page 66

DAN LITTLE
MANAGING DIRECTOR
OF COMMERCIAL

Appointed Managing Director of
Commercial in October 2021, An UM
graduate holding an M3c in Property,
Dan has more than 20 yeors of retail,
properiy, healih ond sclety, and sales
business experience, hoving held the
roles of Surveyor, Head of Estotes and
Preperty Director befoe joming the
Commercial Divisicn in 2020 as Depury
Monaging Direcior

STEPHEN HOPSON
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

(¥ Read the biography on
page &6

LINDA SLEATH
HR DIRECTOR

Appainted HR Director in December
2019 and responsible for leading

the People agenda across the Group.
Before joining the business, Lindo was
HR Direcior for Brakes UK, part of the
Sysco Orgonisation. Linda has worked
in operatonol and FR leadership

roles ocross PTG and retal for such
crgamsations as Boots International
Mclsen Coors and United Bizcuirs
linda 15 a qualilied Executive Conch
and holds o pestgroduate qualficalon
in psychalogy and neuroscience from
Henley Business Schooi, She is a Fellow
of the Chentered Institute of Personnel
and Development and o Fellow of the
Chartered Management Institute

RICHARD CARTER
MANAGING DIRECTOR
OF RETAIL

Appointed Managing Director of Refail in
April 2018. An experienced refailer who
has worked for both blue chip refailers and
smc”el, moie enhepreneuric:l businesses.
Before joining Topps Tiles in 2010 to

take responsibility for etail operations

and the trade division, Richard had
previcusly held senior operations Toles with
the: Spirit Group {Punch Taverns|, Virgin
Retall, Dixons and Office World (Stoples).
Richord started his career with Asda on
their retail operations graduate recruitment
programme,

TIM TATLOCK
BUYING DIRECTOR

Appointed Buyirg Director in April
7018, Responsible for all product
assets and leads creative, sourcing,
technical, supply chain ard inveniory.
Tim has over 20 years of tile industry
experience and belore joining Topps
Nles held semor leadership position:
wiith UK tile distribulors and multinational
tile manufacturers. bus sxpert reowledge
and innovative approach have seen
progress 1o the position of Buying
Diecion ofter joning Topps Tiles ws

a Buyer in 2005
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMITTED
TO THE
HIGHEST
STANDARDS

GOOD GOVERNANCE 1S ESSENTIAL TO THE
SUCCESSFUL DELIVERY OF OUR STRATEGY
AND SUSTAINABLE SUCCESS OVER THE
LONG TERM.”

Darren Shapland
NonExecutive Chairman

DEAR SHAREHOLDER,

| am pleased to present cur Corporate Govemnance Report for
the period ending 1 Oclober 2022 (the "Period").

The role of the Board is lo provide effective leadership that
promotes the longterm sustainable success of the Group,
generating value for Shoreholders and contributing fo the
communifies in which we operafe.

Although the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has receded 1t
nonetheless continued 10 provide o challenge duing the Period,
notwithstanding which, we have maintained focus on delivery of
our strategic agendo and remain confident in the Group's ability
to successfully manage any further shortterm uncertainty that
might arise from the re-emergence of Covid-1%, or from current
economic headwinds, and deliver our strategy over the long
term. | am pleased to repart that, having held some mestings

in the Period remotely, we have now refurned to halding in-
person meetings.

We are clear that good governance is essential o the successhul
delivery of our strategy and sustainable success over the

long term, and the Board is committed to meeting the highest
standards for oll stakeholders.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE

UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company complied fully with the principles and provisions
of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 jthe "Coda”]
thioughout the year ended | October 2022, Details of how the
main principles of the Code have been applied are both set out
below and found in the Stafegic Report, Directors’ Remuneration
Report and Audit Commiliee Report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders receive more than 20 working days' notice of the
Annual General Meeting 1"AGM"] and ordinarily, ol Directars
will be present at the meeting. The Board would like o thank
Sharzhalders for their engagement and support throughout

the year

2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Covid-19 restrictions cantinued to impact how we conducted
our AGM, as a result of the Omicion variant With the safety
of our co||eogues, Shareholders and other altendees bemg of
paramount importance, we followed best practice guidance
at the ime and held a closed meeling at cur Head Office in
leicester. We provided o facility for Shareholders o submit
queshons in advance and voling was by proxy.

2023 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

For our next Anrual General Meeting in faruory 2023 we aie
keen 1c welcome Shareholders in person We are, therefore,
picposing fo hold the Annual General Meeting of the Mannatl
Hotel, Smith Way, Grove Paik, leicester iIF 19 15W ond o help
monage proceedings, ore asking Shareholdens wha wish 1o
aftend 1o registor their intention o de so in advance In the event
that there is a reemergence of Covid- 19 restrictions o for any
other 1eoson, such thot we corsider it is no longer possible or
practical for Shareholders 1o altend the meeting, we will notify
Shareholders of any changes 1o the arrangements on our website
ord make o public ormounceren via o Regulator, Informaion
Service
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Annual General feeting provides Shareholders with a
good opportunity 1o meet with and ask questions of the Directors
and, o ensure we are in a posiiion 1o respond and engage in
detail af the mesting we would ask that these are, if possible,
proposed in advance of the Meefing.

Each substantive issue considered of the Annual General
Meeling is the subject of o separate resolulion. This year, the
Board is agein encouraging Shareholders to vote in advance
online by proxy. Voling on all resolutions will be conducted by
way of a poll rather than o show of hands which is @ more
transparent method of voting with Shareholders” voles counted
according to the number of shares registered in their names,
rather than according to the number of Shareholders who aftend
the Annual General Meeting. The results will be published on our
wehsite www. ioppstilespic.com, end also released to the londen
Stock Exchange via a Regulatory Information Service.

Please see the MNotice of Annual General Meeting, ond
accompanying notes, for details of the resolutions, when
and how to vote and how 1o ask a questicn in advance.

RESOLUTIONS AT 2022 AGM

At the 2022 Annual General Meeting, resolutions 4 [to Reelect
Darren Shapland as o Director), 12 {Directors’ Authority to Allot
Shares), 13 {Disapplication of Pre-emption Rights — General), 14
{Disapplication of Preemption Rights - Specific] and 15 {Authority
to Make Morket Purchases of Shares} each passed with Jess thon
BO% of votes cast in favour,

In accordance with provision 4 of the Code, the Beard consulted
and engoged with Shareholders to understand and discuss their
views with respect 1o these resolutions It considers that Darren
Shapland, who was appeinted to the Board in March 2015,
continues to discharge his role as Chairman effectively and

that his contribution is important to the Company’s longHerm
sustainable success Resolutions 12—15, which also appeared
on the Investment Association’s Public Register in 2021, are
considered routine practice for UK listed companies and

within the Investment Association’s Share Capital Management
Guidelines The Boord is aware, however, that some non-UK
resident investors may have a policy of not supporting resclutions
of this noture which, when possed, gront the Boord specific
avthorifies without the need 1o seek further Shareholder approval

While the Board continues to consider that the flexibility offorded
by these authorities is in the best interests of the Company ond its
Shareholders, i, nonetheless recognises, following Shareholder
engagement, that certain special resolutions concerning share
capital management will not command sufficient Shareholder
support fo be approved and, hence, wall not be seeking their
renewal of the forhcoming AGM

The views of all Sharehclders are important o the Campury
and the Board 15 commitied to maistaining ongoing engagemerl
veith its Shareholders.

DIALOGUE AND BEING AVAILABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The RBoard maintains ongeing dialogue with its Shoreholder:

and Rab Parker, our Chief Executive. and Stephen Hopson. our
Chief Financial Officer, meet reguiarly with investors and analysts
to discuss the Compony's perfoimarce All Shareholders have
orcess o the Chanman and Senior Independent Duector, os well
os the Company Secrelary, who are ovailable 1o discuss any
questors regarding the running of the Company.

The Directors build on @ mulual understanding of objectives
between the Company and ils Shareholders, with annual
presenialions and regular communications over the year There
has been extensive engogement with the Company’s major
Shareholders, both prior ond subsequent to the 2022 AGM,

to undersland their views on governance ond performance
against the strategy while the Commitiee Chairs also engage
on significant matters related 1o their areas of responsibility.

This year, Diana Breeze, our Remuneration Committee Chair,
has engaged with and sought the views of major Shareholders
representing more than 60% of the share register on the
proposed new Remuneration Pclicy that will be submitted to the
AGM for approval in January 2023 and Stephen Hopson, our
CFO, engaged with major Shareholders throughout the process
of forming our new capital allocation and dividend policy which
is outlined in the Financial Review on pages 36 to 41,

Finencial information is published on the Company’s website
www toppstilesple com. The Chairs of the Audit Commitiee,
Remuneration Committee and MNomination and Governance
Committee make themselves avalable to answer Shareholders’
questions.

The Boord recognises the need te ensue that all Dueciors are fully
aware of the views of majer Sharehclders; copies of analysts’
research relatling 1o the Company are circulated 10 Diecters and
the Campaony receives a monthly Investor Relations report which
inclides an analysis of the Company's Shareholdar register. detalls
of which are provided to all members of the Beard

Pictured: Dicmante Lavender
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DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Chairman leads the Board and ensures its effectiveness.
Darren Shapland was independent on cppoiniment and remains
so as assessed against the criteria set aut in provision 10 of

the Code.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive are split, and the
Board has approved a written statement of the division of key
responsibilities between them, which is available on the Group's
corporate website.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board ensures that af least half of its members, excluding
the Chairman, are independent NonExecutives and annually
reviews any relationships or circumstances which are likely to
affect their independence.

As Senicr Independent Director, Keith Down acts as ¢ sounding
board for the Chairman and an intermediary for Directors and
Shareholders and is also available to Shareholders should they
wish o raise an issue through on allernative channel.

The Nontxecutive Directors, led by the Senior independent
Director, meet onnually, without the Chairman present, 1o
discuss the Chairman’s performance and any other matters
as required. The Non-Executive Directors provide constructive
challenge, strategic gudance and, with the Chairman, meet
regularly without the Executive Directors present to appraise
the perfermance of the Executive Direclors against agreed
performance targets,

TIME COMMITMENT

YWhen making new oppofniments, the Board carefully considers
the competing demands on condidates’ fime and candidates are
required o disclose any significant commitments together with
the associated time commiiment. Each NonExecutive Director’s
letier of appointment sefs out the lime commilment expected of
themn, and these letters will be available for inspection af the
Annucl General Meeting

The Company allows Executive Directors to hold no maore than
one external NonExecutive Directorship with a listed entity. So
far as 1s practicoble, the Company liaises with the NonExecutive
Direciors 1o ensure the schedule of meetings for the year does not
clash with external appointments. Directors can atiend meehings
by videc or telephone if necessary

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND RAISING CONCERNS
Declarations of any octual or potential conflicts of interest with
items on the agenda are requested and made of the start of
every Board meeling. Should o matier be raised. the potental
conlhicl of inferesi would pe considered by the Board as a whole
and f necessary, miligating actions laken The impoct of any
relancaships of involvements are considered corefully 1o ensure
that they do not compromise ¢ avelrde the Dircctors’ obihr\,f [}
exercise ndependent judnement

Conceins about the operchien of the Board can be rased wath
the Cheirman or the Senior Independent Director Ne such
corcerns were raised during the vear,

The Group promotes a culture of integrity, competence, faimess
and responsibility and under its whistleblowing procedure,
colleagues are encouraged to raise any concerns about
malpractice of unlawful conduct that they suspect may be taking
place at work. This year, the decision was made to cutsource the
whistleblowing procedure Io a specialist third porty to improve
the perception of independence and encourage colleagues to
raise any concems they may have, Summaries of reports are
repoiied 1o the Audit Commitiee.

THE BOARD

ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for determining
the Company's purpose, values, and strategy and for ensuiing
high standards of governance The primary aim of the Board

is to provide effective leadership, which promotes the long-
term sustainable success of the Group, generating value for
Shareholders and confributing 1o the cammunifies in which

we oparale.

The Board comprises six members. Darren Shapland chairs both
the Board and the Nominalion and Governance Commitiee,
Diana Breeze chairs the Remuneration Commitiee, Keith Down
chairs the Audit Committee and is the Senior independent
MNan-Executive Director. Kar Daniels is responsible for Employee
Engogement.

RESERVED MATTERS

Certain defined matiers are reserved for the Board including:
*  lnvesior refations

*  Approval of Financiol Stolements and circulars

e Approval of operating and capital expenditure budgets
*  Approval of the Strategy and business plan

¢ Approval of corporate fransactions and changes 1o capital
structure, core activities of listing slatus

* Key policies including Modem Slavery and Ethical Trading,
Anti-Bribery, Health and Safety and Diversity

* Direclors’ appeiniments
¢  Corporate Governance
* Key external and internal appointments

*  Pensions and employee incentives
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BOARD COMPOSITION
There have been no changes to the Board's compesition during the Period.

ROB PARKER {10-04-07)

Executive/Chicf Executive

DARREN SHAPLAND (19-03-15} @)

Non-Executive/Board Chair

" - { . -
Nomination Remuneration | Audit Nomination
and Governance ) and Governance

° @ _ L o oo

KEITH DOWN [02-02-15) )

Non-Executive/Senior Independlent Director

Remuneration

Audit

STEPHEN HOPSON [02-11-20)

Executive/Chief Financial Officer

Audit Nomination
and Governance and Governance

o o o ] M M

Nomination Remuneration Audit Remuneration

KAR! DANIELS (01-04-21) @)

Non-Executive/Emplayee Engagement Director

DIANA BREEZE (01-02-21! €
Non-Executive

. Nomination \ . Nomination -
Audit and Governance Remuneration Audit and Governance Remunerotion
M M ] M M M
KEY:
@ Chair M Member
0 Invitation — may oftend af the invitation of the Chair @ Independent
BOARD MEETINGS

The Board held 12 scheduled meelings during the Period, based on an annual plon agreed with the Chairman, including an annuai
Stategy review

Aheod of each meeting, the Directors receive delailed papers which provide current information about frading performance, the
Group’s overall financial position and its achievement against the prior year, budgets and forecasis. Regulor agenda items include
vpdates on health and safety, sustainability, diversity and inclusion, the Group's performance against key performance indicators and
progress towards strategic objectives. Members of the Executive leam aie regularly inviled to atend and updale the Board on their
specific responsibilities and are invited 1o give feedback to the Board.

Al Boord meetings, the Chairman ensures that each Diractor can make an effective contribulion within an atrmesphere of transparency
and constructive debate, and feedback is given of the end of each meeling.

Betwean Board meetings, financial and other relevant information is circulated 1o the Directors, the Chairman maintains frequent direct
contact with the Executive and Mon-Executive Direclors and keeps the MNon-Executive Directors informed of material developments.

Directoris ragularly meet with Senior Executives ond visil stores,

ATTENDANCE AT SCHEDULED BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Darren Rob Stephen Keith Diana Kari
Shapland Parker Hopson Down Breeze Daniels
Boaid of Directors @G ow e (e 2 Gz G UPIRF:
Audit Committee € { { ¢ e (o 4 o«
Remunerchcn Committee (U { { (" 4 (".‘ 4 (4«
Nomination ond Govemnance ~ .
Commiles Q 2 L o C‘ 2 G o2 G 2
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
KEY:

{ Meetings atiended Possible meetngs  { Invitation — may attend al the invitaticn of the Chail
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Fingrciph Oﬁmer and ouf Campcny Sacrrerary, chaxrs
the mietings dnd promoles a cultuie. o openness ond
debaté sincluding inviing the Exéeutive and MorExetutive

. Dwect@rs to debate and challenge the Group's Strqtegy

. Rob uﬂter‘ a quuhfléd ‘aecountant with over 15
yelits oF Boord experience who hds led the Group since
2019, incliding through the challenges of Covid-19.
Rob formulates and proposes fhie stategic direction of
the Group and incorporates this into business plans for
regulor discussion and agreement by the Board. He has
overall responsibifily for the operational and financiol
pertcrmance of the Group.

INDEPENDENCE

The Board reviews the independence of Non-Executive Directars
on an ongoing basis and 15 sotistied that all NonFxecutive
Directors remain independent in accordance with the Code.

RE-ELECTION
In line with best practice, all Directors will be subject o annual
reslection of the Annual General Meeting in January 2023,

ADVICE

Where required, a Director may seek independent professional
advice af the expense of the Company. All Directors have access
to the Company Secretary, and they may address issues fo the
Senior Independent MonExecuiive Direcior,

DEVELOPMENT

While all Board members are responsible for their own
development, they are provided with access to the Company's
advisers and reguiarly allend external presentations and
wotkshops on oreos considered relevant and appropricte,
including environmental, social ond governance issues. Al
menmbers of the Boord have accass fa vanous technical seminars
and professional updates on a range of relevant topics usefcl
for enhancing the Boara’s knowledge and undersianding of
corporale govemance Provision is made within the Board's
annual hmetable for regular updates, including from the
Company's odviserc, on bey areas covenng the economy

the markst, Direclors' duties and corparate governance, and
developmenls in remuneration praciice, each of which were
recerved by the Boord during the Period,

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board operates three committeas: the Nominalian and
Governance Commiliee, the Remuneration Commiflee and the
Audit Commitiee All Committees mmeet regularly end have formal
writlen terms of reference, which are available on our website

: -,,uﬁs‘ﬁmsnemi X
fob dheggimery@fﬁ ratratigic Slan.”
an

snior independent Direcior; prawges d
egbgmd for. fie Chairian, setvig o5 an
m'retm oty for the other Dirsclors when neces:,my
and is available fo Shmrehofders .

+ Diting Breeze: an experienced HR Direclor, with

" substondial ieteil and consumer experience to contribule
o the Board, as well as chairing the Remunerqhon
Cothmitee. .

* Kari _l?gmds_: an experienced Chief Executive, with

substantial wail and consumer experience to contribute
to the Board. Kari acts as Employee Engagement
Director.

Pictured: Quarry Red
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BOARD
KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

REMUNERATION g AUDIT

COMMITTEE B COMMITIEE

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES f  KEY RESPONSIBIU
C it o i .

M 1
& PG ofCE

Inienal cudit

- Extermnal pudit

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

NOMINATION AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
KEY RESPOMNSIBILITIES

e

Good governance is essential to the suecessful delivery of our Strategy, and the Board is committed o meeting the highest standards

for ail stokeholders.

ESG

We recognise the strotegic benefits of developing and delivering
the agenda and targets for Environment, Sociat and Governance
["ESG"} theoughaut the Group which supparts key areas of Group
focus and is an important port of the Group's skategy. Iformation
on oui environmental initiatives, in suppon of our Group siategy,
is found on pages 24 and 25, and pages 50 to 53 of the
Strategic Report and our report under the Taskiorce for Ciimate-
related Finoncial Disclosures is found on page 58. Information on
social iniliotives, including our conlinuing fecus on diversity and
inclusion, is found on pages 54 1o 57 of the Sirategic Report,

Eoch ESG iopic is reviewed by the Board no less than twice
annually, with reports and presentations during the year from
the Chief Executive, Company Secrelary, relevant members

of the Executive team and, where appropriate, external
advisers on developments to enable the Board to consider and
agree on priotifies for the fortheoming year ond beyond with
implementation plans prepared and monitored by the Board
and, il relevant, appropriate Board Commitiee
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BOARD EFFECTIVENESS

We consider Board effectiveness in our internal Boord and
Commitlee evaluation review process This aims to stimulate
the Baard's thinking on how members of the Board can carry
oul their roles and encourages ther 1o focus on continually
improving both their, the Board, and its Committees’
effectiveness. During the Period and following a review of

the process, the evaluation was undertaken with an online
governance assessment tool supperted by an external provider,
Independent Audit Limited, to provide a more in-depth objective
analysis of Board and Commitlee effectiveness, identify key
orens for discussions and, hence. deliver o more 1obust review
process.

While we recognise that there is always pelential to improve our
eflectiveness, we believe that cur Board is @ strang team that
warks well together. Following last vear's evaluation, we agreed
on severol actions and have reporied progress ogainst these on
page 83, this year we have agoin agreed several cctions and
will report an progress next yeor.

RISK REVIEW

We carry oul a icbust assessment of the Company's emerging
and principal nsks through our risk review process. detals of
which ore set out on pages 42 t¢ 45

CULTURE, PURPOSE AND VALUES
Qur annual stialegy review considers bow corpomte culure is
aligned vatn the puipose, values and Strategy set by the Board

B For mere on cur Culture see pages 22 and 23

SECTION 172

Our Company Secretary sets out guidance on 5172 of the
Companies Act 2006 on every Board agenda to support the
Board's consideration of its requirements, The interests of our
stakeholder groups are considered in @ variety of ways, os sef
out in our Section 172 Siatement on pages 46 and 49,

FAIR, BALANCED AND UNDERSTANDABLE

The Board has reviewed the contents of this Annual Beport and
considers it foir, bolorced, vndersiandable, and an accurpie
representation of the Company's curren! position, performance,
business model and strategy. The basis for this view is that the
Directors are provided with the relevant information to perform
their duties and have access to members of monagement, as
they require. The Boord meets regularly and is given adequate
time 1o probe debate and challenge business performance

The Board hos received o report fiom ihe Audit Commitee
concerning he financiol results and based on thot. has appreved
the final accounis for the Perod Having gained o thoreugh
understonding of the business, each member of the Booid has
alse kad the opporiuntty 1o review and influence ths repott and
as such has concludad in line with the clatement ahove
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MAINTENANCE OF A SOQUND

SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has established a continuaus process for identifying,
evaluoting and managing the significant risks the Group faces
and regulary reviews this process. The Board is responsible
for the Group's system of internal conirol and for reviewing its
effectiveness. This process is designed to manage ather than
eliminate the risk of failure 1o achieve business objectives

It can only provide reasenable and not absolute assurance
agatnst material misstatement or loss.

The Group has establizhed internal control and risk management
systems concerning the process for prepaiing the consolidated
financial statements. Management regularly monitors changes in
accounting stomdards ond financial reporting requirements and
reflects any relevant changes in the financial stalements where
approphote.

The fullvear financiol stalements are subject fo external audit.
The Audit Commitiee receives reports from management and
the externa! Auditors on significont judgements, changes in
accaunting palicies, changes in accounting estimates and any
other appropriate changas 1o the financial stolements.

The Audit Commitiee assists the Board in discharging its
responsibilifies in this regard. The outcomes kom the recent
key risks and uncertainties review are detoiled in the Sirategic
Report section of this report, and the Boaed has considersd all
significant aspecis of internal control in canjunclion with the
review of the wark of Infernal Audit.

During its review of ihe system of internal contral, the Bood hos
not identified nor been advised of any failings or weaknesses
thes 1t has determined to be signilicant. Therefore, o confirmation
in respect of necessary achens hos not been considered
NECessory.

GROUP 50URCING POLICY

To ensure thal there is appropricte governance ond conlral,
and to, wherever possible, deliver competitive commercial
advaniage, the Group has, for o number of years, operated
and adhered fo a sourcing policy. This governs all commercial
relationships with suppliers, including thase that are
Shareholders, whereby, subject 1o Executive Management
approval, no more than 10% of the Group's total Coverings
purchase value is sourced from any single suppher subject to
where sourcing is from outside the ElJ where purchases from any
region shall not exceed 15% of spend, and no more than 20%
for Essential Products, paticularly grouts and adhesives which
fend lo hove o nanower supply base

MODERN SLAVERY

The Board is commitied to exnsuring that acts of modern-day
slavery and human traffickin ¢ do not aceur in relation 1o the
Company, of s supply chain. To meet this commitment, the
Compony infroduced The To pps Tiles Respansible Sourcing
Code, which is explained in our Modern Slovery Statement on
the Company's website. This Code is reinforced by commercial
agreements that require our suppliers 1o be fully compliant with
local laws, and we pay attenstion to labaur standacs and foctory
conditians. Our Responsible Sourcing Code has been rofled ou
to and agreed vpon by cll care foctories supplying our retail and
commercial businesses. We aere working dlosely with Interiek,

the leading Quality Assurance Experts whe have caried out
independent thirdparty auditg on preduciion faciliies where
there is any product or geographical risks. These Wadkplace
Conditions Assessment Audits have focused on regional risks
within the building and consinrction sector.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND ANTI-BRIBERY

The Board is commiied to ensuring thal our business is
conducted hanestly and ethically. We toke o zeiotolerance
approach to bribery and coruption and are commitied o acting
professionally, fairly and with integrity in ot cur business dealings
and relationships wherever we operate. This commitment
includes the implementation of an antiribery policy, which afl
colleagues are required 1o adhere 1o and 1o enforce an effective
system of control, through our dedicated internal Audi team.

The team works 1o o plon agieed] with the Avdil Committes and
reports progress to the Audit Committee on a twiceyearly basis

Darren Shapland
MNon-Executive Chairman

30 November 2022

RN




WHAT OUR CUSTOMERS SAY:

LOVELY, REALISTIC AND HARD-WEARING

We fiest put these in our hall, study and uiility room then
blended in with some rustic ones thiough to the dining
rcom and more recently in the upstairs bathrooms
Everyone compliments them and asks if they're wood
very hord wearning and the perfect aliemative 1o wooden
flcors when you have dogs. Highly recommend ”
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
REPORT

THE COMMITTEE CONTINUES TO OPERATE
EFFECTIVELY PROVIDING APPROPRIATE
ASSURANCE TO THE BOARD.”

Keith Down
Chair of the Audit Committee

OVERVIEW

OTHER MEMBERS:
*  Diona Breeze

*  Kaii Danels

MEETINGS HELD:

4

THE COMMITTEE
The Commitiee held four scheduled meetings during the
Period, based on an onnval plan agreed with the Chair
of the Commiltee.

The Auvdit Committee comprises three independent INonExecutive
Directors Keith Down (Chair), Diana Breeze and Kari Daniels.

Their qudlifications and experience are detailed on pages 66
and 67, The Chair has relevant experience, being a qualified
Chartered Accountant, o former Chief Financial Officer of a
listed company and a serving Chiet Financial Officer of a non-
listed company.

The Chief Executive Officer, Chiel Financial Officer and the
Chanr of the Board may oftend meetings by invitation.

ROLE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee considers the nafure, scope and
efectiveness of the audit process {both internal and exernal)
lo ensure that the programme is aligned to key risks. It also
monitors, reviews, and approves the internal audit programme
and receives regulor internal oudit reports to review the
effectiveness of its work. The Commitiee meets with the external
Audifors and considers the Annual Firancial Statements before
making ifs recommendations o the Board. The Commitiee
reviews and monitors the external Auditors” independence

and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process

The Commitiee is also responsible for ensuring that arrangements
are in place te enable colleagues, in confidence, fo raise any
concerns about possible improprieties in matiers of financial
reporting or cther issues. In the year, to further strengthen

the existing process, the Committiee approved o decision fo
outsowce the whistleblowing process to o third-party pravider,
which should encourage calleagues to raise any concerns
through o completely confidentiol and independent channel

2022 KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

s Oversight of a ngorous tender process ond the proposal 1o
appoint a new external Auditor for the 2023 accounting year.

s Oversight of ongoing work ta streamline yearend processes
lo support delivery of an efficient external gudit.

*  Owersight of improvements in the continued development
of dataled approach 1o the management and reporting of
inventory provisions

*  Oversight of ongoing impravements to the implementation
of IFRS 16

*  Oversight of the Iniernal Audit agenda and review of
progress cf internal qudit prorfie: Including o decision
I outseurce the whistleblowing process

AREAS OF FOCUS IN 2023

s Ouwesight of work 1o contnue the deelopmernt of an
improved Interal Audit function

*  Oversight of the complehon of the nansition of IFRS 16 to
business os usual.

*  Oversight of the work to simplify the Group's legal structure

*  Oversight of the ansition to the new external Audilor, subject
to opproval of Shareholders

e Oversight of development of the Gioup s 1esponse 1o further
audit and coporoie governance reforms
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The Audit Commitiee Chair, in conjunction with the Comparny
Secretary, ensures that there is an annual evaluation of the
Commitiee’s effectivensss and its processes. During the Period
this was conducted internally and comprised use of an online
governance assessment lool, supported by an exteinal provider
While recognising cerlain areas for development, the conclusion
was that the Commiltee continues to operate effectively providing
apprapriale assurance to the Board.

THE WORK OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Committee is respansible for the obust assessment of the
Company's principal strategic risks, which include those fo ifs
business model, future performance, solvency, and liquidity. The
Commitiee, with support from senicr operational managers,
performs this process. The Commitiee reviews the siralegic risk
schedule on o halfyearly basis to ensure that any actions that
have heen identified are being progressed; additionally, the
Board receives quarterly updates. If also reviews the Group’s
system cf internal control by reference to an internal Controls
Framework assessment and reports its findings 1o the Board

The Audit Commiliee provides advice to the Board on whether
the Annual Report is fair, balanced, and understandeble and
provides the necessary information Shaiehalders require to
assess the Company's perdarmance, business mode! and
strategy. In doing so, the following activities have been
addressed specifically:

* Review of Principal Strategic Risks - the Committee
conducts an annual review of principal strategic risks and
invites a cross-section of the Company’s monagement
fo present 10 ensure that the review includes a detailed
vndersianding of the business. The ewew highlights the
principal risks based on a combination of lkelihood and
impact, and then considers whal appropriate mitigating
effects should be implemented. In addifion, these risks are
regularly reviewed and moniiored of Board mestings. In the
current year, the review of risks has had a particular focus
on macroeconomic factors, including the risks presented by
inflationary pressures on consumers and businesses, and
global factors such as supply chan disruption

* Review of Poor-performing Stores - as part
of both the halfyear and fulkyearend review process,
poorly perferming stores are considered, and any relaled
irrpairments and/or property provisions are provided for,
Management will then follow up with detailed action plans
to either improve store performance or seek an exit solution
The Audit Commitiee also reviews progress towards these
plans at the following review

* Review of IFRS 16 Implementation - the Group
has oppled IFRS 16 “leases” since 2020 ard the Aodit
Commitiee has reviewed the opproach token, and the
deveiopment of processes ta enable FRS 16 io become
a standard part of wutne monthly accouning. FProgress has
been made in this area. however, the continued development
ol this process will be o key aza of focus in 2023

* Review of Inventory — ensuring that inventory is
correctly valued is o key area of focus for the Audit
Commitiee. The finance function performs ongoing detailed
checks of supplier invoices by comparing to system prices,
and management conducts @ regulor review of any products
sold, or likely to be sold, below the originol cost price. The
calculation of inventory provisions has been a significant
focus this year, with good steps made by the finance function
to use increasingly sophisticated data analysis fo derive
an approprigle inventory provision based on historical sell
through of any disconiinued or low selling product fines.

As such, the level of manogement judgement required has
reduced, which 1s encouraged by the Committee. The Audit
Commitiee reviews the cutput of these reviews and approves
the provisions inchuded in the Annual Report.

* Going Concern and Long-term Viability
Statement — Stephen Hopson, our Chief Financial Oficer,
provides an assessment of the Company's ability to continue
o rade on both o 1 2-month loakdorward test basis and
a three-year look-forward bosis The conclusions of those
reviews are included in the Stategic Report

* Annual Review of the Group Tax and
Treasury Policy - this ieview is perfcimed onnuully
and pubhished on the Company’s website

¢ Monitoting the Group's complance with Accounting
Stardods, 1eviewng olff matenal judgemenial accouring
areas, and reviewing all tems congidered ta be adjutting 1o
suppert external understanding of underlying performonce.
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2022 EXTERNAL AUDIT

The scope of the external qudit of the 2022 Annual Report and
Accounts was presenied by the external Auditor jo the Committee
in May 2022 so that the Committee could discuss and challenge
the audit plon and undersiand the key efements The Commitiee
considers the effeciiveness of the extemnal Avditor during the

year and, with input from manogement, 1eviews its performance
afier the yearend oudit has been completed In underaking this
assessment, the Committee considers:

* The experience and expertise of the Auditor;

* The completion of the agreed extemol audit plan;

¢ The content, quality of insights and added value of external
audit reports,

s The icbusiness und paiceptiveness of the external Auditor in
their handling of key accounting and cudit judgements, and

*  The interachion between munugement and the Aodiior,

The Commiliee alse reviews the independence of the Company’s

external Auditor,

The Company has o policy for the provision of non-audi

services, which is published on the Company's welbsite, Under

the polic ;, the externat Auditor have net provided non-oudit
services 10 the Compony during the Peried,

EEUR VL PO I

During the year, our Auddor has specificaly focused on the
implementation of RS 16 “leases” and also the development
of enhanced inventory provisioning methodology.

The audt fee for the siatutory audit of the Company's
consolidated financial statements and auditrelated services
for the Period s £373,000 {2021 £303,000).

TENDER AND PROPOSED APPOINTMENT

OF NEW EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Following thorough consideration, this yeor the Commitiee
decided 1o conduct a tender process for the appotnimen of @
new external Auditor for the 2023 finoncial year. The process
was designed 1¢ be completed by yem end, so thal ihe chosen
fism could be recommended o Shareholders for approval ot the
2023 AGM The stope of the tendes was for the Topps Tiles
Group oudt, the oudit of Tops Tiles Ple, and statulory cudils

of relevant subudiary companes

Fictured: Mystone Blanco, Mystone Perla and Nerdbon Nogal
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PROCESS AND GOVERNANCE

The overall objective of the oudit tender process was 1o sslect
the best Auditor in lerms of audit quality within a reasonable
price range. To deliver this objective, a Tender Panel {"Panel”)
was appoeinted consisting of the Chair of the Audit Committee,
the Chief Financial Officer, the Director of Finance, the Financial
Contraller and a Financial Accounting Assistant. The Panel
ensured that the Audit Committee was updated throughout the
process, and ultimately the Audit Committee was respansible
for presenting twa options o the Baard, tagether with a justified
preference for one of them for o final decision to be made.

Following a deskiop review of the market, five audit firms were
initially invited to meet the Pane!. The minimum requirements at
this stage included confirmation that firms were willing to bid,
were free of any conflicts of inferest, and were able to accept
the oppoiniment if selected. One firm withdrew from the process
during this period ard four made iniial presentations Yo the
Panel. Following this stage, o formal request for proposal was
made fo two firms, who wete inviled to present fo the Panel.
Before the final presentation, equivalent access to management
was given to both firms, including meetings with the Chair of

the Audit Committee, the Chief Financial Officer, and relevant
membecs of the finance team, and any information requests were
carefully considered, with the same information pravided o sach
firm 1o ensure o level playing field. The criteria for the decision
were s follows:

* The approach fo ensuning overall audit quality, including
technicol skill and the transition plan;

s The gudlity of the oudit service including quality of ream,
audit planning and structure,

* Insights and value added through the audir, including
indusiry knowledge and access to specialists; and

o Audil fee and value for money.

in the final meeting, following a prasentation ta the Panel, thete
was a structured question and answer session, and both firms
were scored against the criterio described above.

QUTCOME

Both of the final tenders were to a very high standard however
the Panel unanimausly proposed that Mazars UP be appointed
as the new external Auditor, based on their high levels of

audit quality, good sirengin in depth, strong cultural i and
accepiable value for money. The Audit Commiiee reviewed
the results of the process during its meeling in September 2022
and agreed lo recommend to the Board that it should propose
Mazars LLP for appointment os the external Auditor of the
Group. A detniled paper wos considered by the Board which
accepted the reccmmendation thal, subject ‘o approval frem
Shareholders, Mazars UFP will be appointed as the new externol
Audicr fellowing the 2023 AGM The carelul kansiian from
Priceveariethouse Coopers HP 1o Mazars WP vl be o key focus
for the Audit Commities in the Torthcoming year

Keith Down
Chair ot the Avdtt Cormities

Pictured: Elevo Natural Chevron
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NOMINATION AND
GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE REPORT

THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES
CONTINUED TO PROVIDE EFFECTIVE
LEADERSHIP AND EXERCISE THE REQUIRED
LEVELS OF GOVERNANCE AND CONTROL.”

Darren Shapland
Chair of the Nomination and Governance Committee

OVERVIEW

OTHER MEMBERS:

+ Diang Breeze
e Keith Down
s Kari Daniels

MEETINGS HELD:

2

THE COMMITTEE

The Committee, comprising independent Non-Execulive Direclors
Danen Shaplond, who is Chair, Keith Down, Dicna Breeze and
Kari Daniels, held two scheduled meetings during the Pericd,
based on on annudd plan agreed with the Commitiee Chair,

ROLE OF THE COMMIVTEE

The principal responsibilities of the Commitiee are to regularly
review the siructure, diversily, size and composition of the Board
and o support the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities to ensure
thot effective succession plarning processes and pipelines

arg in place for Directors and other senior management. The
Committes ensures there are formal, rigorous and fransparent
processes in place for the appoiniment of Directors and other
senior managers.

The Nomination and Governance Committee leads the process
for appointments, ensuring plans are in ploce for orderly
succession to both the Board and senior management positions,

2022 KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

* Boord succession and development of plans for the orderly
succession of the roles of Chair and Senior Independent
Director.

s [Execulive succession and development plans, io ensure
that the Group’s medium and lenger-term orgarisational
requiremenis are mef.

¢ Support for and development of the Company's ESG
agenda.

®  Oversight of the Company's developing stralegy on Diversity
and Inclusion, including the Company’s response to new
reporting requirements under the Listing Rules, which will
apply from 2023, in respect of managemert levels below
the Board.

¢ Executive and NonExecutive Ditectors” succession and
planning, reviewing the size, diversity, skills, and experience
of the Board and considering the fulure needs of the Group.

s Boord and Commitiee evaluations, inroduction of a new
Boord and Commitiee evaluation process using an online
governance assessmant lool supparted by an external
pravider and planning actions lo address points raised in
the previous year's evaluation feedback.

AREAS CF FOCUS IN 2023

*  Development of plans for the orderly succession of the rcles
of Chair and Serior Independent Director,

s Continued focus on and menitonrg of the Comparn,s
shrategy on Diversity and Inclusion

*  [xecutive development and succession planning 1o mect
medivm and longertern eguirements.

*  Oversight of the Company's developing ESG agenda.

¢ Development of the Boord and Committee evaluation
process
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and oversees the development of a pipeline for succession
recognising the importance and benefits that can arise from
diversity of background, experience, ethnicity and gender.
Furthermore, the Commities oversees the delivery of high
standords of corporate govemance throughout the Group.

The Committee is actively involved in guiding the planning
and selection process for Board roles and is consulted on all
seniorlevel appointments and developments. In addition, the
Commitiee draws up and regularly reviews long, medium ond
shorterm succession plans for all key senior management
pasitions within the Company. As well @s having shorterm
contingency plans in place, the aim is to ensure that the
Company identifies, develops and promotes candidates into
appropriate positions of leadership.

BOARD EVALUATION

Each year there is o formal and rigorous annual evaluation of
the performance of the Board, its Commitlees, the Chairman
and individual Directors. The evaluation provides an opportunity
to highlignt areas for further development. This year we carnied
out an internal review of Board and Committee effectiveness
utilising an online governance assessment service supported by
an external provider, Independent Audit Limited, who helped us
prepare a report sefting out findings for review.

While Board effectiveness reviews can, given thelr purpose,
feel somewhat negative with the cutcame primarily being
consideration of areas for improvement, the review identifisd
many positive aspects of the current operation of the Board and

BOARD EVALUATION FINDINGS

showed that it is etfective in most areas, is well led, and that the
Birectors challenge construciively. It concluded tha the Board
ond its Committees continved 1o provide effective leadership and
exercise the required levels of govemance and contral and that
eoch Direclor continued ‘o contribute effectively ond demonstrate
commiiment io their rofe.

There were a number of recommandations arising from the
evaluation that have been considered by the Board which
ogreed that an action plen, supported by the Company
Secretary, would be developed to oddress key findings of how
techrology can drive the Strategy, improve oversight of cyber
risk and further develop people strategy and ESG. This plon
will form a standing part of the activities of the Board over the
coming year

Following significant changes 1o the Board, last yeor's evaluation
reflected o positive view on the performonce of the Board

and its Commitiees It found @ pesitive approach to corperate
responsibility, adherence with and development of the Group's
culture and values, strong combination of complementary

skills and experience from Board members and there being o
construciive debate and willingness 1o ask challenging strategic
and operational questions with the right balance between
challenge and support. The evaluation highlighted seme

areas lor aftention in 2022, which we have addressed, as
reporied below:

Key 2021 Board evaluation findings

PROJECTS

ACTIONS TAKEN

While the review and analysis of fulure projects was very skong, it was recognised that the existing siruciures in place for post
implementation teviews could be improved. As a resul, regular management srategy review meetings now include a section on
post implerneniolion reviews to improve our ability 10 learn from the outcome of major projects and investments. A summary of ol
of these reviews over @ 12-month period is now included in the annual Strotegy review process, held ai Board level.

BOARD EVALUATION

ACTIONS TAKEN

We reviewed and developed the Boord and Commitiee avaluation piacess with the uze of an online governance process,
supported by an extemal specialist provider which helped with preparation of clear and concise reparts setting out the results and

suggested actions far review,
DIVEREITY AND INCEUSION

ACTIONS TAKEN

There has been o review of the Board's appreach to ensuring diversity and inclusion in the Board and senior management 'sain,
noting the requirements of the listing Rules A key element of the Group's “leading People’ stotegy is to embed gender and erhnic
diversity and inclusion tiiroughout the Group and the Board has received and reviewed the process that has been, and continues

io be, developed for this Ie be achieved
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BOARD EVALUATION PROCESS
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WHAT OUR CUSTOMERS SAY:

STUNNING, CLASSY TILES

l ordered ithe Catania files in blue for my revamped
bathroom and am absolutely delighted with them. They
lock fantashc and everyone who sees them remarks

on them My builder told me that his next clients have
decided they wani the sorme tifes in their bathroom!*
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors of Topps Tiles Flc [the “Directors” or the "Board”)
present their Anaual Report on the affairs of the Group {comprising
Topps Tiles Ple {"Company”) and its subsidiory companies)
together with the audited Financial Statements for the 52-week
period ended 1 October 2022 [the “Period”). The Corporate
Governance Report forms part of this report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal actinty of the Group is the sale and distribution of
ceramic and porcelain tles, natural stone, and related praducts

STRATEGIC REVIEW

The Company is required by the Companies Act 2006 1o set cut
in this report a fair review of the business of the Group during the
period ended 1 Oclober 2022 and of the positicn of the Group
at the end ¢t that period. The Company is also required to set
out o description of the principal risks ond uncertainties facing the
Group. This information is in the Chairman’s Stalement on pages
8 and 9, and the Stiglegic Report on pages 12 to 63, which
includes information on Environment, Social ond Governance
{"ESG) issues, which form part of the Directors' Report.

The prospects of the Group are highlighted in both the
Choirman’s Statement and the Strategic Report. The Direciors
monitor several finoncial and nonfinancial key performance
indicators for the Group. The most significant of these are
detoiled on pages 34 and 35

The Company conducts an annuat shategic risk discussion with
the Chair of the Audit Commitles and senior marnagers, which
includes a wide range of risks including commereial, continuity,
environmentod, socioh and governance risks,

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The audited financia! statements of the Group for the 52-week
patiod ended 1 October 2022 are set out on poges 124 o
159. The Group’s profit for the Perod from continuing operaticns,
after taxation, was £¢, 191,000 [2021: £10,676, 000).

An interim dividend of 1 pence per shore wos poid on 15 July
2022 Following careful consideration, ond for the recsons given in
the Chairmon's Staternent, the Bowrd is recommending the payment
of o final dividend of 2.6 pence pes share which, token together
with the interim dividend will give o total dividend of 3 6 pence per
share for the year (20211 3.1 pence per share 1. The final dividend
will, subject to Shareholder approval at the 2023 Annual General
Meeling {"AGM", be payable on 3 Febuary 2023 to Shareholders
on the register on 23 December 2027 The exdividend date will be
22 December 2022

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who were in office duiing the yeo
ond up o the dale of signingy the Financial Siotemerts were as
lollows

D Shapland

Nontxecutive Chairman

R Parker

Chief Executive

S Hopson

Chief Finonciel Officer

K Down

Senor Independent NonEreculive Direcior

D Breeze
Non-Executive Director

K Daniels
NonExecutive Director

Although not required by the Company's Arlicles of Association,
in fine with good Corporcie Governance, all Directors wili
istire voluntarily and offer themselves for reelection at the
Annual General Meeting in january 2023. For the Directors’
bingraphical defuils, see pages 66 and &7.

The Board considers that the contribution of each of the Directers
standing for election 1s important to the Company’s longerm
sustainable success. Further defails are set out in the Corporate
Govemnance Report on pages 69 to 83,

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE
The Company provides insurance against Direciors” ond
Officers’ liokilities 1o o moximum value of £15,000,000.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The intemol regulation of the Company is set oul in its Articles

of Association which can be amended by a special resclution
of the Company’s Shareholders They cover matters such as the
rights of Shareholders, the appointment or removal of Directors
and the conduct of Board and general meefings. A copy of

the Articles is available upon request and on the Company's
website, In accordance with the Articles of Association, Direclors
can be appeinted or removed by the Board, or by Shareholders
in general meetings. Subject o compony law and the Aricles
of Associction, the Directors may exercise all the powers of

the Company and may delegale authorities to Committees.

The principol Board Committees are the Audit Committee, the
Nomination and Governance Committee and the Remuneration
Commitee. Details of the work of hese Commiltess con be
found in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 82 1o 85
and Directors' Remuneration Report from page %0,

VOTING AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Board is again encouraging Shaeholders to voie anline
py proxy, appointing the Chair of the mesting as their proxy
regardless of whether they plan o attiend in person which will
ensure that Shareholders” votes will be counted even if they are
unable lo attend. Vating on all resolutions will be conducted by
way of o poll rather than a show of hands. Voting by pol is o
more iransparent methad of voting as Shareholders’ votes are
counted Gecording to the number of shares registered in their
names, rather than according to the votes of Shareholders who
atiend the Annual General Meeting Shareholders will be asked
1o consider and vote on the resalutions sef out in the Nolice of
Annuol General Meeting ond the results vall be published on
our website wavw toppstlesple com and released 1o the [ondon
Stock Exchange via a Regulonory Informaricn Service

SHARE CAPITAL

Detoils of the Comprny s issued shae cupral, togethar with
details of the movernents in the Company's issued share caprial
duiing the Period, are thown m note 23 1o the Finonaal
Staterents.
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The Company has one closs of ordinary shares in issue, which
carries no right 1o fixed income. Fach share carries the right 1o
one vole in o general mesting of the Company.

The Company imposes no restrictions on the size of a holding

of on the fransfer of shares, which are govemed by the general
provisions of the Articles of Asscciotion and company law. The
Directors are not aware of any agreements between holders of
the Company’s shares that may result in restrictions on the transler
of securities or veling rights.

No person has any special rights of contral aver the Company’s
share copitcl Al issued shores are fully poid.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As ol 1 October 20272, the Company had been notified, in
accerdance with the Disclosuie Guidance and Transparency
Rules, of the following notifiable voting rights:

Number % held
MS Galleon AG 58,569,649 299
Aberforth Partners LLP 28,898,766 4.8
Rex Pariners UP 21,597,274 11.0
invesco Assel Management Q790 934 50

Ml Chelverion UK Equity Growth Fund @ 500,000 4.8
AXA {nvestment Monagers SA 8,416,667 4.3

The interests in the table obove are os stoted by the Shareholders
ot the time of the notfication ond current interests may vary.

in the period from 1 Qctober 2022 ta the date of this report

we hove received no notification in relation o substantial
sharenoldings, in accordance with the Disclosure Guidonce and
Transparency Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Directors recognise the imporiance of motivaiing employees
and believe thot one of the most effective incentives is increased
employee parlicipation in the Company through share
awnership.

This hos been achieved through the intfroduction of several
employees’ Sharesave, share bonus, approved and uncpproved
share opfion schemes, since the flotation in 1997

As described in note 27, employes share purchase plans are
open to almost afl employees and provide for employees to
purchase Ordinary Shares at a purchase prce equal fo the daily
average market price over the three days preceding the start of
the: offer petiod, less 20%

The Drrectors” interests in the shares of the Company and
delais of the Directors’ share aptions are given in the
Directors” Remuneration Report on page 110

SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS

The Graup is o party lo signilicont agreements, including
commercial contracts, finoncial and property ogreements, ond
employees’ share plans, which conain cenain termination and
cthes rights for the counteiparties in the event of o change of
control of the Company. Sheuld any counterporties choose fo
exercise their rights under such agreements on o change of
contol, these arangements may have to be renegotinted o
replocement cuppliers, of premises, be found None of these

is considered significant in terms of the likely impact on the
business of the Group as a whole. There are no agreements
between any Group compaony and any of its employees or
Directors that provides for compensation 1o be paid to the
employee or Director for termination of employment or for loss
of office as a consequence of a sakeover of the Company,
other than provisions that would apply on any termination of
employment,

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS AND CARBON REPORTING
Information relating to greenhouse gas emissions and carbon
reporting data is set out on page 50 of the Stategic Report and
is incorporated by reference into this report,

CHARITABLE AND POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group has designated charitable parners; Alzheimer's
Saciety and leicestershire Cares. Across the Geaup's business,
colleagues engage in numerous fundraising activities, which are
set out on poges 56 ad 57 of the Strotegic Report. During the
Period, the Group made no monetary charitable donatiens and
no pelitical contributions.

ESG

The Company has a longstanding ESG agenda covering
amongst other matters, Community, Charity, the Environment and
Our People, which includes our continuing focus on diversity
and inclusion. Details of cur current activities are set out in the
Sirategic Report, our Section 172 Stalement and our report
vnder the Taskforce for Climoterelaied Finoncial Disclosures.

We fake the impact of our business on our environment extremely
seriously, having adopted a range of environmenial metrics,
details of which are set out n the Strategic Repor, and pay
poicular atention to labour standards and laciory conditions

HUMAN RIGHTS

All directty emploved colleagues are based in the UK and
covered by UK empicyment law. The Modem Slavery Act 2015
came into effect in 2015 and the Board is committed to ensuring
that acts of modernday slavery and human tafficking do not
oceur in relation to the Company, or its supply chain. For more
on this, please see poge 76.

DIVERSITY

The Board recognises the importance and benefits of

diversity throughout the organisation and the Nomination

and Governance Commitiee regularly reviews ihe balance of
skills, knowledge, and experience on the Board and executive
managemsnt team. Appoiniments are made on melit, agairst
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits that
dversity of background erperierce and gender can bring. As
noted in the Corporate Governonce Repart, this year diversity
and inclusicn has cortinued 1o be an area of focus and we fully
recognise the changing requiterents of the Listing Rules, which
we are toking steps 1o address Currently the Board is one ihid
fermale
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Our workforce at the Period-end date comprises:

2022 20213
Male Female Total Male Lemale Tolal
Direclors , 4 2 o - 4 2 e}
Senior managers n 3 14 12 3 15
Other employees 1,244 451 1,695 1,254 429 1,683
Total employees 1,259 456 3,715 1,270 434 1,704
% of 1ot 73% 27% 75% 25%

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES

The Board is committed fo promoting equal opporunities ond ensuring that we hire on potental, promote talent and reward on
success. We aim 1o promole equality of opportunity in employment. We welcome applications for emplayment from peaple of all
backgrounds, regardless of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership status, pregnancy, matemity, race,
religion or belief and sex. Should a colleague become discbled, we aim fo continue fo support their Iraining ond career development

where we car do so, moking reasonable adjusiments.

COLLEAGUE CONSULTATION

The Board values the views of employees and 1ecognises the
importance of keeping employees informed of matters affecting
them and the Group. This is achieved through formal and
informal meetings, electronic announcements, the Company
magazine and “TeamTalk”, a Companywide forum for

colleagues 1o discuss maliers that affect them and the Company.

Regular forums are held at local and national levels to ensure
that employee represeniclives are consulted quarterly on matiers
oﬁecnng them

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT, OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group is expased o interest rafe sk, currency risk and
credit risk. Information regarding cur approach to managing
these dsks is contained in note 21 ta the Financial Statements.
The Group's approach to risk management is explained i the
Strategic Report,

EMPLOYEE AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Company has several programmes of stokeholder
engagement. These are detailed in the Siralegic Report,
Corporate Governonce Report on page 69 and Section
172 Statement on page 46.

INFORMATION GIVEN TO THE AUDITORS
Each cf the Directors ar the date of approval of this Annual
keport confirms that:

o o far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s Auditor is unaware; and
®  they have tcken all the steps that they cught 1o have taken
s a Director in order to moke themself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish thot the Company’s Audites
is cware of that information

This confitmation is given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of s418 of ihe Companies
Act 2G06.

APPOINTMENT OF THE COMPANY'S AUDITORS

Following a competitive tender process, delails of which are

set out in the report from the Audit Commiltee on page 80,

a resolulion to appoini Mazars 1P as the Company's Auditor will
be proposed al the fortheoming Annual General Meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Repaort
and the Financial Stalements in accordance with applicable
law and regulation.

Company low requires the Direciors fo prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Linder thal law, the Directors
have prepared the Gioup financial statements in accordonce
with UK-adopted Intemational Financial Reporting Skandards
{"IFRSs”) and applicable low and Company financial statements
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Slandards,
comprising FRS 1¢ 1 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and
applicable law]. Undsr company law, the Directors must not
approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the siate of affairs of the

Group and Cempany and of the profit or loss of the Group and
Company for that period. In preparing the financicl siatements,
the Direciors are required to:

* select suiloble accounting policies and then opply them
consistently;

¢ state whether applicable UK-adopted IFRSs have been
followed tor the Group financial statements, and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 107, have
been followed for the Company linancial statements, subject
io any material departures disclosed and expleined in the
financial statements;

*  make wdgemenis and accounting estimaltes thot ore
reasonable and prudent; and

* prepare the hinancial slatements on the going concem basis
unless it is inappropriale to presume that the Group and
Company will continue in business,

The Directars are also responsible for saleguording the assels of
the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other iregularities.

The Direciors are responsible for keeping ndequate accounting
iecords that are sufficient 1o show and explain the Group ond
Company’s fransactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any lime the financiol position of the Gioup end Company
ond encble them to ensure thot the financiol siatements and the
Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act
2006 ond, as regurds the Group hinancial stalements, Anicle 4
of the IAS Regulation.

The Directors are responsible for the mointenance and integrity
of the Company’s website. legisiation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of fincncial
sledements may differ from legislation in cther jurisdictions

CONFIRMATION STATEMENT

We cornfirm that to the best of our knowledge:

* the Annual Report and Financial Statements, taken as a
whale, are fair, balanced, and understandable and provide
the information necessary for Shareholders to assess the
Company's performonce, business model and Strategy;

* she financial statemenis, prepared in accordance with the
relevant financial reporting fromewark, give a true ond fair
view of lle assels, liabilities, financial position and profit or
loss of the Company and the underiokings included in the
consolidation taken as o whole; and

* the Direciors’ Report includes o fair review of the development
and performance of the business, the position of the Company
ond the undestokings included in the consolidation fuken os
o whole, fogether with o description of the principal visks and
unceriginties that they foce. /\

OCn behalf of the Bo?:q
Rob Parker A S

1
I
b

]

Diractor . .,-’\‘ ) P
30 November 2022 XLO\X/
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REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT

PERFORMANCE MEASURES ARE
SELECTED THAT ARE ALIGNED WITH THF
PFRFORMANCE OF THE GROUP AND
THE INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS.”

Diana Breexze
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

OVERVIEW

OTHER MEMBERS:
*  Kaii Daniels

*  Keijth Down
MEETINGS HELD:

4

STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR OF THE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

DEAR SHAREHOLDER

Cn behalf of the Remuneration Commitiee, | am pleased 1o
present the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the 52 weeks
ended 1T Oclober 20272 (the “Period”).

This report hos been prepared in occordonce with the provisions
of the Componies Act 2006 and Schedule 8 of the large and
Medium-sized Companies und Groups [Accounts and Reports)
{Amendment] Regulations 2013 [the “Reguiations”), The UK
Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the “Code”} and the
Financial Conduct Authority's Listing Rules and takes into account
the accompanying Directors’ Reporting Guidance and the
relevant guidelines of the Shareholder represeniative bodies.

The report is spiit into three parts:

1. This annual statement, from the Chair of the Remuneration
Committee.

2. Cur Directors’ Remuneration Policy fthe “Policy”). As
required, this yeor we will be taking our Policy {which has
been updated as set out below| to a binding Shareholder
vote al the AGM in January 2023, Subject to approval, the
vpdated Policy will then apply for three years fiom the dote
of approval.

3. The Annual Report on Remuneiation Report, which sets out
payments made to the Direciors and details the link between
Company performance and remuneration for the Period. The
Chair’s statement and Annual Report on Remuneration Report
is subject lo an advisoiy Sharehelder vote ot the AGM in
January 2023.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Commitiee held four scheduled meetings during the
Pericd, based on an annucl plan agreed with the Chair
of the Commitiee.

The Committee comprises thiee Independent Non-Executve
Directors, Dicna Breeze [Chair), Kari Daniels and Keith

Down. Darren Shapland, Rob Parker ond Linda Sleath atiend
by invitation and absent themselves from meetings when the
Committee considers matlers conceming then own 1emunerahan.

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The role of the Remuneration Commitiee is set cut in ifs lermrs

of Reference, which are ovailable on the Group's website

The Commitee’s pnmary puiposs s o develop ond detenmine
the Group’s remuneration pelicies for the Executve Directors,
Charrman, and senior monagement, For more on the role of the
Committee, see below under "Censideration by the Direclors of
Matters Reloting to Directors” Remuneration”. The Commitiee clse
has respensibilty for reviewing pay ond condifions acrass the
Group ond the alignment of incentives and rewards with o
high-perfarmance culiure
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION POLICY

Over the course of 2019, the Commitiee undertook ¢ detailed
review of the then current Policy fo ensure it supported our
remuneration principles, which are to-

* atract ond retain the basi talent;

e drive behaviours that support the Group’s Sirategy and
business objectives which are developed in the longterm
interests of the Compony and its Shoreholders:

e reward senior monagement appropriately for their personal
and collective achievements;

* provide incentives thal help fo maintain commitment aver the
longer term and align the interests of senior management
with those of Shareholders;

» ensure that a significant percentage of the overall package
for the Executives and senior managers remains at risk
dependent upon perdoimance and that their pay and benefits
adequately fake account of reward versus risk;

¢ ensure the overall remuneration strecture s simple and clear,
and that employees understand how their performance is
linked to reward:

*  maintain appropriate proportions of fixed and perfounance
ieluied pay, fo help diive performonce over the short and
longer term, mantain a flexible cast base, and averd
creating incentives for excessive risk foking; and

* qchieve consistency with the general remuneration
philosophy applied to the Group’s employess as a whole.

During the Penod, the Commiltee caried out another review
of the Policy and decided to propose a number of changes
to the Policy 1o ensure that it:

* s aligned with current and emerging best practice,

* takes account of the feedback received from our
Shareholders prior 1o the 2023 AGM,; and

* ensures complionce with the UK Corporate Governance

Code 2018 {the "Code}.

I wrote to our major Shareholders in Cctober 2022 with an
autline of cur proposed changes to the Policy and | would lke
to thank those who provided feedback. This has been
considered by the Committee prior to coming fo the final
proposal as outlined below and on poge 93

Pictured above: Lenton Forest Green

91
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The key changes fo the Policy are as follows.

* the infroduction of a compulsory deferral of 30% of any
bonus payable into shares for two years;

* anincrease in the maximum annual bonus opportunity from
VOO% 1o 125% for both Executive Direciors;

* an increose in the proportion of annual borus to be payable
by reference to nondinancial performance (including strotegic
objectives and ESG measures) from 20% to 30% with the
remaining 70% of borus to be payable by reference 1o
financicl objectives;

¢ the infroduction of o postemployment shareholding
requirement of 200% of salary {or the aciual holding on
deporture, if lower) for two yeoss;, and

* fuither strengthening of the malus ond clawback provisions
by including an additional trigger event of unreasonable
failure to protect the interest of employees and custorers.

in addition 1o the above substantive changes, some minor
wording changes are being proposed primarily to clarify the
way that the Policy is intended 1o operate in certain areas.

THE NEW TOPPS TILES PLC 2023 SHARE PLAN

As our 2013 ITIP is due to expire on 23 January 2023 ond
the Committee has decided to infreduce deferred bonus
artangements from FY23, a new employee share plan, Topps
Tiles Plc 2023 Share Plan, will be submitted to Shareholders for
approval Awards will be made under this new plan for both
deferred bonus and LTIP from FY23.

PERFORMANCE IN FY22 AND REMUNERATION OUTCOMES
In FY22 we continued 1o see a level of uncertainty within the
economy. Despite this the business has continued to focus on
growing market share through its *1 in 5 by 2025" geal and
additionally, the purchase of Pro Tiler Tools and the launch of Tile
Warehouse in the year supparts our journey fo becoming a true
omni<hannel retailer,

Following the upheaval of 2020 and 2021 the Commities
reverted in sefiing full yeur largels for the Annual Bonus Plan for the
Executive Directors. The adjusted profit before tax target 1o igger
paymenl of o bonus was met and therefore, the Remunerafion
Commitiee considered it appropriate 1o approve payment under
the Annual Bonus Plan i the Executive Directors af the end of the
year of £198k 1o Reb Parker and £106k to Stephen Hopson.
This was bosed on 37.3% in respect of profit fargets and 10.8%
in respect of strategic targets which was a total of 48.1% of the
base salary eamed over the full year period, as reported in delall
below under Annual Bonus.

The lengTerm Incentive Plan (“(TIP") awards granted in December
2019 were based upon performance over the three financicl
vears to 1 October 2022, The awards reguired a cumulative
odjusted eomings per shaie {"EPS") ever the period to be of leas!
19 Pp for 25% vesting, increasing to 22 .3p for full vesting of the
awards, where the adjusted EPS was “defined as stated in the
Company's accounts for the relevant financiol period excluding
exceptional tems and subject ko such adjustments as the Board

in its discreton determines are fair and reasonable’.

Pictured above: Calacatta Marble SP Effects, Stello White and Zellica Antique White
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Given the impact of Covid-19 on the business following the
award of the shares, the Committee has decided that it is
appropricie io remove the impact of Covid 1o enable the ulimate
level of vesting fo fairly reflect the underlying performance of the
Company ond manogement during this Period.

Theretore, the cumulative adjusted EPS is 20.29 which resulted

in a vesting of 25%, the minimum leve! of vesting in line with the
Policy in force af the time of grant of the 2019 award. This anly
applies to the CEO and not the CFO as the CFO does not hold
a 2012 TP award. Therefore, the CEQ, Rob Parker will receive
25% of lhe shares granted, subject io the normal holding period

REMUNERATION DECISIONS FOR FY23

SALARY/FEES

During the Pericd, the Commiltee reviewed the base salary level
for the CEO and CFO by reference to exiernal benchmarks,
facilitated by its remuneration consulian:. The Committee also
considered the remunaration of the wider workforce.

The Committes concluded that the CEO should be owarded an
increase in base salary from Ociober 2022 of 2% which this
vear, given the costolliving impact for many of our colleagues,
was below that of the wider workforce. Accordingly, the CEQ's
salary moved to £420C,240. For the CFQ, as reported last

year, the benchmarking exercise carried out in FY21 indicated
thct his salary was below the benchmark for similorsized
companies, and it was ogreed 1o approve a phased increase
across FY22 and FY23. The Commitiee approved the second
stage of this increase to Stephen’s base sclary o £240,000
from 1 Oclober 2022 fan increase of 7.09% which includes the
2% cost of living increase described above]. This increase will
bring his salary closer in line with the external benchmark and
reward cenfinued strong performance, stralegic confribution, and
delivery in role.

ANNUAL BONUS

The Annual Bonus Plan for FY23 will continue to be subject to
full year targets for all participants of the scheme  The maximum
bonus cpportunity will be 125% of base salary for the CEO
and the CFO in ling with the proposed Palicy. However, 30%
of any bonus payable will be deferred into shares for two vears
under the new Topps Tiles Ple 2023 Share Plan, resulling in

a reduction, at the maximum, of 12.5% in ony cash bonus
payable.

The financic! element of the oword will continue to be measured
agoinst adusted profit before fox ond will account for 70% of
the award. The nonfinancial element, which accounts for 30%
of the maximum bonus, will be aligned with the Company's
Strategy for FY23 and include two Strotegic Business Objectives
and two ESG meirics, which for FY23 will be focused on
Environment and Pecple.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

During FY23, the Commities intends to grant LTIP awards fo
the Executive Directors with o maximum oppertunity of 100% of
solary under the new Topps Tiles Ple 2023 Share Plan. These
fevels are unchanged from previous yeors. The Committes has
determined thot it will ogain be oppropriate for these awards
to be measured against EPS performance of the last financial
year in the thresyear performance pericd (being FY25| rather
than setting cumulative EPS targets covering all three years. In
addition, the Commuttes has again determined that it will be
appropriate to set the threshold level of performance at 10% of
the LTIP awards, with an EPS threshold of 3.56 pence.

The Committee will monitor the performance over the threeyeor
vesting period and review the vesting oulcome 1o ensure it is a
true reflection of the Company’s performance during the peried.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

On behalf of the Commitiee, | would like to thank Sharehclders
for their continued support. Arrangements for the Annual General
Meeting and how to ask questions are explained in the Nolice
of Annual General Meeting. | will be pleased to answer any
queslions concerning remuneration, and | om always pleased 1o
hear from the Company's Sharehclders You can contact me via
the Company Secreiary at other fimes, if you have any questicns
in relation 1o the Company's remuneration,

Diana Breexe
Chair of the Remuneration Commitiee
30 Navember 2022

ONOAA~AGLER %

—
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY

This part of the report sets out the Directors’ Remuneration Policy {the *Policy”) for the Company which, as required under the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups {Accounts and
Reports) Regulations 2008 as amended the "Regulations”), the Company will be submitiing to Shareholders for approval at the AGM
on18 January 2023. The Policy, once approved, will take effect from that date.

THE ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE IN REVIEWING THE REMUNERATION POLICY

Qur previous Policy wos approved at the janvary 2020 AGM, which received 98.62% votes in favour. During the year, the
Commitiee carried out a review ol the Folicy and has decided to propose some omendments. These changes are being proposed
largely 1o enhance alignment of our Policy with best practice, taking into consideration feedback we have received from
Shareholders. A summary of the key changes being proposed is set out below:

* Anincrease in the maximum annual bonus opportunity from 100% to 125%;

» The introduction of anruel bonus deferial of 30% of any bonus payable into shores for two years;

*  Atleast 70% of annual bonus 1o be poyable by reference to financial objeclives and the remaining to be payable by reference
to nonfinancial objectives which may include strategic, personal and ESG medrics;

» The intraduction of a twoyear postemployment shareholding requirement of 200% of salary [or the actual level of holding on
departure, if lower); and

* Further shengthening of the malus and clowback provisions by including the trigger event of unieasonable failure 1o protect the
inferest of employees and customers, and alignment of malus and clowback provisions for annual bonus and LTIP.

In addition, we have made minor changes to the wording of the Policy in a number of areas including:

*  Determination of satary for new Executive Directors;
s Commitlee discretion in opsration of onnual bors and LT1P;
* |eover treamment of annual bonus and LTIF owards; and

¢ Exscutive Ditector extenal appeiniments.

S SRS SR

Pictured above: Eleve Oak Chevron and Revelution



QUR GOVERNANCE

95

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY TABLE
Purpose and

link to strategy

QOperation

Maximum cppertunity Performance measures

-BASE SALARY

Core element of fixed
remuneration sef at a
market competitive level
with the aim fo attract
and retain Executive
Directors of the calibre
reqyired.

Solaries are usually reviewed
annually taking info account:

urderlying Croup
performance;
¢ ole, experience and
individual performance;
* compelitive salary levels
ond market forces; and
* pay and condilions
elsewhere in the Group.

While there is no maximum salary, Not applicable.
increases will normally be no higher

than the typical level of satary increase

awarded (in percentage of salary terms)

to ather collsagues in the Group.

Salary increases above this level may
be awarded In certain circumstances,
such as, but not limited to:

* where an Executive Direcfor has
been promoted or has had a
change in scape or responsibility;

* anindividuol's development or
performance in role {e.g., o dlign
newly appointed Executive Director’s
salary with the markel over timel;

® where there has been a change in
market proctice; o

* where theie has been a change in
the size and/or complexity of the
business

Such increases may be implemented
over such time period as the Committee
deems appropricte.

For new Executive Director hires, the
Committee has the flexibility to set the
salary o a belowmarket level intially
and o realign it aver the ollowing
years as the individual gains experience
in fhe role. In exceptional circumstances,
the Committee may agree to pay
obove-market levels to secure or retgin
an individual who is considered by the
Commitiee o possess significant and
relevant experience which is critical to

the delivery of the Group's Stategy.
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Purpose and

link o strategy Operation

Maximum opportunity Performance measures

'BENEFITS

Fixed element of
remuneration sef at a
market competitive level
with the aim to atfract and
retain Executive Directors
of the calibre required.

Executive Directars receive
benefits in line with market
practice, and these include
principolly fife insurance, income
protection, private medical
INSUIGNCe, COMpany Cas of Car
allowance and tuel allowance
and, where relevant, relocation
expenses. Other benelils may
be provided bosed on individual
circumslances. These may
include other benefits which are

intreduced for the wider workiorce

on broadly similar terms.

Any reasonable businessrelated
expenses {including the tax
thereon} can be reimbursed.

While the Commitiee has not set MNot applicable.
an absolute maxirmum on the level

of benefits Executive Directors may

receive, the value of benefits is set at a

level which the Commitiee considers to

be npproprictely postioned ioking into

account relevant market levels based on

the nature and location of the role and

individual circumsiances.

PENSIONS

Provides appropricte
postemployment benefits
{or cosh eguivalent).

Execuiive Directors are eligible
to participate in the detined
contiibution pension scheme.
In appropriate circumsiances,
such as where contributions
exceed the annual or lifetime
allowance, Executive Direclors
may be permitted 1o toke a
cash supplement instead of
contributions lo a pension plan.

Confributions of up to the rate Not applicable.
available 1o the majority of the

workioree {curently 5% of satary).

ALL EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES

Executive Directors are emitled to
participate in a tax-qualifying ll
employee SAYE scheme under
which they may make monthly
savings confributions over @
period of theee o five years linked
to the grant of an option over the
Company's shares with an option
price, which can be at o discount
of up to 20% to the market value
of shares at grant.

To create alignment with
the Group and promete
a sense of ownership

Executive Directors are also
entitled fa parficipate In and any
HMRC-upproved plans that may
be intreduced by the Company for
aoll calleagues

Participation limits are thase set by the  Not subject 1o performance
UK tax authorities from time to time. measyres in line with HMRC
practice
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Purpose and

link to sirategy Operation

Maximum epportunity

Performance measures

- ANNUAL BONUS

Rewards performance
against annual targets
which suppart the strategic
direction of the Group.

Awards are based on annual
performance against key
financial and/or strafegic and
ESG targets.

Pay-out levels ore determined by
the Commitiee after the yearend

based cn performance against
those targets.

The Committee has discretion
to amend the pay-out should
any formulaic output not reflect
the Committee’s assessmenl of
overall business performance.

30% of any bonus payable
will be deferred into shares for
two years under the Topps Tiles
Plc 2023 Share Plan to be
approved by Shareholders in
January 2023

Dividend equivalents may be
paid in respect of a vested
deferred bonus award by
reference 1o the value of
dividends payable during the
award's vesling period

Malus and clawback provisions
apply.

The maximum bonus opporiunity for
an Executive Director will not exceed
125% of salary.

Targets are set annually
reflecting the Company’s
Strategy and are aligned with
key performance indicators.
Up to 70% of the maximum
banus will be based on
financial obiecﬁves, which
may include, but are not
iimited to, profit, cash/debt,
revenue, ROCE. The balance
will be assessed against
nondinancial objectives which
may include, but are not
limited to, sirategic, personal
and ESG metrics which are
aligned with the Company’s
business and ESG strategies.

FINANCIAL METRICS

0% of the maximum bonus
will be payable ot threshold
performance and all the
maximum potential will

be payable for maximum
performance, with linecr
vesting in between.

NON-FINANCIAL METRICS
Vesting of the awards based
on nonfinanciol objectives
will be determined by the
Committee’s assessment

of the extent to which the
nondinancial targets have
been met which may, if
aporopriate, be based on
threshold, target and strelch
levels of performance with
scaled vesling in between.
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Purpose and

link to strategy

Operation

Maximum opportunity

Performance measures

‘P

To incentivise Executive
Directors, and 1o deliver
genuine performance-
related pay, with a clear
line of sight for Executives
and direct alignment with
Shareholders’ interests.

longterm incentive awards are
giented under the Topps Tiles Ple
2023 Share Plan scheme wles,
i be approved by Shareholders
in January 2023,

Under the [TIF, awards of nil
cost share opfions or conditional
shiares may be made.

While there is no current
inlention 1o do so, owards may
{technically} be setled in full or
in part in cash at the discretion
of the Committee ffor example
m respect of shares that would
otherwise be sold to satishy tax
withholding requirements or in

response o local law constraints).

The vesting of awards will be
subject fo the achisvement of

specilied performance conditions,

Ordmoﬂl\/ measured over o
period of o least thiee years

Dividend equivalenis may be
paid on shares that vesi in
connection with LTIP awards
by reference fo ihe value of
dividends poyable during the
award's vesting period {and
halding period where ielevant

A tworyear postvesting holding

period will apply 1o shares
awarded, which will require

Executives to ordinanly retain any
shares vesting {nat of 1ox} until the

fifth anniversary of grant.

Malus and clawback provisions
apply

The normal maximum award is 100%
of salary in respect of a financial
year. Under the share plan rules,

the averall moximum opportunity

that moy be granted in respect of

a financial year is 200% of salary.
The normal maximum award limit

will anly be exceeded in exceptional
circumstances, such as the recruitment
or ietention of an Executive Director.

The market value of the shares subject
to an award is based on the three-
doy average shore price immedimely
after the Company's Guarter 4 trading
stalement unless the Commitiee
determines otherwise.

Relevant performance
measures are sef that reflect
business performance.
Specific disclosures on

the performance measures
that have been set in any
given year are provided

in the relevant Directors’
Remuneration Report for
that year.

The Commitiee refains
discrefion to adjust the vesting
outcome of any P award
io reflect the underlying
financial performance of the
Company, notwithstanding
the extent to which the
specific perfarmance targsls
applicable o the award have
been met.

Performance measures and
their weighting lwhere there
is more thon one measure)
are reviewed annually to
mainicin appropriateness and
relevance.

For achievement of threshold,
no maore than 10% of the
maximum opportunity will vest.

There will usually be straight-
fine vesting between threshold
and maximum performance.

IN-EMPLOYMENT AND POST-EMPLOYMENT SHAREHOLDING REQUIREMENT

Executve Directors are subject fo a shareholding requirement 1o build and mainiain o shareholding in Topps Tiles equivalent to Z00%
of salary for the Chiel Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer

For awards granted on or afler 2 Octoher 2022, the Exacutive Diteclors will be subject o a twoyear postemployment shareholding
requirement of 200% of sulary (or the ociual holding on deporture, f lower]

LEGACY INCENTIVE PLANS

The Executive Direclors retain existng. in fight ITIP owards granted under the previcus Remuneration Policy, the 2020 awards”
and the "2021 awards” These awards are subjecr to peromonce condikons boased on a threeryear perdoimance period to FY23
and P24 1espectively. The awards will be allowed 1o vest on the terms on which they were granted, subjedt to achievernent of the

applicable perfformance fargels.
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MALUS AND CLAWBACK PROVISIONS OF

ANNUAL BONUS AND LTIP AWARDS

The Committee has the right o reduce, cancel or impose further
condifions on annual bonus awards in respedt of the financial

year starting on or offer 1 Ocicber 2022 and ony culsianding
(TP awands, o to claw back amounts from participants within @
peried of two years lollowing the payment of any annual bonus
and vesting of any deferred bonus and LTIP awards, if on oct or
omission or a failure to apply reasenable skill and judgement leads
10 & material loss 1o the Group, or serious reputdticnal damage fo
the Group, or a matennl missiatement of the Company's financict
results, of if there hos been o material failwre of risk monagement
by the Company. In respect of LTIP owards granted from the date
of the AGM in January 2020 onwards, malus and clawback may
also apply in instances of corporate failure, discovery of sericus
misconduct and/or errcr of colculation. For annual benus and LTIP
awards granted on or dfier 2 Oclober 2022, malus and clawback
may alse apply in instorces of unreasonable failure 1o profect the
interests of employees and customers.

EXPLANATION OF PERFORMANCE MEASURES

CHOSEN FOR THE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

Perfoimance meosures are selected that ore oligned with the
performance of the Group and the interests of Shareholders.
Stretching performance targets are set each year for the annual
bonus and longterm incentive awards When sefting these
performance targets, the Commitiee will take into account a
number of different reference points, which may include the
Compony's business plors and sirategy ond the economic
environment. Full vesting will only occur for what the Commilize
considers 1o be a sfrefching perlormance.

The annual bonus can be ossessed against financial and nor
financial obiectives as determined by the Commitiee. Bonuses
are currently based on adusted profil before tax, shategic
objectives and ESG largets, which are aligned 1o delivering
the overall business strategy and encourage behaviours, which
facilitate profitable growth and the future development of the
business.

iongterm perfermance measures are chosen by the Committee
to provide a robust and fransparent basis on which jo measure
the Compony's performance over the longer term and to provide
alignment with the business strategy. They are selected 10 be
aligned with the interests of Shareholders ond to drive business
performance while not encouraging excessive risk-taking. {TIP
awards are currently based on the earnings per shore targets
being met of the end of the performance period, providing an
assessment of the overall financial performance of the business
and rewarding sustainable longtem performance

The Committee retains the ability 1o adjus! the taigels or sof
differert performence meosures for the ornual benus ard

share awards i events accur (such as a chonge in S!ruteg% a
materal aequisiion and/or a divesiment of a Group business
or a change in prevailing markel conditons), which cause the
Commiltee to deteiming that the ariginal measures or targels are
na longer appropriate and that omendment is required so thart
they achieve their original purpose.

Aveards and options may be adjusted in the evenl of o variation
ol share capital in accardance with the (utes of the deferred
bonus and 2013 ond 2023 (TP scheme

99

COMMITTEE DISCRETION IN OPERATION

OF THE ANNUAL BONUS AND 2023 SHARE PLAN

The Commitiee operates under the powers if has been delegated
by the Board. In addition, it complies with rules that are either
subject to Shareholder opproval or opproval from the Boord.
These rules provide the Commiliee with certain discretions which
serve fo ensure that the implementation of the Policy is fair, both
fo the individual Executive Director and to Shareholders. The
Committee also has discrefion lo set componenis of remuneralion
within a range, lom time io time. The extent of such discrefion is
set out In the relevant rules. To ensure the efficient administration
of the annual bonus and TP, the Commitiee will apply cerain
operational discretions. These include, but are not limited 1o, the
following:

*  Selecting the participants in the plons;

+ Determining the fiming of grants of awards and/or
payments,

¢ [Cetermining the quanium of awards and/or payments
(within the limits set out in the Policyl;

¢ Delermining the choice of (and adjusiment of} performance
measures and largets for each incentive plan in accordance
with the Policy and the rnles;

s Determining the exient of vesting based on the assessment
of performance ond discretion relating o measurement of
performance in certain events such as a change of control
of reconsiruchon:;

*  Overrding formulaic ornual bonus ond TP vesting
oulcomes, toking occount of overall or undedying
Company performance;

¢ Whether malus and clawback shall be applied to any
award in the refevant circumstances and, if so, the exfent
to which they shall be applied;

¢ Making appropriate adjustments required in certain
circumstances, for instance for changes in capilol siructure;

*  Delermining “good leaver” status for incentive plan purposes
and applying the cppropiicte freaiment, and

*  Undertaking the onnual review of weighting of performance

measures and sefling targeds for the annual bonus and LTIP
award, where applicable, from year i year
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ILLUSTRATIONS OF APPLICATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY FOR FY23

R PARKER S HOPSON
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Mirumum Performance Moximum Max +50% Minimum Perlormance Maximum Maorx +50%
performance in bne with performonce shate price performance n line weith, pedarmance share prce
expeciations expechahons
@ Base salary, benefils, pensions  Annual borus [TIP
in Uustrating the potential reward, assumptions have been made as detailed below.
Fixed pay Annval bonus LTI

No bonus.

62 5% of solary awarded for
achieving target performance
across both financiol and non-
financial measures.

Fixed elements of remuneration
only - base salary [being the
salary as of 1 October 2022},
benefits as disclosed in the
singte figure table on page

Minimum performance

Perfarmancte in line with
expectations

No [TIP vesiing.

50% of maximum award
vesting [equivalent to 50% of
salary) for achieving karget
performance. *

106 for the vear FY22 and

Maximum performance A
pension of 5% of salary.

125% of salary awarded
for achieving maximum
performance across both
financial and nondinancial

meqsures.

Maximum perfermance

125% of salary awarded
plus share price growth

for achieving maximum
performance across both
financial and nondinancial
measures. [A share-based
bonus would be worth more f
share price growth accurred)

100% of moximum award
vesting lequivalent lo 100% of
solary) for achieving maximum
performance. *

100% of maximum award
vesting for ochieving
maximum performance plus
an assumption for share price
growth [50% increase].

* LTIP owards are included 1n these scenarios o face value wih no share price movement included
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Purpose and link to Strategy

Approach of the Company

-Set at a level that reflects market
tconditionhs and is sufficient to ottract
;individuals with appropriaote knowledge
‘and experience

Fees are normally reviewed annually.

Fees poid 1o Nontxecutive Direciars for their services are approved by the
Board. Fees may inciude a basic fee and additional fees for further responsibilities
{for exomple, chairing the Board Committees, halding the office of Serior

Independent Director, other additional responsibilities, or temporary increase in time
commitment}. Fees are based on the tevel of fees paid to Non-Executive Direciors
serving on the bnards of similarsized UK listed companies and the fime commitment
and contribution expected for the role. Typically, any fee increase will be in line
with the wider workforce. Fee increases may be owarded above this level in
ceffain circumsiances such s [but not limited to):

* where there has been a change in market practice;
* where there has been a change in the size and complexity of the Company; cr

® where there has been an increase in the NonExeculive Director’s time
commitment to the role.

Overall tees paid to Non-Executive Directors will remain within the limits set by the
Company's Arlicles of Associafion.

MNonExecutive Direciors cannet participate in any of the Company’s share incentive
schemes and are not eligible 1o join the Company’s pension scheme. Non-Executive
Directors may be eligible 1o receive benelits such as the use of secretarial suppert,
travel costs (including any tax incurred therean) or other benefits that may be

appropriate.

APPROACH TO RECRUITMENT REMUNERATION

The Pclicy aims to facililate the appointment of individuals of
sufficient calibre o lead the business and execute the Strategy
effectively for the benefit of Shareholders. When appeinting

o new Executive Director, the Committee seeks to ensure that
arrangements are in the best interests of the Company and not
to pay more than is appropricle.

The Committees will fake inte consideration a number of relevant
factors, which may include the calibre of the individual, the
candidale’s exisling remuneration package, and the specific
circumstances of the individual including the jurisdiction from
which the candidate was recruiled.

When appointing a new Executive Director, the Commitlee will
typically align the remuneration package with the above Policy
for existing Directors. The Committee may include other elements
of pay thot it considers are appropriate; however, this discreton
is copped and is subjecl 1o the principles and the lunits refered
fo below:

¢ Base salosy will be set o o level appiopriate 1o the role ond
the experience of the Executive Direcior being oppeinted.
For new Executive Ditector bires, the Commitiee has ihe
flexability 1o set the salary ot a below-marker leve! intially and
to realign it over the following years as the individual goms
expefience in the role In exceplional ciicumsiances, the
Committee may agree to poy above-maiket levels to secure
ot retain an individoal whe s considesed by the Commiiee
lo passess signilicont and relevant expenence which 1s
critical to the delivery of the Group's Strategy.

»  Benefits will be provided in line with the above Policy.

The pension conirbution for cash allowance in lieu thereof] will
be sel in line with the maximum rate provided lo other below
Board colleagues {which is currenily 5%).

Other elements may be included in the following circumstances

& an inferim appeintment being made io fill an Executive
Director role on a shorterm basis;

s if exceptional circumstonces require that the Chairman or o
MNon-Executive Director fakes on an executive function on a
shorterm basis;

* | an Executive Director is recruited at @ fime in the year when
it would be inappropricate io provide a bonus or longterm
inceniive award for that year as there would not be sufficient
time fo assess performance; and

s i the Executive Direcior will be required fo relocate in cider
fo take up the position, it is the Company's policy to allow
reasonable relocation, fravel and subsistence payments. Any
such payments will be ot ihe discretion of the Commitiee and
may include sums o cover the fux payable thereon

The Commitiee may alse alter the performance measures,
perfornance pericd and vesling period of the annual bonus
ond deferred bonus, if the Committes determines that the
circumstances of the recruiiment merit such alteration The
ahonale will be dearly explained in the following Direcions’
Remuneration Report.

The maximum level of vanable remurerafion that may be granted
lexcluding "buyoul” awards as referred to belowl is 325% of
salory
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The Commiftee may make payments or awards in respect of
appoinfing an Executive Director lo “buy out” remuneration
arrangements forfeited on leaving a previous employer, In
doing so, the Commitles will toke account of relevant taciors,
including ony performence conditions attached to the forfeited
arrangements and the fime over which they would have vested.

The Committee will genarally seek to structure buyout awards

or paymenis on a likeforlike basis to the remuneration
amangements forfeited. Any such payments or awards are limited
to the expected value of the forleited awards, Where considered
appropriate, such specicd recruitment awwnds will be hable 1o
forteiture or “malus” and/cr "clowback” on eaily departure.

Any share awards referred to in this section will be granted as
for as possible under the Company’s exisling share plans. If
necessary, and subject fo the limils refeired to above, buyout
awards may be granted outside of these plans as permitted
under section G 4 2 {2) of the Listing Rules, which aliows for
the grant of awards 1o facilitale, in unusual circumstances, the
recruifment of an Executive Director,

Where a position is filled infernally, any ongoing remuneration
obligations or cutstanding variable pay elements sholl be
allowed to continue according fo the onginal lerms.

Feas payable to o Chair or NorExecutive Director will be in line
with the fee policy in place at the hme of appointment.

Original date of appointment

SERVICE CONTRACTS

it is the Company’s pclicy that Executive Directars are offered
permanent contracts of employment with no mare than o1 2-
month notice period. Under an event of contract lermination, any
severance payment would be subject o negotiation but would
take info account the length of service and prevailing natice
peﬂod.

Company policy also states that Non-execulive Directors should
have contracts of services with an indefinite term providing for

a maximym of six months” natice. The rele of Chairmon is also

NonExecutive, with an indefinite term contract and o maximum
of six months’ notice.

These confracts are availoble for inspection, upon request from
the Company Secretary at the Group's registered office.

in occordance with the Corporate Governance Code 2018, all
Directors offer themselves for annual re-election by Shareholders
The date of appoiniment of each Non-Executive Director who
served during the year is sef out in the fable below.

Non-Executive Director to Board Date of leter of appointment Tetal length of service
Darren Shapland 19/03/2015 26/02/2015 7 years and 8 months
Keith Down 02/02/2015 0z2/02/2015 7 years and @ months
Diana Breeze oV /02/202) 23/11/2020 1 year and @ months
Kori Daniels Q1 /04,2021 23/11 /2020 | year and 7 months
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PAYMENTS FOR LOSS OF OFFICE

The principles on which the determination of payments for loss of office will be approached are set aut below:

Palicy

Payment in liev  The Company has discrelion to make a poyment in lieu of notice. Such a payment would be colculated

;of notice by reference lo basic salary and shall include compensation for any employer pension confributions for the
unexpired period of notice. The payment may also include compensation for benefils and pension for the
period.
if the participant is terminated within six months of o Change of Control, the Payment in Lieu, [as defined in
the Service Agreement) shall include any bonus of commission payments. contractuc) benefits und holiday
entitement they wauld hove recaived during the pened for which the Payment in lieu is made.

Annvol bonus “Bad leaver” “Good leaver”
Annval bonus awards will normally lopse in their if the participant leaves due io death, iliness, injury,
entirety in the event an individual is no longer disability, redundancy, sale of their employer or
employed or serving their nofice period at the fime other reasons at the discretion of the Commitiee,
of pay-out, a bonus may become poyable af the discretion of

Unvested deferred bonus awards held by leavers will the Commihee .Whr.are th.e bonus is p0y0b|g,' the
Committee refains discretion as fo whether it is pro-

ardinarily be forfeited on cessalion of employment. raled by reference fo the period worked during the
year or whether all is poyable in cash or whether pan
of it is deferred either in cash or as deferred bonus
awards.

Deferred bonus awards held by leavers will ardinarily
vest on the normal timeloble. The Commitiee can permit
early vesting at ifs discrefion.

Shares acquired under deferred bonus awards will
ordinarily continue to be subject to the postemployment
shareholding requirement, unless the Commitiee
determines otherwise of its discretion.
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Policy

Rl

“Bad leaver” “Good leaver”

Unvested UTIP awards held by leavers will ordinarily I the participant leaves due to death, illness, injury,

be forfeited on cessation of employment. disability, redundancy, sale of their employer or any
other reason at the discretion of the Committes, any
unvested awards will ordinarily confinue to be capable
of vesting ot the noimal vesting dote for, exceptionally
and at the Commitiee’s discretion, at an earfier date}
in either case, the extent of vesting will be determined
by the Commitiee taking into account the extent to
which the performance condition is satisfied and,
unless the Committee determines atherwise, subject to
proaling by reference to the period of fime elapsed
from the start of the performance period fo the dote
of cessation relative to the full performance period
{although the Commitee may disapply {in full of in par)
time prorating if it considers it appropricte o do sal.
Where the Commitiee delermines that awards shall vest
at the date of cessation, performance shall be assessed
on such bosis as the Commiitee considers appropriate
aver the curtailed performance period

Onee vested, awords heid by leavers moy then
be exarcised during such padod as the Committes
defermines.

The postvesting holding period for LTIP awards granted
from the dote of the AGM in Janucry 2020 onwards
and the postemployment shareholding requirement

for awards granted on or after 2 October 2022 will
ordinarily continue to apply inespective of employment
statys unless the Commitlee determines otherwise at its
discrefion.

Awards thal have already vested at the daie of

cessation may be exercised for such period as the
Committee determines.

Mifigation

The Committee’s practice 1s that if on Execulive Tirector's employment is terminated, any compensation
payment will be caleulated in accordance with normal legal principles including the application of mitigation
fo the extent appropriate te the circumstances of the termination.

All employee
share plans

Payments may be made either in the event of & loss of office or @ change of control under the all employee
share plans, which are governed by the rules and the legisletion relating to such tax-qualifying plans. There is
ne discreficnary ireaiment for leavers or on a charge of control under these schemes.

In appropriate circomstances, paymenls may also be made in respect of accrued holiday, cutplacement and
legal fees,

Post-cessation
shareholding
requirements

TP owards gronted ofier the AGM in jenuary 2020 will be subject to their opplicable postvesiing helding
period and awards (if any| retained on departure will rot ocdinarily be accelerated

Defeired bonus ord (TP awords graried on o afier 2 Geiober 2027 will be subjec! fo o tvoryear poct
cessolion shareholding requirement of 200% of salary {or the acual level of holding on departure, if lower).
Shares puichosed by the Execulives thicugh their cwn funds for which hove been ocguired thiough the vesting
of earler LTIP grants] will not be subjec to the posicessation shareholding requirement.
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Where a buyout award is made under sechion 9.4.2 {21 of the
Listing Rules then the leaver provisions would be determined at
the time of the award.

The Committee reserves the right to make additional exit
payments where such payments are made in good faith in
discharge of an existing contractual, statutory or legal obligation
{or by way of damages for breach of such an obligation)

or by way of sefilement or compromise of any claim arising

in connection with the fermination of a Director's office or
employment.

Where the Commities rotains disuietion, it will be used to
provide flexibility in certain siluations, taking into account

the particular circumstances of the Director's departure and
performance. Where applicable, the Commites may impose
additional conditions on the vesting or exercise of incentive
awards as appropriate laking inlo account the circumstances
of the Executive’s departure.

There is no entillement to any compensation in the event of @
NonLxecutive Director’s appointment being ferminated.

TREATMENT ON A CHANGE OF CONTROL

CR OTHER CORPORATE EVENTS

The extent to which unvested deferred bonus and LTIP awords
will vest on a change of contic! or other corporate events will be
determuned in accordonce with the rules of the deferred bonus
and LTIP scheme.

Deferred bonus and LTIP awards will normally vest early on

a Pc:lkeover, merger, W\'nding*up or other relevant corporate

event. The Committee will determine the level of vesting of LTIP
awards faking infe account the exient 16 which the performance
conditions are satisfied over the cunailed performonce period {on
such basis os the Committee determines appropriate} and, unless
the Committee delermines otherwise, fime prorating by reference
1o the period of fime elopsed from the stant of the performance
period 1o the date of the relevant corporate event relative to the
tull performance period

Alternatively, the Committee may provide that delerred bonus
and (TP awards shall be automatically exchanged for new
awards over shares in another company {for example, an award
aver shares in the new holding company following an internal
reorganisation).

The Committee may adjust the number of shares under any
defened bonus and LTIP award, or the performance conditions
applicable to such owords, in the event of & variction in the
share capilal of the Cempany or on the accurrence of any other
events fsuch as a demerger or rights issues) that impact the
Company's share price

A full or pro ata time-based boaus may be awarded an o
change of central, and this may be paid either at the time of
the chonge of contiol or an the normal payment date, either
in cash or in part cash part deferred shores ot the Commiltee’s
discrefion

EXISTING CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Commities retains discrefion fo make any remuneration

payment or payment for loss of office culside the policy in this

report:

*  where the terms of the payment were agreed before the
policy came into effect;

* where the terms of the payment were agreed at ¢ fime when
the refevant individual was not a Divector of the Company
and, in the opinion of ihe Commitiee, the payment wos not
in considerafion of the indvidual becoming o Director of the
Company; and

* 1o salisly contraciual commitments under legacy remuneration
arrangements

For these purposes, "payments” includes the satistaction of
awards of variable remunecation and, in relation t© on award
over shares, the terms of the payment are agreed at the time the
award is granted.

POLICY FOR THE REMUNERATION OF

COLLEAGUES MORE GENERALLY

Remuneration arangements are defermined throughou! the
Group based on the same principle that reward should be
achieved for delivery of the business strategy and should be
sufficient 1o altroct, retain and mofivate highcalibre colleagues

When dete;mining the remuneration arrangements for Execulive
Directors, the Commitiee tokes info consideration, as o matter
of course, the pay and conditions of colleagues throughout the
Group. in particular, the Commitiee is kept informed on:

®  salary increase tor the general colleague population,
Y g gue pop

benefit and pension policies,
» overall spend on annuol bonus, and
* participation levels in the annual bonus and share plans

The Group has various ways of engaging colleagues collectively,
as teams and onetoone, which provide a forum for colleagues
lo express their views on the Company's execulive and wider
employee reward policies.

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS

The Commitiee recognises that Executive Directors may be
invited 1o become non-executive directors in other companies
and thet these appointments can enhance their knowledge and
experience fo the benafii of the Compony. Subledt 1o the pre-
ogreed conditions, and with the prior approval of the Board,
each Executive Director is permitled 1o accept one appomtment
as a norrexecutive ditector in anothes listed company The
Fxecutive Director 12 permilled fo retain any fees pod fexr such
service

STATEMENT OF CONSIDERATION OF SHAREHOLDER VIEWS
The Committes 1= commuitied lo an ongeing dialogue

with Shareholders ond welcames feedback on Direclors’
remuneration. Prior 1o the current Pelicy being formally put 1o
Shareholders af the AGM in January 2023, the Committee
engoged with major Shoreholders and institutionol bodies seting
out the proposuls ond rationale for the chonges.
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ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
SINGLE FIGURE TABLE {AUDITED INFORMATION}
The tables below detail the 1otal remuneration receivable by each Director for the 52-week period ended 1 October 2022

Total Total
Total fixed variable
Salary Taxable Annual remyn- remun- remun-
and fees Benefits bonus ine Pension Other eration eration eration
2021/22 £7000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £.000 £000 £7000 2000
Executive Directors
R Parker, CEC 412 42 198 64 18 2 736 74 262
S Hopson, CFO 220 16 106 0 10 0 352 24¢6 106
Non-Exceutive Directors
D Shapland 133 1.5 - - - - 134.5 134.5 -
K Down 50 - - - - - 50 30 -
D Bieeze 47 - - - - - 47 47 -
K Daniels 44 0.5 — - - - 44.5 44.5 -
Total Tetal
Total fixed variable
Salary Taxable Annuol rermun- remun- remun-
and fees Benefit: b Lre Pension Other eration erafion eration
2020/21 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £,000 £000 £000 £'000
Executive Directors
R Parker, CEQ 408 31 220 - 23 i 683 463 220
S Hopson, CFO 187 15 107 — @ 4 322 215 107
Non-Executive Directors
D Shapland 132 1.5 - - - - 133.5 144.5 -
K Down 49 - - - - - 49 49 -
D Breeze from
I Febuary 2021 30 - - - - - 30 30 -
K Daniels from
 Apnl 2021 22 - - - - - 22 22 -
A King to
20 Janvary 2021 15 - - - ~ ~ 15 15 -
C Tiney to
16 June 2021 34 - - - - - 34 34 -
The figuies in the single figure tables chove are deiived from the following:
Sclary and fees The amouni of salary/fees received in the relevant period.
Benefits The taxable value of benefits received in the relevant period. These are principally life insurance, income

protection, private medical insuwrance, company cor o car allowance and fuel allowance. In the case of the
MNon-Executive Directors, tuxable expenses are shown as being paid by way of benefits.

Pension The pension figure represents the cash value of Company pension contributions pad to Stephen Hopson os
pait of the Company’s defined contribution scheme and the cosh supplement taken in lieu of coniributions fo

the pension plan in respect of Rob Parker

£nnvol bonus The annuol bonus 1s the cash value of the bonus earmed in respect of the paricd A descnption of perormance
against the objechves ot applied foi the relevant period is provided or page 108.
LTE The LTIP figure for the penod FY22 epresenis the award granted in December 2019 The performance condinen

for the award was based on cumelative adjusted EPS perfaimance oves thiee finoncicl yeais to 1 October
2022 A descapton of performance and outcome for the relevant period is provided on page 108

Other This includes the value of SAYE scheme aptions gronted during the relevant period
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE PAY RATIO

The tables below compare the single total figure of remuneration for the Chief Executive with that of the Company’s colleagues who
are paid af the 25th percentile {lower quaniile), 50th percentile {medion) ond 75th percentile fupper quartile} of its UK colleague
population, giving the ratios and underlying remuneration levels of those percentiles that were used to calculate the ratios.

Year Method 25th percentile pay ratio Median pay ratie  75th percentile pay ratic
FY22 Option A 36:1 31:1 23:1
FY21 Option A 36:1 32:1 23
Y20 Option A 23.1 211 1601

25th percentile Median 75th percentile
Salary £18,248 £19.174 £24,863
Total remuneration £20,525 £23,694 £31,582

The remuneration figures used for the colleague af each quartile were determined using reference data on the 1 October 20272 for
FY22. The Company chose Option A os this provides the most aecurate method for calculating the CEO pay ratio. The ratios have
remained largely unchanged this year, despite the vesting of the 2019 TIP for the CEQ, which reflects cur restrained approach

to Executive remuneration and is consistent with our poy, reward and progression policies for employees which relate pay levels

to performance and market benchmarks, While none of the three employees identified af the 25th, 50th and 7 5th percentiles are
eligible to receive LTIP awards, all three received a bonus within the year and are invited to pariicipale in the allemployee share
plans on the same terms as the CEQ.

INDIVIDUAL ELEMENTS OF REMUNERATION [AUDITED INFORMATION)

BASE SALARY AND FEES

Base salaries for individual Directors cre reviewed annually by the Committee and the Committee considered the base salory levels
by reference to external benchmarks, faciliated by ifs remuneration consultant. in line with the Remuneration Policy, salaries are
generally increased in line with any increose awarded to the wider workforce. This year the business tock the approach to ensure a
grealer percentage increase for the lower paid colleagues and a lower percentage increase for the CEO. Accordingly, the CEC's
salary moved 1o £420,240. For the CHD, the benchmarking exercise carried out in TY21 determined that his salary was below the
benchmark for similarsized comparies, and it wos agreed to approve o phosed increase across FY22 and FY23. The Commitiee
approved the second stage of this increase to Stephen’s base salary to £240,000 from 1 October 2022, This increase will align his
salary 1o the external benchmark and reward conlinued strong performance, strategic contribution, and delivery in role

Base salary yeor ended Base solary year ended
| Ocrober 2021 1 October 2022 % ciegse
R Parker — CEO £412,000 £420,240 2
5§ Hopson — CFO £220,000 £240,000 G

In line with the CEQ, the Non-Executive Directors also received a fee increase of 2% effective from 1 Ociober 2021, however, this wos
applied to the bose fees and the Board Chair fee only:

Details of the current fee policy for the NonExecuiive Directors are set out in the table below.
fees vear ended  Fees year ended

T October T October

2021 2022 % increase
Chairman’s fee £133,132 £135,795 2
Non-Executive Directors” basic fee £41,200 £42,024 2
Additional fees
Senior Independent Director £3.000 £3,000 -
Fmployee Engagement Directcr £3.000 £3,000 -
Committee Chair 6,000 58,0600 —

MNate the Chooman woved he Commiter Crans tes o e e rnaber ara Goweriarce Com s

TOTAL PENSION ENTITLEMENTS
Curing the year, the Compony pension benefit repiesented 5% of salo ¢ fur the Buscutive Duecions ftaken as cash in heu of

contributions I the pension plan in the case of the CEQ)
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ANNUAL BONUS (AUDITED INFORMATION)

For the Periad, the maximum annual bonus opportunity was 100% of salary. To encourage behaviours which facilitate profitable
growth ond future development of the business, up 1© 80% of salary could be eamed based on adjusted PBT performance and up
10 20% of salary could be eamed for the achievement of strategic business obiectives to drive the delivery of the strafegic plan,

The following toble sets out the perormance outcome relative to targets and the resulting bonus poyout to the Executive Directors
for FY22:

Stretch

Thrashold {at Target (at  {at which
which 12.5% which 50% 100% of Executiva Director
of maximum of maximum maximum " bonus earned
bonus is bonus is bonus is Actual s a percentage
Targets Weighting earned) earned) earned) Performance of salary
Adjusted profit before tox BO% £12m £16m £19m £15.6m 37.3%
Stralegic objectives: 20% 10.8%
Group market share (%) 5% 17.5% 18.0% 18.5% 19% 5%
Commercial sales {$m} 5% Q5 10.9 12.2 10.9 3%
Retail coverings meterage {m?) 5% 490 500 510 4.7 -
Relail digital visitor share (%) 5% 30% 32% 34% 31.81% 2.8%

Total bonus earned 100% 48.1%

Adijusted PBT as delined in the Financial Review section of this repori.
The bonuses were paid in cash in November 2022

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES {AUDITED INFORMATION)
AWARDS VESTING IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
The tTIP awards granted in December 2019 were based on cumulative adjusted EPS 1argets over the three financial years to

30 September 2022, The petformance torgets for the awards were as follows:

Cumvulative adjusted EPS for the period 2019/20 1o 2021/22 Percentage of the award that will vest
19.@ pence 25%
Greater than 19.9 pence but less than 22 3 pence Determined on g straightiine basis between 25% ond 100%

22.3 pence 100%

By addressing the impact of Covid on Group trading the cumulative adjusted EPS is 20.2; whilst this is above the minimum vesting
of 25% in line with the Policy in force at the time of the grant of the 2019 aword the Commitiee exercised ils discretion in reunding
down to the 25% vesting threshold for the oward to the CEO.

AWARDS GRANTED DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR (AUDITED INFORMATION]|
For the 52-week period ended 1 Criober 2022, the following awards were granted to Executive Direciors in May 2022.

% of award

Percentage of Number of Face value vesting at Performance

Type of award salary shares at grant: threshold period

R Parker Nil-cost optien 100% 675041 £412,000 10% 3 years
S Hopson Nil-cost option 100% 360,459 £220,000 10% 3 years

' Valued vsing a share price of O &1 pence based on tre average thizeday share price endirg on & Ocroler 2027



CUR GOVERNANCE ] 09

The vesting of these awards will be based on adjusted EPS for the financial year FY24 {adjusted EPS 2024):

Adjusted EPS 2024 Percentage of the award that will vest
4.38 pence 10%

Greater than 4.38 pence but less than /.85 pence Determined between 10% and 100%
7 .B5 pence 100%

These torgets were based on adjusied profit before tax of between £12 .0 million and £21 5 million for the financial year 2023/24,
excluding exceplional items and subject lo such odjusiments as the Board, in its discretion, determines are fair and reasonable.

Nohwithstanding the EPS 2024 target above, the extent to which the awards will vest will be subject tn the Commities’s assessment
of the quality of earnings over the performance period The Commitew may reduce the extent to which the award would otherwise
vasl if the Committes determines that the EPS for 2024 achieved is nol consistent with the Company’s overall underlying financial
performance, taking into accaunt such factors as the Committee considers appropriate, including market share, morgin perfermance,
net debt, overall returns to Shareholders and Shareholder value creation.

AlL EMPLOYEES SHARE PLANS
The Executive Direciors may participate in the Compony's all employes share plans, the Topps Tiles Plc SAYE Scheme ["SAYE
Scheme”} and the Topps Tiles Ple Share Incentive Plan [“SIP”), n the same basis os ather colleagues

The SAYE Scheme provides an opportunily to save a set monthly amount {currently up to £500) over three years towords the exercise
of a discounied share opiion, which is granted at the start of the three vears.

The SIP provides an opportunity for employees 1o buy shares from their predax remuneration up to the limil permitied by the relevant
tax legislation (currently £1,800 per year). No maiching shares are aworded.

Oplions and awards under these plans are not subject to performance conditions.

The foilowing SAYE opfions were granted to the Executive Directors during the finencial year ended 1 October 2022:

Type of award Number of shares Face value at grant”
R Parker 3yr Discounted shese option 20,156 £12 577
S Hopson 3yr Discounted share option 0

I In occordance with the scheme rules, the options are granted with an exercise price set al a discoun' of 20% 1o tne market value of o share when Ine vitations lo
acguire the opfion ore issued For the awords granted in 2021 /20272, the share price af the dae of invitation was 65 B1 pence and the exercise price 15 56 25 pence
per share I accordance with the scheme rules, the exercise of ing oplions 15 rat subject o any performance condition

7 The face value of the awaid 1s colculoted by muliplying the number of shares under aptron by the matket value o @ share on the date of grant (being 62.40 pence for
these cptions granted on st February 2022),
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDING AND SHARE INTERESTS {AUDJTED JNFORMATION|

In order to urther align the Execulive Directors’ long-erm interests with those of Shareholders and in accordunce with the Remuneration
Policy, the Commitiee intoduced shareholding guidelines, effective from the 2017 AGM and revised effective from the 2020 AGM,
which required that Executive Directors build up a shareholding of 200% of salary. The table below sets out the number of shores held
or potentially held {including by connected persans where relevant] as of 1 October 2022:

The interests of each Executive Director of the Company as of 1 October 2022 were as follows:

Shares Cptions
Unvested Unvested
options, options,
Shares  Total shares Options subject o not subject
owned owned exercised perfor- to perfor- Total options
as at as at during the Vested mance mance as at
Diractors 2 Qct 2021 1 Oct 2022 Type year options conditions conditions 1 Oct 2022
Executive Directors
R Parker 552,893 736,264
n/a n/a the 183,371 584 834 1,502,342 n/a 2087176
n/a n/a SAYE n/a n/a n/a 34,257 34,257
5 Hopson - -
n/a n/o LT - - 774,109 n/a 774,109
n/a n/a SAYE n/a n/a n/a 38,880 38,880
Nan-Executive Directors
D Shapland 200,000 200,000 n/c n/a n/a n/a n/a
K Down n/c n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
D Breeze n/o n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/o
K Daniels n/a n/a n/a nfa n/a n/a n/a

Note: Direciors” snarenaldings ncl.de skares held by therr closely associarea persons where relevant

No changes in the Directors’ sharehcldings have occurred between 1 October 2022 and the date of this repart.

PAYMENTS MADE TO FORMER DIRECTORS DURING THE PERIOD (AUDITED INFORMATION)

No paymens were made to former Direciors during the Period

PAYMENTS FOR LOS5 OF OFFICE MADE DURING THE PERIOD {AUDITED INFORMATION)

Ne payments for loss of office were made in the Period 1o any Director of the Company

PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The graph below shows the TSR performance for the Company's shores in comparison to the FTSE Small Cap Index for the ten years

to 1 October 2022 For the purposes of the graph, TSR has been calculated as the percentage change during the tenvyear period in
the market price of the shares, assuming that dividends are reinvested. The graph shows the value, by the end of the FY22 financial
year, of £100 invesled in the Group over the lasi ten financial years compered with £100 invested in the FTSE Smoll Cap index,
which the Direclors believe is the most appropriate comparative index, given the nature of the index and the companies within it

400

~tn
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)

Topps Tiles  a—see FIS) Small Cap
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HISTORICAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION OUTCOMES

The table below shows details of the total remuneration and annual bonus end ITIP vesting {as o percentage of the maximum
opportunity for the Chief Execulive over the last fen financial years,

Annual bonus as TP as a %

Total remuneration a % of maximum of maximum

£'000 opportunity opportunity

52-week period ended 1 October 2022 736 48% 25%
53-week peried ended 2 October 2021 673 55% Q%
52-week period ended 26 September 2020 403 Q% 0%
52-week period ended 28 September 2019 541 16% 0%
5 2weck periud ended 29 September 2018 538 14% 0%
52-week period ended 30 September 2017 765 o% 86.7%
52-week period ended 2 Cclober 2016 1,180 &7% 100%
53-week period ended 3 October 2015 2027 83% 100%
52-week period ended 27 September 2014 849 Q9% n/a
52-week period ended 28 September 2013 564 46.3% n/a

DIRECTORS’ PAY ANNUAL CHANGE IN RELATION TO ALL COLLEAGUES
The table below sets out in relation to salary, jaxable benefits and annual bonus the percentage change in remuneration for all

Directors compared fo the wider workforce. For these purposes, the wider workforce includes all colleagues in the Group.

ANNUAL PAY CHANGE IN RELATION TO AlLL EMPLOYEES

FY22 vs FY21 FY21 vs FY20 FY20 vs FY | Q@

Taxable Annual Toxable Annual Taxable Arrval
Percentage change Salary benefits bonus Salary benefis bonus Solary benefits bornus
Executive Directors
R Parker 1%  35.5% -10% 14 3% 3 4% n/a 316%  -11.2% -100%
S Hopson 17.6% 6.7% -1% n/a n/a n/a n/c n/a n/a
Non-Executive Directors
0 Shapland 0.7% -33% nfa 7 .5% 25% n/o S56%  657% n/a
K Down 2% - n/a 14 3% - n/a -4.6% -100% n/a
[ Breeze 56.7% - n/c n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
K Daniels 100% - n/a n/a n/o n/a n/a n/a n/a
Wider workforce 7.2% 15.6% -3.5% 19.4% 4.7% 82 1% -4 9% 12.8% -24.4%

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION FROM EXTERNAL NON-EXECUTIVE ROLES

Duiing the Period, neither Rob Parker nor Stephen Hopson received remuneration from NonExeculive roles

SPEND ON PAY
The following table sets out the percentage change in dividends end the overall expenditure on pay {os a whole across the

organisotion):

52-week period ended 53-week perod crdad
1 Gctober 2022 2 October 2021 Perconlage change
Dividends and share buybacks 3.6 pence per share 3.1 pence per share 16.13%
Overall expenditure on pay £57,097,000 £57,9255,00G -1 .48%

Note the mnciease spend on poy eflects a resumphion of bonus payments and Nalional Living Wage increases
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

CONSIDERATION BY THE DIRECTORS OF MATTERS RELATING TO DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Committee is composed of the Company’s independent Non-Executive Direclors, Diana Breeze [Chair], Keith Down and Keri
Daniels. The Company Secretary affends the meetings as secretary to the Committee.

The tole of the Commitiee is to:

¢ Setand keep unders review the Remuneration Palicy for the Executive Direciors and Chairman;

* Determine the remuneration of the Executive Directors and Chairman, including shorterm and longerm incentives, in line with
the Remuneration Policy;

¢ Recommend and monifer the level and siructure of remuneration for senior management;

* Approve the design of and delermine 1argets for perfarmancerelaled poy schemes and approve he payments made under them;

*  Review the design of all shate incentive plans and for those in place and determine what awards will be made, and

¢ Oversee any major changes in colleague benefils structures throughout the Company or Group.

ADVISERS
The Committee is assisted in its work by the CEC and CFC and the HRD. [The CEQ is consulted on the remuneralion of those who

report directly to him and of other senior management. Mo Executive Director or colleague is present or fakes part in discussions in
respect of matlers relating directly o their own remuneration).

The executive compensation business of Alvarez & Marsal ("A&M”} has acted as an independent adviser since August 2020.

Other services provided to the
Fees paid by the Company for advice to Company in the 52-week period
Adviser Details of appointment the Commitee and basis of charge ended | October 2022
Alvarez & Marsal Appointed by the Commitiee £48,648 {excluding VAT) MNone
in August 2020

Charged on a time/ cost basis or fixed fee
dependent on the noture of the projeci.

A&M is a signatory lo the Remuneration Consuliant's Cade of Conduct, which requires their advice to be imparticl, and A&M
confirmed their complionce with the Code to the Committee. AGM has not corried out any other work for the Company during the
vear, Bosed on the above, the Commitiee 15 satisfied that the advice is independent and objective.

STATEMENT OF VOTING AT LAST AGM
The following able sefs out acival voling in 1espect of the resclution 1o opprove the Directors” Remuneration Report o the Company's

Annual General Meating on 19 January 2022

Votes
Resolution Votes for % of vote Votes against % of vote Discretion % of vote withheld
Approve Remuneation
Report 149,124,453 02 32% 1015636 0.68% 0.0 0.0 43,138
The following table sets out the actual voting in respect of the resolution to apprave the Directors’ Remuneration Policy at the
Company's Annual General Meeting on 22 January 2020:

Votes
Resolution Votes for % of vote Votes against % of vote Discretion % of vate withheld

Approve Directors’
Remuneration Policy 131,671,974 P8.64% 1,716,112 1.29% 87,329 0.07% 43,952




113

OUR GOVERNANCE

{MPLEMENTATION OF THE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY IN FY2022/23

SALARY
For FY23, the CEQ received a 2% increase effective from 1 October 2022 which was below that of the wider workforce. For the

CFO, the Commitiee opproved the second phose of the increase in Stephen’s bose solary to £240,000 from 1 October 2022 1o
bring his salary in line with the benchmark and to reflect the continued strong performance and delivery in rofe.

PENSION

The Company pension benefit will be 5% of salary for the Executive Directors (loken as cash in lieu of confributions to the pension
pian in the case of the CEO), which is aligned with the rale available 1o the wider warkforce.

ANNUAL BONUS
The maximum annual bonus opportenity for FY23 will be 125% of buse salory for the Executive Direciors. Up to 70% of tolol bonus

will he payable by elerence to adjusted PBT. 15% will be measured against stategic objectives and the remaining 15% will be
measured against ESG largets.

The Commitlee considers that the forwarddooking targets are commercially sensitive and has, therefore, chosen not to disclose them
in advance. Details of the targets will be set out retrospectively in next year's Remuneration Report,

Lmp
For FY23, the Committee inlends to make LTIP awards of up 1o 100% of salary 1o the CEG and CFO with o threeyear performance

period ending FY25. The vesting of the awards will be subject 1o adjusted EPS performance for the financial year FY25 with the
awards vesting for threshold performance set at 10% of salary ond an Adjusted EPS of 3.46 pence and the awards vesting for
maximum petformonce af 100% of solory and an EPS of 6.92%,

The Commitiee will maniior the performance over the three-year vesting period and review the vesling outcome to ensure it is @ irue
reflection: of the Company’s performance during the period and that there s ro windfall gain os a result of share price movement,

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES
The NonExecutive Directors' fees are reviewed annually and in line with the Ditector’s Remuneiaiion Policy, they are generally
increased i line with any increase awarded 1o the wider workforce. Accordingly, on increase of 2% was applicable frem 1 October

2022; howeves, this was applied lo the base fees only.

APPROVAL
This report was approved by the Board on 30 November 2022 and signed on its behaif by:

Diana Breeze
Chair of the Remuneration Committee .

30 November 20272
W\ &

/
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF TOPPS TILES PLC

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OPINION

In our opinion:

* Topps Tiles Plc’s Group tinancial staiements and Company financial stalements fthe “financial sioiements”) give a true and fair view
of the state of the Group's and of the Compony's offaiss as ot | October 2022 ond of the Group's profit ord the Group's cash
flows for the 52 week period then ended;

* the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in cccordance with UK-adopted intermational accounting standards:

* the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in acenrdence with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Proctice {Unitedd Kingdom Accounnng Stondords, comprising FRS 107 "Reduced Disclosure Framewerk”, ond
applicable low); and

¢ the financiol stalements have been piepared in accordonce with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annucl Report and Accounts {the “Annual Report”), which comprise:
the Consolidated Siatement of Financial Position as at 1 October 2022 the Consclidated Statement of Profit and Loss, Consolidated
statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolidated Cosh Fiow Statement, the
Company Baiance Sheet and the Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the pericd then ended; and the notes 1o the financial
statements, which include o description of the significant accounting policies.

Qur opinion is consistent with our reporiing to the Audit Commitiee.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accerdance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} {"1SAs (LIK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under 15As (UK} are further described in the Auditers’ responsibilities for the audit of the financia! stotements section of
our report, We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and cppropriate to provide o basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 1o our oudil of the financial
stalements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, os applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
To the best of our knowledge and balief, we declare thet nonaudit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not
provided.

Ve have provided no nonaudit services to the Company or ifs controlled underiakings in the period under audit.

QOUR AUDIT APPROACH

QVERVIEW

AUDIT SCOPE
*  We conducted a full scope audit aver Topps Tiles (UK] Limited {the main trading entity within the Group) and Topps Tiles Plc

Testing was afso performed, 1o Group moteridlity, over the balances which arise on conselidation {Goodwill and acquired
intangibles) or are centrally manoged {IFRS right of use assets and leases);

* Where other entities within the Group coninbuted more than 5% of the total financial statement line itlem, and ihe balonce was
above overall Group materiality, these balances were also included within the scope of our audit;

* All audit tesling has been perfermed by ¢ single UK Group Engagement Team; and

*  Cur scoping esulled in coverage of @5% (2021 96%] of revenue, and 95% (2021 96%] of 1ot assats

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

*  Irveriory conying vale {Group)

*  lease accounting {Group)

*  Recoverabily of amounis owed by end irvestments in subsidiarny underohing: Company)

MATERIALITY

o Overall Group materiahty £550,000 (2021 £685 000] based on 5% of profit before taxalicn

s Overall Compony moteriality £700,000 (2021 £620.000) based on 1% of Total assets

s  Pedormance matenaliy: £412 500 (2021 £510,000] (Goup] and £525 000 (2021, £465 0001 (Company]

THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT

As pan of designing our cudii, vee defermined materiahty ond assessed the nsks of material misstatement in the hnoncial statements
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in the audiiors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financiol
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of moterial misstatement fwhether or not due 1o faud)
identified by the audilors, including those which had the grectest effect on: the cverall avdit sirategy; the allocation of rescurces in the
audit; and directing the effor's of the engagement team. These mavers, and any comments we make on the results of cur procedures
thereon, were addressed in the context of cut oudit of the financial siatements s a whole, and in forming our opinion therean, ond

we da not provide a separate opinion on these matiers.
This is not o complete list of all risks identified by our cudit.
The key audit matters below are consistent with last year

Key wudit matier

How our audit oddressed the key gudit matter

INVENTORY CARRYING VALUE {GROUP)

Refer to matiers considered by the Audit Commitiee within the
Corporate Governance Report and the Critical Accounting
Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty within the
Group Accounting Policies. The valuation of inventory involves
estimates in recording provisions for obsolete inveniory The
significant judgements and assumptions applied when calculating
ihe provisions are:

* slow moving stock, Le., stock which has nat been sald within
the lost 13 months, and

* specific provisions recognised for stock classified as "o be
discontinued” i e., stock which is expecled ic be discontinued
in future periods and therefore require an estimate of
expecled inventory write downs and realisable amounts.

More specificdlly, the key audit matter relates lo whether the
provisions held against the above identified inventories are
complete and therefore that inventory is valued appropriately
at the lower of cost and expecied sale proceeds.

We examined inventory writeoffs in the finoncicl period to
ensure they are consistent with the key assumptions used in the
inventory provision model at the period end;

We reviewed the post accuracy of managements estimales and
identified no material concems regarding the accuracy of the
prior period estimates;

We tested the integrity of the provision madel to ensure that i
was using the underlying data correctly and calculating provision
amounts accurately;

We challenged managements on the cpproprateness of the provision
levels and the use of hisione rerds given the cumrent economic
environment. As a result of our challenge further disclosures were
made in relation 1o this area of mancgements estirmate;

We performed testing over post peried end inventory sales 1o
validale the sales were made ot above cost [or where at a loss
this was reflected correctly in the provision held); and

We reviewed the disclosures of this estimate made by management
and chailenged the level of disdosures arcund the key estimates

Overall, we concluded thai the key estimates and judgements
used by managemeni to assess inventory carrying value were
supporicb!e ond no materiol exceptions arose from our work.

LEASE ACCOUNTING {GROUP|

Refer to matters considered by the Audit Commitiee within the
Corporate Governance Report and the Critical Accounting
Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncerlainty within the
Group Accounting Policies on pages.

The Group adopted IFRS 16 from 29 September 201€ utilising
the modified refrospective approach. The process of integrating
IFRS 16 numbers, manoged thiough o separaie 1T sysiem, 1o the
tnal balance relies upon a significant amount of manual review
and reconciliation As a resull in the pror penad audi, we
ideniified o few errars which were corecled by management
Due to the magnilude of the balance and the manval nature ¢f
the 1eview we have indluded this as o Key Audit Matter This
spec fically relates fo the Accuracy of the reperted lease liakilines
and aszels and the completeness of the leases subject to IFRS 14

We have tested the completeness of management’s model by
comparing the leases to the listing mainicined by the property team
and also by performing testing over the rent expense books and
records 1o ensure madifications have been adequately captured;

We hove reviewed the accuracy of the underlying date by
tracing @ sample of leases back to underlying lease agreements
and recalevlated the occounting erries for @ sample of leases
and confirmed management’s 1T systerm 15 pedarming this
calculation accurately:

We have considered other assumphons vsed by management 1o
! ¥ g

be cppropriate, includimg ensuring the leases meel the defininon

of a lease under IFRS 16 ard that the lease term 1s accurale;

We eviewed the disclosures in the linoncial statements, and

We are solishied that they are consistent with the evidence
oblaned and compliani with IFRS 16

Overall, we concluded that the key estmates and judgements
used hy management {being discoun! rate. determination of lease
term and the determination of @ lease beirg in or out of scope
for fFRS V&) for lease liabilities and right of use assels were
wppartable and no material excephons weare noted in our audy.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF TOPPS TILES PLC

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RECOVERABIUTY OF AMOUNTS OWED BY AND INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS (COMPANY}

Reler 1o pages 166 and 167 — Note 4 Investments and We evaluated maragement’s determinction of whether any
Note 5 Debiars to the company financial stafements. indicators of impairment existed by comparing the carrying
Invesiments and amounts due from subsidiary companies value of invesiments in subsidiary undertakings o the market
are tested for impairment if impairment indicators exist. The capitalisation of the Group af the period end dale and post
main assets of the Company relote to the investments and peried end and by comparing the performance of the Group in
receivables due from subsidiary companies. the period fo previous budgefs and agreed that no impairment

trigger was noted. We agreed the nel assets of the underlying
indirect investments, net of all intlercompany balances, 1o their
regpeetive siatutory finanoal siolements. As the net asset value
described above was sufficient to support the carrying valve of
the invesiment, no impairment chorge was required,

HOW WE TAILORED THE AUDIT SCOPE
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
slatements as o whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes ond controls, and

the industry in which they operate.

The Group consists of fifteen legol entities within, comprising the Group's operating business and cenlalised business functions. This is
structured as one segment being the distribution and sale of Tiles, predominontly in the UK.

In estabiishing the overall approach to the Group audit, we identified one legal entity, Topps Tiles (UK] Limited, which, being the main
trading legal entity in the Group, required an audit of its complete financial information due Ic its financial significance 1o the Group.

In addition, Topps Tiles Ple was included as a full scope compenent as it had the majerity of the Groupwide balances. Testing was
performed over he ilems which arise on consolidation [Goodwill and intangibles) or were managed cenfrally IFRS 16) to Group

mclenohty.

Further specific audit procedures were performed where o single balance {or disclosure) within one of the fourleen out of scope
entities represented 5% of the consolidated Group amount and the balance was above Group materiolity.

We alsc considered the reporting of the impact of climale change on the Group, where appropriate {for example on the
defermination of useful economic lives of assels or consideration of climate change within future cash flow forecasts for asset
impairments).

Al audit procedures were performed by the Group Engagement Team  The scoping above gave us the evidence we neaded for our
opinion on the Group financial statements as o whole.

The above work resulied in coverage of 95% of reponed revenues {202 71:96%) and 95% of total assets [2021:96%} being oblained
during our audit,
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MATERIALITY

The scope of our audit was inlluenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These,
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of cur
audit procedures on the individual finoncial statement line items and disclosures and in evalualing the effect of misstatements, both
individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as o whole as follows:

Financiol statements - Group Financial statements - Company

Overall £550,000 [2021: £685,0001, £700,000 {2021 £620,000).

materiality

How we 5% of profit before taxation 1% of Total assets

determined it

Rationale for Based on the benchmarks used in As the Company does not frade, with its main operaticns

benchmark the Annual Report, profit before being that of a holding company, we believe that iotal assets

applied tax is the primary measure used by are the primary measure used by the shareholders in assessing
the shareholders in assessing the the performance of the entity and is o generally accepled
performance of the Group,and is a auditing benchmark. Moteriality was capped at the component

genesally accepled auditing benchmark.  materiality level of £350,000.

For each compenent in the scope of our Group audit, we ailocated a materiality that is less than our overall Group materiality. The
range of materiality allocated across components was between £450,000 and £350,000.

We use performonce matenolity o reduce 10 an oppfoprioie'ly low level the probob‘:hty that the aggregale of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds overall matericlity. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of our
audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for exomple in determining
sample sizes Our performance materiality was 75% {2021 75%) of overall materiality, amounting to £412,500 (2021: £510,000}
for the Group financial statements and £525,000 (2021: £465,000) for the Company financial statements.

_In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors — the history of misstalements, nisk assessment and
aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls — and concluded that an amount ot the upper end of cur narmal range was
applopriate
We agreed with the Audit Commitiee that we would report 1o them misstatements identified during our audit above £25,000 (Group
audit] {2021+ £34,400] and £25,000 [{Company audit] (2021 £34,400) as well as misstatements below these ameunis that, in

our view, warranted reporting for qudlitative reasons,



] 20 TOPPS TILES PLC ANNUAL REPORT AMD ACCOUNTS FOR THE 52.WEEK PERIOD ENDED 1 QCTOBER 2022
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TO THE MEMBERS OF TOPPS TILES PLC

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

Cur evaluation of the directors” assessment of the Group's and the Company’s ability 1o confinue to adopt the going concem basis

of accounting included:

*+ We have evaluated management’s base case and their “severe but plausible” downside scenario going concern model,
challenged key assumptions included within the forecasted cash Hows and assessed the appropricteness of the severity applied;

* We have agreed underlying assumptions fo supporting data or market evidence and checked the inlegrity of managemenis model
by agreeing key underlying doto to source documents and validating the Group and Company's continuing liquidity;

* We have performed a full review and recalculaton of oll debt covenants to ensure that these will not be breached during the
torecast period;

* We have challenged management, in relation 1o the achievability of the forecast cash flows in the cortext of the current economic
uncertainty,

e We have understood the other potential cost soving/cosh-preserving options which are available o monagement to uiilise, should
they be required; and

* We have reviewed the disclosure included within the financial statements in the context of the required disclosures regarding
management’s assessment and the basis of their conclusions.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified ony malerial uncenainties relating 1o events or conditions thar,

individually or collectively, may cost significant doubt on the Group's and the Company’s ability to continue os @ going concern for

o period of af least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors” use of the going concern basis of accounting in the

preparaiion of the financial stalements is appropriate.

However, because not oll future events or conditions can be predicied, this cenclusion is not a guarantee os 1o the Group's and the

Company’s ability 1o continue as a going concern.

In relation 10 the directors’ reporting on how they have applied the UX Corporate Covemance Code, we have nothing materiol to

add or draw attention 1o in relation 1o the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the directors considered i

appropricte 1o odopf the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibiliies and the responsibiliies of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of

Ihis report.
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REPORTING ON OTHER INFORMATION

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our ouditars’
report thereon. The direciors are responsible for the oiher infermation, which includes reporting based on the Task Force on Climate-
reloted Financial Disclosures [TCFD) recommendations. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, accordingly, we do not exprass an oudit opinion or, except to the exent otherwise explicilly stated in this report, any form of
assurance therecn,

In connection with cur audit of the financial statements, aur esponsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the cudit, or
ctherwise appears o be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency o material misstatement, we are
required fo perform procedures to conclude whether there is o material misstatement ol the financial statements ar @ material
misstatement of the ofher infermation. ¥, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a moterial misstatement of
this other information, we are reguired to report that fact. We have nothing 1o report bosed on these responsibilities.

With respect to the  Strategic Reporl ond Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures requited by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also 1o report certain opinions and
maiters os described below.

STRATEGIC REPORT AND DIRECTORS’ REPORT
In cur opinion, based on the work underiaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Direciors’
Report for the pericd ended 1 October 2022 is consistent with the financial stalemenis and has been prepared in accordance with

applicable legal requirements.

in light of the knowledge and undersianding of the Group and Company and their environment obiained in the course of the oudit
we did not identify any material misstatements in the Stotegic Report and Directars” Repor,

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

I cur opinian, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited hes been pioperly prepared in occordance with the
Companies Acl 2006,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The listing Rules require us to review the directors’ siatemenis in relation o going concern, longerterm viability and that part of the
corporate governance stalement relating to the Company's compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review. Our addifional responsibilities with respect to the corporale governonce stalement as other information are
described in the Reporting on cther information section of this repart.

Based on the work undertaken as part of cur cudit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the corporate
governance stalemenl is matericlly consistent with the financial stafements and our knowledge obtained during the audil, and we have
nothing maleral to add or draw attention 1o in relation to:

* The direciors’ confirmaticn that they have carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks;

* The disclosures in the Annval Report that describe those principal risks, what procedures are in place to identify emerging risks
and an explanation of how these are being managed or mitigoted;

* The diteciors’ statement in the finoncial statements about whether they considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting in preparing them, and their identification of any material uncertainties to the Group’s and Company's ability 1o

g In preparing Y P pany

continue to do so over a penod of at leasi twelve manths from the date of approval of the tinanciol statements;

¢ The direciors’ explanation os to their ossessment of the Group's and Company’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and
why the pericd is appropiote; und

¢ The directors’ stotement as o whelher they hove a reasonable expeciation that the Company will be able to contisue in operotion
ard meet iz Labiites os they fall due cver the petiod of s assessment, including any related duclozures diawing atiention 1a ony
recessary gualfications or assumptions.

Cutieview of the directors’ statement regarding the longerterm viability of the Gioup was substanhally lecs 1n scope than on audd
and on\y consisted of moklng inquines and censidering the directers’ DIOCEss SUPROrINg their staterment: checkmg that the statement 1s
in alignmem with the relevan: CIOVISIONS of the UK Corporate Governance Code and considenng whether the siatfement 15 consistent
with the financicl slatements and our knowledge and understanding of the Gieup and Company and their environmen obicined in
the course of the audt.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMEINTS

fn addition, based on the work undestaken os poit of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the
corporale governance slatement is materially consislent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the oudit:

* The directors” statement that they consider the Annual Report, laken as o whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, and
provides the information necessary for the members o assess the Group's and Company’s position, performance, business model
and strategy;

s The seclion of the Annual Report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and interna! control systems; and

*  The section of the Annual Report describing the work of the Audit Commitiee.

We have nothing to repon in respect of our responsibility to report when the directors’ stateinen! relonng 1o the Cempany's compliance
with the Corle doss not propenly disclose o departure from a relevant provision of the Code specified under the Listing Rules for
review by the auditors,

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE AUDIT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As exploined more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the linancial
statements in accordance wilh the applicable framewark and for being sctislied that they give o tue ond lair view. The directors ace
alse responsible for such infernal control as they determine is necessary 1o enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the financial siotemenis, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclasing, as applicable, matters related 1o going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either infend 1o liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease aperaticns, or have no realistic alternotive but to do so.

AUDITORS’ RESPONMSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to oblain reasonable assurance about whather the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or encr, and 1o issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 15 @
high level of assurance, but is not o guaiariee that on cedit conducied in accordance with 15As {UK) will aiways deiea @ moterial
missiatement when it exists. Missialements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material Jf, individually or in ihe
aggregate, they could reasonably be expacted 1o influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financicl

statements.

Iregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulotions. YWe design procedures in line with our
responsibiliies, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of imegularities, including fraud. The extent o which our
procedures are copable of delecting iregulorities, Including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our undersionding of the Group and induslry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and
regulations related 1o UK employment legislation, and we considered the extent o which non-complionce might have o molericl effect
on the financial siatements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impac on the financicl statements

such as UK tax legislation and the Companies Act 2006 We evaluated management’s incentives and oppertunities for fraudulent
manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related
lo the posting of journal enines with unexpected account combinations, management bias in significant accounting estimates and /or
judgetnents and the misteporting of significant of unusual transactions. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

» Discussions with management and those charged with governance, over consideration of known or suspected instonces of non-
compliance with laws, regulations and fraud;

*  Reviewing board minutes and discussions with the head of Internal Audit to ascertain the completeress of the above disclosures,

*  Challenging assumptions and [udgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates and judgements, in
patticular in relation to inventory provisioning;

+ ldentifying ard testing higher risk journal enties, in particdtar amy joumal entres posted with unexpected account combinaticns
ard those recorded to increase reported revenves. Tesling wor alse performed o validate the complatenass of the data on which
our risk-based procedures were performed; ond

*  Rewiewing the firancial statetments for adeauate and appropriate disclusuies i compliance with the Companies Act
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There are inherent limitations in the cudit procedures descnbed above We are less lkely 1o become aware of instances of non-
compliance with lows and regulations that are nat closely related to evenis and fiansactions reflected in the finoncial statements. Adso,
the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due o fraud is higher than the risk of not delecting one resulting from error, as froud
may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intenfional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

Our qudit testing might include lesting complete populations of certain ransactions and balances, possibly using data auditing
techniques. However, ¢ typically involves selecting o limited number of items for tesling, rather than testing complele populations. We
will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or nsk characteristics. In other cases, we will use audht sampling
to enable us to draw o conclusion about the population from which the somple is selected

Afurther description of our responsibiliies for the mudit of the financidl siatements is loceted on the FRC's website at. www e org.uk/
audilorstesponsibilites This description forms part of cur auditors’ report

USE OF THIS REPORT

This repert, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company's members os o bedy in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Adt 2006 and for no otlier puipose We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or 1o any oiher person 1o whom this repor is shown o into whose hands il may come save where

expressly agieed by our prior consent in writing.

OTHER REQUIRED REPORTING
COMPANIES ACT 2006 EXCEPTION REPORTING

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report 1o you if, in our opimian-

* we have not obtained all the infermation and explanations we require for our audil, o

* adequate accaunting records have nat been kept by the Company, or retuns adequate for ou audit have not been recewved ram
branches not visited by s, or

»  cencin disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law ore not made; o

s the Company financial statemenrs ond the part of the Diractors” Remuneranon Repor 1o be audiled are not in agreement with the
accaunting records and retums

Ve have no exceplions to report arnsing from this r@sponsiblhty

APPOINTMENT

Fellowing the recommendanior of the Audit Commitiee, we were appointed by the members on 30 jonuary 2019 1o auvdt the
financial siatements for the year ended 28 September 2019 and subsequent linancial petieds . The period of wlal grinterupted
engagement is 4 years. coverng the yeors ended 28 September 2019 te 1 October 2022

OTHER MATTER

in due course, as ieguited by the Financial Condudt Autkarity Disclosute Gudance and Transputency Rule 4.1 T4R | these: financial
statements wiill form parl of the ESEF-prepared annual hnancial report fled on the National Storege Mecharmism of the Financial
Canduct Authanty in accardance with the ESEF Regulalory Technical Standeed (ESEF BTS). This auditars’ teport provides no
assuicnee over whether the annual financial report will be prepared using the single electionic format specified in the ESEF RTS

Andrew Lyon [Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalt of PricewaterhouseCoopers UP
Chatleied Accouniants and Statuiory Auditors
East Midlands

20 Meerler 2627
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

53 weeks
52 weeks ended
ended 2 Ociober
1 October 2021
2022 {restated)’
Nofes £°000 £000
Group revenue 3 24724 227 997
Cost of sales {111,818) (97 ,297)
Gross profit 135,423 130,700
Distribuiion and selling costs (89,316) (83,591}
Other operating expenses (5,953) (&, 100]
Administrative costs {19.827) 18,419
Sales and marketing costs {5,495} {4,564
Group operating profit 14,832 18,026
Finance income o) 123 87
Finance costs b {4,010) {4,158)
Profit before taxation 4 10,945 13,955
Taxation 7 {1,754) (3,279
Profit for the period 9,191 10,676
Profit is attributable to:
Owners of Topps Tiles Ple 2,005 10,648
Non-controlling interests 186 28
2,191 10,676
All results relate lo continuing operations of the Group.
1 See nole 2|A) for an explanatorn of he pror year res'atement
53 waeks
52 weeks endad
endad 2 Qelober
1 October 2071
2022 |-estated]’
Nates £7000 £'000
Earnings per ordinary share;
- Basic Q 4.60p 547p
- Diluted Q 4.55p 541p

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

52 weeks 3

ended 72 Cober

1 October 2021

2022 lrectate )

£000 £ 00

Profil for the period o191 10,676
telah comprehensive inceme for the period is stiribute kie fo:

Owners of Tepps Tiles Ple <, 005 10,648

Monconticlling inferesis 186 28

2,191 10,676

o Scoonote Zia) for an ﬁip‘UfOI or o “he prior yeas rertalment
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CONSOLDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 1 OCTOBER 2022

2021
2022 {resioled)!
Notes £'000 £000

Non-current assefs
Goodwill 10 2,101 -
Intangible assets 11 5,423 468
Property, plant and equipment 12 20,888 23,680
Other financial assets 14 1,947 2,335
Deferred tox assers 15 114 564
Kightoluse assets 4 88,545 95,418

119,018 122,465

Current assets

Inventories 16 38,605 32,758
Other financial assets 14 542 518
Trade and other receivables 17 6,419 4,538
Cash and cash equivalents 18 16,241 27,789
61,807 65,603
Total assets 180,825 188,068
Current liabilities
Bank loans 19 - -
Trade and other payables 2C  (43,650) (47,425)
Lease liabililies 14 {18,187) 119.521)
Current tax liabilities {1,152) (2,027}
Piovisions 22 {352) {353}
{63,341) (69,326)
Net current liabilities (1,534) (3,723
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 14 (84,741) [91,817]
Provisions 22 (3,694) (1,969}
Total liakilities (151,776) (163,112
Net assets 29,049 24,956
Equity
Share capital 23 6,556 6,555
Share premium 24 2,636 2,625
Own shares 25 {415) 1,216
Merger reserve {399) {399}
Shorebased payment resesve 5,162 A HAT
Capital redemplion reserve 20,359 20,359
Accumulated losses {7,319} (7,610
Capital ond reserves aiributable = cweners of Tepps Tiles Plo 26,580 74,956
MNorrcentrolling interests 2,46¢ -
Total equity 29,049 24 5956

1 Se= note 20A] lod ar clarauce ol e pror yea esrmstan
The accompanying notes are an integral pari of these financial slatements

the linancial <ialemenis of Topps Tiles Ple, registered number 3213782, on pages 124 10 15% were approved by the Board of
Cirectors and authonsed for issue on 30 November 2022 They were cigned on its behalf by:

Rob Purkﬁr Stephen Hopson

Bureclors ! : %’é
i 1 : | -
[

Pl
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 CCTORFR 2022

Share-
based Capital Accumu- Non-
Share Share Own Merger payment redemption lated contrelling Total
capital premium shares  reserve  reserve reserve losses interest equity
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Balance at 26 September
2020 as originally
presented 6,548 2,492 (1,483} (399} 3,965 20,359 (17,400 {28} 14,054
Carrection of ermor
{net of tox] - - - - - - (320} - 1390}

Restated balance at
26 September 2020! 6,548 2,492 (1,483} {399) 3,965 20,35% {17,790) {28} 13,664

Profit and total
comprehensive income for

the period [restated)! - - - - - - 10,6448 28 10,676
Issue of share capital 7 133 ~ - - - - - 140
Own shares issued
in the period - - 267 - - - (267) - -
Credit to equity for
equity-seflled share-based
payments - - - - 6577 - - - 677
Deferred tax on share-based
payment fransactions - - - - - - {47) - [47]
Acquisition of norrcontrolling
inferest on business
combination - - - - - - {154 - {154}
Balance at 2 October 2027
as criginally presented 6,555 2,625 {1,216) (399) 4,642 20,359 (6,992) - 25,574
Caorrection of error
fnet of tax) - - - - - - 1618) - {618
Restated balance of
2 October 2021 6,555 2,625 (1,216) (399} 4,632 20,359 (7.610) - 24,956
Prchit and totah
comprehensive income
for the period ~ - - - - - 9005 186 2,191
Dividencls - - - - - - (8.015) - (8,015
Issue of share capital 1 11 - - - - — - [
Own shares purchosed
in the period - - 207 - - - - - (207
Own shares issued in the
period - - 1,008 - - - {699} - 309
Credit fo equity for
equityseliled share-hased

_ - 520 - - - 50

payments - -
Acquisthion of non-contiolling

interest on business

combinalion - -

Balonce af 1 Octchker
20%2 6,556 2,636 (415} (399) 5,162 0,35C (7,315) 9,469 59,045

- . - - - 2,283 2283

+ Ses note A icr a0 cxplanalion ol the prior year rovarement
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 OCTOBER 202?

53 weeks
52 weeks ended
ended 2 Oclober
1 October 2021
2022 leestated)
£000 £'000
Cash flow from operating activities
Profit for the period 91N 10,676
Taxation 1,754 3,279
Finance costs 4,010 4,158
Finance income {123} 87]
Group operuling profit 14,832 18,026
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of praperty, plant and eguipment 5,609 6,268
Depreciation of rightofuse assets 18,212 20,508
Amortisation of infangible assets 500 186
loss on disposal of prapety, plont, equipment and intangibles 394 1,736
|Gain)/loss on sublease (88) i34
Impairment charge/(reversal} of property, plant and equipment 240 (604)
Impairment of rightafuse assets 1,473 2,402
Gain on lease disposal {1,544) {2,563
Share option charge 520 677
Increase in earn out liability provision 1,581 -
Non-cash gain in derivative controcts (455)
Decrease in frade and other receivables {1,080) 7
increase in inveniories {4,362) (3,421
Decrease in paycbles (5,603) {11,209]
Cash generated from operations 30,229 32147
Interes! paid {354) (468!
inferest received on operationa! cash balances 58 -
Interest element of lease liabililies paid {3,626) {3,728)
Taxation paid (3,453) (1,535)
Net cash generated from operating activities 22,854 26,416
investing activities
Interest received - 11
Interest received on sublease assets 65 76
Receipt of capital element of sublease assets 493 629
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {3,090} {4,221}
Purchase of intangibles {115) (1%4)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 183 2,096
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash aequired _(3,968) i154)
Net cash used in investment activifies (6,432) 11,757
Financing activities
Payment of capital element of iease liabilities {19,601) (23,0206
Dividends paid (8,015) -
Proceeds from issue of share capial 12 133
Puichase of cwn shares {207) -
Receipt on disposal of own shares 309 -
Repayment of bank loans {468) 4,995)
Net cash used in financing activities {27,970) (27,888)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents {11,548) 13,226
Cash and <ash equwalents at beginning of penad 27,789 31.018
Cash and cash eguivalents of end of period 16,241 27 789

1 See nole 2i4] fer ar erplarater of the prar ear resatement
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

| GENERAL INFORMATION
Tepps Tiles Plc is a public limited company, limited by shares, incorporoted and domiciled in the United Kingdom and registered

in England under the Companies Act 2006, The address of the registered office is given on page 41. The nature of the Group’s
operations and its principal activity are set out in the Diectors’ Report on page 52.

These oudited financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary econamic environment
in which the Group operatas.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS
In the current period, other than the IFRIC regording cloud compuling [see note 2A), there were no new or revised standards and

inferpretations adopted that have o material impact on the financial statements. The Group has not early adopted any offer standard,
inferpretation or amendment that has beern issued but is not yer effective.

STANDARDS ADOPTED IN CURRENT PERIOD
The following new and revised standards and interprefations have been adopted in the current year. Their adoption has not had any

significant impact on the amounts reported in these financial statements. The Group is conlinuing fo assess the impact of IFRS 17
“Insurance Coniracts” and the implications on accounting fer fulure transactions and arrangements. The impact is believed not 1o be
significant and the Group will update for any changes in tis ossessment in future reporting periods.

IFRS 17, “Insurance contracts” {effective 1 January 2023 or when IFRS € is applied) subject to endorsement.
Amendments fo IFRS 14 leases: Covid-19Related rent concessions beyand 30 June 2021 — (effective 1 April 2021),
Amendmenls to IFRS 2, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 {effective 1 Janvary 2021).

Annugl Improvements 2018-2020 [effeclive 1 Jonuary 2022).
MNarrow scope amendmenis 1o RS 3, 1AS 16 and 1AS 37 [effeciive 1 Jonuary 2022

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal occounting policies adopied ore set oul below.

A) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The: financial staternents of Topps Tiles Plc have been prepmied in accoidance with UK-cdopied Intemnational Accounting Standards

and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies reporting under thase standards On
31 December 2020, IFRS as adopted by the Eurepsan Union at that date waes brought into UK law and became UKadopted
international accounting standards, with future changes being subject 1o endorsement by the UK Endorsement Board

Topps Tiles Ple transitioned to UK-adopfed International Accounting Standards in its Consolidated Financiol Statements on 3 Gctober
2021 This change conslitutes a change in accounting framework. However, there is no impact on recognition, measurement o
disclosure in the Period reported as a result of the change in framewaork

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of derivative financial instruments
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stoted, been applied consistertly 1o all periods presented in these
Group financial statements,

IFRIC: CONFIGURATION OR CUSTOMISATION COSTS IN A CLOUD COMPUTING ARRANGEMENT

(IAS 38 INTANGIBLE ASSETS)

During the curent year, management has re-evaluated the impact of the IFRIC guidance released during the pricr year relating to
accounting for clovdbased SaaS arrangements. This guidance was incornectly opplied in the prior year, resulling in costs associated
with a clovd-based Saa$ being capitalisad and not expensed as incured in the consolidated stotement of financial performance.
During 2020, £45¢6k was capitolised with no amortisation being charged. During the prior period o further £3 19k waos capitalised
again with no amortisation being charged. As a result of this eror, the inlangible assets as ol 2¢ September 2020 were overstoted
by £456k and aperating casts for the period understated by the some amount. As at 2 Qclober 2021, the intangible assets and net
assels were overslated by £775k and operating costs were undersiated by £31%k for the period then ended. In addition, during the
pericd ended 26 Seplember 2020 aperating cash flows were overstated by £456k and investing cash flows oversiated by the same
amcunt. Likewise, for ihe penod ended 2 Cicicber 2021 the operating cash flows were oversioted by £319k and the investing

caish floves cverstated by the same amouns, A summory of the impoct, including taxation, ¥s included in the following tables:
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINIUED
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2021
{previously 2021
reported} Restatement Restated
£°000 £000 £000
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss impact
Administrative costs {18,100} {319} (18,419}
Profit before taxation 14,274 {319) 13,955
Tax charge (3,370) 21 {3,279}
Basic earnings per ordinary share {pence] 5.59 (0.12) 5.47
Diluled earmings per ordinary share [pence) 5.52 {0.11}) 5.41
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position impact
infangible assets 1,243 {775) 468
Defsrred tax asset 407 157 564
Tolal assets 188,686 (618) 188,068
Met assels 25,574 (618) 24,956
Accumulated losses (6,992) {618) {7,610}
Tolal equity 25,574 {618} 24,956
Consolidated Cash Flow Statements
Profit for the period 10,904 {228) 10,676
Taxation 3,370 {91) 3,279
Net cash from operating activities 26,735 (319) 26,416
Purchase of intangibles {513) 319 {194}
Nei cash used in investing activilies (2,076) 319 (1,757)
2020
Iproviously 020
reported) Restatement Restated
£OLO 000 £000
Consolidated Staterment of Finantial Positien impact
Intangible assets 916 1456} 460
Deferred tax asset 1,406 66 1,472
Tolal assets 205,080 1390} 204,690
MNet assefs 14,054 {390) 13,664
Accumulated losses {17,400 (350} (17,790
Total equity 14,054 (330 13,664
B} GOING CONCERN

When considering the going concem assertion, the Board reviews saveral taciors including a review of risks and unceriainties, the
obitity of the Group 1o meet its banking covenaris and operate within its banking faciliies based on curent finoncial plans, olong
with a detailed 1eview of mote pessimisiic rading scenarios that are deemed severe but plausible. The two downside scenarios
modelled include a moderate decline in sales and a mare severe decline in sales, which result in much lower sales and gross prafit
than the base scenario, resulling in worse picfit and cash ouicomes The more severe downside scenaric modelled this year wos
based on o prolonged period of macroeconomic strece in the UK, losting tor two vears, with cales falling substantially in each yeor in

our mam brond, Topps 1, les. as well as year on year declines in Q0SS Margins.

The Group has already taken o number of actions to stengthen its liquidity over the 1ecent years, and the scenarics starl from a position
of relative strength The going concern review alsa aullined a ronge of other mitigating actions that could be taken in a severe but
plousible iading scenaric Thase included, but were not hmited to, savings on slore employes costs, savings on cenfral supporl casls,
reduced marketing aclivity, o reduction of capilal expenditure, management of working capital and suspension of the dividend.

The Gioup's cash headioom and covenant compliance were reviewed against current lending laciliies in both the base case and the
severe but plousible downside scenario The current lending focility was refinanced in Oclober 2022 and expires af the earliest in
October 2025, In oll scenarios, the Board has cencluded thot there is sulficient availoble hquidity and covenont headroom for the Group
o contnue to meet all of s inanaial commitments as they foll due for the foreseeable futuie, o penad of nat less than 12 moenths hom the
date of this report. Accordingly, the Board confinues 1o adop? the going concern basts in prepating the financial staterrents
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

C) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The censideration transferred in a business
combinatficn is measured at fair value, which is calculated os the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets ransferred by

the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group fo the former owners of the acquisition and the equity interest issued by the Group in
exchange for confrol of the acquisition. Acquisifionretated costs are recognised in profit or foss as incurred.

At the oequisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabiliies assumed are recognised at their fair value, excepl that:

* delerred tax assets o liabilities and assets or liabililies related to employee benetit arangements are recognised and measured in
accordonce with 1AS 12 “Income Taxes” and 1AS 19 "Employee Benefits” respectively; and

s assets hal we classified as held for sale in uccardance with IFRS 5 “Nen-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” are measured in accordance with thet Standard.

Confingent consideration 1s recognised af fair value at the date of acquisition. Subsequent changes in contingent consideration
which has been classified as an asset or licbility which does not result from a measurement period adjustment is accounted for in
accordance with IFRS @ where the asset of liability 1s a financial instrument, ond in accordance with 1AS 37 in all other cases

D} BASIS OF CONSQUDATION
The consolidaled financiol statements incorporate the financial siatements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company

lits subsidiaries]. Confrol is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
investee entily so as to oblain benefits from s activities.

The resulis of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the pericd are included in the consolidated statement of financial
performance from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. VWhere necessary,
adjusiments are made o the financial siatements of subsidiaries lo bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by
the Group. Al inra-Group fransactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

£} FINANCIAL PERIOD
The accounting peried is drawn up 1o @ Soturday within 7 days of 30 September resulting in financicl periods of either 52 or

53 weeks

Throughout the financial statements, Directors’ Report and Strategic Report, references to 2022 mean "ut 1 Oclober 20227 or the
52 weeks then ended; references to 2021 mean “at 2 Qctober 202 1" or the 53 weeks then ended

F} GOODWILL

Goodwill arising in a business combinalion is recognised o3 an asset at the date that control is acquired {the acquistion date).
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any noncontrolling interest in the
acquires and the tair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest [if any) in the entity over the nel of the acquision-date
omounis of the idenfifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifioble net assels exceeds the sum of the consideation
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair volue of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree {if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as @ bargain purchase gain

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairmenl testing, goodwill is
allocated 1o each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefil from the synergies of the combinalion. Cash-generating
units fo which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or mere frequently when there is an indication that the
unit may be impaired If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the camying ameunt of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then 1o the other assets of the unit pro
rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each osset in the unit, An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent pencd.

On disposal of a subsid ary, the alkributable omaunt of goodwill 1s included 1n the determinotion of the alit or loss on dispocal.
Gondwll aiising on acguisitions belore the date of ransition to IMRSs Fas been refaired of the previous UK GAAP amosnts subject o
being tested for impairment at that date. Goadwill of £15.08C,000 wnten off o reserves under UK GAAP prior 1o 1998 has net
been reinsated and will nat be included in determining any absequent profit ar logs on disposal.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
G) REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured ot the fransaction price received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods in the normal course
of business, net of discounts, VAT and other salesrelated iaxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised on the collection or delivery of goods, when all the following conditions are satislied:

* the Group has salisfied iIs performance obligations 1o external customers, being the date goods are collected from store or
received by the customers; and
* the cusfomer has obtained conirol of the goods being fransferred.

These conditions are mel, predominantly, @ lhe point of sale. Ihe exceptions 1o this are for: goods ordered in advance of collection,
where revenue is recognised at the point that the goods are collected, sales of goods that resull in award credits for customers [see
below); and web sales, where revenue is recognised af the point of delivery.

Sales of goods that resull in award credits for customers, under the Company's Trader loyalty Scheme, are accounted for as multipls
elerment revenue ransactions ond the fair value of the consideration received or receivable is cllocated between the goods supplied
and the oward credits grorted. The consideration allocoted 1o the oward ciadits 1s meosured by reference to their fair valus being the
amount for which the award credils could be sold separately. Such consideration is nol recognised as revenue al the time of the initial
sale transaction, but is deferred and recognised as revenue when the award credits are redesmed and the Company’s performance
obligations have been satisfied.

The level of sales retums is closely monitored by management, and as such, the Group holds a scles return provision in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Posifion to provide for the expected tevel of retums. The sales value of the expected returns is
recognised within Accruals, with the cost value of the goods expected 1o be refurned recognised as a current asset within Inventeries.

H} INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are inifially recognised of the fair value
at the acquisition date [which is regarded as their cost]. Subsequent fo initial recagnition, infangible assets acquired in & business
combinatien are reported at costs less accumulated amartisation.

Costs that are directly associated with identifiable seftware products contrelled by the Group, and that will generate economic
beneliis beyond one vear ore recognised as infangible assets. These intangible assets are stofed ot cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses, and are amoertised over four years.

Brands acquired by the Group are stated ot cost less amortisation and impairment losses, and are omortised over their useful
economic life. The Pro Tiler brand has an expected uselul economic Jife of ten years,

I) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment is stated of cost less occumvlated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss,

Depreciation is charged so as 1o write off the cost of assets, less estimated residual value, over their estimated useful lives, on the
following hases:

Freehold and long leasehold buildings 2% per annum on cost an @ straightline basis

Short leasehold land and buildings over the period of the lease, up 1o 50 years on a sikaightline basis

Fixtures ond fittings over 10 years, except for the following: four years for computer equipment o five years for
display stands, as appropriate

Plant and Machinery over 10 years on a shraight line basis

Molor vehicles 25% per annum on a reducing basis

Freehald land is not depreciated
The assets’ residual volver and useful lives are reviewed . and adjusted it appreprate, af the end of each reporting pericd

The goin or ks avising on the disposal o refiement of ar asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
canying amaunl of the asset oacd 15 1ecognised in the Consclidated Statement of Financial Performance

Moncurrent assets ore clossified as held for sole f the assets are availlable for immediate sale in their present condition and the sale
is highly probable. Alter iedlossified as heid lor sale, the assets are measuied al the lowear of their carmang value and fair value less

cosls to sell
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

J} IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE, INTANGIBLE AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

At each peried end, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible, intangible, and rightofuse assets 1o determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. § any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the assel is estimated in order lo determine the extent of the impaitmenl loss [if any]. YWhere the asset does not generale cash flows
that are independent from other asseis, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generabng unit fo which the asset
belongs. This includes the impact, if any, arising from climate change.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value fess costs o sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated fulure predtax
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a preax discount rate that reflects current merket assessments of the ime value
of money and the risks specific ta the asset for which the estimates of futue cash flows have not been adjusted.

¥ the racoverable amount of an asset (or cashgenerating unit} is estimated 1o be less than its carrying amount, the carying omount of
the asset {cash-generating unitl is reduced Io its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is tecogoised as an expense immediately,
unless the relevant assei is carried at o revalued amounl, in which case the impaitment loss is frealed as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impaiment loss subsequently reverses, the carmying amount of the asset [cashgeneroting unit} is increased to the revised
esfimate of its recoverable ameount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset {castrgenerating unil in prior vears. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediaiely, unless the relevant asset is carried of o revalved amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is treated os o revaluation increase.

K} INVENTORIES

Inventeries are stated al the lower of cost and net realisable value and relate solely to finished goods for resale, net of supplier
rebates. Cost is derived using the average cost method and includes an attributable proportion of distibution overheads based on
normal levals of activity. Net redlisable value represents the estimated selling price, less costs to be incurred in marketing, selling
and distribution. Provision is made for those items of inveniory where the nef realisable value is estimated to be lower than cost. The
net replacement value of inventonies is not considered materially different from that slated in the consolidaled statement of financial

postion.

L) TAXATION

The tax expense represents the sum of the 1ax currently payable and deferred 1ax.

The fax cutrently payable is based on 1axable profit for the period Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the statement
of financial performance because it excludes ifems of income or expense that ore laxable or deductible in other periods and it further
excludes ilems that are never taxable or deductible The Groug's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substanhively enacied by the balance sheet dale,

Deferred tax is the tax expected 1o be payeble or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial sigtements and the coresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method Delferred tax lighiliies are generally recognised for oll taxable temperary differences and deferred
fex assels are recognised fo the exlent thal it is probable that taxable profits will be ovailable agoinst which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilifies are nof recognised if the lemperary difference anses from the initicl recognifion
of goodwill o from the initial recogniion {other thon in o business combination) of other ossets and Fabiliies in o ransaction that
allects neither the lax profit nor the accounting profit,

Deterred tax liabilities are recognised for taxcble lemporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group ts able 1o control the reversa! of the temporary difference and it is probable hat the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated al the tax rates that are expected 1o apply in the period when the lichility is setlled o the asset is realised
based on tax kaws and rales that have been enacted ol the bolance sheet dote. Deferred tax s charged o credited in the statement
cf finoncial performonce, except when it relales 1o terns charged or credited directly 1n, eguity i which cote the defarred 1ax 55 olso
dealt with 10 eguity

Deferred fax assets and liabalties are cllset when there is a legally enforcealile nght to set of current lox assets against cunent tox
liatulities and when they relole 1o income taxes levied by the sams laxanon authonty end the Group intends 1o setfle 1is current tax
oszets and hobibbes on o ret boss
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
M) FOREIGN CURRENCY

The individual financial stalements of each Group company are presented in pounds sterling [its functional currency). For the purpose
of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each Group company are expressed in pounds stering,
which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentational currency for the consolidated firancial statements.

Transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded al the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dales of ransactions. A each penod end, monetary assets and liabilifies that are denominated in foreign curencies
ave retranslaled of the rales prevailing on fhat date. Normonetary items carried at foir value that are denominated in foreign
currenciss are refranslated at the rates prevailing af the date when the fair value was determined. Nen-monctary ilems thot are
measured in lerms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Cxchange difterences arising on the setlement of monetary items, and on the retranslotion of monetary items, ore included in the
statement of financial performance for the period.

Exchange differences arising on the retranstation of norrmonetory items carried at fair valve are included in the statement of financil
performance for the period.

N} LEASES

LEASES IN WHICH THE GROUP IS A LESSEE

The Group leases assets which consist of properties, vehicles and equipment. Rental contracts ore typically made for fixed periods but
may have extension opiions or breck options o maximise operational Hlexibility, lease teims ore negofiated on an individual bosis and
contain a wide range of different ferms and conditions.

The Group assesses whether o contract is of contains a lease based on the new definition of a lease. Under IFRS 16, a contract

is, or contains, a lease If the confract conveys o right to conlral the use of an identified asset for a period of fime in exchange for
consideration.

At the commencement dale of property leases the Group defermines the lease term 1o be the full term of the lease, assuming that any

option to hreak or extend the lease is unlikely 1o be exercised. The Group considers the lease term to be the noncanceliabie pericd
ond in assessing this applies the definiion of a conact and determines the period for which the conkrac is enforceable.

Under IFRS 16, the Group recognises rightofuse assefs and lease fiabilites for most leases

The Group has elected to take advantage of the following recognition exemptions and account for lease payments as an expense
on a straightline basis over the lease term or another systematic basis for the following two types of leases:
* leases with o lease lerm of 12 months or less and containing no purchase options — this election is made by class of underlyiag

Qasset; and
* leases where tae underlying asset has a low value when new — this election can be mode on o leaserbylease basis.

For leases where the Group has laken shortterm lease recognition exemplion and there are any changes to the lease term or the lease
is modified, the Gioup accounts for the lease as a new lease.

From 29 September 2019 leases are recognised as o rightofuse asset with a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is availoble for use by the Group. Each lease payment comprises ar element of capilal and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged 1o profit or loss over the lease period so as lo produce a constant periodic rale of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for eoch period. The rightof-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asser’s useful iife and the lease term on o straight-

line basis

Assets and ligbilites arising from a lease are initolly measured on a present value basis. Lease linhilties include the net present volue
of the tellowing leose payments:

+ fixed poyments {including insubsiance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

* voricble lease payments that are based on an index o a ale,

s amounts expecled o be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

* the exercise pnce of a purchase aption f the lessee 15 rensanably certain to exercise that eption; and

¢ paymenls of penalties for ferminating the lease if the leose term reflecis the lessee exercizing that opticn.

The lease payments ate discounted using the interest rale implicit in the lease ¥ that rafe connet be determmed, the lessee’s

incremental bonowing rate 15 used, being the rate that the lessee would hove 1o pay fo borrow the funds necessary to obiain an osset
of similar value in o similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.
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Rightot-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

¢  the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

* any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;

* any inifial direct costs; and

¢ restorafion costs.

Aher lease commencement, the Group measures right-of-use assels using a cost model. Under the cost model a rightofuse asset is
measvied of cost less occumuloted depreciation ond cccurmuleied impoitment

Subsequent 1o intfial measurement, lease labilities increase as a result of interest charged at a conslant rate on the balance
oulstanding and are reduced for lease paymenis made. The lease liability is also remeasured 1o reflect changes in-

* the lease term {using a revised discount rate};

e the assessment of a purchase opfion {using a revised discount ralel;

¢ the amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees {using an unchanged discount rate}; and

¢ fulure lease payments resulting from ¢ change in on index of o rate used to determine those payments jusing on unchanged
discount rate}.

The remeasurements are matched by adjusiments to the righrofuse assel
leose modifications may also prompt remeasurement of the lease liability unless they ore determined fo be separate leases.

The right-ofuse asset is subsequently depreciated using the straightline method from the commencement date 1o the earlier of the end
of the uselul life of the rightof-use asset or the end of lease term. The estimated useful lives of rightofuse assets are determined on the
samme basis os those of property, plant ond equipment. In addition, the rightofuse asset is reduced by impairment losses, if any, and
adjusted for ¢cerloin remeasurements of the lease liability.

The capital element of payments related to leases are presented under cash flow fram financing activities in the Consclidated Cash
Flow Siatement, and the interest element of payments presented under cash flow from operating activities.

LEASES IN WHICH THE GROUR 1S A LESSOR

At lease inception, lessors will determine whethers each lease is o finance lease of an operoting lease. To classify each lease, the
Group mokes an everall assessment of whether the lease transfers substanhally ol of the rsks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the underlying asset. X this is considered to be the case, then the lease is recognised as a finance lease, if not then it is recognised as
an operating lease As part of this assessment, the Group considers certann factors such as whether the lease 15 for the mojor part of

the economic life of the asset,

VWhen the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its inferests in the head lease and the subrlease separately. It assesses
the lease classification of a sublease with reference fo the rightofuse asset arising from the head lease, not with referance 1o the
underlying asset If a head lease is a shorterm lease to which the Group applies the recognition exemption, then it classifies the
subrlease us an operating lease.

On transition to [FRS 16 on 29 September 2019, the Group has reclassified a small number of sub-leases as finance leases, resulting
in recoghition of a finance lease receivable, being equal I the net invesiment in the lease. The Group recognises finance income
over the lease term of a finance lease, based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment

There will be no change to the accounting for the remaining subleases which continue to be accounted for as operating leases, and
income from these leases will continue to be recognised on a straightline basis over the term of the lease

SALE AND LEASEBACK

A sale and leaseback honsaction is where the Group sells an asset ond immediately reacquires the use of the usset by eriering info
a lease with the buyer On enterng into a sale and leaseback nansocion, the Group deiermines whethes the transter of the asiets
qualifies us @ sale [sotishing o performonce obligation in IFRS 15 "Revenye from Contracts with Customers™| Where the honsfor is
a sale ond providing the fransaction 12 on markel terms then the previcus canying amount of the underdying asset is split between

* o nghicfuse ossel onsing fiom the leaseback fheing the proportion of the previous conying amount of the osser thot refotes 1o the
rghts retaired!, and
+ the nghts in the vndeilying nsset 1eained iy the buyer-lessor ol the end of e leasebuck
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The Group recognises a portion of the lotal goin or loss on the sale. The amount recognised is calculated by spliting the total gain
or loss into:

* an unrecognised amount relating fo the rights retained by the seller-lessee; and
* a recognised amount relating to the buyerlessor's rights in the underlying asset ot the end of the leaseback.

The leossback #self is then accounted for under IFRS 16,

O) RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

For defired contribution schemes, the amount charged to the statement of financiol perfformance in respert of pension costs is the
conkributions payable in the peried. Differences batween conitibutions poyable in the period and cantributions actuolly pad are
shown as either accruals or prepayments in the statement of financial position.

P} FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs of debt are recognised in the statement of financial performance over the term of the debt at o conslani rate on the
carrying amount.

Q) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Finoncial assets and financial licbilities are recognised in the Group's statement of financial position when the Group becomes o party
to the conrraciual provisions of the instrument,

All finoncial assels are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under o
conlract whese terms require delivery of the hinancial asset within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are intially
measuied of foir volue plus fransaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as of fair value thiough profit or loss, which
are initially measured af fair value.

Financicl assets are clossified into the following specified categernies: financial ossets "ot fair volue through profit er loss” (FVTPL,
financial assets “at fair value through other comprehensive income” FVOCH, and financial assets carried af “omortised cost”. The
classification of financial assets under IFRS @ is generally based on the business model in which o financial asset is managed and its
contractual cash flow characteristics

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

Financial assets of FYTPL are staled at fair value, with any resuliant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. Transactional costs

of financial assels caried of FYTPL are expensed in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance. The Direciors use their
jutigement in seleciing an appropriale valuation technigue for financial instuments not quoted in an active market. Yoluation
techniques commonly used by market practinoners are applied, such as discounted cash flows and assumptions regarding market
volatiliny. Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured ot fair value, with net gains and losses, including any interest or
dividend income being recognised in profit of loss

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables that have fixed or determinable paymerts that are not quoted in an active market are initially recognised
at fair value ond then caried at amoriised cost, using the effective inlerest method, less any impairment. Inleres! income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate, except for shortterm receivables when the recogrition of interest would be immaterial,

EFFECTIVE INTEREST METHOD

The effective interest method is a method of caleulating the omortised cost of o debt instrument ond of allecating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exacily discounts estimated future cash receipts lincluding all fees
on points paid or received that form an integral port of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts]
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, o shorter period, to the net carrying amount on nitial
recogntion

income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instuments other than those financial assets and fokilties clossified os af FYTPL

IMPAIRMENT OF FINAMNCIAL ASSETS

Firancial assets, ofher than those af FYTPL are assessed for indicotors of impairment af each sictermeri of financial posten dole
Franciol assets are impaired where there is objeciive evidence that, as o result of one or mare events that accurred ofter the inital
recogniton of the financial asset, the eshmated future cosh flows of the investment have been impacted. The Group asiesses on a
forward-looking basis the expecred ciedit losses associated with iis financial assets caied at amorised cast.

For ceroin categories of finoncial asset, such os hiede receivobles, assets that ore ossessed nat o be impaired indvidually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impanment for o portfolio of recevables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting poyments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the porffclic past
the average credit pericd, as well as observable changes in national or local econcmic conditians that correlate with default on
receivables The Group applies the IFRS @ simphfied approoch fo measunng expected cradit losses which uses o lifelime expecied
loss ollowonee for finoncial assets



.l 36 TOPPS TILES PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE 52WEEK PERIOD ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 QOCTORER 2022

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
For alf ether financial assets canied af omortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted af the financial osset's original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets. The Group will write off,
either partially or in full, the gross carrying amount of o financial asset when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is usually
the case when it (s determined that the debtor daes nat have the assets or sources of income that could generate sutficient cash lows
1o repay the amounts subject 1o the writeoff.

i, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impaimment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impaiment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or koss 1o the
exten! that the carrying amount of the investinent ot the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash balances including credit card receipts and deposits, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand where there 15 a right of offset. All cash equivalents have an original maturity of three months or less.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

Finoncial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according fo the substance of the contractuol arrangements entered into. An
equity Instrument is any conhact that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recorded af the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities that are classified as FYTPL relate to dedivatives that are not designated and effective as a hedging instrument
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in prefit or loss.

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Cther nancial liabilities, including borrowings, are inificlly measured af fair value, nat of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities

are subsequently measured al amorfised cost using the effective interest method, with inlerest expense recognised on an effective
yield basis. The effective interest mathod is a method of caleulating the amertised cost of o financial iichility and of allacating interest
expense over the relevant periad. The ellective interest rale is the rate that exactly discounts estimated tuture cash paymenis through
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The Group derecagnises financial lickilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group's activilies expose if 1o the tinancial risks of changes in foreign cusrency exchange rates.

The Group uses foreign exchange forward confracts 1o manage its foreign currency risk. The Group does not hold or issue derivative
financial instuments far speculalive purposes.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies, approved by the Board of Directors, on the use of financial
derivatives.
Derivatives are initially recognised at foir value at the date o derivative contract s entered info and are subseguently remeasured

to their fair valve af each period end date. The resulling gain of loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately. The fair volues are
determined by eference to the market prices available from the market on which the instruments involved are traded.

A deiivative is presented as o noncuirent asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12
months and it is not expecled 1o be realised or sefflad within 12 months Other derivatives are presenled as current assels or current

liabilities.

R) SHARE-BASED PAYMEMNTS

The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment:,

The Group issues equitysettled sharebosed payments 1o ceriain employees. Equitysetiled shaiebazed poyments are measured at forr
value lexcluding the effect of norrmarkerbased vesting conditions) af the date of grant The fair value determined of the grant date of
the share-based payment is expensed on a shraightline busis over the vesling pericd, based cn the Group's estimate of skares that will
eventually vest. Fair value 15 measured by use of the Black=Scheles model,

Tre Group prowdes emplayees with the ability lo purchase the Group's ordirary shares ot 80% of the current market value through
the operation of its Sharesave scheme. The Group recards un expense, based on s estimate of the 20% discount reloted 1o shares
expected fo vest on o shiaightline basis over the vesling period.

S) TRADE PAYABLES

Trade poyables are initiolly mecswed af fair value and are subseguently measured ol amartised cost, using the effective interest

rate method.,
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

T} OPERATING COSTS

Restructuring costs relate to Board-aopproved decisions such as business closures or major organisational changes. Operaling profil
is stated ofter charging/{crediiing) restruciuting cosis but before investment income ond finonce costs.

Employee profit shoring costs are clessified as distribution and selling costs and administrative costs.

U) PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has @ present obligation {legal or constructive} as a result of o past event, and it is
probable that the Group will be required 1o setile that abligation and « reliable estimate can be made of the amount of that
cbligation. Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required 1o seffle the obligation at the bolance

shesd dote, ond ore discounied 1o present value where the effect s material,

V) SUPPUER INCOME
Amaunts receivable from suppliers are initially held on the balance sheet within the cost of inventory and recognised within the income
sttement once the contractual terms of the supplier agreements are mei and the corresponding inventory has been sold.

Volume rebates and price discounts ore recogrised in the income stolement os o reduction in cost of sales, in line with the recogniten
of the sole of a product.

W) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

lnvesiment properties are measured inffially ai cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent o initiol recognition, invesiment properties
are stated af fair value, which reflects market conditions af the reparting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair

volues of investrment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, including the corresponding lax effect
Investment properties are not deprecialed.

The Group obtains independent valuatons for ts investment properties, and af the end of the reporting period, the farr value of each
property is updated, laking into cocount the mest recent independent valuation. The best evidence of fair value is current prices in
an aclive market for similar properties. Vwhere such information is nof available the Directors consider information for properties of a
different nature or recent prices of similar properties in less active markets, adjusted fo reflect those differences.

Investment properhies are defecogmised either when Ihey hove been dlsposed of or when they are permcnenﬂy withdrawn from use
and no fulure economic benefit is expecied from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the canrying
amount of the assel is recogmsed in profit or loss in the period of de~ecognition.

The Group has no restictions on the realisobility of its investment properties and ne contractual obligations to purchase, construct or
develop investment properties of for repairs, mainfenance and enhancements.

X) GOVERNMENT GRANTS

The Group applies 1AS 20 “Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures of Government Assistance” when accounting for
govermment gronts, A government grant is not recogmsed uniil there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to i, and that the grant will be received. Government granis are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Performance on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are inlended to compensate. The Group has chosen to present government grants netted off against the related expense.

Y} CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

in the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described above, the Directors are required 1o make judgements,
estimotes and assumptions about the carrying omounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily opparent from other sources. The
estimates and associcled assumptions are based on histerical experience and other factors that are considered 1o be relevant Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revisions fo accounting eslimates are recogrised in the
period in which the estimate 1s revised i the revision affects only that pened, or In the pencd of the revision and future periods if the
revision offects both current and future perods

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

The key accounting judgemems used in the financial statements are as follows:

LEASE TERMS

IFRS 16 defines the lease lerm as the nencancellable pencd of o lease iogether with the options o exend of teiminate a lease, f the
lessee were 1easonably cerlain to exeicise that apton The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some isase
conhracts in which it a lessee that includes renewal oplions and breok couses, which can signiicantly alfect the amount of tewse

lighiltes and rightofuse assels recognised.

At the commencement date of o propenty lease the Group roimally determines the lease 1erm to be the full term of the lease, assuming
fhat any option fo bieak or extend the lease is unlikely 1o be exercised and i1 is not reasonably cerlair hat the Group will conlinse in
occupaticn for any penod beyord the lease term
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
For property leases the key faciors thot ore nermally the most relevant ore the profitability of the leosed siore, the future plons of the

business, and whether there are any penallies associated with exercising an opfion.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKING
During the yeor the Group acquired 60% of Pro Tiler Limited with opiions o acquire the remaining 40% in 2024 The acquisition hos
been accounted for as a business combinotion, with the earn out for the remaining 40% accounted for as remuyneration.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The key assumptions conceming the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the period end date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liahilities within the next financial period,

are discussed below:

INCREMENTAL BORROWING RATE

Under IFRS 16, the Group recognises a dghtafuse asset representing its right to use the underbying asset and @ lease liability
representing its abligation o moke lease payments. The discount rate used to calculate the lease liability is the rate implicit in the
lease, it it can be readily defermined, or the lessee’s incremenial borrowing rate f not. The lease Jiability s iniially measured at
the present value of the remaining fease payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate, odjusted fo lake
into account the risk associated with the length of the lease which ranges between 1 and 20 years. The Group uses the lessee's
incremental borrawing rate for all property and equipment leases.

Due to the size of the Group's lease porffalio, the discount rate is considered to be a significant judgement with estimation, ranging
betveen 1.25% and 7.91% dependent on the length of the lease term.

STORE IMPAIRMENT
During the pericd the Group has continued to review the performance of its store porffolic Each store is tested for impairment in line
with IAS 36, and the key estimates invalved relate to the preax discount rate, longterm growth rate, and cash flow forecasts — see

note 14 for furher deails,

INVENTCRY PROVISION
The Group provides against the carrying value of inventories where it is anficipated that net realisable value {INRV] will be

below costs. For the determination of INRV provisions, inveniories are clossified into three brocd categories, being confinuing,
discontinved and expected to be discontinued. The key esiimate within the inveniory provision relates fo the lines which are
expected 1o be discontinued within the coming financial year The provisions held are based vpen the experience of write ofts in the
preceding financial year. Analysis has shown that once inventory is discontinued, the likelihoad of wiite off significantly increases.
For inventory identified as “to be discontinued within 12 months” an increase in the expected write off rate of 20% would result in
increased provisions of approximaiely £600,000

VALUATION OF INTANGIBLES

Estimates have been made around the future cash flows of Pro Tiler Limited, that have been used in the voluation of the Pro

Tiler brand
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3 GROUP REVENUE
An analysis of Group revenue is as follows:

52 weeks 53 weeks
anded eaded

1 October 2 Cetober
2022 2021
£:000 £°000

247,241 227,997
247,241 227,997

Revenue from the sale of goods

Total revenue

The Group has one reportable segment in accordance with IFRS 8 — Operating Segments, which encompasses the Topps Tiles Group
revenue generaled instore and online from retail, frade and commercial customers. The Board receives monthly financial infermation at
this level and uses this information fo monitor performance, allacate resources and make operational decisions.

Revenue can be split by the following geographical regions:

52 weeks 53 weeks

ended ended

1 October 2 Cctober

2022 2021

£000 2000

UK 246,866 227 997
EU 240 -
Rest of Waorld 135 -
Total 247,291 227,997

The Group's revenue is driven by the consolidation of individual small value transactions and as a result, Group revenue is not reliant
on a majer customer or group of customers.

4 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before iaxotion for the period has been anived of after charging/(crediting):

52 weeks 53 weeks
endod ended

1 Ocrober 2 Ouiober
2022 2021
£000 £'000
5,609 6,268

Depreciation of propety, plont and equiprment
Depreciation of rightatuse assets 18,212 20,508
Operating lease costs not within the scope of IFRS 16 — low value and shorterm rentals 2,201 53

Impairment chaige/ireversal} of pioperty, plont and equipment 240 {604}
Impairment of rightofuse assets 1,473 2,402
loss on disposal of property, plant, equipment and intangibles 394 1,736
Amorisafion of intangibles 500 186
Staff costs (see note 5) 57,096 57,955
Exchonge [gains}/losses recognised in profit or loss (1,060} 145
Wiite-down of inventories recognised as an expense 4,254 4,598
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 108,622 72,554
Cuiing the vear the business disposed of nil freehold properties 12021 three frsehold prepenies)
Anchysis of the Auditors’ remunerahon iz provided below:
52 weeks 53 weeks
ended erdeo
1 October 2 Coeber
2022 207t
£°000 20005
Fees puyable to the Company’s Audiicrs with respect to the Company’s annuea! accaunts 1t 74
Fees puyable to the Company’s Auditors and their associates for ather oudit services 1o the Group:
Audil of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant 1o legislation 262 229
Total qudit fees 373 303
Total ronaudil fees = -
373 303

Totel fees payable to the Company's Auditers

A descnption of the work of the Audit Commttee is et out on page 78 ond includes an explanation of how Auditors’ objeciiviry and
independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by the Auditors.



140

TOPPS TILES PLC ANNUAL REPCRT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE 52-WEEK PERIOD ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED Y OCTOBER 2022

5 STAFF COSTS

The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group in the UK during the accounting period {including Executive

Directors} was:

52 weeks 53 weeks

ended ended

T October 2 October

2022 2021

Number Number

employed employed

Selling 1,390 1,533
Adminisiration 361 314
1,751 1,847

The average monthly number of persons {fuiltime equivalents] employed by the Group in the UK during the accounting period

(including Executive Directors) was'

52 weeks 53 weeks
ended ended
t October 2 Cctober
2022 2021
Number Furber
employed employed
Selling 1,311 1,455
Adrminisiration 355 283
1,666 1,738
2022 2021
£000 £'000

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
Wages and salaries (including LTiP, see note 27) 51,585 52,348
Sacial security costs 4,472 4,498
Other pension costs (see note 26b) 1,039 1,109
57,096 57 @55
Details of Directors” emoluments are disclosed on pages 106 to 111, The Group considers key management to be the Directors only.

Employee profit shoring of £7.9 million {2021+ £8.3 million) 1s included in the above and comprises sales commission and bonuses.

The 1otal charge for Share Based Payments recognised dunng the year was £0.5m {2021, £0 7m)|

6 FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

52 weeks 53 weeks
ended crded
1 Octaber 2 Cetober
2022 2021
E£'000 £000
Finance income
Bank interest receivable 58 1
Interest income from finance lease receivables 65 76
123 87
fingnee cosis
Interest on bank loans ond overdrclts {(3g4 1430)
lterest gayable on lease liabilies {3,626} {3 778)
{4,619} 14,158]

o finance cosis have been capitalised in the penod, or the prior periad
pita penod, prior p

Inferest on bank ioans and overdralts repr

esents goins and losses on financial liabilities measured at amarsed cost. Thaie are no

other gains o losses recogrused in respect of financial liakilities measured af amortised cost
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7 TAXATION
53 weeks
52 weeks ended
ended 2 Crciober
1 October 202
2022 frestated)’
£9000 000
Current lax — charge for the period 2,577 2418
Deferred tax — charge for the pericd (note 15 360 1,143
Deferred 1ax — odjustment in respect of prior periods (nofe 15] (7,183} 145
Effect of tox rate change on opening halance [nolc 15] - (427
Total fax charge 1,754 3,279
The charge for the peried can be reconciled 1o the profit per the statement of financial performance as follows:
53 weeks
52 weeks ended
ended 2 October
1 October 2021
2022 [restated)
£000 £'000
Continuing operations:
Profit before taxation 10,945 13,955
Tox af the UK corporation tox rate of 19 0% (2021: 19.0%) 2,080 2651
Expenses that are not deductible in determining toxable profit 8 1
Oither movements 391 136}
Fixed asset differences [nondeductible expenses) 657 709
Increase/ [Reduction) in UK cerporation tax rate - {2¢]
Nortaxable income {199) {172}
Adjustment in respect of prior periods {1,183} 145
Tax expense for the period 1,754 3,279

in the period, the Group has recognised a corporation ax credit directly io equity of Enil {2021 Enil) and a deferred tox charge 1o
equity of Enil {2021 £46,701) in relation to the Group’s share oplion schemes.

The Group centinues to fully provide within current tox liabilities for a historic tax claim relating 1o EU less relief in relation to the closed
Dutch business of £988,000 12021: £988,000}.

' See note 2{A] for an explanalion of the pror year restatement

8 DIVIDENDS
Amounts recognised as distubutions fo equity holders in the periad:

52 weeks 53 weeks

ended endled

1 October 2 Crelober

2022 2021

£/000 £000

Final dividend for the period ended 2 Ociober 2021 of £0.031 [2020: £nil) per share 6,057 -
Interim dividend for the period ended | Ociober 2002 of £O.01 (2021 £nil} per chare R V-1 -

Total dividend paid in the penod &,0615 -

Pioposed final dividend for the perncd ended ? Octobar 2022 of £0.026 (2021 £0 031} per share 5,093 65,057

The proposed final dividend for the period ended 1 October 2022 15 subject 10 approval by Sharehalders at the Annual Gereral
Meeiing and has not been included as o linbility in these fnoncial stotements.
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9 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of earings per share is based on the earnings for the financial period oftributable 1o equity Shareholders and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares.

52 weaeks 53 weeks

ended endad

1 October 2 Cctober

2022 2021

Weighted average number of issued shares for basic eamings per share 196,681,007 196,508,867
Weighted average impact of treasury shares for basic eamings per share (1,099,370} {1,344 844)
Total weighted average number of shares for basic earnings per share 195,581,637 195,164,023
Weighted average number of shares under option 2,165,790 2,274,713
For diluted earnings per share 197,747,427 197 438,736
52 weeks 53 weeks ended

ended 2 Oclober

1 October 2021

2022 (cestated}

£000 £'000

Profit for the period 9,005 10,676
Adjusting itlems 3,005 1,067
Adjusied profit for the pericd 12,010 11,743
Eamings per ordinary share - basic 4.60p 547p
Earnings per ordinary share — diluted 4.55p 541p
Eamings per ordinary share — odjusted 6.14p 6.02p

I See note 2[A] for an explanatior of the prior year restaremenl

The caiculation of the basic and diluled earnings per share used the denominators as shown above for both basic and diluted
earnings per share. The number of potentially exercisoble shares is 2,165,750 {2021: 2,274.713).

Adjusled earnings per share were caleulated after adjusting for the posttax impact of the following items: rates relief £nil benefit
(2021 £1,839,000), impairment of property, plart, ecuipment of £393,000 (2021 £1,202,0001, vacant property costs for
stores closed as part of store reduction programme of £1,402, 00012021 £1,704,000), IFRS 16 eneoff changes including

the impairment of closure programme stores of £104,000 (2021, Enill, restructuring costs of £42,000 1202 1: £nil), project and
acquisition costs of £2,246,000 {2021 £nill and a deferred tax credit in respect of previous periods of £1,183,000 {2027 £nil].

10 GOCDWILL

£7000
Cost
At 2 Cctober 2021 3,349
Acquisiion of subsidiary 2,101
At 1 October 2022 5,450
Accumvulated impairment losses
At 2 October 2021 3,349
Charge in the period -
At T October 2022 3,349
Cearrying anauni
£1 1 Qeteber 20772 4,101

At 2 Ocicber 2021

The Group acguired 60% of Pro Tiler Lmited during the year and recognized £2,100,657 of goodwill relatng to this puichase The
carryirg value of impairment losses reloles 1o the gooda ill recognised on the acquisition of Parkside Ceranics limited in 2017 and
Sirater Tiles limited in 2019, that were wiitten down to ail in a prici year

Where a bolance exists. the Group lesls goadwill annually for impairment o more frequenily if there are indications that goodwill

might be impaired.



143

OUR FINANCIALS

10 GOODWILL CONTINUED
The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management for the nexl five
years and extrapolales cash flows for the follewing years. The growth rate applied does not exceed the average longterm growth

rate for the relevant markets

The recoverable amounis are determined from value-inuse calculotions. The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations are those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period.

The Group anlicipates thal its ambilion o become carbon reufral across Scopes 1 & 2 by 2030 will likely result in o level of
oddifional cost being incuned 1o achieve this in futuie years. Anclysis to quantify the level of increased cost is engoing end there

is currently no estimate of cost incorporated into the future cash flows used in the assessment for goodwill impairment. The key
assumptions underlying the anficipoted future cash flows are prudent, so on increase in fuiure costs associoted with meefing climate
targets should not materiolly impact the Group's current year assessment of recoverable amounts.

Management estimates discount rales based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital. The growth raies of 1.5% are based
on indusiry growth forecasts. Changes in seliing prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market. Discounted cash flows were calculated using a pretax rate of 18 6%

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer

Brand relationships Software Total

£000 £'000 £000 £'000
Cost
Restated ot 26 September 2020 1,064 1042 @81 3,087
Additions! - - 194 194
Restated at 2 October 20217 1,064 1,042 1,175 3,281
Additions - - 115 115
Acquisition of subsidiary undeniaking 5,341 - - 5,341
Disposal - - 13) (5
At T October 2022 6,405 1,042 1,285 8,732
Accumvulated amortisation
At 26 September 2020 1,064 1,042 521 2,627
Amorlisaticn charge for the period - - 186 186
AL 2 October 2021 1,064 1,042 707 7,813
Amcrtisation charge for the period 292 — 208 500
Disposal - - 4] 14
At 1 October 2022 1,356 1,042 o911 3,309
Carrying amount
At 1 October 2022 5,049 - 374 5,423

- - 468 468

At 2 October 2021

1 See note 2iAl for ar explaration of the prior year sestarement

The Group acguired 60% of Pro Tiler Limited during the year and recognised £5,34 1,000 brand valve relating fo this purchase. The
carrying vezlue of impairment losses relates to the brand and trademarks recognised an the acquisition of Porkside Ceramics Limited in
2G17 and Stato Tiles Limited in 2019, that were written down to il i 6 priot year

Schiware iz amomised over its estimated useful le of four vears The Pro Tider brand will be amortised ever o paned of ten years,
Amorhsation s included within administaiive cosls within the Corsolidated Statement of Financial Perfermance.
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land and buildings

Freehold
and iong Short  Fixiures and Motor Plant and
leasehold leasehold fittings vehicles Machinery Total
£000 £000 £°000 £'0600 £000 £000

Cost
At 26 September 2020 1,612 1,566 86,803 72 - Q0,053
Additions - 174 4,020 27 - 4,221
Disposals (308 {187} [4,414) (63} - 4,972
At 2 October 2021 1,304 1,553 86,409 36 - 89 302
Additions - 252 2775 - 63 3,090
Disposals - 1130} 2,291} (142} {8) (2,571}
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings 82 215 246 543
At 1 October 2022 1,304 1,675 86,975 109 301 90,364
Accumulated depreciation
At 26 September 2020 268 1,087 61,463 65 - 62,883
Charge for the period 31 1 6,120 o) - 6,268
Reversal of impairment - {84) {520} - - {604)
Eliminated on disposals 110) {109 {2,748) [58) - 12,925)
At 2 October 2021 289 1,005 64,315 13 - 65,622
Charge for the period 26 28 5454 15 16 5,609
Impairment charge - (3] 243 - - 240
Eliminated on disposals - (95) {1,894) {3 {3) {1,995
At 1 October 2022 315 1,005 68,118 25 13 69,476
Carrying amount
At 1 October 2022 989 670 18,857 84 288 20,888
At 2 October 2021 1,015 548 22,094 23 - 23,680

Cumulalive finance costs capitalised in the cost of tangible fixed assets amount to £nil {2021: £nill. Contractual commitments for the
acquisition of property, plont and equipment are detoiled in note 26

During the period, the Group has continued to review the performance of its store portfolio and the Group has provided for the

net book value of assets in relation to 15 slores {2071 seven) hat are impaired. The carrying value of these assets has been fully
provided for in the periad, with en increase in the provision of £240,000 in the peried {2021 £604,000 decrease in the provision)
included within other cperating expenses.

All assets classified as property, plant and equipment are UK based.
13 SUBSIDIARIES

Alist of ol subsidiories, including the name, country of incorporation and proporion of ownership inferess is given in note 4 1o the
Company only financicl statements,
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14 LEASES
AS A |ESSEE
Rightofuse assets included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position were as follows:
tand and
buildings Equipment Total
£000 £'000 £000
At 26 September 2020 103,388 2,870 106,258
Additions 14,876 204 15,080
Disposais 13,010 - 13,010
Deprecialion 119,018} [1,4%0) [20,508)
Impairment {2,402} - {2,402)
At 2 October 2021 93,834 1,584 95,418
Additions G521 1,882 11,403
Acquisition of subsidiary undertaking 2,155 - 2,155
Disposals [746) - {746)
Depreciation 117,084] (1,128) {18,212)
Impairment (1,473} - {1,473)
At 1 October 2022 86,207 2,338 88,545
lease liohilities included in the Consolidated Statement of Financicl Position were as follows:
Land and
buildings Equipment Total
£°000 2000 £'000
At 26 September 2020 {121,285} {2,871} {124,156}
Additions [15,220) {2071} (15421
Disposals 5213 - 5213
Interest {3,.678) [50) {3,728)
Repayment of lease liabilities 25,192 1,562 26,754
At 2 October 2021 {109,778) {1,560} {111,338}
Additions [¢,429) {1,860Q) 11,289
Acquisition of subsidiary undertaking 12,155} - (2.155)
Dispasals 2,227 - 2,227
Interest {3,573) 53] {3,626
Repayment of lease liabilities 22,010 1,243 23,253
At 1 October 2022 {100,698) (2,230) (102,928}
The maturity analysis of the lease liabilities is as follows:
2022 2071
£°000 £°000
Current {18,187} {12,521]
MNoncutrent {84,741} G1,B17]
(102,928) (111,338)
The remaining corbactuol maturnes of the lease liobiliies. which are gross and wraiicounted . are as follows
2022 Sl
£000 = LG
Less thon one year 21,787 22912
One to Tive years 61,484 &4.116
Mare than five years 44,396 47 582
Totol urdiscounted lease habilty 127,667 134,610
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14 LEASES CONTINUED
The following amounts have been recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Performance:

Land ond
buildings Eguipment Total
2022 2022 2022
£7000 £7000 £°000
Depreciation of rightofuse assets 17,084 1,128 18,212
impairment of rightof-use ossets 1,473 - 1,473
Interest expense 3,573 53 3,626
Expenses relating fo shorHerm leases - 57 57
Holdover lease expense 1,764 433 2,196
lond and
buildings Equipment Total
2021 2021 202
£'000 £'000 £000
Depreciation of rightofuse assets 12.018 1,490 20,508
lmpairment of rightofuse assets 2,402 - 2,402
Intersst expense 3,678 50 3,728
Expenses relafing fo shattterm leases 6 - G6
Haldover lease expense 857 ~ 857
The total cash outflow for leases during the financial period was £23 .2 million (2021 £26 8 milfion),
AS A LESSOR
lease income from lease confracts in which the Group acls as o lessor is as below.
2022 2021
£000 £'000
lease income {from operating leases) 430 413
Finance income lfrom finance leases) 65 76

The Group leases oul a small number of properties, some of which are classified as opemating leases, as they do not fransfer
substantially all of the nsks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the ossets.

The following table sets out & maturity analysis of lease payments, shawing the undiscounted iease payments to be receved after
the reporting date

2022 2021
£000 £000
Less than one yeor 214 214
Ore to five yeors 87 300
Moie than five yeors - -
Total undiscounted lease payments receivable 301 514

Some of the properties that the Gioup leases out are dlossified us finance leases These are shown as oiher inancial assets on
the Cansalidated Statement of Financial Position,
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14 LEASES CONTINUED
The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease receivabiles, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after

the reporting dale:

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
less thon one year 599 582
One io five yeors 1,317 1,511
More than five years 800 1,048
Total undiscounted lease paymenls receivable 2,716 3,141
Less: uneaimed finance income {227) i288)
Present value of minimum lease payments receivable 2,489 2,853
Current 542 5i8
Non-current 1,947 2,335
2,489 2,853

IMPAIRMENT

At the end of the financial year the carrying volue of assefs, including rightof-use leose assels, was assessed against their recoverable
omount determined by reference 1o their valveinuse, Assels and expected cash lows were assessed at the lowest identitiable level

of Cash Generating Unit {"CGU"} where the expected cash inflows and outflows of each CGU were expected 1o be independent of
those incurred by other CGUs. Individual setail stores are considered to be seporate CGUs.

The value-in-use calculations require the application of @ number of assumptions.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of recoverable amounts are set out below:

Assumption Value Sensitivity

Pre-tax discount rate  This is calculated by eference to the weighted An increase in pretax discount rate of 500bps ot
average cost of capital of the Group. Al the year  yearend would resull in an increase in value of
end, the pretax discount iate applied 1o forscast  impairments of £0.1 million.
cash flows wos 14.6%.

Long-term growth rate This s the average growth rate used to A decrease in the longterm growth rate of
extrapelate cash flows beyond the budget 1400hbps of yearend would result in an increase
pericd. At the yearend, a longrerm growth rate in value of impairments of £6.1 million.
ot 1.5% was opplied.

Cash flow forecasts Cash flows are derived from extropolation of CGU cosh flows are expected fo grow in each
trading performance of identified CGUs. Key year up fo perpetulty. A reduction of 200bps to
assumplions include: the forecast cash flow growth rates would lead
- . fo an increcse in impairment for the year of

expecied yearon-year growth in cash €01 million

contributions for stores; and

A 10% increase in expected cash flows
ossociated with the replocement of leased
assels of the end of lease terms would inceose
impaitments for the perod by £0.1 million,

®  expected cash flows associated with the
replacement of leased assets expected to
be incurred on the matunity of lease terms
for endsting leoses.




] 48 TOPPS TILES PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE 52-WEEK PERIOD ENDED 1 OCTORER 2022

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

15 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
The following are the deferred tax assels/[liabilities] recognised by the Group and movements therean during the current and prior

repartting petiod:
Accolerated

Property tax Share-based Stock Intangible

related items  depreciation payments provisi ¥ Total

£°000 £'000 £7000 £000 £000 £'000

Restated at 26 September 2020 669 708 88 7 - 1,472

Credit/[charge} to income 1149} {1,249 262 {7 - {1,143)

Charge in respect of previous periods {48) 197} - - - {145
Effect of tax rate change on opening

balance 196 203 28 - - 427

Charge 1o equity - - A7) - - {47}

Restated at 2 October 2021’ 668 {435) 331 - - 564

Charge fo income (143} (29 [255) - 73 {360

Credi in respect of previous periods - 1,183 - - - 1,183

Recognition an acquisition of subsidiary - - - - {1,273) (1,273

At 1 October 2022 519 719 76 - {1,200) 114

i See nole 2{A) lor an explanaton of the prior year restarement

A UK corporation rale of 25% (effective 1 April 2023} was substantively enacted on 24 May 2621, This wifl increase the Company’s
fulure current tax charge accordingly The deferred tox asset af 1 October 2022 has been calculated at 25% (2021 25%),

16 INVENTORIES

2022 2021
£000 £'000
Goods for resale 38,605 32,758

Goods for resale includes a net realisable value provision of £1,906,000 {2021: £1,575,000). Wiitedowns of inventories to net
realisable value amounted to £4,254,000 (2021 £4,598,000} and were recognised as an expense during the period, included

within cost of sales in the Consalidated Statement of Financial Performance

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
E'000 2000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts receivable for the scle of goods 3,469 1,820
Allowance for expected credit losses {306) 1279
Other debtors and prepayments
~ Rent and rates 861 1,089
— Other 2,395 1,890
6,419 4,538

The Directors consider that the camying omeunt of frade and other 1eceivables at 1 October 2022 and 2 October 2021
approximates Io their fair value on the basis of discounted cash flow analysis

CREDIT RISK

The Grouo's prncipal financial assets ae bank balances and cast and hade receiables,

The Group: considers thot il has no significant concentraton of credit risk The majonty of sales in the business are cashbased soles 1n
the stares

Total fiode receivables [net of expected credit Josses /doubful debis) neld by the Group ar 1 Oclober 2022 amounted 10 £3 2 milion
(2021 £1 & million). These amounts mainly refate to sundry trade accounl generated sales I relaion fo hese sales, the average
credit peried taken is 48 doys (2021: 55 days! and no interest 1s chorged on the receivakles

The Group will write off, either panially or in full, the gross carrying amourt of o finarcial asset when there 15 no realistic prospect

of 1ecaveny. This 15 usually the case when it is determined that the debtor does not have the assets or souices of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows o repuy the omounts subject 1o the writeoff.
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED
Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system lo ossess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. limits and scoring attibuted to customers are reviewed periodically.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £nil {2021: £nil) which are past due at the
reporting date for which the Group has not provided provisions for impairment os there has nol been a significant change in credil
quality and the omounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collatercl over these balances.

The allowance for expected credit losses /allowance for doubfful debts was £306,000 by the end of the period (2021: £279,000).
Given the minimal receivable bolance, the Direclors believe that there is no fusther credit provision required in excess of the allowance
for expected credit losses/allewance for doubtful debts.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified appruuch fo measuring expected credit losses which uses o lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade and other receivables and accrued income.

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Gioup and shorterm bank deposits net of bank overdrafts, where there is @
right of offset, with an criginal maturity of thiee months or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.
A breakdown of significani bank and cash balances by currency is as follows:

3022 2021
£000 £:000
Sterling 15,543 27064
US dollar 3%l 495
Euro 307 230
Yolal cash and cash equivalents 16,241 27 78%

Cash and cash equivatents are in the scope of ihe expected credit loss model under IFES ©, however balances are held with
recognised financia! inshitutions and therefore the expected impairment loss is considered 1o be minimal.

19 BANK LOANS

2022 2021
£000 £000
Bank loans {oll steding) - (106}
2022 2021
£°000 £:000
The borowings are repayable as foflows.
On demand or within one year - -
less: tofal unamostised issue costs - {106}
- {106)

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of the bank loan at 1 Qetober 2022 and 2 Cetober 2021 approximates to iis fair
value since the amounts relale to floating rate debt.

The average interest rates paid on the loan were as follows:
2022 20671
:ya V\

loans
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19 BANK LOANS CONTINUED
The foliowing is a reconciliation of changes in financial liabilities to movement in cash from financing activities:

Lease Current  Non-current Unamortised

liabilities borrowings  borrowings issue costs

£°000 £000 £7000 £000
As at 26 September 2020 124,156 5,000 - {134)
Repayment of bank loan - 15,000 - -
Repayment of lease liabilities (26,754] - - -
Additions/disposals of lease libifites 10,208 - - -
Interest accrued on lease liabilities 3,728 - - -
Issue costs incurred in the year - - - {98}
Amortisation of issue cosis - - - 126
As ot 2 October 2021 111,338 - - {106}
Repayment of lease liabilities (23,253) - - -
Naon-cash movement — Lleose additions and disposals 2,062 - - -
Non-cash movement — leases acquired with business combination 2,155 - - -
Interest accrued on lease liahilities 3.626 - - -
Debt acquired through company ocquisition - {468} - -
Repayment of debt - 468 - -
Amaortisation of issue casts - - - 106
As at 1 October 2022 102,928 - - -

A1 02 October 2022, the Group had g revolving credit facility 10 June 2023 of £39 O million. As ol the financial period end, Enil
of this was drawn (2021: £nill, leaving £39.0 million of undrawn commitied banking facilities. The loan facility contains financiol

covenanls which are tested on o biannual bosis The Group did not breach any covenants in the pericd

On 21 Cclober 2022, the Group enfered into a new three=ysar revolving credit facility arrangement for £30 O million expinng in

Cetober 2025 with an option to extend for o further two years,

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021
£000 000

Amounts falling due within one yeor
Trade payebles 17,388 17,439
Other payables 6,106 8,823
Accruals 15,617 15,840
Deferred income 1,001 @56
Conirac! liabilities 3,538 4,367
43,650 47,425

Trade poyables and accruals principoly comprise amounts outstanding for trode purchoses and engoing costs. The average credit

period taken for frade purchases is 41 days (2021: 47 doys). No interes! is charged on these payables.

The Directers consider that the carrying amount of rade payables ol 1 October 2022 ard 02 Ociober 2021 approximales fo thei

foir value on the bosis of discounted cash flow anabysis

Accruals includes amounts held in respect of expected customer returns of £7,131.G00 (2021 £1,105 000

Deferred income elates ‘o conaderaton for trader |oyoHy noints earned but aot vet redeemed The value of deflered income as o

02 October 2021 that was recognised as revenue for the 52 weeks ended 7 October 20272 was £759,000

Certract Yiabiiities 1elate to depasits received from customers for orders not yet lulifled. The value of contract Tiobilties os ar 02

October 2021 that was 1ecognised as revenue for the 52 weeks ended 1 Qciober 2022 was £4,57%,000.
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21 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital o ensure that entities in the Group will be able 1o continue os @ going concern while maximising
the return 1o stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Gioup's overall Strategy remains unchanged
from 2021. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 19, cash and cash
eauivalents disclosed in note 18 and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capitel, reserves and
accumulated losses as disclosed in notes 23 1o 25 ond in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

The Group is nol subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Details of the significant acconnting policies and inethods adopled, including the crileria for recognition, the basis of measurement
and the basis on which income and expenses are recagnised, in respect of each class of financial asset, finoncial licbility and equity
insfrument, are disclosed in note 2Q 1o the finoncial statements.

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Carrying
valve and
fair value

2022
£000
Financial assets
Amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents] 21,893
Foir value through profil and loss 518
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 142,039
Carrying
value and
fair value
2021
£000
Financial assets
Amortised cost lincluding cash and cash equivaltents) 32162
Fair value through profit and loss 43
Financial liabilities
153,440

Amortised cosl

The Group considers itself 1o be exposed 1o nsks on financial instuments, including market risk {including currency riskl, credit nsk,
liquidity risk and cash flow interest rote sk

The Group seeks to mitigate the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to hedge these tisk exposures
economically. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group's policies approved by the Board of Directors, which provide
wiitien principtes on foreign exchange risk, interest rote risk, credit risk, the vse of financial dervatives and non-derivative financicl
inshuments, and the invesimeni of excess fiquidity. The Group does not enter into or frade financial instrumants, including derivative
linancial instruments, for speculative purposes

MARKET RISK

The Group's aclivities expose it primanly fo the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and inferast rates. The
Group enlers info forword foreign exchonge contracts 1o hedge the evchange rate risk arising on the import of goods

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group underickes certoin fransaclions denominaled in fOfefgn currencies Herce exposures 1o exchonge rate Huciuahons arse
Exchange rale exposuses are managed within approved polcy parameters utdising forward foreign exchange contracts.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s [orewgn cuntency dencrminaled monetary assels and monetary liabiles of the repoeiting dare are

as follows.
Assets Liabilities
2022 207 | 2022 2071
£000 £000 £:000 L1000
Euro 339 738 4,282 2,876

US dollar de4 495 414 155
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27 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

FOREIGN CURRENCY SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The Group is mainly exposed 1o the currencies of Chino, India, Brazil and Turkey (US dollar currency} and to various European
countries (euro} as a result of inventory purchases. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease
in sterling against the relevant foreign currencies. Ten per cent represents mancgement’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in fareign exchange rates, basad on histaric volatility. The sensdivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their franslation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number befow
indicates an increase in profit and other equity where sterling strengthens 10% against the relevaal currency

2022 2021
£'000 €000
Protit or loss movement on o 10% strengthening in sterling against the euro 358 240
Profit or loss movement on a 10% strengihening in sterling against the US dollar 2 3!
Profit or loss movement on a 10% weakening in sterding against the euro {438) (293)
Profit or loss movement on a 10% weckening in sterling against the US dollar {2) (38)

CURRENCY DERIVATIVES
The Group utilises cumrency derivatives to hedge significant future fransactions and cash flows. The Gioup uses foreign cutrency
forward contracts in the management of its exchange rate exposures. The contracts are denominated in US dollars and euros.

At the balance sheet date, the total notional amounts of outstcnding forward foreign exchcnge contracts that the Group has commitied
1o are as below:

2022 2021
£000 £'000
Forward foreign exchange contracts 12,229 10,867

These arrangements are designed 1o address significant exchonge exposures for the first half of 2023 ond are rerewed on o
revolving basis os required.

At 1 Oclober 20272 the fair value of the Group's currency denvatives is a gain of £518,177 within other debiors end prepayments
Inole 17){2021: gain of £63,006 within other debfors and prepayments [nate 1.7},

Gains of £455,171 have been included in cost of sales during the period (2021 £39,589 gain).

INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group is not exposed 1o inlerest rate risk as the Group hos no bank debt

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

Credit risk refers to the risk that o counterparty will default on its contractual obligatiens, resulting in financial loss 1o the Group
Management have considered the counterparly risk associated with the cash ond derivative balances and do not consider there to
be a material risk. The Group has a policy of enly dealing with creditworthy counterparties. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an external credit scoring system lo assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer
Limits and scoring afiributed to customers are reviewed periodically. Trade recevables are minimai, consisting of o number of sundry
trade accounts; further information is provided in note 17.

The canying amount of financial assets recorded in the finoncial statements, which is net of expected credit losses, represents the
Group's maximum exposure 1o credit risk without taking account of the value of any collaleral obiained

LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

Uliimate responsibility for liquidity nsk management rests with the Board of Directors. The Group maneges liquidity risk by maintaining
odequale reserves, bonking fociliies and borrowing faclifies by continuously monitoring forecast and aciual cash flows and malching
the maturity profiles f inanciol assers and licbiliies.
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2T FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

LIGQUIDITY AND INTEREST RISK TABLES

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its nonderivative financial liabilities. The table includes both
inlerest and principal cash flows.

Less than 1-3 3 months 1-5 5+
1 month months to 1 yoar yeao's years Tetal
2022 £7000 £'000 £000 £/000 £000 £7000
Naon-interest bearing 39,111 - - - - 39,111
lease liabilities 1,443 5,218 15,126 61,484 44,396 127,667
Variable interest rote instruments - - - - - -
tass than 1-3 3 months 1-5 5+
| month months 1o 1 year vears years Tolal
2021 £000 5000 £000 £'000 000 £'000
Non-interest bearing 42,102 - - - - 42102
lease liabilities 1,956 4,844 16,112 64,116 47 582 134,610

Varigble interest rate instruments - -

The Group is financed through a £39.0 millicn {2021: £39.G million) revalving credit facility, of which £nil {2021 £nill was utilised.
At the balance sheet date, the total unused amount of financing facilifies was £39.0 million {2021: £39.0 million].

On 21 QOctober 2022, the Group entered inlo o new threeyear revolving credit facility arrangement for £3C.0m, expiring in
October 2025 with an option to extend for a further two years.

The Group expects to meel its other obligations from operating cash flows and proceeds of maturing financicl assefs.

The following table delails the Group’s liquidity analysis tor its derivative finarcial instruments. The table has been diawn up based on
the undiscounted net cash inflows/{outilows) on the derivative instruments that sefle on @ net basis and the undiscounted gross inflows
and {outflows) on those derivatives that require gross setflement. When the amount payable or receivabie is not fixed, the amount
disclosed has been delermined by reference to the projected interest and foreign currency rates os iliustraled by the yield curves
exishng at the reporting date.

Less than 1-3 3 months 1-5 5+
1 month months te 1 year yeurs yeoars Total
2022 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £°000
Foreign exchange forward contracts
paymenls (2,147) (4,440) (5,642} - - (12,229)
Foreign exchange forwaid contracts
receipts 2,293 4,595 5,642 - - 12,530
less than 1-3 3 months 1-5 54
1 morth months to 1 year years vears Totol
20210 £°000 £7000 £'000 £'000 E000 £000
Foreign exchange forward contiacts
paymenis |2,009) (1,862 16,906 - - {10,867}
Foreign exchange forward contracts
receipts 2,004 1,875 6,962 - - 10,931

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The loir volues of financiol assets and financial iobilifes are determined as taliows:

Foreign cuntent y forwoid contracls ore meosuien wing quoted lorwaid exchange otes and yistd corves denved fiom quoted interen
rates malching maturites of the contracts.

The fair volues are therefore calegorised s Level 2 {2021 level 2}, based or the degree o which the fair value is observable level

2 fuir volue mensurerments are those derived from inputs other than uradiusted guoted prices in aciive markets [level 1 categorisation)
that are observable for the asset or liobility, ether dieclly (e as prices) or indirectly {i.e. derived from prices).
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22 PROVISIONS

2022 2021

£000 £000

Dilapidations provision 2,465 2,322
Earn out liability ‘ 1,581 -
4,046 2,322

Current 352 353
Non-current 3.694 1,969
4,046 2,322

Dilapidations Earn out

provision liability Total

£000 £7000 £'000

At 2 October 2021 2,322 - 2,322
Created in the year 819 1,581 2.400
Utilisation of provision [676) - (676)
At 1 October 2022 2,465 1,581 4,046

The dilopidatiions provision represents management’s best estimate of the Group's liability under its property lease arrangements based
on pas! experience and is expected 1o be utilised over the lease term of the various properties {average of 17 years which includes
on estimation of future renewals ofter the current leases end).

The discount rate used 1o colculate the present value of property provisions is 5.0% (2021: 5 5%). A 10% reduction in discount rate
waould lead to an increcse in property provisions of £55,000 [2021: £54,000).

The earn out liability represents remuneration costs in relation to the purchase of the remaining 40% of Pra Tiler Limited

23 SHARE CAPITAL

022 2021 2022 2021
Shares Shores £'000 £000
Allotted, issued and fully paid ordinary shares of 3.33p
{2021- 3 33p)
At the slart of the periad 196,662,131 196,443,323 6,555 6,548
lssued in the period 19,687 218,808 1 7
At the end of the period 196,681,818 196,662,131 6,556 6,555

During the period the Group issued 19,687 {2021: 218,808} ordinary shares with o nominal value of £656 (2021 £7,294)
under share option schemes for an aggregate cash consideration of £12,600 {2021 £140,037).

The authorised share capital of the Group is £8,000,000C (2021 £8,000,000), which consists of 240,000,000 ordinary shares
[2021: 240,000,000).

The holders of ordinary shares are entifled to receive dividends as declared trom time to time and are entiled to one vote per share
at meelings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard 16 the Company's residual assets.

24 SHARE PREMIUM

2022 2021
£000 000
At start of the period 2,625 2,492
Premium on issue of new shares L 11 133
Ai end of the period 2,634 2025
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25 OWN SHARES
2022 2021
£7000 £'000
Al start of the period {1,218} (1,483
Acquired in the pericd {207} -
Disposed of on issue in the period 1,008 267
At end of the peried {8415) i1,21¢)

A subsidiary of the Group holds 796,486 12021: 1,259,275} shares with o nominal value of £414,676 acquired for an average
price of £0.52 per share (2021: £1,216,479 acquired for an avarnge price of £0.97 pei shere] and therefore these have been
clnssed as own shares. These shares are held in an employee benefit tryst.

26 FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
A) CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
At the end of the period there were capital commitments contracted of £ail (2021 Enil)

B} PENSION ARRANGEMENTS

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme lfor employees The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group in independently administered funds. The pension cost charge represents contnbutions payable by the Group fo
the funds and amounrted to £1,039,000 (2021: £1,109,000). At the period end, the Group holds outstanding contributions of

£235,604 (2021: £203,595).
C) LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the balance sheet dale, the Group had no cutstanding commitments for fulure minimum lease payments under noncancellable
operafing leases (20271 none|.

27 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Group operates fowr {2021 four) share ophon schemes in relation 1o Group employees; these ore the employee share purchase
plans, the 2013 long-Term Incentive Plan, the 2020 long-Term Incentive Plan and the 2020 Restricled Stock Unit Plan.

EMPLOYEE SHARE PURCHASE PLANS

Employee share purchase plans are open to almost all employees and there are no specific vasting conditions other than the
requirement for continued employee service. The share plans prowide for a purchase price equal 1o the average market price over the
three days priar to the date of grant, less 20%. The shares can be purchased during o twoweek period each tinancicl peried. The
shares purchased ore generally placed in the employee share savings plan for o three- or five-year period.

Movements in share-based payment pian opfions ore summarised as follows:

2022 2021
Weighted ‘Weighted
average avergge exercise
Number of exercise price  Number of shae pitce
share options £ optors £
Cutstanding al beginning of the period 4,940,443 0.50 42339091 0.5¢
{ssued during the periad 1,668,414 0.53 3,058,132 0.46
Expired during the period (164,442) 0.52 (749 549} 074
Forfeited during the peniod {1,380,846) 0.50 (1.451,424) 0.55
Exercised during the period (627,377) 0.51 256,001 062
Quistanding at end of the pericd 4,436,192 0.51 4.940,443 0 50
Exercizable at end of the period - - - -
Dunng the financial period, the Group granted 1,468,414 share options under the exishing share opton scheme dua 1o vest in April

2025 with a lair value of £257,036
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27 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED
The inputs 1o the Black—Scholes Madel for the employee threeyear Employee Share Purchase Plans issued in the year are as follows:

Three-year plan

Weighted average share price — pence 62.40
Weighted average exercise price — pence 52.64
Expected volatility — % 39.39
Expecied life — years 3.0
Riskfree rafe of interest - % 1.0558
Dividend yield — % 4.97

Expected volafility was deferminad by calculating the historical volatility of the Group's share price over the previous three years
{2021 three years).

The weighted average remaining contractual lifte of the share aptions outstanding at the end of the peried is 1.91 years
(2021: 2.23 years).

The exercise price for share opfions under the share save scheme range from 46.30 pence fo 60.35 pence.

The weighted average share price af the date of exercise of options exercised during the year ended 1 October 2022 is 55 pence
(2027 restated: 71 pence}.

2013 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN
Long-Term Incentive Plans have been granted fo senior management and have a vesting period of three years. Veshng is subject to
achievement of ceriain performance condifions which are detailed in the Remuneration Report.

Maovements in the 2013 lengTerm Incentive Plan options are summarised as follows.

2022 2021
Weighted Weighted
average averoge
Number of exercise price MNomber of share exercise price
share options £ options £
Qutstanding af beginning of the period 6,565,167 - 6,617,309 -
lssued during the period 2,231,740 - 2,949924 -
Forfeited during the period (1,681,100} - (2,822,392 -
Exercised during the pericd (183,371) - 1179,674) -
Outstanding at end of the penod 6,932,436 - 6,565,167 -
Exercisable at end of the period 540,142 - 723,513 -

During the financicl period, the Group granted 2,231,740 share options under the exisling share option scheme due to vest in
December 2024 with a fair value of £1,323,600.

The inpuls 1c the Black-Scheles model ore as follows:

Weighted average share price — pence 68
Weighted average exercise price — pence MNil
Expected volatility - % 39 34
Expecied life — years 3.00
Risk-friee rate of inferest — % 0 44
Dwidend yield — % 456

Expecled volatidity for the additional share eptions was determined by colculanng the nistoncal volatility cf the Group's share price
over the previous one, two and three years (2021, one, twe and thiee years!.

The weighted avercge remanning coniractual e of shaie options outstanding al the end of *he penod 15 7 80 yews (2021 7 72 veas)

The weighted overage shote prce o the date of exsrcise of options exercised dunng the year ended 1 Georober 2022 15 3975
pence (7021 64.75 pence}
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27 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED

2020 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

Under the plar a number of share options were gronted to monagement level employess across the Group. These options wese due
1o vest in December 2020 subject 1o the achievement of certain performance criteria, however these were not met and the scheme

has kapsed.

Mavements in 2020 leng-Term Incentive Plan options are summarised as follows:

2022 2021
Weighted Weighted
averoge averoge exercise
Number of exercise price Number ol share price
share options £ options £
Quitsionding at beginning of the period - - 1,889,443 7
Forfeited during the period - - {1,889.243} -

Qutstanding at end of the perniod -

The weighted average remaining conlractuol life of share opticns outstanding at the end of the period is nil years {2021 nil years)

2020 RESTRICTED STOCK PLAN
Under the ploan o number of shore options were granted to management level employess across the Group. There ore three
sets of options which are due 1o vest in December 2022, December 2023 and December 2024. One set of opfions vested in

December 2021

Movemerts in the 2020 Restrictled Stock Plan options which vested in December 2021 are summarised as follows:

2022 2071
Weighted Weighted
cverage average
Number of exercise price Number of shore exeIcIse price
share options £ oplions <
Qutstanding af beginning of the pericd 76,628 - - -
Issued during the period - - 76,628 -
Exercised during the period (48,641} - - -
Outsianding ot end of the period 27,987 - 76,628 -

The weighted average share price at the dale of exercise of oplions exercised during the year ended 1 October 2022 is 52.50
pence {2021, £nil penca).

Movements in 2020 Restricted Stock Plan options due to vest in December 2022 are summarised as follows,

2022 2021
Weighted Werghtea
average average
Number of exercise price Number of shoe exerese price
share options £ options £
Quistanding at beginning of the period 153,329 - - -
Issued dunng the period - - 153,329 -
Forfeited during the pericd {21,166) - - -
Ouistanding at end of the period 132,163 - 153,329 -
Movements in 2020 Restricted Sicck Plan cptions due to vest in December 2023 are summarised as folfows:
2022 2021
Weighted Neigh'ed
ﬂvﬁruge Qyeraqs
Number of exercise price [Nonber o e At SE DICE
share options £ ophivr.s £
Ouisianding ol beginning of the pencd 229,888 - - -
Issued during the period - - 229,888 -
Forfeited during the pencd (57,084) - - -

Outsianding of end of ihe pericd 172,804 = 229,888 -
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27 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED
Movements in 2020 Restricted Stock Plan options due lo vest in Decembsr 2024 are summarised as follows:

2022 2021
Weighted Weightod
ﬂvﬂrﬂge average
Number of exercise price Number of share exercise price
share options £ oplions £
Outstanding af beginning of the period - - - -
lssued during the period 229,348 - _ _
Forferted during the period {46,578) - - -
Outstanding at end of the periad 182,770 - - -

During the financial period, the Group granted 229,348 share options under the new share option scheme due to vest in December
2024 with a fair valve of £136,022.

The inputs 1o the Black-Scholes mode! are as follows:

Weighted average share price — pence 68
Weighted average exercise price — pence Nl
Expected volaiility — % 39.34
Expected life — yeors 2.00
Riskdree rate of interest — % 0.44
Dividend yield — % 4.56

Expected volatility for the additional share options was determined by caleulating the historical volatilty of the Groug's share price
over the previous one, two and three years.

The weighted average remaining controctual life of share oplions culstanding af the end of the period 15 8 56 years 12021: $.21 yeors),

In total, the Group recognised a fotal expense of £519,500{2021: £677,287 expensel reloting 1o sharebased payments.

28 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY
The Group acquired a controlling 60% shareholding of Pro Tiler Limited on @ March 2022, for consideration of £5.5 million, of
which £5.3 million was cash paid. The Group will acquire the remaining 40% of the issued share capital from March 2024, based

on an agreed mulliple of profits for the 1 2-month periad o March 2024,

The Group peiformed o purchase price dllocation exercise on Pro Tiler Limited 1o restate assets and liabilities at their fair value.
Separately identifiable intangible assets were recognised in relation to the Pre Tiler brand.,

On acquisition, the Group recognised tangible assets of £1.4 million, including £1.4 millicn of cash, £0.2 million of net working
capital, £0.5 milfier loan and £0.5 million of property, plant and equipment, and inlangible assets consisting of the brand value of
£4.1 million net of deferred tux and goodwill of £2 1 million, logether with @ noncontrolling interest of £2.3 million. The brard asset
will be amorlised over fen years, in line with cur accounting policies.

The future puichase of the remaining 40% of shares in Pro Tiler limited will be accounted for 0s a remuneration expense rather than
conlingent consideration, as required by IFRS 3, due fo certain conditions placed on the selling Sharehalders to remain employed

by the Group during this fime. This expense will be reated as an adjusting ilem over the next two years and will therefore reduce

the Group's stalutery profit in forthcoming ?rodmg periods‘ This expense 1s not freated as a deduciible expense for corporation fax
purposes and therefore the Gioup's effective 1ate of corporation 1ax will increase in FY22 and the next two financiol veors as a 1esult

of this accounting freaiment,
Acquisiton costs of §O 2 millen and remunciaron costs of £1 6 miflon i relakion 1o the 40% share puichose were trealed os
odjusting vems within adjusted profit,
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28 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY CONTINUED
The fair value of the net assets acquired and lighilifies assumed at the acauisition date were:

£°0600
Property, Plant and Equipment 543
Inventorias 1,485
Trade and other receivables 460
Trade ond other payables i1, 74%)
Loan (468)
Cash and cash eguivalents 1,368
Righrofuse lense asser 2,155
lease licbility [2,155)
Brand valuation 5,341
Deterred tax {1,273)
Non-controlling interest {2,283)
Fair value of assets acquired 3,424
Total consideration 5,525

Goodwill 2,101

The residual goodwill recogrised on the acquisition of Pro Tiler Limited represents the proportion of consideration attributable to value
acquired in excess of the separalely identified assets and liabilities presented above

Consideration comprised:

£°000
Cash 5,336
Directors” lean payable to Pro Tiler Limited 189
Total consideration 5,525
The net cash outflow in the cash flow statement in the period was as follows:

£'000
Cash consideration 5336
Cash acguired {1,368)
Net cash ouflow in the cash flow statement 3,968

Since the date of control, the following arounts have been included within the Group's financial stalements for the period (excluding
amortisation of the Pra Tiler brand):

£000
Revenue Q,194
Prafit before tax 576

Had ihe acquisition been included from the start of the periad, £14,673,000 of revenue and £705,000 of profit before tox would
have been included in the Group's financial statements for the period

29 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

MS Galleon AG is a reluted party by virve of their 29.9% sharekolding (58,569,649 ordinary shares) in the Groupss issued share
capital (202 1: 20% shareholding of 38,992,750 ordnary shares).

A1 Octeber 2022 M35 Gallean AG is the awner of Cesanit, a supplier of caramic tiles with whaom the Graup made puichases of
£1 253 2986 during the year which 15 1.1% of cost of goods sold (2021, purchases of £460,000 during vear which s O 5% of cost
of goads sold)

Anamcunt of £113 718 was cutstanding wath Cersarit ol 1 Ociober 2022 {2021, £60,0001 All vonsaciions were conducied on
commerciol arm’s length ferms.

Trarsactions between the Company and its subsidiories, which are releled pames, have been eliminated on consclidanion and cre
not disclosed in this note, in accordance with the exemption availoble under 185 24,

The iemunsralion of the Board of Direciors, who are considered key manugement peisonnel of the Group, was £1 4 milion (2021
£1.2 millien) including share-based payments of £0.1 million {2021 £nif). Further information about the remuneration of the
individual Directorns 15 provided in the Remunerotion Repont on pages 68 1o 72,

30 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT
Oiher than the refinancing of the Group's debt facility per note 19, there have been no post balance sheet events
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 1 OCTOBER 2022

2022 2021

Note £000 £000
Non-current assets
Investiments 4 8,727 2,682
Current assets '
Debtors 5 181,216 137,275
Cash at bank and in hand 7,921 19,479
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6  {124,521) {88,936
Net current assets 64,616 67 B1R
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 7 (1,581) -
Total liabilities (126,102} (88,936
Net assets 71,762 70,500
Capital and reserves
Cclled-up share capital G 6,556 6,555
Share premium account 2,636 2,625
Shore-based payment reserve 5,696 5,176
Capital redemption reserve 20,359 20,359
Other reserve 10 6,200 6,200
Profit and loss account 30,315 29,585
Total shareholders’ funds 71,762 70,500

The Company made a profit after fax for the financial penod ended 1 October 2022 of £8,745,000 (2021: £1,901,C00}.

The financial statements on pages 160 to 169 were opproved by the Board of Directors on 30 November 2022 and signed on its
behalf by:

Rob Parker Stephen Hopson
Direc fors / f !

| Kot
Y(wq\
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

Share-
Called-up Shore based Capital Profit
share premium payment redemption Other and loss
capital aceount reserve reserve reserve account Total
Company £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance ar 26 September 2020 6,548 2,492 4,499 20,359 6,200 27,684 67,782
Profit for the period - - - - — 1,901 1,901
Issue of new shares 7 133 - - - _ 140
Credit 1o equity for equity-seitled
share-based poyments - - 677 - - - 677
Balance at 2 October 2021 6,555 2,625 5176 20,359 6,200 29,585 70,500
Profit for the period - - - - - 8,745 8,745
Dividend poid to equity Shareholders - - - - - {8,015} {8,015
ssue of new shares ] 1 - - - _ 19
Credit 1o equity for equitysetiled
sharebased payments - - 520 - - - 520
Balance at 1 October 2022 6,556 2,636 5696 20,359 6,200 30,315 71,762
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

1 GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
Topps Tiles Ple is a public imited company, limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdam and registered in

England under the Componies Act 2006. The address of the registered office is given on puge 41.

The financial statements of Topps Tiles Plc have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework {FRS 101) issued by the Financial Repening Councit (FRC). These financial stalements hove also been prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies using FRS 101,

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions availoble under that Stondard:
i. The requirements of IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”
ii. The reguirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements” to present comparative information in respect of:
o. Paragroph 73alin of 1AS 1§
b Paragraph 73le) of IAS 1& “Property, Plant and Equipment”
ili. The requirements of IAS 7 “Stalement of Cash Flows”

iv. The requirements of 1AS 24 "Related Porty Disclosures” to disclose related-porty ransactions entered into between two o more
members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the transaction is wholly owned by such o member

v. The requirements of paragraphs 10{d), 1 Olfl, ond 134 to 136 of IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements”

vi. The requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”

Where relevant, equivalent disclosures have been given in the Group financial siailements of which the Company’s resulls are
included,

The financial stalements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. Comparative dota is for the period ended

2 October 2021.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS
In the current period, there were no new or revised standards ond interpretations adopted that have o material impact on the financial
sialements. The Company has not early adopied any other stondard, interprelation or amendment that has been issued b is not yel

effective.

STANDARDS ADOPTED IN CURRENT PERIOD

The following new and revised standards and inferprekations have been adopted in the current year. Their adeption has not had any
significant impact on the amounts reported in these financial stafements.

IFRS 17, “Insurance coniracts” leffective 1 January 2023 or when IFRS @ is cpplied] subject lo endorsement

Amendmenls to IFRS 16 "leases: Covid-19Relaled” rent concessions beyond 30 June 2021 — [effective 1 April 2021)
Amendments to IFRS @, I1AS 30, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 27 (effective 1 January 2021)
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (effective 1 Januory 20272

Narrow scope amendments 1o IFRS 3, 145 16 and 145 37 [effecrive 1 Jonuary 2022)
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2 ACCOUNTING POLKCIES

The principat accounting policies adopted are sel out below. These policies have been applied consistently.

A) GOING CONCERN

When considering the going concern assertion, the Board reviews several factors including a review of risks and uncertainties, the
ability of the Group 1o meet its banking covenants and operate within its banking faciliies bosed on current financial plans, along
with a detailed review of more pessimistic frading scenarios that are deemed severe but plausible. The two downside scenarios
modelled include @ moderate decling in sales and a more severe decline in sales, which result in much lower soles and gross profil
than the base scenario, resulting in worse profit and cosh ouicomes. The more severe downside scenario modelled this year was
based on o profonged periad of macroeconomic stiess in the UK, lasting for two years, with sales falling substantially in each year in
our main brand, Topps Tiles, as well as yearon-year declines in gross margins.

The Groug has already faken a number of actions to strengthen fis liquidity over the recent yecrs, and the scenarios stort from @ position
of relative strength. The going concern review also outlined a range of other mitigating actions that could be taken in a severe but
plousible trading scenario. These included, but were not limiled 1o, savings on store employee costs, savings on central support costs,
reduced marketing aclivity, a reduction of capita! expenditure, management of working capital and suspension of the dividend,

The Group's cash headroom and covenant compliance was reviewed against current lending facilities in beth the base case and the
severe bul plausible downside scenario. The current lending facility wos refinanced in October 2022 and expires of the earliest in
Cctober 2025. In all scenarios, the Board has concluded thal there is sufficient available liquidity and covenant headroom for the Group
1o continue to meet all of its financial commiments as they falt due for the foreseeable fulure, a period of not less than 12 months bom the
date of this report. Accordingly, the Board continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial siatements.

B) FINANCIAL PERIOD
The accounfing period is drawn up to o Soturday within 7 days of 30 September resuliing in financial periads of either 52 or 53

weeks.

Throughout the finoncial siatements, Directors’ Report and Strategic Report, references to 2022 mean "ot 1 Ociober 20227 or the
52 weeks then ended; reterences to 2021 mean "al 2 October 20217 or the 53 weeks then ended.

C) TAXATION

Deferred tox assets and liabilities are offsel when there is o legally enforceable right to set off current tax assels against current fax
liabilities and when they relate o income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to seifle its current fox
assets ond liabiliies on a net basis.

D) INVESTMENTS

Fixed asset investments are shown af cost less provision for impairment.

E) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and financiol liabilities are recognised in the Company’s statement of financiol position when the Company becomes

a parly to the contractua! provisions of the instrument.

Al financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a frade dale where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a
conlract whose ferms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the market concared, and are initiclly
measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets clossified os ot fair value through profit or loss, which
are mitially measured o fair valve.

Finoncial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financiol assets "at feir value through prefit or loss” (FVTPL,
financial assets "at fuir volue through other comprehensive income” (FVOCI}, and financicl assets caried af “amortised cost”. The
classification of financial assets under IFRS @ is generally bosed on the business medel in which @ hnancial asset is managed and
its confractual cash flow characteristics.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other 1eceivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are rot quoted m an active maiket are ininolly recogrised
at fair value and then caried at amertised cotd, using the effective interest method, less any impaiment. Interest income is recogrised
by apglying the effeciive interes! rote, except for shoitterm recercables when the recognition of interest would be immatericl
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

EFFECTIVE INTEREST METHOD

The effective interest method is o methed of coloulofing the omortised cost of o debt instrument and of allocaling interest income over the

relevant period, The effective inferest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipls (including all fees on points paid

or received that form an integral parl of the effective inferest rate, ransaction costs and other premiums or discounts} through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where oppropriate, o shorter period, to the net carrying omount on initial recognition.

income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other thon those financial ossets and liabilities classified
os ot FVTPL.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets, ather than those at EVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment ot each statement of financial positiun Jdate.,
Financial assets are impaired where therc is objecive evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the indial
recognition of the financial asset, ihe estimated fuiure cash flows of the investment have been impacted. The Company assesses on
a ferwarddeoking basis the expected credit losses associated with its financio! assets carried at omortised cost.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequenily assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Company’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolic pas!
the average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables. The Company appiies the IFRS @ simplified approach to measuring expecied credit losses which uses g litetime expected
loss allowance for financial assets.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the assef’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted af the financial asset’s original effecive inferes! rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impaiment loss directly for all financial assets. The Company will write
off, either partially or in full, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset when there is ne realistic prospect of recovery. This is
usually the case when it is determined that the debior does not have the assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows 1o repoy the amounts subject o the writeoff

i, in o subsequent pericd, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment foss is reversed through profit o loss 1o the
extent that the carrying omount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amartised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demond deposits and other shortterm highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to o known omount of cash within ihree months ond are subject to an insigmficant risk of chonges in value.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Company derecagnises c financial asset anly when the confractual nghts 1o the cash flows from the osset expire; or it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity 1 the Company neither transfers
nor relains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Compuny recognises
its refained inlerest in the asset and an associated liabilty for amounts it may have to pay. I the Company retains substantially all

the nsks and rewards of cwnersnip of o transterred financial asset, the Company confinues to recognise the finoncial asset and also
recognises a coliateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
Financial lickitiies and equity instruments are clossified according 1o the substance of the confractual orrangements enfered inlo. An

equity instument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assels of the Company after deducting all of its Fabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, nat of direct issue costs.

Financial iabilines that are classified as FYTPL relate 1o derivotives that are nol dewgnated and effective as o hedging melrumer
Financial lishilies at FYTPL are stated ot fair value, with an; tesultant gon or loss recognised in profit or loss.

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Other financial liabilities. including bonowings, ore initially measned ot fair volue, net of ronsaction costs Ciher narcial liahilities
are subsequenily meosured ol amortised cost using the elfeciive interest method, with interest expense recegnised on an effeciive
yeld basis. The ellfective nterest method is o method of calculaling the amertised cost of o firancial hobility and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant penod. The effechive interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through
the expected life of the finuncial liability, or, whete appropricle, a sharter penad, to the net carrying amount an initial recognition.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
The Company derecognises firancial licbiliies when, and cnly when, the Compary’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they axpire
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
F) DIVIDENDS
Dividends poyable are recorded in the financial statements in the year in which they are approved by the Company's Sharehclders

G) FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Interest receivable or payable is recognised on accrual basis.

H) SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Company has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 “Share-hased Payments”.

The Company issues equitysefiled sharebased poyments fo certain employees. Equitysetled share-based paymenits are measured at
fair value {excluding the effect of nonmarketbased vesting conditions) ot the date of grant. The fair value determined ot the grant date
of the share-bnsed payment is expensed on o shaightline basis over the vesting period, based on the Company’s estimate of shares
thet will eventually vest, Fair value is measured by use of the Black—Scholes model.

The Company provides employses with the obility o purchase the Company’s ardinary shares at 80% of the current market value
through the operation of its Sharesave scheme. The Company records on expense, based on ils estimate of the 20% discount reloted
to shares expected to vest on a siroightline basis over the vesting period.

I} CRIMICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES QF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described above, the Direciors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liakilifies that are not readily apparent from ather sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based an historical experience and other factors that are censidered 1o be relevant, Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongaing basis. Revisions to accouniing estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision alfects both current and future periods

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE COMPANY'S ACCOUNTING POUCIES
The Directors have concluded that there are no ciitical areas of cecounting judgement in the application of the Company's accounting
policies in the current period.

KEY SOQURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the period end date, that have o
significant risk of causing a material adjusiment fo the canying amsunis of assets and liabilities within the next financial pericd, are

discussed below.

RECOVERABILITY OF INTERCOMPANY BALANCES

The Direciors consider that the recoverability of intercompany balances is o key source of estimation uncertainty. The Company makes
an estimate of the recoverable amounl of amounts receivable to Group undertakings by performing an annual review of net assets
and cash flows for those Group comparnies and have concluded all intercompany receivables remain recoverable at the period end.

The Company considers whether investments in subsidiary undertokings are impaired. Where on indication of impairment is
identified, the estimation of recoveroble value requires estimation of the recoverable value of the cash generating units {CGUs).
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

3 PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not fo present its own profit and loss cceount for
the peried. Topps Tiles Ple reported o prefit for the financiol period ended 1 October 2022 of £8,745,000 (2021: £1,501,000).

The Auditors’ remuneration for services to the Company was £1711,000 for auditrelated work {2021 £73,750 for auditreloted
work}. Fees relating to nonaudit work tofalled £nil {2021, £nil); see note 4 to the Greup financial statements for further detoils.

The Company had no employees other than the Directors (2021 same), whose remuneration is detailed on page 68.

The Company paid dividends of £8,015,000 during the financial period, detailed in note 8 of the Group Financial Statements

4 INVESTMENTS

£000
Cosf and net book value at 26 September 2020 2,005
Acquisition of subsidiary i54
Movement in shore options granted to employees &77
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries {154
Cost and net book value at 2 October 2021 2,682
Acquisition of subsidiary 5,525
Maovemert in share oplions granted to employees 520
Cost and net book value at 1 October 2022 8,727

For details of the acquisition, see note 28 of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4 INVESTMENTS CONTINUED
The following were subsidiaries thot the Company has invesimenis in, both as at 1 Cetober 2022 and 2 Oclober 2021 except for

?ro Tiler Limited that was acquired in the current period:

% of issued
Subsidiary undertaking shares held Principal activity
Topalpha Limited* 100% Property management and investment
Topalpha {Warehouse) limited 100% Property management ond investment and provision of warehousing services
Topalpha (Stoke) Limited 100% Properly management and Investment
Tiles4less Limited* 100% Intermediate holding company
Topps Tiles (UK] limited 100% Retail and wholesale of ceramic tiles, woed flaoring and related praducts
Topps Tiles Heldings Limited ™ 100% Intermediate holding company
Topps Tile Kingdem Limited 100% Intermediate holding company
Multi-Tile Limited 100% Retail and whalesale of ceramic tiles, wood flooring and related products
Topps Tiles Distribution Limiled 100% Wholesale and distribution of ceramic tiles, wood flacring and related products
MultiTile Distribution Limited 100% Intermediate helding company
Topps Tiles { P Company limited  100% Ownership and management of Group intelleclual property
Topps Tiles Employee Benefit Trust* 100% Employee benefit trust
Strata Tiles Limited * 100% Architectural ceramic sales and distribution
Parkside Ceramics limited* 100% Commercial distribution of ceramic and porcelain flles, natural stone and related products
Pro Tiler Limited * 60% Orline specialist supplier of filingrelated consumables and equipment to rade customers

* Held diectly oy Topps Tiles Ple
The investments are represented by ordinary shares
Alf undertakings are incorporated in Great Britain and are registerad and operate in England ond Wales

The registered address of all of the above entities {excluding Strata Tiles Limited and Parkside Ceramics Limited) is Thorpe Vay,
Grove Park, Enderby, leicestershire, [E19 15U, United Kingdom.

The registered address of Strata Tiles Limiled and Porkside Ceramics limited is Bamsdeale Way, Enderby, teicestershire, England,
LET9 TSN.

For the year ended 1 Cciober 2022, the subsidiary companies listed below are exempt from the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006 relating 1o the audit of individual financial statements by virlue of section 479A. As a result, the Company guarantees dll

outstanding liabilities to which the subsidiary companies are subject

Subsidiary undertaking Company registration number
Topalpha limited 03150850
Topalpha {Stoke) Limited (03714868
Tiles4less Limited 04123146
Tepps Tiles Holdings Limiled 05840669
Topps Tile Kingdom Llimited 01697061
Topps Tiles Distribution Limited 05236219
Multi-Tile Distrbution Limited 05008512
Tepps Tiles | P Compaony Lirited 052359609
Pro Tiler Limited Q7154275

Strata Tiles Limited CA501077
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE 52 WEEKS ENDED 1 OCTOBER 2022

5 DEBTORS
2022 2021
£000 £000
Amounts owed by subsidiary underiakings 179,669 135,844
Prepayments ' 38 22
Other debtors 1,509 1,409

181,216 137,275

Amounts owed by subsidiary underiakings are interest free, repayable on demand and not subject fo any security.

6 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2022 2021

£000 £'000

Trade and other creditors 272 550
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 121,811 85,448
Accruals 2,438 2,938
124,521 88,936

Amounts owed 1o subsidiary underakings are interest free, repayable on demand and not subject to any security.

7 PROVISIONS
The earn out liability is for the purchase of Pro-Tiler and is cll due in March 2024,

2022 2021
£:000 £'000
Earn out liability 1,581 -
Current - -
Non-current 1,581 -
8 LEASES
AS A LESSEE
Rightcfuse assets included in the Balance Sheet were as follows:
Equipment
£'000
At 26 September 2020 647
Disposals (453)
Depreciation (194
At 2 October 2021 -
At 1 October 2022 -
lease liobilities included in the Balance Sheet were as follows:
Eguipment
£'000
At 26 September 2020 {649)
Disposals 471
interesl (2}
Repaymeant of lease hamilities 180

A5 2 Ocicber 2021
&1 1 Qetober 2022 -
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8 LEASES CONTINUED
The following amounts hove been recognised in the profit and loss account:

Equipment
2022
£000
Depreciotion of nghtofuse assels -
interest expense s
Equipment
2021
£000
Bepreciation of rightofuse ossets 194
Interest expense 2
The total cash outflew for leases during the financial period was Enil (2021: £180,000).
9 CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL
2022 2021
£'000 £000
Allotted, issued and fully paid 196,681,818 |2021: 196,662,131) ordinary shares of 3.33p each
{2021: 3.33p) 6,556 6,555

During the pericd 375,480 shares were purchased by Topps Tiles Employee Benefit Trust on behalf of the Group (2021: nil),
During the period the Group issued and allofted 19,687 {2021 218,808 ordinary shores with a nomina! valve of £656

{2021: £7,294) under share option schemes for an aggregete cosh consideration of £7,294 (2021: £140,037}.

Curing the year, dividends of £8,015,000 (2021: £aill were paid. Sge note B of the Consolidated Financial Statements for further

details.

10 OTHER RESERVES
The other reserves comprise an uniealised gain arising on the disposal of certain trademarks to a subsidiary company

11 CONTROLLING PARTY
The Company has no individual controlling party
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FIVE-YEAR RECORD

UNAUDITED
52 weeks 52 weeks 53 weeks

32 weeks ended ended ended 52 weeks
ended 28 September 2& Seplembar 2 Cxtober ended
29 September 2019 2020 2021 1 October
2008 restated)’ hestoted)! frestated)! 2022
£000 £7000 £000 £000 £'000
Group revenue 216,887 219,197 192,813 227,997 247,241
Group operating profil/{loss) 13,735 12,989 {6,141} 18,026 14,832
Profit/iloss] before taxation 12,688 12,181 18,525) 13,955 10,945
Total equity 26,663 2G,938 13,958 24,956 29,049
Basic earnings per share 5.00p 503 4.16)p 5.47p 4.60p
Dividend per share 3.40p 3.40p il 3.0p 3.60p
Dividend cover 1 47x 1.48x n/a 1.76x 1.28x%
Average number of employees 2,114 2,08¢ 2,001 1,847 1,751
Share price (period end) 62.90p 66.60p 51.40p 65.6Cp 38.50p

All figures quoted are inclusive of confinued and discontinued operations.

1 See Consolidated Group Financial Statements nate 2(A} for an explanation of the prior year reslotement
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A

Aadil Mulla
Aaron Booth
Aaron Butler
Agron Gaunilett
Aaron Goodman
Aaron James
Aaron Osei-Tutu
Aaron Powell
Aaron Ryan
Abdul Khaem
Abigail Stevenson
Abu Samad
Adam Connor
Adam Gilkes
Adam Hefler
Adam Holland
Adam Howes
Adam Nutiall
Adam Shearsmith
Adam Wooallam
Aderemi Adediran
Adie Danvers
Adrian Gibbons
Adrian Gower
Agit Kunduru
Agnieszka Kozera

Agnieszka Rozmarynowska

Agnieszka Skizypezak
Ahmad Hussain
Aidan Dawes
Aimee Gollagher
Aimee Kidby
Akshey Yodgama
Alain Gouro

Alan Llamb

Alan Maxwell

Alan Saunders
Aleksandr Lagowski
Alex Di Pace

Alex Bouglas

Alex Saunter
Alexander Abram
Alexander Shepherd
Alexander Walton
Alexander Williams
Alexandios Poupazis
Alexandru So-m
Alce Caimns

Alise Motule

Alisho Milkwerd

Alison Alexander
Alison Mazzei-Foster
Ally Mclean
Allysha Byme
Amanda Brogan
Amanda lyon
Amanda Plumb
Amanda Samuel
Amanda Smyth
Amanpreet Singh
Amar Trivedi

Amardeep Singh Sanghera

Ambrose Walson
Amelia Chappell
Amelia Foster
Amela Gohil
Amin Ali

Amman Afzal

Amy McDaid

Amy Swanson
Amy Wirz
Ananthon Sivanesan
Andrea Moon
Andiew CarterRiley
Andrew Colling
Andrew Davis
Andrew Dixon
Andrew Fenner
Andrew Goodman
Andrew Habbick
Andrew Harrison
Andrew Hawker
Andraw Haynes
Andrew Hopkinson
Andrew Jomes
Andrew Jones
Andrew Cliver
Andrew Playfoot
Andrew Reilly
Andrew Ribbons
Andrew Robson
Andrew Roseby
Andrew Sansum
Andrew Shaw
Andrew Tibbets
Andrevs Warne
Andrew Waterfield
Andrevy Wathan
Andrew Wilkinson
Andrew VWoodier
Andnus Morusesicius

Aneta Akwe
Aneta Kleczek
Angela Capp
Angela Cooke
Angela George
Ankit Mches

Ann Karas

Annc Hibberd
Anna Skoczylas
Annabelie Harris
Anna-Marie Putt
Anthony Catlell
Antheny Chamberlain
Anthony Daly
Anthony Davies
Anthony Dolan
Anthony Dunsmore
Anthony Gilbert
Anthony langmead
Anthony Lyth
Anthony Molyneux
Anthony Reynolds
Anthony Toylor
Antonios Alanos
Aniony Belham
Antony Miles
Anub Varghese
Anwar Marshall
Arif Aswot

Aron Holff

Aruna Mistry
Ashish Kumar
Ashish Palel
Ashley Burke
Ashley Cutler
Ashley Harwood
Ashley Hegarty
Ashley Hughes
Ashley Katinas
Ashley legget
Ashley Mansfield
Ashley Willats
Asim Khan
Astone Davids
Athina Sesay
Alul Patel

Azim Ahmed

B

Bailey Aldred
Bailey Thernnglon

Barbara Connor
Barbara Smith
Barry Beaver
Barry Gilbert
Barry Parker
Bayley Seymour
Beala Skoczylas
Belinda Irvine
Ben Chapman
Ben Charity

Ben Gaby

Ben Howard
Ben Johnson

Ben Mocartney
Ben Murphy
Benito Garrod
Benjamin Broom
Benjamin Cunliffe
Benjamin Hale
Benjamin Howes
Benjemin Rich
Benjomin Spicer
Bethanie Evans
Beverley Qrlon
Bhupinder Singh
Billy Stout
Bitrycka Malgorzata
Blake ladeinde
Blayne Rut

Bolaji Adeyanju
Bonita Wright
Brad Kingsford
Bradley Cox
Bradley Rockell
Brandon Abels
Brandon Batile
Brondon Casey
Brandon Clow
Brandon lodge
Brayan Pyzlowsk
Brendan Flynn
Brett O'Harrow
Brett Simkiss
Bruce Fielding
Bruce Garrod
Bruno Bernoscon
Bryn lewis

Bryn Slowley

Buthy Hording-Attvor.d

Byron Tree
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(

Caitlin Pipes
Caitlin Timbrell
Calvin Christopher
Cameron Qakey
Campbell Marr
Carl Ainsweorth
Cail Courtney
Corl Whalley
Carla Sinnoft
Carlos Aford Maestie
Carlos Chowdhury
Carly Falcus

Carol Beatiie
Carol Hawkes
Carol Hobbs
Caral lsherwood
Caroline Vemor-Sution
Carolyn Paull
Carrie Peckslon
Carrieanne Burneh
Carys-Sion Wilson
Caosey Dyson
Cathering Britton
Catherine Daulon
Catherine Platt
Chakib Ayoub
Chanel Songanoo
Chantelle Gurney
Charjuan Knight
Cherlene Walpole
Charles Hopper
Charles Robbins
Charles Rollins
Charles Taylor
Charlie Almond
Chariie Cox
Charlie Dowse
Charlie Foster
Charlie Turmbull Phitips
Charlotte Bessent
Charlotte Cook
Charlotie Jackson
Charlotte lammin
Charlotte Self
Chelsea Battle
Chelsea Goodeve
Chelsea Knight
Cheryl Veomcombe
Chelno Shoh

Chloe Hail

Chloe Jackson
Chloe Jones

Chloe Singleton
Chris Foster
Christian D' Agostino
Christian McCarthy
Christine Taylor
Chrisline Thistlethwaite
Christopher Bailey
Christopher Bass
Christopher Beniley
Christopher Bodicoat
Christopher Bowden
Christopher Bree
Christopher Brown
Chrsiopher Burrows-Simpson
Christopher Butler
Christopher Collins
Christopher Cooper
Christopher Curtis
Christopher D'Arts
Christopher Edwards
Chrisiopher Farren
Christopher Fath
Chrisiopher Green
Christopher Heyes
Christopher Holland
Christopher Hope
Christopher Howe
Christopher Macfarlone leach
Christopher Moore
Christopher Nichells
Christopher Notile
Christopher Pinnock
Christopher Potter
Christopher Sansby
Chrisiopher Sylvester
Christopher Taylor
Christopher Turley
Christopher Wells
Cian Beardmore
Cioran Morgan
Clair Jeffries

Claice Crowhurst
Claire Herridge
Claire lewis

Claire Palerson
Claire Ralphs

Ciare Barden

Clote tong

ClHord Adams

Clifford Tomlinson
Colin Clarke
Colin Densaon
Colin Harvey
Colin Markham
Colin Pelch

Colin Rymer
Coliny Senith
Connagh Latham
Conner Ockenden
Connor Gane
Connor Garrow
Connor Hills
Connor Thompson
Conrad Cassidy
Conrad Harrup
Cora Morrison
Counteney Colville
Courtney Maglona Gillies
Courtney Thomas
Craig Dolling
Craig Green
Creng Johnson
Craig McPike
Craig Melnick
Craig Murphy
Craig Reed

Craig Richards
Ciristian Olaru
Curlis lea

D

Daisy Garnelt
Damiane Seresin
Dan Bevan
Conial Holloway
Daniel Bath
Daniel Berkes
Daniel Brace
Daniel Brain
Daniel Caine
Doniel Chambers
Daniel Colk
Daniel Cox
Danisl Fallows
Danie! Faust
Daniel Geoghegon
Daniel Gillett
Caniel Harper
Danel Horocks
Caniel jenking

Daniel Jones
Daniel Litlle
Daniel loft
Daniel Maslin
Daniel Mclean
Daniet Milner
Deniel Moyse
Daniel Musguin
Daniel O'Callaghan
Daniel Pimm
Daniel Paile
Daniel Roberts
Daniel Rowe
Daniel Rowlands
Daniel Sewell
Danie! Sheppard-Brown
Daniel Shutler
Daniel Thornley
Daniel Turner
Daniel Varney
Daniel Whiter
Daniel Willows
Daniella Winstone
Donielle Noyes
Danielle O'Mara
Daniel-Paul Petrut
Danny Ostler
Darius Bright
Darnelle Riley
Darran Wood
Darren Bockarie
Darren Doughty
Darren Ealden
Darren Finnegan
Darren Harper
Darren Jones
Darren Mencarini
Darren Mirchell
Darren Morgan
Dairen Shopland
Darren Square
Dorren Wagg
Darren Young
Darron Kerr
Darron Scos
Darry! Llawson Innes
David Augusius
David Baxter
David Clore
Desvid Clanrk
Dawid C(';up‘onﬁ
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David FHetcher
David FoxMatthews
David Green
Dovid Hance
David Hatton
David Henderson
David Hil!

David Hirst
David Hooper
David Hope
David Houston
David Hussey
David jackson
David jones
David Kavanagh
David Kershaw
David Keflewell
David Knight
David lane
David MacArtney
David Miller
David Mouiand
David Munay
David Oliver
David Parcell
David Reynalds
David Sheehy
David Simms
David Sinclair
David Thomas
David Themasson
David Thompson
David Webb
David Wilson
Davina Vitles
Dean jones

Dean Marshall
Dean Rodger
Dean Titchen
Debbie Potts
Deborah Edwards
Deborah Turk
Debra Bandghiree
Declan Baker
Declend Speede
Deeandra Bellew
Deesha Bhatt
Deividas Korsakas
Denis (O'Brien
Dennis Jovelanos
Dennis Winterburr

Denzil Johns
Dermott Reilly
Deryn Shipley
Desmond Alleyne
Devindren Govender
Dharmika Shah
Diana Breeze
Diana lei

Dilawar Ali

Dino Tafe

Dipal Parikh
Dolton Gordon
Dominic D'Scuza
Dominic Hardman
Dominic Reilly
Donald Magullicn
Douglas Nicol
Dylan Roberts
Dylan Worley

E

Eddy Hyde

Edward Harrison
Eesha Manick

Elaina Waterhouse
Flaine Johnscn

Eleanor Grace Ashdown
Elise Ford

Elizabeth Fay
Elizabeth Innes
Elizabeth lee
Elizabeth Sutton

Ella Jones

Ellie Jordan

Elliott Brown

Elhott Davis

Ellis Molyneux

Eltysia Sharples

Elsie Bird

Emily Connelly

Emily Davis

Emily Gordiner

Emily GibbonsFilippini
Emily lenham

Emily Lenton

Emily Mansell

Emma Fizpatiick
Emma Geich

Emmao Greenheld
Emma Show
Ermanuel Melford Rowe

Emran Mannon
Enrikas Kvietinskas
Erandika Senevirathna
Eren Ucman

Erik Fazekas

Frikas Mazeikis
Ermiyas Girma

Esme Sparrow

Bthan &' Grody

Fuan Preece

Eugenic Grigoruta
Eve Riddle

Eve Ruckwood

Eve White

Ewelina SzrederPolitowska
Ezra Deans

F

Faizar Ali

Faye Highstead
Felipe Franco
Felipe VWest

Filip Rozmyslowicz
Filipe Albarraque
Finlay Nelmes
Finley Loughlin
Frances Aylward
Frank Hibbert
Fraser lockley

G

Gabriel Semedo
Gareth Fogden
Garnet Hardy
Gary Bloomfield
Gary Davies
Cary Gear

Gary Gee

Gary Cledhill
Gary Nash

Gary Tipler

Gary West

Gary Wilkinson
Gary Williams
Gavin Bennett
Gavin Collins
Gavin Magwood
Gavin Winter
Gemma Bilchom
Gemma Davier
Gemma Stephens

Geolfrey Greenwood
Geoffrey Thomas
George Astill
George Birkley
George Dewis
George Griffin
George Newton
George Wicks
Georgia Harding
Georgia Miles
Georgina Duffy
Geraint Griffiths
Gergo Poroszlai
German Ramirez Marin
Gillian Grace
Girish § Nair
Glenn Davies
Glenn Elgy

Glenn Smith
Gokhan Karadegan
Gordon Dalglish
Grace Emery
Gracian Draheim
Groham Brown
Graham Foster
Graham Hancock
Groham Hitchin
Graham Livingstone
Graham Vance
Grant Smith
Grazvydas Garhacenokas
Gregor Robson
Gregory McHugh
Grenville Davies
Gurinder Chana
Guy Gorenski

H

Haider Durrani
Hana Alexandrio
Hannah Booth
Hannah Emmeit
Hannah Kenredy
Harriet Buckley
Harret Goodacre
Harriet Haitley
Harmy Biggs
Harry Poge
Hary Williarms
Harvey Calling
Hearvey Williams
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Hasan Alj
Hayden Hart
Hayden Mason
Haydn Young
Hazel Millington
Helen Gosling
Helen Hughes
Helen Meredith
Hilary Colgan
Holly Baliinger
Holly Dowson
Holly Hayes
Holly Meager
Holly Netleton
Holly Peck
Holly Skerin
Hugh Butler

lain Arnott
lain Biock

lan Barber

lan Bloomfield
lan Croton
lan Fraser

lan Marshall
lan McMNeish
lan Merry

lan Paterson
lan Smithson
lan Sykes
Igors Koselevs
lidiko Barta
llia Nenovski
Ingrid Obernaver
lsaac Wright
lsaioh Khaoyo
Isha Denny-Gardener
Ishaq Ahmed
Ivan Paitoo

J

Jacek Skubisz
Jack Ablest
Jack Beesley
Jack Eliis

Jack Farbum
lack Gallaghe
Jack Garten
Jock Hillkones
Jack Helyoake

Jack Howard
Jack Millman
Jack Cckenden
Jack O'Neill
Jack Relfe

lack Sharpe
Jack Swann
Jjock Tillotson
Jack Vecl!

Jacob Allan
Javobs Mochin
Jacob Powell
Jacqueline Deshorough-
Morehead

Jade Clements
Jode Girgensons
Jade Gore

Jade Stone
ladzia Webhb
Jailuene Witterick Peake
Joke Carter

lake Shopland
Jake Wescolt
lake Woods
Jakub Jackowski
James Bamett
James Beaumont
lames Biesty
Jomes Comeron
James Carpenter
James Carnell
James Charles
James Hawker
Jomes Heard
Jomes Hollis
James Howard
James Hyland
James Joumel
Jarmmes Joyce
James McClary
James McGuigan
lomes Morgan
Jomes O'Driscall
James Patston
James Peters
James Robertson
lameas Rolfe
James Ruse
Jomes Saunders
Jomes Snuggs
James Steeples

Jomes Taylor
James Thatcher
James Watton
James White
James Wolstenhclme
Jomes Daniel Colvert
Jamie Austin
Jamie Calow
Jamie Cardall
Jamie Copland
Jomie Kelly

Jamie Martin
Jamie McCann
Jomie Ormred
Jamie Sia

Jamie Thornton
Jamie Wenborn
Jamie Whitear
lanaka Alahapperuma
Janay Bell

Jone Williams
Janet lee

Janet Robinson
lanis Cirulis
Jasbir Singh
Jasimron Deh!
Jason Barker
Jason Coupland
Jason Eclden
Jason Nelson
Jason Tegwiord
Jaspreet Sendhu
Javeed Parkar
Jay Davies

Jay Gumey

Jay Tinsley

Joyde Cheyne
Jayden Croft
Joyden Greaves
Jayesh Kantibhai Mistry
Jayne Young
Jaytan Vodhet
Jedrzej Politowski
Jenniter Balfour
Jennifer Buddington
Jennifer Flowers
leanifer Glover
Jerniler Gregory
Jennifer Cpoku
Jennifer Seabrock
Jenriter 'Wall

lenny Inkson
Jeremy long
lerome Matthew Ridley
Jessica Duncan
Jessica Hatton
Jessica Hintor
Jessica Jarman
Jessica Sawyer
Jessica Wood
Jo Adamson
joona Oakes
Joanna Knapezyk
Joanne Cox
Joanne Elten
lodie Du-Hamel
Jodie Jones

Joe Dwyer

Joe Guymer

loe Mathews
Joe Raynsford
Joe Smith

Joe Walker

Joe Whalley
Joel Barker

Joei Broy
Johann Thompson
John Bourke
Jehn Burton-5imm
john Fawkes
John Harris
John Hennessy
John Hesp

lobn Hughes
John Mclaren
John Mclorty
John Mool

lohr Mornis
Jjohn Page

Ichn Shaw

John Stannard
John Sweet
lohn Turnham
Jon O'Neili

Jon Reynolds
Jon Paul Hughes
Jonatan Muti
Jenathan Bradshaw
Jenathan Breit
Jonothan East
Jorathan Hall
Jonathan Perks
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Jonathan Pinchbeck
Jonathan Stone
Jonathan Wallace
Jonathan Wiles
Jonathan Williams
Jonathon Turner
Jonathen Underdown
Jonathon Wynder
Jordan Bannister
Jordan Ferguson
Jordan Joyce
lordan lindsay
Jordan lowes
lordan Mackay
Jordan Matthews
Jordan Scarbrow
Joseph Daly
Joseph Deevey
Joseph Durham
Joseph Gregorace
Joseph Haughney
loseph Haynes
Joseph Hopper
Joseph lewis
Joseph Marriolt
loseph Marsden
Josephina lane
Josh McFadden
Joshua Batting
Joshua Bradley
Joshua Brown
Joshua Burgess
Joshue Coulien
Joshua Crombie
Joshua Curtis
Joshua Dutton
Joshua Hubbard
Joshua Norbury
Joshua Paton-Rolls
Joshua Rapley
Jasiah Andrew-Razemba
Josie Colehan
Josie Walker

Juan Cliveira McDowell
Jude McGuigan
Judith Duncan
Julia Cnstna Argudo Avendanc
Jutia Kerr

Julie Brochivogel
lulie pMuchell

Julie Pooltord

Julie Woed

Junior Giji

Justin Marlow

Justin Smclley

Justine Bewman

Justyna Llogoznarlisowska
Juttinder Digpal

K

Ka Tsur Wong
Kahseem Roberts
Kai Stevens

Kai Sylvester
Kajetan Marcinek
Kamaljit Atkar
Kamaljit Thandi
Kamlesh Shoh
Karan Gill

Koren Dodds
Kari Daniels
Karis Hall

Karl tusardi

Karl Reeves

Karl White

Kate Floyddjewell
Katherine Jackson
Katherine Toomassi
Kathryn Pell

Katie Brindley-Hughes
Katie Hill

Katie Wright
Katy Todd

Kavita Vaghela
Kay Dwelly
Kayleigh Clemson
Kayley Halliday
Keaton Bayliss
Keeleigh Gibsen
Keely Powell
Keiran ling

Keith Ambrose
Keith Down

Keith Fitzpatrick
Kellie Figueiredo
Ketly Blount

Kelly Goodacre
Kelly Savile
Kenneth Ostler
Kenneth Owen
Kerm N\oguile
Kerre Buichom

Kerry Hurst
Kerry McAuliffe
Kevan Richardson
Kevin Atherion
Kevin Baker
Kevin Bingham
Kevin Do Silva
Kevin Downie
Kevin Faces
Kevin Fox

Kevin Frampton
Kevin Hardy
Kevin Heoper
Kevin MNicel
Kevin Rabbatt
Kevin Thorne
Kieraon BarnesVWarden
Kieran Browr
Kieran Fleet
Kieran Gardiner
Kieran Maorgan
Kieran Scott
Kieran Warwick
Kim Jones

Kim Moriarty
Kimberley Vieira
Kirk lrvine

Kirk Randall

Kirk Taylor
Kirsten Cummings
Kirstie lecnard
Kirsty Graham
Kirsty Harris

Kirti Patel
Kovakou Ange Davis
Kranthi Billakanti
Kristion Catrerall
Kristian Creese
Kiristan Moore
Kristian Prosser
Krystle Milan
Krzysziof Ziehnski
Kurt Folkes

Kurt Page

Kye Harman
Kyle Batley

Kyle Crichion
Kyle Foxon

Kyle Hardie
Kyle Lland ;

Kyle Aartin

Kyle Northern-Neal
Kyle Rigby

Kyle Welford
Kyran Andrews
Kyren Soares

L

Laney Toylor
latifah Spence
Llaura AlderRose
Laura Buckley
laura Jomes
Laura Johnson
laura Li

Laura Madigan
taura Racey
Lauren Clinton
tauren Munro
Lauren Sinnoh
Lauren Smith
laurence Bird
Lauryn Cotton
Llaurynas Neverauskas
Llavwrence Boi
lawrence Devello-VWaters
layla Gearey
leah Collings
leah Sains
leandro Silva
learne Curry
lee Begley

lee Brightman
lee Butcher
lee Eagling
lee Fish

tee Galloway
lee Holycake
lee Hutchinson
lee Woodman
leighton Davies
Leriny Finch
Lleon Pryce
lesley Willeox
Llevar Gardiner
lewis Etkin
lewis Harking
Lewis Hill
lewis Penn
tiam Bonhin
Liom Corben
Liam Ellis
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liom Flynn
tigm Hunt

Liom Leigh
Liam lishman
lianne Harrison
Libby Field

Lily Gardner
Lily Yeo

linda Sleath
Lindsay Bond
Lindsey Fint
tisa Algar

Lisa Cullen

Lisa Holmes
Loyd Allen
Loyd Blanks
Lloyd Jackson
Lois Betlinson
loucas louca
Louie Walker
Louis Bonlemps
Llouls Spoett
Louise Bunting
Louise Cox
louise Groves
louise Henbest
Louise Mclaren
louise Reddell
lucia Garces
lucy HarperThempsen
Lucy jenner
lucy Rock

Lucy Swain
lukasz Pirga
luke Abraham
luke Barefield
luke Colclough
Luke Kerr

Luke Kitkman
Luke McNally
luke O'Connor
Luke Roberis
Lluke Saunders
luke Stratford
luke Woodward
yndsey Farmer
tynne Meldium
bynsey Smart

M

Macaulay Kirk
Macy Harvey
Madeline Pipes
Magdalena Chodynicka
Mahesh Wara
Maisie Bell
Mandy Antenbring
Marraj Sandhu
Marc Davies
Marc anis
Marcin Kupezyk
Marco Cosleira
Marcus Bullock
Marcus Oliver
Margaret lawrie
Margarita Starcea
Maria tacramioarg tacatusu
Mariia Kesonohova
Mark Allman
Mark Brown
Mark Burgess
Mark Cain

Mark Camphbell
Mark Chantler
Mark Clark

Mark Coe

Mark Gasson
tark Heath

Mark Hughes
Mark Hunter
Mark Johnston
Mark Keymer
Mark Maclver
Mark Malthews
Mark Owen

Mark Palmer
Mark Pancott
Mark Ridliey

Mark Rogers
Mark Sloan

Mark Tennant
Mark Waldack
Mark VVest

Mark Williams
Motk Yvoodyaft
Mark Wordley
Mark Wright
Marshall Breven
Martin Abel
Martin Broswn

Martin Oliver
Mariin Osborne
Mortin Pickerd
Martin Sweet
Martin Williams
Martin Wys
Martina Way
Martine Robinsan
Martyn Spring
Malt Attwood

Math Mailoy
Matthew Atkinson
Matthew Barcas
Matthew Buckett
Maithew Comish
Matthew Fisher
Matthew Foster-Smith
Matthew Grainger
Matthew Lindsay
Matthew Lynch
Matthew Mamomdo
Matthew Martin
Matthew MchManus
Matthew Moore
Matthew Ponsford
Matthew Ralfs
Matthew Rowson
Matthew Stevenson
Matthew Vinters
Motthew Whittock
Matthew Woodhouse
Matthew Wiight
Mattia Galassi
Max Evans

Max Tumbull Philips
Medea Antgi
Megan Boyle
Megan Howtin
Megon Jones
Megan RobinsonGreen
Megan Thorp
Megan Walsh
Mehlika Kilic
Menelik Cowan
Mervyn Thome
Mhairl Wade
Michael Beany
Michoe! Boughton
Michoe! Buckley
tMichae! Butler
Michae! Dinter

Michael Edwards
Michoel Evans
Michael Finn

Michael Goodfield
Michae! Hopper
Michaoe! Humphrey
Michael Jones
Michael Kessler
Michael Lefhbridge
Michael Loveloek
Michael Moss
Michael Quinn
pichael Sear
Michael Tory

Michael Upton
Michael Van Sittert
Michael Wallace
Michael Wright
Michael John Cordery
Michal Glinka
Michaling Mackiewicz
Michelle Gowland
Michelle Moore

Mike Booth

Minai Kanabar
Miriam Clair Wardle
Miroslaw Hebda
Mitchell Glover
Mitchell Perriss
tlhonto Gumede
tohammed Hoque
Mohammed Khalid
Mohommed Rauf
Mohammed Sabwvan
Mehammed Uddin
Mehammed Zain Shaikh
Mohd Jajt

Mohsin Ahmed
taontano Mills
Morgan Gerrard

Mr Topps (Retired|
Mubashir Uddin
Mehammed Abbus Uddin
Muhammad Choudhury
Mustata Irkan
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Nancy Jacques
Naomi Baron
Naomi Carter
Narinder Chatha
MNasir Hussoin
MNasreen Aideed
Natalie Hepburn
Natalie Milan
Notale Paine
Natalia Furness
Natasha johnson
Natasha Stout
Nathan Austin
Nathan Coulthard
Nathan Goddard
Nathan Hughes
Nathon Taylor
Nathan Willcock.
Nauris Vinkelis
Neely Stuart
Neha Shoh

Neil Anderson
Neil Drage

Neil Grimley
Neil Homan
Neil Jeremy

Neil Jones

Neil lutterloch
Neil Narth

Neil Topping
Neil Williams
Nicholo Buffom
Nichola Cooper
MNicholas Culley
Nicholas Evans
Nicholas Gadd
Nicholas lodge
Nicholas Stone
Nicholas Stubbs
Nicholas Tayler
Nicholaus Buchanan
Nick Walch
Nicky Glenister
Nicolo Brownley
icola Fletcher
Nicole Greenaway
Nicoly Howlett
Nicola MeWatt
Nicola Monk
Nicola Rose

Nicola Tester
MNicole Andrews
Nicole Colvin
Nigel Slaughter
Nikhita Kaur
iNikito Bedford
Nikalay Georgiev
MNimisha Mistry
Nisha Sodha
Nishit Shah

Nite Rajani
Nixaal Patel
Nizam Mohamed
MNorbert Kuta
MNuman Usman

0

Oliver Hart

Oliver Iddon

Oliver Verrier

Olivia Defimer
Glivia Mewsome
Cmar Bensadoune
Oscar Cork
Osemeke Nwokoro
Owen Tudor

Oz Masaya

P

Paavan lodhia
Paresh Nagar
Parminder Garcha
Patrick Galvin
Parrick Howletr
Patrick Tompsett
Payl Baker

Paul Bourton
Paul Burkett
Poul Burrow
Paul Carr

Paul Cheetham
Poul Cowen
Paul Gee

Paul Hurt

Paul Irving

Poul jenkinsenFirm
Paul Kelly

Paul Keymer
Paul Loty

Paul les

Paul Mills
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Paul Mitchell
Paul Nichofls
Paul Northem
Paul Noyes
Paul Semple
Paul Smith

Paul Siarkey
Poul Thomas
Paul Tregaskis
Paui West

Paul Whitlington
Paulino Bilinska
Pauline Harrison
Paule De Oliveira Freire
Pawe! Pudelko
Pawel Woarych
Perran Ke"y
Feter Ambrose
Peter Boker-Clemenis
Peter Callan
Peter Charles
Peter Charters
Peter Goodison
Peter Goulding
Peter Hanley
Peter lees

Peter Litile

Peter lombardedii
Peter Roberts
Peter Turtle

Peter West

Peter White
Pefer Young
Petronela Aidi
Philip Cranston
Philip Dunn
Philip Gollop
Philip Haynes
Philip Speed
Philip Stocks
Philippa Hill
Phitlip Gilbert
Phillip Handley
Phdiipa Hewit
Portia Boehmer
Przemysiow Krulikowsk

R

Rachel Fletcher
Radoslow Deklarsk
Rodoslaw Nosszewicz

Radoslaw VWojcik
Rafael Limo

Raj Surani

Rajan Toora
Rajesh Thanki
Rajiv Vadgama
Ramanathan Shanmugam
Ratip Hassan
Rarymand Punt
Raymond Thompson
kebeca Wallis
Rebecea Godlrey
Rebeceo love
Rebecca Mills
Rebecca Maoare
Rebecca Oblein
Rebecca Wild
Reece Brewin
Reece Charlion
Reece Coppins
Rhiannen Holland
Rhys Baird

Rio Croft

Richard Adamscn
Richard Arciero
Richard Austin
Richard Beaven
Richard Bleach
Richard Bourne
Richard Capel
Richard Carter
Richard Clark
Richard Eagland
Richard France
Richaid Geare
Richard Gondwe
Richord Greenwood
Richard Heather
Richard Keane
Richard lewis
Richord Napier
Richard Newbon
Richard Cotes
Richard Oldale
Richard Palfrey
Richard Prescatt
Richard Senior
Richard Smail
Richong Sumnei
Rickie Bymne
R{(L\y B\'ehop
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Rishab Choudhary
Rizwan Saleh
Reb Moody
Robbie Coleman
Robent Adams
Rebert Block
Robert Chawner
Robert Colling
Robert Dennis
Robert George
Robert Hardie
Robern Howker
Robert Ireland
Robert Jones
Robert Kroll
Robert Kwet
Robert Moss
Robert Myers
Robert Parker
Robert Prince
Robert Tillotson
Robert Tsui
Robert Wyalt
Rabin Shields
Robin Stagg
Robin Williams
Rogan Ayres
Roger Ltazenby
Romans Petuhovs
Romany Andrew
Rory Reeves
Rosanna Bastable
Rose Bola

Ross Ashkrook
Ross langford
Ross leiich

Ross Pannatt
Roxanne Daly
Roxanne Morris
Roxunne Seurre
Russell Ward
Ryan Apark
Ryan Buston
Ryan Coleman
Ryan Dunn

Ryan Farquhar
Ryan French
Ryan Harris
Ryan Henson
Ryan leord

Ryan Kemp

Ryan Knauf
Ryen Lundberg
Ryan Needham
Ryan OConnor
Ryan Patierson
Ryan Randall
Byan Russell
Ryan Simpson
Ryan Wade

S

Sahibiit Samra
Sally Hope-Davis
Sam Bucknall
Sam Davis

Sam Meyrick
Sam Randle
Samantha Davies
Samarntha Gray
Samontha Jackson
Samantha Leavis
Samantha Stewart
Sameer Jamdar
Samuel Atkinson
Samuel Knowles
Samuel Linney
Samuel Shorpe
Samuel Underwood
Sandre Ramsay
Sandre Van Spronsen
Sanjeev Pal

Sarah Dorby
Sarch Jordan
Sarah Kite

Sarah Mclure
Sarah Peters
Satvinder Sandhu
Savio Coutinhe
Scott Ahmad
Scott Andrews
Scoft Birdseye
Scoft Bond

Scott Corpmail
Scott Copeland
Scott Fountain
Scolt Gane

Scott Hopwood
Scolt Jesson

Scolt Keeton

SCOH f\/\CCC}fhley’

Scolt Momson

Seott Robinson
Scott Rogers

Scott Thillaway
Sean Brandist
Sean Cahill

Sean Comphbell
Sean Cundy

Sean Kimber

Sean McClafferry
Shafeek Mohamed
Shahid Mubmood
Shahiem Wilson
Shane Bryan
Shane tunn

Shane Malone
Shane Mason
Shane Tih

Shane Trim
Shanee Gately
Shannen Cochrane
Shannon Dewdney
Shannon Mecarthy
Sharif slam
Sharna Joseph
Sharon Buckley

Sharon PapanioniouBarrett

Shoun Gordon
Shaun Powsay
Shaun Sargeant
Sheena Smith
Shealyn Tidbali
Shrina Shah
Shylo Brockes
Sian Garvey
Sian Horrigan
Sian McCracken
Silvi Atanasova
Siviu Chiean
Simon Badhams
Simen Beaie
Simon Briggs
Simen Chapman
Simen Chappell

Simeon Davenport-Sharp

Simon farley
Simon Green
Simon Grimmeft
Simon Hall

Simon lasham
Simon leshe
Sirnon MacDonald

Simon Marks
Simon Meider
Siman Neal
Simon Roberts
Simen Webb
Simen Witham
Sinan Demir
Siobhan Ashman
Slavka van

Sonia Sapinska
Sophie Doggart-Hall
Sophie Edney
Sophie Pavey
Sophie Swann
Sophie Sylvesier
Spencer Clifford
Spencer Day
Stefan Andronic
Stefan Clark-Carter
Steffan Midwinter
Stephanie Bannister
Stephanie Dinnis
Stephanie Hogben
Stephanie Nevett
Stephanie Shaw
Stephen Amos
Stephen Anthony
Stephen Boyd
Stephen Breslin Burn
Stephen Can
Stephen Caollins
Stephen Corkett
Stephen Edwards
Stephen Foote
Stephen Freeman
Stephen Harrington
Stephen Hopson
Stephen Kelly
Stephen Lacey
Stephen lopes
Stephen Mabberley
Stephen Machin
Stephen Maidment
Stephen Osboume
Stephen Riley
Stephen Smith
Stephen Velvick
Stephen Wolson
Stephen Vinght
Steve Browen

Steve Srriythe:
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Steven Barrowcliffe
Steven Dyer
Steven Howells
Steven Hughesdones
Steven Kare
Steven Kernot
Steven Souter
Steven Whitehead
Steven Wood
Stuart Allman
Stuart Barrett

Stuar Clarke
Stuart Codett
Stuart Fletcher
Stuart Harris

Stuart Munton
Sart Rees

Stuart Rass

Stuart Smith

Stuart Stevenson
Stuart Tannock
Stuort Whitby
Stuart Williams
Sukhdev Bains
Summer Ellison
Summer Hubbard
Sunil Parel

Susan Law
Susanna Horwood
Suzanne Bradford
Sydney Bennett
Sylwia Wygachiewicz
Szaboles Szudar

T

Tohmid Islam
Tommie O'lone
Tanya Dix

Tanya Robers
Tariq Gasmi
Touseef Usman
Tegan Rowe
Tejay Smith

Terry Morris

Teiry Salishbury
Theophilus Danguah
Thomas Ashmore
Thomas Bedlord
Thomas Caldicott
Thomas Crock
Thamas Darlosion

Thomas Evans
Thomas FullerWinterbun
Thomas Harris
Thomas Knight
Thomas Langston
Thomas lee
Thomas McGeown
Thomas McPherson
Thomas Murray
Thomas Ctley
Thomas Ryan
Thnmos Snell
Thomas Utting
Thomas VWade
Thomas Wikson
Tiffany Llowry

Tim Chatfield

Tim Redmond

Tim Richards
Timothy Bentley
Timothy Boardman
Timothy Hilien
Timothy Tatlock
Timethy Watkiss
Tina Hughan

Tina Pain

Tina Willek

Toby Vennard
Todd Bucknall
Todd Routledge
Tom Cheevers
Tom Newman
Tony Chondler
Tony Dumbleton
Tracey Mangan
Tracey Sclter
Tracey Tumer
Tacey Waolerman
Tracy Wearmouth
Travis Prince

Troy Fearon

Troy ledgerwood
Troy Miller

Tyler King

Tyler lewis

Tyler Nossen)

U

Udo Jungbecker
Uwais Ikleriya

V

Yalentin fvan

Veronica Evett

Veronica Zudaire

Victor Newton

Victoria Cunday

Vilius Meilus

Yincert Bonner

Vinod Joshi

Vishal Depala

Vitor M Rodrigues Tavares

W

Warren Peltersen
Wayne Randall
Wendy Martindale
Wesley Appadoo
William Aires
Wiliom Baitey
Williom Goodwin
Willicm Halfhide
William Horman
William Morris
William Pollock
William Short
William Swain
Wyn Dunn-Daovies

Y

Youssel Djeraoui
Yunus Ahmed

Yusuf Balogun
Yvonne Burgess
Yvonne Hardingham

/A

Zach Watertield
Zara Waomer
Zoe Fox

Zoe Gilbert
Zoe Haicus
Zoe Stevens
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STORE LOCATIONS

LONDON

Acton

Battersea
Beckenham Topps
Beckion

Bow

Brentford

Brixton

Bromley Commen
Catford Bromley Rd
Charlien

Cheam
Chingford
Craydon
Croydon Purley
Dagenham
Dartford

Denham

Dorking

East Sheen
Ebham

Erfieid

Epsom

Fulham Topps
Hayes Topps
Hemel Hempsiead
Highgate
Hounslow

ford

lfford Seven Kings
Kings Cioss
Leyton

Mew Southgate
Neorth Finchley
Old Kent Road
Orpinglan

Penge

Roynes Park
Redhiil

Romford

Ruislip

Sevenoaks
Shoreditch

South Bermondsey
Southall

St Albans

Staples Corner

Sunbury upon Thames

Surksiton
Usxbridge
Waitham Croze
VWandswerth
Wembley
Willesden
Wimbleden

MIDLANDS
Barnsley

Binley

Baston

Burton upon Trent
Cannock
Chesterfield
Caventry Tile Hill
Derby Osmaston
Doncaster

Enderby

Erdington

Fenton

Grantham
Grimsby

Hinckley

Ketiering Baron
Kidderminster
Kings Norton
teamington Spa
leicester Thurmaston
Lichfield

lincadn Guter Circle
leng Eaton
Lloughborough
Mansfieid
Nanbwich

Newark
Newcasile-under-lyme
MNorthwich
MNoitingham Amold
Noffingharm Poulten
Nunealon

Redditch

Sheffield
Shrewsbury

Solihuil

Spaiding

Stoke

Tomworth

Telford

West Bromwich
Worksop

NORTH
Aintree
Anfield
Birkenhead
Blackburn
Blackpool
Bolton

Bury

Cailisle
Cheadle
Cheetham Hill
Chester
Darlington
Durham Dragonville
Gateshead
Harmogate
Huddersfield
Hull

leeds
Macclesfield
Morecambe
Naorthallerton
Oldham
Ormskirk
Preston

Sale

Salford
Scarbarough
Seunthorpe
Shipley

Snipe {Audenshaw)
St Helens
Siockport
Stockion
Tyneside
Wakefield Ings Road
Warrington
Widnes
Wigan
Workington
York Clifton Moor

SCOTLAND AND
NORTHERN IRELAND
Aberdeen Wellington
Ayr

Beltast Boucher Road
Belfast Mewtowmabbey
Dundee

Fdinburgh

Fort Kinnaird
Clasgow

Hillhington

Inverness

livine

Kitkeoldy

Shawfield

Sighihiil

Stirling

YWishaws

SOUTH
Abingdon
Amersham
Andover
Ashford
Aylesbury
Banbury
Barnstaple
Basitdon
Basingsicke
Bath

Bedford Elms
Bexhill

Bicester

Bishops Storfford
Bodmin

Bognor Regis
Borehamwood
Bounds Green
Bournemouth
Brainfree
Brentwood
Bridgwater
Brighton
Brighton Kemp Town
Bristol
Broadstaus
Burgess Hill
Bury St Edmunds
Byfleet
Comberley
Cambridge
Canterbury
Chelmsford
Chetmsford Springfield
Cheltenham
Chichester
Chippenham
Chrislchurch
Cirencester
Clacion on Sea
Clevedon
Colchester
Cribbs Couseway
Cromet

Dideot
Darchester
Dover

Fast Maolesey
Fastbourne
Lgham

Enth

Evesham

Exeter Trushom Rd
Exmouth
Fareham
Fambarough
Farnham
Folkestone
Frome
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Gatwick
Clastonbury
Gloucester
Gravesend

Great Yarmouth
Guildford

Harlow

Havanl

Hedgend

Hereford

High Wycombe
Horsham
Huntingdon
Ipswich

isle of Wight
Isleworth

Kings lynn
launcesion
leighton Buzzard
Lletchworth
Loughton

Lowestoh

Luten

Maidstone
Meidsione Langley
Market Harborough
Martlesham
Millbrook {Southampten)
Mifton Keynes
Moreton in Marsh
Newbury
MNewhaven
Newton Abbot
MNorthampton
Norwich

Norwich Hall Road
Oxford Cowdey
Penzance
Peteiborough
Plymouth

Poole

Porismouth
Rayleigh

Reading

Reading Rose Kiln lane
Ringwood

Rugby

Rusiington

Salisbury
Saliash
Sittingbourne
Sleugh
Southend

St Neots
Stamford
Stevenage
Strood

Stroud

Sudbury

Sutton

Swindon
Taunton

Thetord
Thurrock
Tonbridge
Torquay

Truro

Tunbridge Wells
Uckfield
Woaterlooville
Watford Imperial
Wellingbaorough
Welwyn Garden City
Weston Super Mare
Winchester
Witney

Woking
Wokingham
Worcester
Yeovil

WALES

Bangor

Barry

Bridgend

Cardiff

Cardiff Newport Roud
Carmarthen
Haverfordwest
Lianedli

Merthyr Tydfil
Newpor

Rhyd

Swansea Cwmdu
Whexham

COMMERCIAL
SHOWROOMS
Chelsea
Clerkenwell
leicester
Swerford
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